

The Role of Frizzled-7 in Gastric Cancer

Chloe Rachel Austin

Thesis submitted for the award of Ph.D.

July 2020

The European Cancer Stem Cell Research Institute School of Biosciences Cardiff University

Abstract

Gastric cancer (GC) has an extremely low 5-year survival rate of only 30% and is the third-leading cause of cancer-related deaths worldwide. This is predominantly due to the highly metastatic nature of GC and the lack of available treatment strategies, highlighting the urgent and unmet need to identify novel therapeutic targets. The Wnt receptor Frizzled-7 (FZD7) regulates cell proliferation, epithelial-mesenchymal-transition (EMT), and invasiveness in many cancers. GC patients have mutations in genes that participate in or regulate Wnt signalling at the level of the Wnt receptor binding. Moreover, FZD7 is reported to be overexpressed in human gastric tumours suggesting that aberrant FZD7-mediated Wnt signalling drives GC growth and highlights FZD7 as a potential therapeutic target. However, the precise involvement of FZD7 in GC remains unclear and the specific Wnt receptor transmitting oncogenic Wnt signalling is unknown. Additionally, loss of function mutations to the negative regulator of the Wnt pathway, RNF43, has been implicated in the poor prognosis of GC. However, its functional significance in GC remains unknown.

We have implicated FZD7 as the predominant Wnt receptor involved in the growth, EMT, migration and invasion of GC cells irrespective of APC mutation. Here we used inhibitors of Wnt/FZD (OMP-18R5/LGK-974) and shFZD7 to test the therapeutic potential of targeting Wnt signalling in GC. Pharmacological targeting of FZD inhibited the growth of GC *in vitro* and *in vivo*. Furthermore, we have confirmed the functional significance of RNF43 in GC. Conditional deletion of *RNF43/ZNRF3* led to gastric tumours supporting the hypothesis of stratifying GC patients based on RNF43 mutations. OMP-18R5 and LGK-974 are currently in phase Ib clinical trials for multiple cancers. Our data expands the scope of patients that may benefit from these therapeutic approaches as we have demonstrated that these drugs are effective in treating GC patients regardless of APC mutation status.

Acknowledgements

Firstly, I would like to thank my supervisor Dr Toby Phesse for the constant support, guidance, and his confidence in me. Toby has been instrumental in shaping my scientific perspective, always challenging me to think of things from new angles.

I want to say a special thank you to Dr Valerie Meniel, without whom I would not have been able to complete this PhD. She has been a constant support from my very first day and always had the answer to every one of my questions. Throughout my PhD, she has been there to reassure me and encourage me during the more difficult days and to laugh and celebrate with on the good ones.

I would also like to give a big thank you to Dr Sarah Koushyar for her continuous encouragement, help and support, and most importantly for brightening up the lab, especially on the days when the science decided to stop working.

Further I would like to thank all the staff and students of ECSCRI, who have made my 3 years at Cardiff unforgettable. There was always someone to pick me up and put a smile one my face, often over a slice of cake and a cup of coffee, during the roller-coaster that is a PhD. The members of ECSCRI are more like a family than co-workers and I was lucky to get to spend my PhD in their company.

Finally, I would like to dedicate this thesis to my partner James Baker, who has supported me in every way possible and encouraged me through this journey. Thank you for keeping me grounded throughout the long days of writing, for the diligent proof-reading, endless patience and understanding, and for being my chief supplier of chocolate and coffee upon which this thesis was fueled.

Contents

| Abstract | i |
|--|------|
| Acknowledgements | ii |
| Contents | iii |
| List of Figures | viii |
| List of Tables | xi |
| Abbreviations | xii |
| Chapter 1: Literature Review | |
| 1. Introduction | 2 |
| 1.1 Gastric Cancer | 2 |
| 1.1.1 Risk Factors | 2 |
| 1.1.2 Gastric Cancer Treatment Options | 3 |
| 1.2 Normal Gastric Architecture & Dynamics | 6 |
| 1.2.1 Chief cells | 9 |
| 1.2.2 Parietal cells | 9 |
| 1.2.3 Mucous-secreting cells | |
| 1.2.4 Enteroendocrine cells | 12 |
| 1.2.5 Gastric epithelial renewal | |
| 1.3 Gastric Cancer Initiation | 17 |
| 1.3.1 GC Classification | 20 |
| 1.4 Gastric Cancer Metastasis | 23 |
| 1.4.1 Stages of Metastasis | 23 |
| 1.4.2 EMT | |
| 1.4.3 Tumour Microenvironment | |
| 1.5 Wnt Signaling Pathways | |
| 1.5.1 Canonical Wnt/B-catenin Pathway | |
| 1.5.2 Wnt ligand synthesis, secretion and signalling | |
| 1.5.3 Frizzled receptors | |
| 1.5.4 LRP5/6 | |
| 1.5.5 Ror and Ryk | 39 |

| 1.5.6 The β-catenin destruction complex | 40 |
|--|----|
| 1.5.7 Nuclear Events | 44 |
| 1.5.8 Wnt Antagonists & Agonists | 46 |
| 1.5.9 R-Spondin & E3 ligases (Rnf43 & Znrf3) | 47 |
| 1.5.10 Wnt signalling in the homeostasis of the Gastric Epithelium | 48 |
| 1.6 Aberrant Wnt Signalling & Gastric Cancer | 50 |
| 1.6.1 H.pylori-mediated Wnt signalling | 51 |
| 1.6.2 Intracellular Component Mutations | 53 |
| 1.6.3 Dysregulation of Wnt signalling at the Plasma Membrane | 56 |
| 1.6.4 The role of Frizzled Receptors in GC | 64 |
| 1.6.5 Oncogenic Wnt signalling & GC metastasis | 68 |
| 1.7 Aims of thesis | 73 |
| 1.7.1 Aim 1 | 73 |
| 1.7.2 Aim 2 | 73 |
| 1.7.3 Aim 3 | 73 |
| Chapter 2: Materials & Methods | 74 |
| 2. Materials & Materials | 75 |
| 2.1 Cell Culture | 75 |
| 2.1.1 Cell lines | 75 |
| 2.1.2 Passaging cells | 75 |
| 2.1.3 Long term storage | 75 |
| 2.1.4 Raising cells from storage | 76 |
| 2.1.5 Cell seeding | 76 |
| 2.2 Transfection of cell lines | 77 |
| 2.2.1 Plasmids | 77 |
| 2.2.2 Transient transfection | 77 |
| 2.3 Cell Based Assays | 79 |
| 2.3.1 CellTiter-Glo Assay | 79 |
| 2.3.2 Soft Agar Colony Forming Assay | 79 |
| 2.3.3 Migration Assays | 79 |
| | |

| 2.3.5 EMT stimulation | 81 |
|---|-----|
| 2.3.6 Fluorescence immunocytochemistry | 81 |
| 2.4 In vivo experiments | 83 |
| 2.4.1 Gastric cancer xenografts | 83 |
| 2.4.2 <i>In vivo</i> peritoneal dissemination model | 83 |
| 2.4.3 Experimental Animals | 83 |
| 2.4.4 Colony maintenance & breeding | 84 |
| 2.4.5 Genetic Mouse Model | 84 |
| 2.4.6 Tamoxifen Administration | 84 |
| 2.4.7 DNA extraction | 87 |
| 2.4.8 Polymerase chain reaction (PCR) genotyping | 87 |
| 2.4.9 Visualization of PCR products | 87 |
| 2.5 RNA Analysis | 91 |
| 2.5.1 Epithelial cell extraction | 91 |
| 2.5.2 Tissue homogenization | 91 |
| 2.5.3 RNA extraction | 91 |
| 2.5.4 cDNA synthesis | 92 |
| 2.5.5 qRT-PCR | 92 |
| 2.6 Histological Analysis | 95 |
| 2.6.1 Tissue preparation | 95 |
| 2.6.2 Freezing tissue | 96 |
| 2.6.3 Immunohistochemistry | 96 |
| 2.6.4 IHC quantification | 97 |
| 2.7 Gastric Organoid Culture | 98 |
| 2.7.1 Human tissues | 98 |
| 2.7.2 GC tissue preparation | 98 |
| 2.7.3 Normal gastric tissue preparation | 98 |
| 2.7.4 Human organoid culture | 99 |
| 2.7.5 Production of R-Spo1-condtioned media | 102 |
| 2.7.6 Production of Wnt3a-condtioned media | 102 |
| 2.7.7 Validation of Wnt & R-Spo1-condintioned media | 103 |
| 2.7.8 Human organoid passaging | 103 |

| 2.7.9 Human organoid cryopreservation104 |
|---|
| 2.7.10 Raising human organoids from storage104 |
| 2.8 CRISPR cloning strategy104 |
| 2.8.1 <i>In silica</i> design strategy104 |
| 2.8.2 Restriction enzyme digestion |
| 2.8.3 DNA gel extraction109 |
| 2.8.4 Preparation of sgRNA oligo inserts109 |
| 2.8.5 Cloning the sgRNA oligos into px458 backbone |
| 2.8.6 Transformation of competent cells112 |
| 2.8.7 Colony selection and overnight bacterial culture |
| 2.8.8 Plasmid purification112 |
| 2.8.9 Sequence verification112 |
| 2.9 Statistical Analysis113 |
| Chapter 3: The Role of Frizzled-7 in Gastric Cancer Growth. 114 |
| 3.1 Introduction |
| 3.2 Results |
| 3.2.1 Gastric cancer cells require cell intrinsic Wnt signalling for growth 119 |
| 3.2.2 Pan-FZD inhibition reduces gastric cancer tumour burden in vivo125 |
| 3.2.3 Targeted FZD7 knockdown reduced gastric cancer colony formation |
| |
| 3.3 Discussion |
| 3.4 Conclusions145 |
| Chapter 4: The Role of Frizzled-7 in Gastric Cancer Metastasis |
| |
| 4.1 Introduction149 |
| 4.2 Results |
| 4.2.1 Inhibition of the Wnt signalosome suppressed GC migration & invasion |
| 4.2.2 FZD inhibition blocks EMT in human GC cells |
| 4.2.3 Wnt inhibition is not sufficient to block GC metastasis in vivo163 |
| 4.2.4 Targeted FZD7 knockdown suppressed GC migration and invasion 166 |

| 4.3 Discussion |
|---|
| 4.4 Conclusions |
| Chapter 5: Characterization of RNF43 ^{-/-} / ZNRF3 ^{-/-} |
| 5.1 Introduction |
| 5.2 Results |
| 5.2.1 RNF43/ZNFR3 knockout generated gastric epithelium phenotype185 |
| 5.2.2 Characterization of <i>RNF43^{-/-}/ ZNRF3^{-/-}</i> gastric tumours |
| 5.2.3 Co-deletion of <i>RNF43</i> and <i>FZD7</i> may rescue <i>RNF43^{fl/fl}</i> phenotype205 |
| 5.3 Discussion |
| 5.4 Conclusions213 |
| Chapter 6: Generation of Tools to Better Investigate the Molecular Mechanisms Underlying GC |
| 6.1 Introduction |
| 6.2 Results |
| 6.2.1 Generation of Human gastric cancer organoids222 |
| 6.2.2 Generation of normal Human gastric organoids |
| |
| 6.2.3 Design of FZD7-knockout and APC-mutant constructs |
| 6.2.3 Design of FZD7-knockout and APC-mutant constructs2326.3 Discussion236 |
| 6.2.3 Design of FZD7-knockout and APC-mutant constructs2326.3 Discussion2366.4 Conclusions240 |
| 6.2.3 Design of FZD7-knockout and APC-mutant constructs2326.3 Discussion2366.4 Conclusions240Chapter 7: General Discussion & Future Directions241 |
| 6.2.3 Design of FZD7-knockout and APC-mutant constructs2326.3 Discussion2366.4 Conclusions240Chapter 7: General Discussion & Future Directions2417.1 General Discussion & Future Directions243 |
| 6.2.3 Design of FZD7-knockout and APC-mutant constructs2326.3 Discussion2366.4 Conclusions240Chapter 7: General Discussion & Future Directions7.1 General Discussion & Future Directions2437.2 Conclusions254 |

List of Figures

| Figure 1.1 | Structural organization of the stomach | | | | |
|------------|--|-----|--|--|--|
| Figure 1.2 | Pathogenesis of gastric cancer | | | | |
| Figure 1.3 | Peritoneal dissemination of gastric cancer | | | | |
| Figure 1.4 | Overview of canonical Wnt/B-catenin signalling | | | | |
| Figure 1.5 | Frizzled receptor identity | | | | |
| Figure 1.6 | Schematic arrangement of Wnt membrane receptors | | | | |
| Figure 1.7 | APC may act as a negative regulator of Wnt receptor activation | 43 | | | |
| | via the clathrin endocytic pathway | | | | |
| Figure 1.8 | Wnt signalling in the nucleus | 45 | | | |
| Figure 1.9 | Model for mode of action for RNF43 LOF mutants | 61 | | | |
| Figure 2.1 | Schematic representation of FZD7 cDNA | 78 | | | |
| Figure 2.2 | Experiment set up for migration and invasion Transwell assays | 80 | | | |
| Figure 2.3 | Claudin18 knock-in plasmid map | | | | |
| Figure 2.4 | Stomach dissection | 95 | | | |
| Figure 2.5 | Normal Human gastric organoid culture expansion | 100 | | | |
| Figure 2.6 | sgRNA oligos with BbsI overhangs | 106 | | | |
| Figure 2.7 | OMP-18R5 did not lead to increased morbidity | 103 | | | |
| Figure 3.1 | FZD7 receptor complexes and signalling output | 118 | | | |
| Figure 3.2 | FZD7 abundantly expressed in GC cell lines | 120 | | | |
| Figure 3.3 | FZD inhibition reduces GC initiation | 121 | | | |
| Figure 3.4 | OMP-18R5 does not show efficacy in 2D setting | 122 | | | |
| Figure 3.5 | Inhibition of Wnt secretion reduces GC Initiation | 124 | | | |
| Figure 3.6 | Pan-FZD inhibition reduces GC growth in vivo | 127 | | | |
| Figure 3.7 | OMP-18R5 did not lead to increased morbidity | 128 | | | |
| Figure 3.8 | Pan-FZD inhibition reduced B-catenin expression in xenografts | 129 | | | |
| Figure 3.9 | Pan-FZD inhibition reduced Wnt signalling in GC cells in vivo | 130 | | | |

| Figure 3.10 | FZD receptors do not compensate when a subset of receptors are 13 | | | |
|-------------|--|-----|--|--|
| | inhibited | | | |
| Figure 3.11 | FZD7-knockdown reduces Wnt target genes in GC cell lines | | | |
| Figure 3.12 | FZD7-knockdown reduces GC cell growth | | | |
| Figure 3.13 | FZD7-knockdown reduces Wnt signalling | | | |
| Figure 4.1 | Pan-FZD inhibition reduced migratory ability of GC cells | | | |
| Figure 4.2 | Pan-FZD inhibition reduced invasive ability of GC cells | | | |
| Figure 4.3 | OMP-18R5 not toxic to GC cells | | | |
| Figure 4.4 | Wnt inhibition reduced migratory ability of GC cells | | | |
| Figure 4.5 | Wnt inhibition reduced invasive ability of GC cells | 156 | | |
| Figure 4.6 | LGK-974 not toxic to GC cells | 157 | | |
| Figure 4.7 | FZD inhibition blocks EMT in GC cells | 159 | | |
| Figure 4.8 | FZD inhibition blocks the EMT expression profile in GC cells | 161 | | |
| Figure 4.9 | Wnt inhibition did not reduce tumour burden in vivo | 163 | | |
| Figure 4.10 | LGK-974 did not lead to increased morbidity | | | |
| Figure 4.11 | FZD7-knockdown suppresses GC migration | 166 | | |
| Figure 4.12 | FZD7-knockdown suppresses GC invasion | | | |
| Figure 5.1 | PORCNi mechanism of action in LOF RNF43 cells | 179 | | |
| Figure 5.2 | Distribution of protein alterations encoded in RNF43 in GC | | | |
| Figure 5.3 | Figure 5.3 Breeding strategy for Claudin18CreERT2; Rnf43flox; | | | |
| | Znrf3flox; dTOMLSL mice | | | |
| Figure 5.4 | Recombination is exclusive to the Cre+ gastric epithelium cells | 186 | | |
| Figure 5.5 | Stomach dissections from 140 post-induction mice | | | |
| Figure 5.6 | Average stomach weight | | | |
| Figure 5.7 | Tumours present in the gastric epithelium of RNF43 $^{-/-}$ / ZNRF3 $^{-/-}$ | | | |
| | mice | | | |
| Figure 5.8 | Tumours present in the gastric epithelium of RNF43 ^{-/-} / ZNRF3 ^{-/-} | 191 | | |
| | mice | | | |
| Figure 5.9 | Tumours present in the gastric epithelium of RNF43 ^{-/-} / ZNRF3 ^{-/-} | 192 | | |
| | mice | | | |
| Figure 5.10 | RNF43 ^{-/-} / ZNRF3 ^{-/-} mice display a GC phenotype | 195 | | |

ix

| Figure 5.11 | Loss of RNF43 leads to GC phenotype | | | |
|-------------|--|-----|--|--|
| Figure 5.12 | PCNA staining in RNF43/ZNRF3-deficient mice | | | |
| Figure 5.13 | H ⁺ /K ⁺ ATPase expression only present in the corpus region of gastric epithelium | | | |
| Figure 5.14 | H ⁺ /K ⁺ ATPase staining in RNF43/ZNRF3-deficient mice | | | |
| Figure 5.15 | β-catenin staining in RNF43-deficient mice | | | |
| Figure 5.16 | RNF43/ZNRF3 knockout increases Wnt target genes | | | |
| Figure 5.17 | FZD7 expression increased in RNF43 mutant mice | 203 | | |
| Figure 6.1 | Schematic of the RNA-guided Cas9 nuclease | | | |
| Figure 6.2 | DSB promotes gene editing | 219 | | |
| Figure 6.3 | Human GC organoid challenges | | | |
| Figure 6.4 | Human GC organoids | 225 | | |
| Figure 6.5 | Normal gastric organoids grew faster | 226 | | |
| Figure 6.6 | Establishment of GC organoids | | | |
| Figure 6.7 | Normal Human gastric organoids | 229 | | |
| Figure 6.8 | Normal Human gastric organoids following passage | 230 | | |
| Figure 6.9 | Schematic representations of human WT APC protein | 232 | | |
| Figure 6.10 | Positive selection of clones | | | |
| Figure 7.1 | Proposed Wnt signalling in mutant APC GC cells | 250 | | |

List of Tables

| Table 1.1 | Summary of gastric Enteroendocrine cells. | | | |
|------------|--|-----|--|--|
| Table 1.2 | Key features of gastric cancer molecular subtypes. | | | |
| Table 1.3 | Homology of Frizzled receptors to FZD7 | | | |
| Table 1.4 | Frizzled receptor up-regulation in cancer | | | |
| Table 1.5 | Wnt pathway mutations in GC | | | |
| Table 2.1 | shFZD7 targeting sequence, italics indicate the 9-bp hairpin | 78 | | |
| Table 2.2 | Transfection volumes | 78 | | |
| Table 2.3 | Components of StemXVivo media supplement | 82 | | |
| Table 2.4 | Genotyping PCR reaction mixture | 89 | | |
| Table 2.5 | Genotyping PCR cycling conditions | 89 | | |
| Table 2.6 | Genotyping PCR primer sequences and product sizes | 90 | | |
| Table 2.7 | qRT-PCR human primer sequences | 93 | | |
| Table 2.8 | qRT-PCR mouse primer sequences | | | |
| Table 2.9 | IHC conditions. | 97 | | |
| Table 2.10 | Gastric organoid culture media | 101 | | |
| Table 2.11 | Human and mouse sgRNA targeted to FZD7 | 107 | | |
| Table 2.12 | Human and mouse sgRNA targeted to APC | 108 | | |
| Table 2.13 | BbsI single restriction digestion | 111 | | |
| Table 2.14 | Preparation of sgRNA oligo inserts | 111 | | |
| Table 2.15 | Ligation reaction | 111 | | |

Abbreviations

SYMBOLS

 Δ = Delta

µg = Mircograms

 μ L = Microlitre

 μm = Micrometre

 μ M = Micromolar

fl/fl = Homozygously floxed allele

3D = Three dimensional

A

APC = Adenomatous Polyposis Coli

Arm = Armadillo

В

bp = Base pair

BMP = Bone Morphogenic Protein

С

CagA = Cytotoxin-associated gene product

CaMK = Calcium/calmodulindependent protein kinase

 $CK1-\alpha$ = Casein kinase 1 alpha

cDNA = Complementary DNA

COSMIC = The Catalogue of Somatic Mutations in Cancer

CRC = Colorectal cancer

CRD = Cytosine eich domain

Cre = Cre recombinase

CRISPR = clustered regularly interspaced short palindromic repeats

CSC = Cancer stem cell

CT = Cycle threshold

D

DAB= 3,3'-Diaminobenzidine DAG = 1,2 diacylglycerol

 $dH_{2}O = Distilled H_{2}O$

Dkk = Dickkopf

DMSO = Dimethyl sulfoxide

DSB = Double strand break

DVL = Disheveled

Ε

E1-4 = β-propeller/epidermal growth factor repeats

EC = Enterochromaffin

ECL = enterochromaffin-like

EDTA = Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid

EEC = Enteroendocrine cell

EMT = Epithelial-mesenchymaltransition

ER = endoplasmic reticulum

EtOH = Ethanol

F

FAP = familial adenomatous polyposis

fl/fl = Homozygously floxed allele

FU = Furin-like

FZD = Frizzled

FZD7 = Frizzled-7

G

GC = Gastric cancer

GEMM = Genetically engineered mouse model

gDNA = Genomic Deoxyribonucleic Acid

GIT = Gastrointestinal tract

GSK-3B = glycogen synthase kinase-3B

Н

HB-EGF = Heparin-binding EGF-like growth factor

HCC = Hepatocellular carcinoma

HCI = Hydrochloric acid

HCO3⁻ = Bicarbonate

HDAC = Histone deacetylase

HDR = Homology directed repair

H&E = Hematoxylin & Eosin

HER2 = Human epidermal growth receptor 2

hMSC = Human mesenchymal stem cells

HSPG = Membrane-bound heparin sulfate proteoglycan

I

IHC = Immunohistochemistry

Indel = Insertion/deletion

IP3 = Inositol 1,4,5-triphosphate

L

LDLR = LDL repeats

LEF = Lymphoid enhancing factor

Lgr5 = Leucine-rich repeatcontaining G-protein coupled receptor 5

LOF = Loss of function

LoxP = Locus of crossover of

Bacteriophage P1

Μ

MCR = Mutational cluster region

MET = Mesenchymal-epithelialtransition

MiRNA = MicroRNA

MMTV = mouse mammary tumour virus

MUC5AC = Mucin 5AC

MUC6 = Mucin 6

Ν

NFAT = nuclear factor associated with T cells

NHEJ = Non-homologous end joining

NLS = Nuclear localization signal

Ρ

PBS = Phosphate buffered saline

PCP = Planar Cell Polarity

PCR = Polymerase chain reaction

PD = Peritoneal dissemination

PKC = Protein kinase C

PORCN = Porcupine

Q

qRT-PCR = Quantitative reverse transcription polymerase chain reaction

R

RNA = Ribonucleic acid

Ror1/2 = Receptor-tyrosine kinaselike orphan receptor 1/2

RPMI = Roswell Park Memorial Institute

R-Spo = R-Spondin

RTK = Receptor tyrosine kinase

Runx3 = Runt related transcription factor 3

S

SAMP = serine alanine methionine proline

sFRP = Secreted frizzled-related proteins

SHH = Sonic hedgehog

shRNA = Short-hairpin RNA

SPEM = Spasmolytic Polypeptide Expressing Metaplasia

Т

TALENS = transcription activatorlike effector nucleases

TCF = T-cell factor

TCGA = The Cancer Genome Atlas

Tff1 = Trefoil Factor-1

Tff2 = Trefoil Factor-2

 $TGF-\alpha$ = Transforming growth factor alpha

TME = Tumour microenvironment

Troy = Tumour necrosis factor superfamily, member 19

W

Wls = Wntless

Wg = Wingless

Ζ

ZFNS = zinc-finger nucleases

Publications arising from this thesis:

Flanagan, D., Barker, N., Di Costanzo, N. S., Mason, E. A., Gurney, A., Meniel,
V. S., Koushyar, S., <u>Austin, C. R</u>., Pearson, H. B., Boussioutas, A., et al. (2019).
Frizzled-7 is required for Wnt signaling in gastric tumors with and without Apc mutations. Cancer Research, canres.2095.2018.

Other publications during PhD Candidature:

*Flanagan, D., *<u>Austin, C. R.</u>, Vincan, E., and Phesse, T. J. (2018). Wnt Signalling in Gastrointestinal Epithelial Stem Cells. Genes 9(4).

* Equal first author

Chapter 1: Literature Review

1. Introduction

1.1 Gastric Cancer

Gastric cancer (GC) is the fifth most common cancer in the world (1,313,000 cases) and the third leading cause of cancer death globally (819,000 deaths) (Bray et al., 2018). The incidence shows wide geographical variation, with approximately 50% of all cases emerging from Eastern Asia, where China has the highest incidence rate, and where novel cases of GC and mortalities account for ~ 45% of all cases globally (Ferlay et al., 2015). The majority of cases are usually not diagnosed until an advanced stage due to being asymptomatic until this point and the lack of screening programs in the majority of countries. Therefore, in European countries the outcome is often poor, with very low survival rates ranging from ~ 10% to 30%, including patients who have undergone surgery (Katai et al., 2018). Interestingly, the five-year survival rate is relatively good in Japan, where it reaches 90% (Stock and Otto, 2005), likely due to early diagnosis by endoscopic examinations and consecutive early tumour resection. Overall, GC remains a main contributor to the global burden of disability-adjusted life-years from cancer (Van Cutsem et al., 2016).

1.1.1 Risk Factors

GC results from a combination of environmental factors and accumulation of specific genetic alterations. The most common risk factors for GC include a diet high in salty and smoked foods and low in fruits and vegetables, smoking, obesity, chronic gastritis and infections (Buckland et al., 2015; Massarrat and Stolte, 2014). GC has been found to be inversely related to socioeconomic status: high socioeconomic position is associated with a reduced risk of GC (Nagel et al., 2007).

Family clustering of GC has been reported for centuries with the most worldfamous example being the family of Napoleon Bonaparte; five first degree relatives were affected by GC, affecting three consecutive generations (Setia et al., 2015) (Sokoloff, 1938). In 1998, truncating mutations of *CDH1* were described in the germline of three New Zealand Maori families predisposed to diffuse GC (Guilford et al., 1998b). In general, the risk of developing GC is 1.5-3 fold increased in individuals with a family history of GC (La Vecchia et al., 1992).

In developed countries one of the most common infections predisposing people to GC is *H.pylori*. In the general population, *H.pylori* infection reaches ~60%, but in GC patients it is markedly more common, present in ~84% (González et al., 2012). *H.pylori* is a class I carcinogen (Ferlay et al., 2015) and is one of the major causative agent in the cascade leading to GC. *H.pylori* is a gram-negative flagellated bacterium which has evolved to survive the hostile environment of the stomach by colonizing the gastric mucosa. Following successful colonization, *H.pylori* migrates to the stomach epithelium where it triggers a variety of adaptive cellular mechanism, including ER stress, autophagy, oxidative stress and inflammation, all participating in the development and progression of precancerous gastric lesions. The responses in host gastric epithelial cells are located in the gastric pits and attributed to the action of the bacterial virulence factors (Díaz et al., 2018). These include, but are not urease, vacuolating cytotoxin A, cag pathogenicity island, limited to, cytotoxin-associated gene A, peptidoglycan outer membrane proteins and yglutamyl transpeptidase (Polk and Peek, 2010; Valenzuela et al., 2013). A recent study identified that treatment of *H.pylori* infection decreased the risk of GC only if eradication was 100% successful (Kumar et al., 2020). Therefore, finding novel targets for the treatment of GC is still key as the mechanisms of GC prevention are still unclear.

1.1.2 Gastric Cancer Treatment Options

As mentioned above, GC is largely asymptomatic with the majority of patients presenting to their general practitioner in the late stages of the disease with generic symptoms such as abdominal pain, unexplained weight loss, a sense of fullness after eating a small meal and acid reflux. Before any systemic treatment is initiated, the status of the human epidermal growth factor receptor 2 (HER2) is determined. Approximately 20% will present with HER2positive GC (Discussed in detail later). The treatment options for the majority of patients with HER2-negative GC is dependent on the stage. Although rarely the case, if a patient presents with an early stage GC (Stage 0 and IA) they are best treated by minimally invasive endoscopic surgery. Stage IB, II and III GC is treated with total or partial gastrectomy and lymphadenectomy. Unfortunately, this is life-changing surgery with often serious and sometimes fatal side effects, such as blood clots, malnutrition and anastomotic leakage (Ikeguchi et al., 2012). Chemotherapy may be given before or after surgery to either reduce the tumour prior to surgery or to remove remaining cancer cells if they are identified in removed lymph nodes. Patients not able to undergo surgery, are treated with chemotherapy, radiation, or chemoradiation. For advanced stage cases (Stage IV), chemotherapy is the current standard of care for first-line treatment for patients due to the tumour often being too invasive for surgery (Wagner et al., 2006). However, this fails in >95% of non-operable gastric tumours due to the various mechanisms of chemoresistance (J.J.G. Marin, 2016). Therefore, patients with locally advanced stage GC and/or metastatic disease often only receive palliative treatments to improve their quality of life.

As mentioned, approximately 20% of GC are characterized by overexpression and/or amplification of the *HER2* gene. However, the prognostic value of HER2 in GC is controversial (Kim et al., 2014). Despite this, there is one approved drug targeted against HER2, Trastuzumab. This is the only molecular target with an approved drug for first-line treatment of GC. Trastuzumab is a recombinant humanized IgG1 monoclonal antibody directed against HER2. It is approved by both the FDA and the EMA for the treatment of HER2-postive metastatic adenocarcinoma of the stomach in combination with cisplatin and capecitabine or 5-fluoroouracil. Patients must not have received prior treatment for their metastatic disease and have tumours expressing high levels of HER2 as defined by a positive immunohistochemistry (IHC) score of 3 (Spackman et al., 2013). HER2 protein is a tyrosine kinase receptor, which upon activation triggers a broad spectrum of downstream cascades to promote numerous effects, including cell proliferation, apoptosis, adhesion, migration, and differentiation. Trastuzumab blocks the activation of HER2 by binding to its extracellular domain leading to the inhibition of cancer cell proliferation (Gunturu et al., 2013).

Immuno-oncology is a rapidly growing research area and has great success in the treatment of many cancers, especially with PD1/PD-L1 inhibitors. However, there are currently no approved first-line immunotherapies for GC. There are some promising clinical trials currently place which could potentially lead advancements in the treatment strategy of GC patients, particularly those with locally advanced or metastatic disease, and lead to a much improved quality of life. Excitingly, some recent clinical data has shown significant reduction in tumour burden in patients with untreated metastatic HER2-positive GC when treated with a combination of Trastuzumab and PD1 inhibitor (Pembrolizumab). A response rate of 52% was observed even without chemotherapy (Janjigian et al., 2019).

Clearly there is an urgent and unmet need to develop better, more effective and more targeted treatments for GC. This will require further work at a basic research level to identify novel therapeutic targets and drugs to ultimately lead to a longer and improved quality of life for GC patients.

1.2 Normal Gastric Architecture & Dynamics

Before deciphering the complicated and complex process of GC formation it is important to first have an understanding of the normal gastric morphology. An ongoing challenge that the tissue of the gastrointestinal tract (GIT) face, especially the stomach and small intestine, is allowing the efficient digestion, exchange, and absorption of nutrients, and water, whilst simultaneously preventing passage of harmful molecules and organisms. To overcome this challenge, all tissues of the GIT are lined by a specialized single layer of cells, the gastrointestinal epithelium. This functions as a protective barrier, as well as secreting a cocktail of factors (hormones, proteases, gastric acids, and mucus) to aide in food breakdown and nutrient uptake. This epithelium is continually renewed to preserve tissue homeostasis, due to the unrelenting exposure to chemical, biological and mechanical stresses. This constant replenishment of epithelial cells also serves as a protective mechanism to rid the epithelium of cells that may have undergone somatic mutations or cellular transformation.

The gross anatomy of the mammalian stomach also addresses this challenge. The stomach is divided into three anatomically distinct regions; the corpus the antrum, and the non-glandular fundus (Figure 1.1A)). The corpus is the main body of the stomach, primarily responsible for its digestive action. This is achieved through the release of a cocktail of hormones, enzymes and acids (O'Connor and O'Moráin, 2014; Willet and Mills, 2016). In contrast, the antrum secretes large amounts of mucous, as well as gastric hormones. This reflects its protective function, shielding the gastric epithelium from the hydrochloric acid secreted in the corpus region (Barker et al., 2010a; Karam, 1993). It is worth noting that the gross anatomy of the stomach differs between species. Of note, the stomach of mice includes a large non-glandular forestomach (Kararli, 1995) not present in humans.

Unsurprisingly, due to their close proximity and shared role in digestion, the stomach shares a number of features with the intestine. They have a common endodermal origin and an epithelial lining that is continually renewed by distinct populations of adult stem cells (Hoffmann, 2008). Much like the intestinal crypts, the gastric epithelium is comprised of invaginations, termed gastric units. Structurally, these units are made up of a pit, which is continuous with the surface epithelium and a flask-shaped gland which is organized into the isthmus, neck, and base regions. There are four major differentiated cell types that populate the gastric units; parietal cells, chief cells, gastric mucous cells and a variety of endocrine cells.

The distribution of these cell types and the turnover rate varies between the corpus and the antrum, mirroring their difference in function. The corpus gastric units are composed of several long glands that feed into short pits. Their epithelium is heterogeneous, containing vast quantities of parietal cells, a small number of base and neck mucus cells, endocrine cells (or G cells) and unique to the corpus, chief cells (Figure 1.1C). In contrast, the antrum is comprised of several short glands that feed into a single extended pit. They have a much simpler cellular composition characterized by abundant gastric mucus-secreting cells, endocrine cells and very low numbers of parietal cells (Figure 1.1B).



Figure 1.1. Structural organization of the stomach.

- (A) Anatomic schematic of the mammalian stomach
- (B) Gastric unit of a human antral epithelium depicting the various cell types, stem cell populations (highlighted in green bubbles) and signalling gradients (Adapted from (Flanagan et al., 2018).
- (C) Gastric unit of a human corpal epithelium depicting the various cell types, stem cell populations and signalling gradients (Adapted from (Flanagan et al., 2018).

1.2.1 Chief cells

The chief (or zymogenic) cells are only present in the glandular corpus region of the stomach and secrete digestive-enzymes. These cells occupy the majority of the base of a gastric gland, with the upper ones organized as simple cuboidal-columnar cells, and the lower ones outpouching into an acinar configuration at the very base (Karam, 1993). The primary function of chief cells is the secretion of enzymes involved in the digestion of protein. The main enzyme, secreted in its inactive, form is pepsinogen. Upon exposure to stomach acid, inactive pepsinogen undergoes a conformational change, exposing its catalytically active site and allowing the generation of active pepsin by proteolysis (Raufman, 1992).

Normal chief cells have a unique lineage, and do not derive directly from gastric epithelial progenitor cell lineages or involve cell division. Instead they arise by transdifferentiation. Pre-neck cells differentiate into mucous neck cells as they migrate toward the base of the glands and then re-differentiate at the bottoms of glands into chief cells, with a distinct pattern of gene expression; *MIST1* in mature chief cells and *TFF2* and *MUC6* in the more proliferative progenitor mucous neck cells (Hanby et al., 1999; Ramsey et al., 2007). While this dramatic and malleable phenotypic transition exhibited by chief cell lineages during normal homeostasis is remarkable, it can leave them vulnerable. In a pathological setting it can lead into a mucus cell metaplasia of the gastric glands, known as Spasmolytic Polypeptide Expressing Metaplasia (SPEM) (Lennerz et al., 2010).

1.2.2 Parietal cells

Parietal cells occur throughout the gastric unit of the corpus, with the majority located in the neck of the gland (Bredemeyer et al., 2009; Karam, 1993). They have multiple roles in gastric secretion, protection, and coordination of physiological repair. Their primary purpose is the production of hydrochloric acid (HCI) which aides in the digestion of food, absorption of minerals, control of harmful bacteria, and the maintenance of a strong acidic environment (pH<2) (Quigley and Turnberg, 1987). In addition to their unique

ability to produce HCI, parietal cells play a role in gastric homeostasis through the secretion of multiple growth factor molecules such as Heparin-binding EGFlike growth factor (HB-EGF) (Murayama et al.), transforming growth factor alpha (TGF- α) (Beauchamp et al., 1989) and sonic hedgehog (SHH) (Zavros et al., 2008).

The production of HCI by partial cells requires the gastric H⁺/K⁺ ATPase enzyme, a P₂-type ATPase. This is expressed only by the parietal cells, and is therefore a robust molecular marker of parietal cells (Spicer et al., 2000), and regulates the exchange of cytoplasmic H⁺ for extracellular K⁺. When parietal cells are stimulated by gastrin, their proton pumps secrete H⁺ in the gastric lumen, which combines with luminal Cl⁻ to form HCI, creating the acidic environment of the stomach (Engevik et al., 2019). To ensure the required digestion of food while preventing damage to the gastric and duodenal mucosa, parietal cellmedicated acid secretion is highly regulated. This is achieved through a fine balance of activators and inhibitors including gastrin, histamine, the vagus nerve, somatostatin and glucagon-like peptide (Powley et al., 2011).

Parietal cells role in general mucosal homeostasis is highlighted by the observation that loss of parietal cells (termed oxyntic atrophy) is linked to the development of metaplasia in the corpus mucosa (El-Zimaity et al., 2002), which is a common precursor to gastric cancer (GC). The most common cause of parietal cell loss is chronic infection of the stomach with *Helicobacter pylori*. Although the mechanism of this still remains unclear, it is thought to require the action of T cells (Roth et al., 1999). More recent studies suggest that cytokines may lead to parietal cell death (Howlett et al., 2012) (Buzzelli et al., 2015). Loss of parietal cells is also linked to SPEM, which as described above, develops from the transdifferentiation of chief cells into mucous cell metaplasia (Huh et al., 2012) (Nam et al., 2010). However, the exact signals that coordinate these lineage changes remain unclear, with a recent publication indicating that parietal cell loss alone is not sufficient to induce SPEM (Burclaff et al., 2017).

1.2.3 Mucous-secreting cells

The entire GIT is covered by mucus, which has different properties in the stomach, small intestine, and colon. Within the stomach there is a twolayered system with an inner and an outer mucus layer, a system which is also observed in the colon (Atuma et al., 2001). The inner mucus layer of the stomach is very firmly attached to the epithelial cells. The outer layer is less so, although is still more attached than that of the colon (Ermund et al., 2013). This is to ensure robust protection of the gastric epithelium from the harsh HCI present in the gastric lumen. Additionally, this firmly attached mucus layer is important for the maintenance of a pH gradient across the mucus layer (Phillipson et al., 2002). A pH gradient exists across the gastric mucus barrier, with a near-neutral pH at the mucus surface (Schreiber and Scheid, 1997). The buffering of the H⁺ secreted from the parietal cells occurs in the mucus via HCO_3^- , which is released from gastric surface mucus cells via an apical Cl⁻/HCO₃⁻ exchanger (Allen and Flemström, 2005).

There are two types of gastric mucus cells: surface mucus cells and mucus neck cells. Surface mucus cells secrete Mucin 5AC (MUC5AC) and Trefoil Factor-1 (Tff1), whilst mucus neck cells secrete Mucin 6 (MUC6) and Trefoil Factor-2 (Tff2) (Pelaseyed et al., 2014). Tff1 and Tff2 are small mucin-associated secreted peptides of gastric mucus cells and have a role in gastric mucosal protection (Newton et al., 2000).

As well as protecting the gastric epithelium from the acidic environment of the stomach, the gastric mucus regulates the colonization of *H.pylori* (Skoog et al., 2012). This function is especially important as approximately half of the world's population are infected with *H.pylori*, with 1-3% of infected individuals going on to develop GC (Suerbaum and Michetti, 2002). The mucus layer prevents the majority of the colonizing *H.pylori* from attaching directly to gastric epithelial cells (Hessey et al., 1990), with them instead living in the mucus layer of the superficial gastric mucosa where they bind to highly glycosylated mucins (Lindén et al., 2002). Tff2 secreted by the mucus neck cells has been observed

to have a protective function against the progression of premalignant lesions in *H.pylori* infected mice (Fox et al., 2007) and epigenetic silencing of tff2 by *H.pylori* infection leads to gastric tumour development (Peterson et al., 2010). *H.pylori* is also able to alter gastric mucins with MUC6 becoming aberrantly expressed in the surface mucus cells (expressed mucous neck cells in a non-pathological setting) in *H.pylori* patients (Byrd et al., 1997).

1.2.4 Enteroendocrine cells

There are over thirty different hormones that have been identified as being produced in the GIT, and it is the enteroendocrine cells (EECs) that produce them. Hormones are released by the EECs in response to meal-related stimuli, and exert actions ranging from the local control of gut motility to the regulation of insulin and food intake (Gribble and Reimann, 2016). EEC populations in the stomach include enterochromaffin cells (EC cells), enterochromaffin-like cells (ECL cells), D-cells, G-cells, A-cells, and P/D1 (in humans) or X/A (in rats) cells. Table 1.1 highlights their individual secretions and functions (Håkanson et al., 1986; Ku et al., 2003; Lamberts et al., 1991; Sjölund et al., 1983; Stengel and Taché, 2009). Within the GIT, the EECs are usually located in the epithelial layer and make direct contact with the luminal constituents. However, in the stomach, especially the corpus glands, a large population of EECs are closed-type cells that do not make contact with the gastric lumen (Gribble and Reimann, 2016).

| EEC Cell | Location | Secreted hormone | Function |
|---------------|---|---------------------|---|
| EC cells | Antrum | Serotonin | Motility and mucosal growth & maintenance |
| ECL cells | Corpus proximal to parietal cells | Histamine | Aides in production of gastric acid |
| D-cell | Corpus & Antrum | Somatostatin | Inhibits gastric acid secretion |
| G-cells | Antrum | Gastrin | Controls gastric acid secretion by inhibiting ECL cells |
| A-cells | Corpus | Ghrelin | Regulates appetite |
| P/D1 cells | Gastric chief cells | Leptin | Regulates appetite |

Table 1.1 Summary of gastric Enteroendocrine cells.

1.2.5 Gastric epithelial renewal

Due to the dynamic function and harsh environment of the stomach, the surface epithelium needs to be continually renewed. This is fueled by a small population of stem cells housed within the isthmus region of the gastric glands, both corpus and antrum. There are also populations of reserve stem cells, activated upon injury, that are located in the base of the glands. The population of reserve stem cells differ between the corpus and the antrum. A summary of gastric stem cells can be found in Figure 1.1. However, the mechanisms and factors that regulate gastric homeostasis have only been partially characterized.

The first studies looking into the dynamics of gastric epithelial renewal used radioactive labels to identify cellular migration, position, turnover rate, and kinetics (Karam, 1993). In the corpus, mucus-secreting cells migrate from the neck of the gland to the surface epithelium, where they live for 2-3 days. Parietal cells are located within the corpal gland neck, live for approximately 2 months and migrate bi-directionally towards the surface and the base of the gland. Chief cells positioned at the lower third of the corpus gland migrate to the base of the gland, where they reside for approximately 6 months (Karam, 1993). As the antral glands lack these long-lived chief and parietal cells, their turnover rate is much more rapid at 1-60 days.

Moving on from the early studies, the generation of transgenic mice to mark the progeny of specific cell types via lineage tracing (the gold-standard to assess stem cell function *in vivo*) has permitted the identification of several gastric stem cell markers, marking both active and reserve populations, with common genes often marking stem cell pools in both the corpus and antrum. (Flanagan et al., 2018). Corpal homeostasis is maintained by stem cells in the highly proliferative isthmus region, marked by *Mist1*, *Runx1*, *Sox2* and *Troy*. Lineage tracing has also been observed from Troy+ cells located in the base (Hayakawa et al., 2015a). Within the antrum four stem cell markers gave been identified: *Lgr5*, *Sox2*, *Lrig1* and *CCKBR* (Arnold et al., 2011; Barker et al., 2010a; Hayakawa et al., 2015b; Powell et al., 2012), which all contribute to the homeostasis of the antral tissue.

Of the stem cell markers mentioned above, Lgr5 is the best characterized. It resides at the base of both gastric glands and all gastric epithelial cell lineages can be derived from it as part of normal homeostasis or in response to injury (Barker et al., 2010b; Stange et al., 2013). It was initially identified as a Wnt target gene in the intestinal epithelium (Barker et al., 2007). It encodes a 7transmembrance protein that participates in the Wnt receptor complex where it binds R-Spondin proteins (de Lau et al., 2011). Like the intestine, Lgr5+ cells populate the base of the gland, however the average number of four Lgr5+ cells per gastric gland is lower than that seen in the intestinal crypt (14). Also similar to the intestine is the requirement of gastric cultures for Wnt effectors (R-Spondin & Wnt3a) for effective culture growth. This is strongly suggestive of a Wnt active stem cell niche in vivo (Barker et al., 2010a). However, the exact source of Wnt ligands in the gastric epithelium remains to be established. Lgr5+ cells have a probable role in homeostatic maintenance of the gastric epithelium, due to them being mitotically active. Another difference between Lgr5+ cells of the intestine and stomach is that intestinal Lgr5+ cells at the crypt base act as active stem cells, whereas within the stomach they behave as reserve stem cells (Hata et al., 2018). Lgr5+ can act as an active stem cell at the base of the antrum (despite being more quiescent than those of the intestine) and generate transit-amplifying cells, yielding differentiated cells that constitute the bulk of the glandular epithelium (Barker et al., 2010b). However, within the corpus their role is solely as a reserve stem cell. This was observed through investigation with a non-variegated mouse model, Lgr5-2A-CreERT2, which detected Lgr5 expression in a subpopulation of chief cells at the base of the corpal gland. Lineage tracing showed that although this population of cells do not give rise to fully traced glands during homeostasis, they were activated in response to damage, after which they could give rise to whole corpus glands (Leushacke, 2017).

The gastric epithelium also has other populations of reserve stem cells that are activated in response to injury, and are able to generate all gastric lineages. In particular, the stem cell marker *Troy* (Tumour necrosis factor superfamily, member 19) is expressed at the corpal gland base by a small population of fully differentiated chief cells. Lineage tracing with Troy-eGFP-IRES-CreERT2 mice demonstrated that single marked chief cells are able to generate fully labeled gastric units over periods of approximately 3 months after recombination. This phenomenon accelerates upon tissue damage. Additionally, despite Troy+ chief cells rarely being proliferative, cultured Troy+ chief cells can generate longlived gastric organoids that can be differentiated towards the mucus-producing cell lineages of the neck and pit in vitro (Stange et al., 2013). Furthermore, selective killing of the highly proliferative isthmus cells results in the activation of Troy+ chief cells (Li and Clevers, 2010). This demonstrates that Troy marks a specific subset of chief cells with the capability to replenish entire gastric units thus serving as quiescent reserve stem cells. Moreover, a rare population of *Troy*+ cells in the isthmus of corpus has been identified (Hayakawa et al., 2015a). This suggests there may be two populations of *Troy*+ cells in the corpus: one residing in the isthmus which is able to lineage trace during normal homeostasis, and the other in the base of the gland which functions as a reserve cell during healing.

Together these findings present a model that gastric epithelial renewal involves several unique populations of stem cells co-operating together to maintain homeostasis and yield and efficient and effective response to damage and injury. Wnt signalling plays an important role in the regulation of these stem cell populations which will be discussed in detail next.

1.3 Gastric Cancer Initiation

The acquisition of oncogenic mutations and ultimately the development of GC is influenced by a variety of environmental and pre-disposed genetic factors that can alter the changes of tumour formation.

GC initiation is a multi-step process upon which various genetic and epigenetic alterations accumulate (Oue et al., 2015). However, its precise carcinogenesis is less well characterized than colorectal cancer with many questions and missing links remaining. *H.pylori* colonization and/or other environmental factors drive superficial gastritis, which progresses to chronic inflammation which develops into intestinal metaplasia (or SPEM), evolves into dysplasia and finally adenocarcinoma which can progress into invasive cancer (Figure 1.2) (Correa, 1988).

A key histological characteristic of GC is the loss of parietal cells (also termed oxyntic atrophy) with this event being a prerequisite for the triggering of metaplasia and linked to the initiation of both dysplasia and neoplasia (Goldenring and Nam, 2010). Loss of parietal cells results in the transdifferentiation of the chief cell lineage into a mucus cell metaplasia identified as Spasmolytic Polypeptide Expressing Metaplasia (SPEM) (Nam et al., 2010) which is a neoplastic precursor in gastric carcinogenesis and an alternative type of metaplasia to intestinal metaplasia. SPEM cells express high levels of Tff2 and MUC6 (Weis and Goldenring, 2009) in contrast to intestinal metaplasia which is characterized by the expression of Tff3 and MUC2 (Nam et al., 2009).

The precise mutations and alternations that trigger each step of GC development are still being investigated and identified due a complex etiology by interactions between bacteria, host and environmental factors. Despite this, the development of GC converges on several signaling pathways that become disrupted through activation of oncogenes, *K-ras* and *c-met*, and inhibition of tumour suppressors *Apc* and *p53* (Hara et al., 1998; Horii et al., 1992; Yokozaki et al., 1992). Despite a number of genes having been identified as potential

driver genes in GC, the association between somatic mutations and clinical features has not been thoroughly elucidated to date. Research groups have been attempting to screen gastric tumours to identify driver mutations and determine if there is any genotype-phenotype correlation, however, results have been conflicting. This suggests that GC is not enriched with known driver mutations, highlighting why many targeted drugs useful in the treatment of other tumours are not effective in GC (Nemtsova et al., 2020). Additionally, *TP53* and *CDH1* (both common validated mutations in GC) mutation status does not alter GC treatment (Katona and Rustgi, 2017). Therefore, there needs to be a focus on epigenetics and other molecular characteristics to stratify patients and develop better treatments for patients with GC.

Germline mutations in some driver genes determine predisposition to the development of hereditary GC. Mutations in *CDH1*(E-cadherin) are responsible for the development of early hereditary diffuse-type GC (Luo et al., 2018), as are mutations in *STK11* (Peutz-jeghers syndrome), *TP53* (Li-Fraumeni syndrome), *BMPR1A* or *SMAD4* (gastrointestinal polyposis) and *PTEN* (Cowden syndrome) (Colvin et al., 2015).



Figure 1.2 Pathogenesis of gastric cancer (Adapted from (Tan and Yeoh, 2015). A summary of current knowledge of the cause and pathogenesis of gastric cancer, including host and environmental factors as well as acquired molecular events. Many gaps in knowledge remain.

2

1.3.1 GC Classification

The majority (>90%) of GCs are adenocarcinomas. Non-Hodgkin's lymphomas and gastrointestinal stromal tumours make up the remaining 10% (Kelley and Duggan, 2003). GC adenocarcinomas are highly heterogeneous in regard to architecture, growth, cell differentiation and molecular pathogenesis. Therefore, there is an array of diversity of histopathological classification schemes. The most commonly used is the Lauren classification (Lauren, 1965). This classification broadly divides GC into two main pathological groups, intestinal-type and diffuse-type, in addition to mixed and indeterminate types. Diffuse-type carcinomas are poorly differentiated and are composed of solitary or poorly cohesive tumour cells in the absence of gland formation. By contrast, intestinal carcinomas are mostly well to moderately differentiated and form glandular structures that are reminiscent of colorectal adenocarcinomas (Van Cutsem et al., 2016).

The cancer genome atlas (TCGA) classification, made possible thanks to the advancements in next generation sequencing, was a milestone for the molecular characterization of GC. They performed full genomic profiling of 295 primary gastric adenocarcinomas (Cancer Genome Atlas Research, 2014), which through complex statistical analyses lead to the identification of four tumour subtypes: tumours positive for Epstein-Barr Virus (9%), microsatellite unstable tumours (22%), genomically stable tumours (20%) and chromosomally unstable tumours (50%). Table 1.2 highlights key features of each subtype. Identification of these subtypes has provided the start of a roadmap for patient stratification and trials of targeted therapies. TCGA network found a correlation with histological characteristics showed enrichment of the diffuse subtype in the genomically stable group (73%). The frequency of chromosomally unstable tumours was increased in gastro-esophageal-junction adenocarcinomas, and most tumours positive for Epstein-Barr virus were located in the fundus or corpus regions of the stomach. They also identified that tumors positive for Epstein-Barr virus were mostly found in males (81%) but predominance of microsatellite unstable tumors marginally favored females (56%) (TCGA, 2014).
Clinical translation of these molecular findings is vital to provide novel strategies for early GC detection and promote precision therapies for GC patients. For example, Epstein-Bar Virus-positive and microsatellite subtypes of GC have shown to have increased expression of PD-L1 and therefore may be good candidates for treatment with immune checkpoint therapy with PD-1/PD-L1 inhibitors (Derks et al., 2016) However, despite these clear views of the genetic diversity across human GCs, the mechanistic connection between their genotypes and phenotypes has largely remained unclear. Several research groups have performed studies to start making this connection clearer. Traditionally genetic mouse models have been used to phenotypically interpret genetic mutations, however most knockout mouse models for GC imply clinically irrelevant mutations. This renders it difficult to translate the phenotype to clinic. To address this, organoid technology has been utilized to culture gastric tumours and their corresponding normal tissues. After complex optimization of culture conditions, three independent studies by Nanki et al., Yan et al., and Seidlitz et al., generated biobanks of patient-derived GC and normal gastric organoids which succeeded to captures all the GC molecular subtypes. Within their own studies they identified various patterns within subtypes however overall, the results between studies gave conflicting data, and no robust genetic distinction amongst GC subtypes has been elicited as of yet.

While genomic analysis has identified 46% of gastric tumour exhibit deregulation of the Wnt/B-catenin pathway (Ooi et al., 2009), with several Wnt ligands upregulated, including WNT1, WNT2b, WNT5a, WNT6, and WNT10a (J Mao, 2014). Research is still ongoing to link deregulated Wnt to the specific histological and molecular GC subtypes. There are no results published as yet and this is a significant gap in the field.

Table 1.2. Key features of gastric cancer molecular subtypes.

| EBV | MSI | CIN | GS |
|---------------------------------|------------------|-------------------------|-------------------------|
| PIK3CA mutation | Hypermutation | Intestinal histology | Diffuse histology |
| PD-L1/2 overexpression | Gastric-CIMP | TP53 mutation | CDH1, RHOA mutations |
| Extreme DNA hypermethylation | MLH1 silencing | RTK-RAS activation | CLDN18-ARHGAP fusion |
| CDKN2A silencing | Mitotic pathways | | Cell adhesion |
| Immune cell signalling | | | |

1.4 Gastric Cancer Metastasis

Cancer metastasis is the process of cancer cells spreading from the primary site to other organs, which contributes to the major cause of death in cancer patients. Approximately 50% of patients with advanced GC die from recurrence and metastasis, even after curative surgery and chemotherapy (Zhou et al., 2017), with the medium survival of only 4 months (Zhao et al., 2019). However, the underlying mechanisms driving metastasis are even more complicated than those resulting in carcinogenesis (Gómez-Cuadrado et al., 2017). Metastatic tumours largely rely on the same driver mutations found in primary tumours (Zehir et al., 2017), suggesting the hallmark functions for tumour maintenance and progression remain critical in metastases.

1.4.1 Stages of Metastasis

For successful metastasis, in all cancer types, to take place, a compatibility between circulating tumour cells and a premetastatic niche is required. This is referred to as the seed and soil hypothesis (Paget, 1989). Improved sequencing technology built upon this and helped elucidate the model of the metastatic cascade, which can be broadly divided into four main processes: invasion, intravasation, extravasion and colonization (Shimizu et al., 2018). The metastatic cascade of GC consists of lympathic metastasis, hematogenous metastasis and peritoneal dissemination (PD). These processes require a number of important intra and extracellular changes which have the potential to be targeted for therapeutic gain.

GC metastasis follows a non-random distribution among distant organs. This phenomenon is termed "organotropism" or "organ-specific metastasis". Common sites of spread for GC other than peritoneum in order of incidence are liver, lung and bone (Riihimäki et al., 2016). Ever-increasing evidence suggests that organotropism is regulated by a multitude of factors, including tumour-intrinsic factors, organ-specific niches, circulation patterns, and the interaction between tumour cells and the host microenvironment (Gao et al., 2019).

Typically, lymphatic and hematogenous metastasis are the major dissemination processes in solid cancers, with many metastasis models based on them. However, PD is the most frequent metastatic type in GC patients, occurring in more than 60% of patients with metastatic GC (Hu et al., 2018). Unlike lymphatic and hematogenous metastases, PD is driven by direct invasion from the gastric wall to the peritoneal cavity. This multistep process involves the cancer cells detaching from the primary tumours, adapting to the microenvironment of the peritoneal cavity and developing disseminated nodules (Figure 1.3). E-cadherin is a major contributor to a cells ability to undergo PD. It is a calcium-dependent cell-cell adhesion molecular that has a key role in establishing epithelial architecture and maintaining cellular polarity. Therefore, dysregulation of E-cadherin contributes to tumour invasion by promoting cell motility (Guilford et al., 1998a; Liu and Chu, 2014) and resulting in PD. Furthermore, E-cadherin and the E-cadherin-catenin complex may promote invasion and migration by modulating various signalling pathways, including Wnt signalling (Kuphal and Behrens, 2006), as well as EMT (Kourtidis et al., 2017).



Figure 1.3 Peritoneal dissemination of gastric cancer. (1) Penetration of tumour tissue through serous layer. (2) Detachment from the primary site (down-regulation of E-cadherin). (3) Transmigration to the distant peritoneum, EMT involvement. (4) GC cell attachment to the peritoneum. (5) Invasion into subperitoneal tissue. (6) Proliferation with infiltration of stromal cells and vascular neogenesis, colonization of secondary site.

1.4.2 EMT

The EMT process is thought to play a central role in the departure of GC cells from primary tumour in all metastatic cascades (Lambert et al., 2017). EMT is a phenotypic conversion mechanism that refers to the loss of epithelial features and acquisition of mesenchymal properties, which is vital for preparing cancer cells to invade the surrounding parenchyma and intravasate into the bloodstream, lymph nodes or invade into the peritoneal cavity. EMT has been implicated in the initiation of metastasis and tumour progression in many cancer types, including GC (Huang et al., 2014). During EMT, epithelial cells exhibit enhanced motility and invasiveness (Peng et al., 2014), low expression of E-cadherin, high expression of vimentin and N-cadherin, a spindle-like shape and reduced adhesion. The key ligands involved in EMT are TGFB, Wnt and Notch. The major transcription factors that induce EMT via downregulation of E-cadherin (Kourtidis et al., 2017) are Twist, Snail, Slug and ZEB1 (Prieto-García et al., 2017). In the context of PD it has been found that it is the discoidin domain-containing receptor 2 that promotes PD in GC via induction of EMT (Kurashige et al., 2016)

1.4.3 Tumour Microenvironment

The microenvironment of the free abdominal space is hypoxic, contains immune cells, and is deficient in glucose (Gilkes et al., 2014) making it challenging, but not impossible, for the cancer cells seeded in the peritoneal cavity to survive, proliferate and migrate in this environment. Cell adhesion to appropriate extracellular matrix components with integrin and cadherin is essential for the cells survival. Loss of this adhesion leads to anoikis. Therefore, anoikis resistance is required for cells surviving in the peritoneal cavity through anchorage-independent growth (Simpson et al., 2008). Cancer cells develop this resistance via several mechanisms such as changes in integrin repertoire expression, induction of EM, oncogene activation and adaption of their metabolism (Buchheit et al., 2014; Douma et al., 2004; Paoli et al., 2013).

Cancer cells that are successful in adapting to the harsh environment of the peritoneal cavity attach directly to the peritoneal surface. Due to the

mesothelium, a membrane composed of simple squamous epithelium that forms the lining of the peritoneum, the cancer cells are prevented from penetrating into the sub-mesothelial space (Hu et al., 2018). The connective tissue under the subendothelial layer contributes to the formation of a microenvironment niche for the seeding of cancer nodules during PD (Psaila and Lyden, 2009; van der Wal and Jeekel, 2007). It has also been recently reported that mesothelial cells are able to create a novel tissue niche that facilitates GC invasion, resulting in PD (Tanaka et al., 2017). Interestingly, this study also demonstrated that targeting the Wnt3a pathway, through Dkk1 effectively suppressed peritoneal mesothelial cells infiltration. This is due to GC cancer cells releasing Wnt3a, which in association with extracellular vesicles act as a chemoattractant for invading peritoneal mesothelial cells (Tanaka et al., 2017). This highlights the importance of the tumour microenvironment and Wnt/Bcatenin signaling in GC progression and the need to investigate this further.

1.5 Wnt Signaling Pathways

Wnt signalling is essential for embryonic development and adult tissue homeostasis. The Wnt pathways have been extensively studied and are divided into the canonical Wnt/B-catenin pathway, non-canonical planar cell polarity (PCP) pathway, and the non-canonical Wnt/calcium pathway. The PCP pathway is responsible for regulating cytoskeletal changes (Butler and Wallingford, 2017) while the Wnt/calcium pathway controls calcium levels within the cell (Thrasivoulou et al., 2013). These pathways are indispensable for planar cell polarity and extension movements during gastrulation and epithelial cell migration, however they have distinctive roles compared to the canonical pathway. This pathway is fundamental in development and maintenance of GIT homeostasis through its regulation of numerous biological processes including: regulation of the stem cell pool, proliferation, differentiation, EMT, and apoptosis. The canonical Wnt pathway is implicated in many GCs and other cancers and diseases due to its role in regulating stem cell function and EMT. For this reason, this thesis will focus on the canonical Wnt pathway.

1.5.1 Canonical Wnt/B-catenin Pathway

The Wnt/β-catenin pathway is an ancient and conserved signalling cascade that involves the transcriptional co-activator, β-catenin (Logan and Nusse, 2004). In the absence of a Wnt signal, unstimulated cells regulate β-catenin levels via a multi-protein complex, termed the destruction complex. The destruction complex is made up of the scaffold protein Axin, APC, glycogen synthase kinase-3B (GSK-3B) and casein kinase 1 alpha (CK1- α). This complex phosphorylates β-catenin, marking it for subsequent ubiquitination and degradation by the proteasome, preventing its localization to the nucleus. The absence of nuclear β-catenin initiates a complex of TCF/LEF and Groucho to recruit histone deacetylases (HDACs), repressing Wnt target genes. In the presence of a Wnt ligand, a heterodimeric receptor complex is formed, consisting of Frizzled and its co-receptor, an LRP5/6 protein. The LRP5/6 receptors are phosphorylated by CK1- α and GSK-3B (Janda et al., 2012) which leads to the recruitment of disheveled (DVL) and axin proteins to the plasma

membrane, where they become polymerized and activated (Li VS, 2012). DVL inactivates the destruction complex, resulting in the stabilization and accumulation of B-catenin and its translocation to the nucleus. In the nucleus, B-catenin forms an active complex with TCF/LEF, inhibiting Groucho repression, and recruits histone-modifying co-activators to initiate Wnt target gene transcription (Figure 1.4) (Flanagan et al., 2018).



Figure 1.4. Overview of canonical Wnt/B-catenin signalling (Adapted from (MacDonald et al., 2009). Wnt signalling in target cells. (A) In the absence of Wnt, a destruction complex consisting of Axin, Apc and GSK-3 ß resides in the cytoplasm, where it binds to and phosphorylates B-catenin, which is then degraded by the proteasome. T-cell factor (TCF) is in an inactive state, preventing transcription of Wnt target genes, as a consequence of binding to the repressor GROUCHO. (B) Binding of Wnt to its receptors, Frizzled and Lrp5/6, induces the association of Axin with phosphorylated Lrp5/6. The destruction complex is inactivated by disheveled (DVL), and B-catenin is stabilized, translocates to the nucleus and subsequently binds TCF to up-regulate Wnt target genes.

1.5.2 Wnt ligand synthesis, secretion and signalling

Wnt ligands are secreted glycoproteins, conserved in all metazoan animals. There are 19 Wht ligands in the mammalian genome, which allow for complex and specific interactions with an equally broad array of receptors able to transduce the Wnt signal (Clevers and Nusse, 2012b). Wnt proteins are cysteine rich, approximately 350-400 amino acids long, and contain an Nterminal signal peptide required for proper secretion. Wnt ligand secretion is a tightly regulated and complex process, with all Wnt proteins undergoing two types of lipid modifications on the conserved residues: cysteine 77 and serine 209 (Harterink and Korswagen, 2012). The first is the addition of palmitate to cysteine 77. This renders the Wnt protein hydrophobic and tethers it to the cell membrane of cognate receptors (Willert et al., 2002). The second modification is the attachment of a palmitoleoyl to serine 209. This is required for the release of Wht from the endoplasmic reticulum (ER). Furthermore, Porcupine (PORCN), an ER protein only active in Wnt-producing cells, is likely responsible for the serine 209 modification, as PORCN deletion causes Wnt retention in the ER (Takada et al., 2006) and a defect in Wg secretion in the Drosophila embryo (Kadowaki et al., 1996).

Additionally, the seven-transmembrane protein Wntless (Wls) provides an essential, though less understood, function in Wnt secretion (Bänziger et al., 2006; Bartscherer et al., 2006; Goodman et al., 2006). It is thought to principally act as a cargo receptor that ferries Wnt along the exocytic path (Herr et al., 2012). Wls localizes to the golgi network, endosomes and the plasma membrane, and binds Wnt proteins (Clevers and Nusse, 2012b). Therefore, Wls is critical for Wnt secretion and trafficking, as in Wls mutant cells, Wnt accumulates and is retained in the Golgi (Port et al., 2008).

Wnt signals were historically considered to be morphogens, molecules that exert their action across a long-distance in tissue, thus forming a gradient that determines cell fate in a concentration-dependent manner. However, there is limited evidence that this is actually the case and Wnts may signal over a shorter distance. For example, originally, the Wg protein produced by a thin line of cells was thought to have long-range characteristics. However, it has been demonstrated that a non-diffusible, membrane-tethered form of Wg can largely compensate for the function of wild-type Wg (Alexandre et al., 2014). Therefore, Wnt signalling is now considered to occur mostly over short distances, such as between neighboring cells in a stem cell niche or neuromuscular junction (Korkut et al., 2009; Sato et al., 2011b). It is still not fully understood how Wnt ligands exert signalling activity with both secretedmembrane-associated mechanism observed. Membrane-associated and mechanisms include the transport of Wnt in exosomes (Gross et al., 2012) and cytonemes (dynamic actin-based membrane structures) (Stanganello and Scholpp, 2016). Cytoneme formation is regulated by non-canonical Wnt/PCP signalling, whereas in neighboring cells, cytoneme-associated Wnt8a activates the canonical B-catenin signalling pathway (Mattes et al., 2018).

1.5.3 Frizzled receptors

Genetic screens in Drosophila looking for mutations that disrupt cell polarity led to the discovery of the Frizzled (FZD) genes. Since then, they have been found throughout the animal kingdom, including the most primitive metazoan, but they are not present in plants or simple single cell eukaryotes (Schenkelaars et al., 2015). FZD genes encode the principal receptors for Wnt family of signalling molecules (Bhanot et al., 1996; Yang-Snyder et al., 1996). The number of FZD genes varies between the class of organism: vertebrates have 10 known FZDs, *Drosophila* have 4 and *C.elegans* have 3.

Sequence analysis shows that vertebrate FZD genes can be divided into discrete classes based on structural homology. *FZD1*, *FZD2* and *FZD7* share approximately 97% identity, *FZD5* and *FZD8* share 70% identity, *FZD4*, *FZD9* and *FZD10* share 65% identity and *FZD3* and *FZD6* share 50% amino acid identity (Figure 1.5, Table 1.3) (Fredriksson et al., 2003; Sagara et al., 1998). The FZD genes encode proteins that share a common architecture: An N-terminal signal peptide, a conserved extracellular cysteine-rich domain (CRD), followed by a

7-pass transmembrane domain and an intracellular C-terminal PDZ domain. The structure of the extracellular domains is well reported however only the structure of the transmembrane domain of FZD4 was been recently described (Yang et al., 2018c). This revealed a unique compact organization and vacant ligand pocket which may provide a number of avenues for selective chemical probes and drug design against FZD4 and other FZDs (Zhang et al., 2018).

The conserved CRD on the FZD protein provides the binding site for Wnt ligands (Dann et al., 2001; Hsieh et al., 1999). The determined structure of the Wnt-Frizzled CRD complex displayed an unusual ligand-receptor interaction, characterized by a relatively small protein-protein interface and a relatively large interface between the CRD and a palmitoleic acid lipid group covalently attached to the Wnt (Janda et al., 2012).

On the cytoplasmic side of the plasma membrane, the C-terminal and the intracellular loops of the FZD receptors facilitate interactions with G-proteins and other regulatory signalling components. The short C-termini of the FZDs has a conserved motif which binds the PDZ domain of the scaffolding protein Dvl (Punchihewa et al., 2009; Tauriello et al., 2012). This interaction contributes to the disassembly of the Axin-based B-catenin destruction complex (Cliffe et al., 2003). In Planar Cell Polarity (PCP) non-canonical Wnt signalling, Dvl accumulates with FZD in endosomes. These are actively transported in the posterior direction and released back to the plasma membrane at the apical posterior tip of the epithelia (Shimada et al., 2006). This is required for the amplification of the initial FZD-activating signal and establishment of the uniform planar polarization of the tissue.



Table 1.3. Homology of Frizzled receptors to FZD7

Figure 1.5. Frizzled receptor identity. Dendrogram showing amino acid sequence identity among Frizzled proteins. FZD1, FZD2 and FZD7 constitute a distinct branch within the FZD family.

FZDs can function in all three distinct Wnt signaling pathways: the PCP pathway, the canonical Wnt/β-catenin pathway and the Wnt Ca²⁺ pathway. The Wnt-Fzd interaction can take many forms: a single Wnt can bind multiple FZD proteins and vice versa to activate canonical and/or non-canonical Wnt signalling. The structure of the Wnt-CRD complex allowing many binding combinations (Janda et al., 2012). This allows Wnt signalling to regulate a vast array of cellular functions through functional selectivity in different downstream pathways. In canonical signaling, FZD responds to Wnt proteins in the presence of co-receptor LRP5/6 to activate and propagate the Wnt/β-catenin pathway. Alternatively, FZD receptors can respond to Wnt proteins in the presence of the Wnt co-receptor Ror2 to activate the non-canonical pathway (Mikels and Nusse, 2006). The decision for a cell to activate canonical or non-canonical Wnt signalling largely depends on the receptor/co-receptor/ligand combination and availability (Figure 1.6).

The majority of the FZD receptor genes display developmental phenotypes when deleted from specific tissues. The close sequence homology between FZD members can make it difficult to interpret phenotypes, as in many cases, partial redundancy is observed. Partially redundant FZD pairs include FZD1 and FZD2, FZD3 and FZD6, FZD4 and FZD8, and FZD5 and FZD8 (Yu et al., 2012a). For example, defects in CNS axon guidance and hair follicle orientations, linked to PCP disruption, are observed in mice carrying single mutations in either FZD3 or FZD6, with additional phenotypes observed in double homozygous Fzd3^{-/-}; Fzd6^{-/-} mutant mice (Dong et al., 2018; Stuebner et al., 2010; Wang et al., 2006), suggesting that Fzd3 and FZD6 play a redundant role in controlling polarity, but through non-identical mechanisms. Likewise, it has been shown that FZD2 and FZD7, that share ~95% structural homology, function in a redundant fashion during convergent extension and closure of the ventricular septum and palate (Yu et al., 2012a). However, it is not only structurally similar FZDs that can compensate for one another. It was demonstrated that in human mesenchymal stem cells (hMSC) that many FZD receptors were capable of activating canonical Wnt signalling to maintain the proliferative and undifferentiated status of hMSCs in culture. However, only FZD7 and FZD5 were able to compensate for one another to sustain active signalling, thus demonstrating that two non-sequence related FZDs can act in a redundant fashion (Kolben et al., 2012)



Figure 1.6. Schematic arrangement of Wnt membrane receptors (Adapted from (Phesse et al., 2016). Frizzled proteins are considered the main Wnt receptors. The outcome of the Wnt-FZD interaction is determined by co-receptors. Wnt-FZD-Lrp5/6 activates the canonical B-catenin signalling pathway, which itself can be modulated by other cell surface proteins. For example, RNF43/ZNRF3 ubiquitylates FZD receptors and targets them for internalization and proteasomal degradation, thus resulting in turn-over of the receptor complex and inhibited B-catenin signalling. In the presence of Lgr4/5 and RSPO it is RNF43/ZNFR3 which is internalized and degraded and FZD-LRP5/6 remains on the cell surface to enhance B-catenin signalling. FZD receptors can associate with Ror2 to transmit non-canonical Wnt signals from ligands including Wnt5 or Wnt11, either via PCP or Ca2+. Some receptors such as Ryk are thought to function independently of Frizzled

1.5.4 LRP5/6

LRP5/6 forms one half of the canonical Wnt/B-catenin receptor complex along with FZD. Shortly after the discovery of canonical Wnt1 gene, LRP5/6 was identified to be key for Wnt1-dependnet tumour development in Wnt1 transgenic mouse models (Badders et al., 2009; Goel et al., 2012; Lindvall et al., 2006) and LRP6 if often overexpressed in human breast tumours (Liu et al., 2010). The ectodomain of LRP5/6 is composed of four B-propeller/epidermal growth factor repeats (E1-4) and three LDL repeats (LDLR). E1-4 but not LDLR is the binding domain of canonical Wnt ligands, as well as the canonical pathway inhibitor Dkk1 (Angers and Moon, 2009; Bhanot et al., 1996; Chen et al., 2011; Mao et al., 2001). Currently, the LDLR-binding proteins remain unexplored. The current view is that the close proximity of LRP5/6 and FZD coupled by canonical Wnt ligand binding to E1-4 OF lrp5/6 and the CRD of FZD is required for canonical pathway activation (Angers and Moon, 2009; MacDonald et al., 2009). In contrast, Dkk1 promotes the internalization of LRP5/6 via binding with its receptor, Kremen, making LRP5/6 unavailable for Wnt binding, thus, inhibiting the canonical pathway (Mao et al., 2002).

Intracellularly, LRP5/6 participates in key molecular interactions with the scaffolding protein Axin and the kinases CK1- α and GSK-3B via the evolutionarily conserved cytoplasmic PPPSPxS binding motif (P = Proline, S = Serine/Threonine, x = variable residue). Mutational analysis of LRP6 revealed that when cytoplasmic PPPSPxS binding motif is altered, LRP6 acts as a dominant negative mutant and conversely, LRP6 mutants that lack the extracellular domain behave as constitutively activated Wnt receptors (Tamai et al., 2004; Zeng et al., 2005).

The current model indicates that in response to Wnt, Dvl binding and recruitment of Axin to the FZD-LRP5/6 complex triggers the phosphorylation of LRP5/6 on the PPPSPxS motif via a dual-kinase mechanism, first by GSK-38 then by CK1- α (Davidson et al., 2005). This duel-phosphorylation promotes the engagement of LRP5/6 with Axin. It is surprising that GSK-38 mediates LRP5/6

phosphorylation and activation, due to its known inhibitory role in Wnt signalling via promoting B-catenin phosphorylation and degradation (Liu et al., 2002). However, it has been shown that the membrane-associated form of GSK-3B, in contrast to cytosolic GSK-3B, stimulates Wnt signalling as well as Xenopus axis duplication (Zeng et al., 2005). Therefore, GSK-3B can act as a switch dictating both the on and off states of the Wnt signalling pathway.

1.5.5 Ror and Ryk

Two other classes of receptor that forms a part of the Wnt-pathway components are Ror and Ryk. These are both tyrosine kinase evolutionarily conserved transmembrane receptors capable of participating in canonical and non-canonical Wnt signalling. However, the exact mechanisms by which they transduce Wnt signals are still be refined and understood.

Receptor-tyrosine kinase-like orphan receptor 1/2 (Ror1 & Ror2) are able to bind directly to Wnt ligands and therefore function as Wnt receptors (Mikels et al., 2009). This is thanks to their distinguishing feature in the extracellular domain of the presence of a CRD domain that shares close homology with the Wnt-binding domain of the FZD receptors (Mikels and Nusse, 2006; Oishi et al., 2003; Saldanha et al., 1998). The primary ligand for Ror2 is Wnt5a (Green et al., 2008). Wnt5a induces the formation of a complex between Ror2 and FZD, resulting in the phosphorylation of Ror2 and the recruitment of Dvl, Axin and GSK-3B, the same machinery that mediates Wnt3A-induced phosphorylation of Lrp5/6 (Grumolato et al., 2010; Yamamoto et al., 2007). This results in Wnt3a and Wnt5a competing for binding to the FZD receptor; the identity of the Wnt ligand will determine which co-receptor will be activated. In contract to functioning as a co-receptor with FZD, the Wnt5a/Ror2 complex can function to inhibit the Wnt/B-catenin pathway (Mikels et al., 2009), thus Ror has both kinase-independent and kinase-dependent functions (van Amerongen et al., 2012)

Ror2 has also been implemented in understanding how Wnt proteins travel between cells. Cytonemes, finger-like structures, grow out of the cell membrane and carry Wnt proteins to their destination. Ror2 is activated by Wnt8a which triggers the assembly of the cytonemes and induces Lrp6-FZD clustering into the LRP6 signalosome to activate B-catenin signalling. The amount of Ror2 activation is directly proportion to the amount of cytonemes produced by the cell and therefore the levels of Wnt signals and B-catenin signaling. This mechanism has been observed in zebrafish embryos, the mouse intestine, and most excitingly, human stomach tumours (Mattes et al., 2018)

Ryk receptors have a critical role in axon guidance and neurite outgrowth in response to multiple Wnt ligands and therefore have mostly been studied in neurobiological contexts (Keeble et al., 2006). Ryk receptors are considered catalytically inactive and have been shown to bind to FZD suggesting a role as a co-receptor in Wnt signalling, however this function is cell-context dependent (Berndt et al., 2011; Kim et al., 2019). Therefore, it is likely that many independent mechanisms exist downstream from ligand-receptor binding for both FZD and non-FZD Wnt receptors.

1.5.6 The B-catenin destruction complex

In the absence of Wnt/FZD interaction, the scaffolding proteins Apc and Axin sequester β -catenin, which allows CK1- α to phosphorylate the N terminus of β -catenin at Ser 45, a residue often mutated in cancers. Subsequently, GSK-3B is recruited to phosphorylate Serine 33, 37 and threonine 41 residues (Lybrand et al., 2019). Phosphorylated β -catenin is then recognized by the F-box-containing protein β -TrCP, which mediates ubiquitylation and proteasomal degradation (Shi et al., 2015). Together, these proteins make up the β -catenin destruction complex (as depicted in Figure 1.4). When Wnt ligands are present, they bind and activate heteromeric receptor complexes of FZD and LRP5/6 which initiate a signal via disheveled that inhibits the destruction complex.

Although this model of Wnt signalling is generally accepted, key aspects of how the destruction complex is regulated remain controversial. There are dozens of models that hypothesize how β -catenin is regulated, including destruction complex inactivation by kinase inhibition, complex dissociation, separation of the destruction complex from the ubiquitylation machinery and aggregation of the complex at the site of activated receptors (Lybrand et al., 2019). This uncertainty derives from the fact that most components of the destruction complex are multifunctional, serving other roles in addition to Wnt signaling. This results in only a small fraction of the total cytoplasmic pool of each protein actually participating in Wnt signalling (Papadopoulou et al., 2004). This has resulted in most investigations of the destruction complex using protein overexpression assays in highly artificial *in vitro* systems, thus, rendering their physiological significance uncertain.

A study by Li *et al.*, examined all the destruction complex components and interactions at endogenous levels Firstly, Li *et al.*, proposed that the composition of the Axin complex does not change in colorectal cancer cell lines, in which the Wnt pathway is locked to the "on" state, demonstrated by the presence of GSK-3B and B-catenin (Li VS, 2012). However, other studies have demonstrated that Axin1 complex can be degraded or sequestered to the plasma membrane by LRP5/6 following Wnt activation (Huang et al., 2009; Zeng et al., 2005). Secondly, Li *et al.*, demonstrated that the activities of GSK-3B and CK1- α are not inhibited upon Wnt signalling, and are free to phosphorylate B-catenin. Whereas other studies have suggested that GSK-3B activity is inhibited directly by LRP5/6 PPPSPxS motif or via its sequestration into multivesicular bodies (Taelman et al., 2010; Wu et al., 2009). This difference is settled by proposing that the phosphorylated form of B-catenin accumulates within an intact destruction complex following Wnt stimulation (Li VS, 2012).

The role for APC in the inhibition of the destruction complex following Wnt ligand presentation have recently been proposed. The results from Parker and Neufeld expand on the current model of Wnt signalling such that in response to Wnt, the destruction complex (Logan and Nusse, 2004) maintains composition and binding to B-catenin (Clevers, 2006), moves toward the plasma membrane (MacDonald et al., 2009) and requires full-length APC for this relocalization (Parker and Neufeld, 2020). They demonstrated that APC deletion

or truncation in non-transformed human colon epithelial cells completely abolished Wnt-induced destruction complex localization (Parker and Neufeld, 2020). This highlights APCs duel function as a scaffold protein and as a key player to enable full trafficking of the destruction complex towards a Wnt cue. It has also been recently shown that the central region of APC has a role in preventing clathirin-mediated endocytosis in the Wnt-off state (Saito-Diaz et al., 2018). Therefore, APC may also act as a molecular "gatekeeper" to block receptor activation via the clathrin pathway (Figure 1.7).



Figure 1.7 APC may act as a negative regulator of Wnt receptor activation via the clathrin endocytic pathway. (Adapted from (Saito-Diaz et al., 2018). In the absence of Wnt ligand, APC maintains low cytoplastimc B-catenin as part of the destruction complex. A novel role for APC is its role in inhibition of Wnt receptor activation in the unstimulated state. (A) In the absence of a Wnt ligand (Basal state), APC localizes to clathrin-coated pits to block spontaneous Wnt receptor activation. (B) Upon loss of APC (APC-depleted state), ligand-independent LRP6 oligomerization is no longer inhibited, the Wnt signalosome forms, and the pathway is activated.

1.5.7 Nuclear Events

Nuclear B-catenin is a hallmark of active Wnt signalling (Nusse and Clevers, 2017) but how B-catenin is transported into and out of the nucleus is not well understood. Early studies suggested that B-catenin enters the nucleus by interacting with nuclear pore proteins and is independent of the nuclear-localization signal (NLS) (Henderson and Fagotto, 2002). It has been reported that B-catenin can be actively exported from the nucleus as cargo of Axin (Cong et al., 2004) or that APC can shuttle between the cytoplasm and nucleus (Rosin-Arbesfeld et al., 2000). A *Drosophila* genetic screen identified two nuclear binding partners, Bcl9 and Pygopus which are closely involved in the nuclear import and retention of B-catenin (Townsley et al., 2004). They may also aide in the transcriptional ability of B-catenin (Hoffmann, 2005).

The TCF/LEF family of transcription factors is the main partner for β -catenin in gene regulation (Hoppler and Kavanagh, 2007). TCF represses gene expression by interacting with the repressor Groucho, which promotes histone deacetylation and chromatin compaction. Wnt-induced β -catenin stabilization and nuclear accumulation leads to a complex of TCF with β -catenin, which displaces Groucho (Daniels and Weis, 2005) and recruit other co-activators for gene activation (Figure 1.8). The vertebrate genome harbors four TCF/LEF genes: *Tcf-1*, *Lef-1*, *Tcf-3* and *Tcf-4*.

Wnt signalling regulates gene transcription in a highly context-dependent manner. Transcribed target genes contribute to a variety of cellular functions from stem cell function to proliferation. Additionally, Wnt signalling can promote the expression of several Wnt pathway components, highlighting feedback control as a key feature of Wnt signalling regulation. These "Wnt pathway" genes are often common across all cell types, whereas many other Wnt target genes are cell-type specific and are less often found to be induced across different kinds of cells. Therefore, expression of Wnt pathway genes, such as Axin2 (Jho et al., 2002) and Lgr5 (van de Wetering et al., 2002) are good hallmarks of active Wnt signalling.



Figure 1.8 Wnt signalling in the nucleus (Adapted from (Clevers and Nusse, 2012a). (A) In the absence of Wnt signals, TCF occupies and represses its target genes, helped by transcriptional co-repressors such as Groucho. (B) Upon Wnt signalling, B-catenin displaces Groucho from TCF and recruits' transcriptional co-activators and histone modifiers such as Brg1, CBP, Cdc47, Bcl9 and Plygopus (Pygo) to drive target gene expression.

1.5.8 Wnt Antagonists & Agonists

Wnt signalling is regulated at every stage of the pathway from the extracellular receptors and ligands to the intracellular components by a wide range of effectors. These effectors function as agonists or antagonists and are important in the control of the fine-tuning of Wnt signalling and in inhibiting or activating Wnt-regulated developmental processes. Critically, their role in Wnt pathway regulation continues through adulthood and is implicated in pathological events, including cancer (Cruciat and Niehrs, 2013).

Secreted frizzled-related proteins (sFRPs) are a family of five (sFRP1-5) secreted glycoproteins that have been identified as extracellular modulators of the Wnt signalling pathway (Jones and Jomary, 2002). They are the largest family of secreted Wnt inhibitors. All sFRP family members contain an N-terminal domain that is 30-50% homologous to the CRD of the FZD receptors, this is both necessary and sufficient for Wnt binding and inhibition (Lin et al., 1997; Rehn et al., 1998). In contrast to FZD family proteins, sFRPs lack a transmembrane region and the cytoplasmic domain required for signal transduction into the cells. Instead they have a C-terminal Netrin-related motif domain that is required for their ability to induce optimal Wnt inhibition (Bhat et al., 2007). sFRPs modulate the Wnt signalling pathway by directly binding with Wnt ligands to block the interaction between Wnt and FZD receptors. Additionally, sFRPs can bind with FZD receptors to form non-functional complexes that prevent Wnt signalling activation (Bafico et al., 1999).

A recent study found that abnormal nuclear localization of sFRPs bound to Bcatenin was able to modulate TCF4 recruitment. This exerted either promoting or suppressive effects on the Wnt/B-catenin-elicited cancer stem cell (CSC) phenotype (Liang et al., 2019). This suggests an alternative mechanism in which sFRPs act as biphasic modulators of Wnt-signalling-elicited CSC properties beyond extracellular control. However, the exact mechanism in which sFRPs translocate into the nucleus remains unclear. The Dickkopf (Dkk) genes represent a small family of evolutionarily conserved glycoproteins that potently antagonize Wnt/β-catenin signalling. There are four Dkk genes (Dkk1-4) in the vertebrate genome. Dkk proteins selectively antagonize canonical Wnt signalling by binding to LRP5/6, thus, preventing FZD and Wnt from forming a ternary complex (Semënov et al., 2001). In addition to LRP5/6 Dkk1 can form a ternary complex with the cell surface receptor Kremen which promotes LRP6 internalization and degradation (Mao et al., 2002). A novel role for Dkk1 in the absence of Kremen proteins has been identified in stabilizing Lrp6 while inhibiting Wnt/Lrp6 signalling. Importantly, it was also demonstrated that Dkk1 blocks Wnt3A-induced LRP6 down-regulation (Li et al., 2010).

1.5.9 R-Spondin & E3 ligases (Rnf43 & Znrf3)

R-Spondin (R-Spo) proteins are potent agonists of canonical Wnt signalling, but only in the presence of Wnt ligands (Kazanskava et al., 2004; Kim et al., 2008a). R-Spos are cysteine-rich secreted glycoproteins and through their role in activating Wnt signalling control a variety of cellular and tissue functions (Yoon and Lee, 2012). In mammals, there are four R-Spos which display high structural similarity and 60% sequence homology (Nam et al., 2006). All four contain four distinct domains: a putative signal peptide domain, a cysteine-rich furin-like (FU) domain, a thrombospondin type I repeat domain and a basic amino acid-rich domain (Kazanskaya et al., 2004). It is the FU domains that are essential to amplify the Wnt ligand-dependent activation of canonical Wnt signalling (Kim et al., 2008a; Li et al., 2009). Crystal structure analysis showed that one of the FU domains binds to Lgr receptors (Peng et al., 2013a; Wang et al., 2013b). The other FU domains to the cell-surface transmembrane E3 ubiquitin ligase Znrf3/Rnf43 (Chen et al., 2013; Zebisch et al., 2013), which antagonize Wnt signaling by ubiquitinating FZD receptors followed by endocytosis of the Wnt receptor complex (Hao et al., 2012; Koo et al., 2012). Here, the R-Spo-Lgr complex binds to ZNRF3/RNF43 to block the ubiquitination of FZD receptors which leads to the augmentation of the Wnt signalling cascade (Figure 1.6). It has also recently been reported that R-Spo2 and R-Spo3 can also amplify canonical Wnt signalling independently of Lrg receptors, via membrane-bound heparin sulfate proteoglycans (HSPG) (Lebensohn and Rohatgi, 2018).

The negative regulators of Wnt signalling, ZNRF3 and RNF43 were identified from gene expression profiling to identify genes that positively correlated with known negative regulators of Wnt signalling, such as Axin2 or Dkk-1 (Hao et al., 2012). As mentioned, ZNRF3 and RNF43 regulate Wnt signalling via their ability to promote the degradation of the FZD-Lrp6 complex, however, it has been shown that R-Spo induces membrane clearance of ZNRF3 though ZNRF3-Lgr4 dimerization. This leads to the accumulation of Wnt receptors on the cell surface (Hao et al., 2012; Peng et al., 2013b). These findings support a model in which in the absence of R-Spo, the E3 ligases ubiquitylates FZD and promotes the degradation of FZD-LRP6 complex, thus keeping Wnt signalling to low levels. However, in the presence of R-Spo, lgr4 and ZNRF3 interact, via the FU domain on R-Spo. This leads to the clearance of the E3 ligases, thus, allowing the FZD-LRP6 complex to accumulate at the membrane to enhance canonical Wnt signalling.

1.5.10 Wnt signalling in the homeostasis of the Gastric Epithelium

The role of Wnt signalling in maintaining gastric homeostasis is less well defined than its close counterpart, the intestinal epithelium. However, the requirement of Wnt signalling in gastric homeostasis is widely accepted. Gastric organoid cultures require Wnt3a in the culture medium in addition to the Wnt agonist R-Spondin (Barker et al., 2010b; Flanagan et al., 2016) thus demonstrating that Wnt is required for the activity of gastric epithelial cells. It has been demonstrated that Wnt signalling is more active in the antrum than the corpus (Flanagan et al., 2017a). . Furthermore, over-expression of Wnt can lead to intestinal differentiation of the stomach (Khurana and Mills, 2010). Further supporting evidence for the role of Wnt in gastric homeostasis was provided by the genetic profiling of laser-capture micro-dissected granule-free

isthmal cells from both the antral and corpal epithelium (Giannakis et al., 2006). The expression profile of isolated isthmal cells revealed significant upregulation of Wnt target genes in comparison to isolated parietal, chief, and mucous cells. This is consistent with the upregulation of Wnt target genes observed in other stem cell populations such as hematopoietic and embryonic stem cells (Assou et al., 2007; Fernandez et al., 2014; Vijayaragavan et al., 2009; Willert et al., 2002). Furthermore, deregulated Wnt signalling in the adult stomach, achieved by activating Wnt mutations in the gastric epithelium, results in a marked change in stomach homeostasis (Radulescu et al., 2013).

The discovery of Lgr5+ gastric stem cells gives weight to the role of Wnt signalling in gastric homeostasis. Lgr5+ gastric stem cells are responsive to Wnt ligands and (along with their immediate progeny) share a significant overlap of Wnt target genes with intestinal Lgr5+ stem cells, indicative of robust Wnt activity at the base of antral gastric glands (Barker et al., 2010b). It has been demonstrated that FZD7 is the predominant Wnt receptor in regulating homeostasis in the intestinal epithelium, in which deletion of FZD7 in either the whole epithelium or specifically in the Lgr5+ intestinal stem cells, triggers rapid repopulation (Flanagan et al., 2015a). More recent studies following on from this have demonstrated that FZD7 is also expressed in the antrum of the gastric epithelium, and is required for the growth of gastric organoid cultures. Deletion of FZD7 in the gastric epithelium in vivo was shown to be deleterious and triggered rapid repopulation of the epithelium (Flanagan et al., 2017a). This data identifies that FZD7 is crucial for transmitting Wnt signalling to regulate homeostasis in the gastric epithelium. However, unlike the intestinal stem cells, the function of Lgr5+ gastric stem cells do not require FZD7 in vivo. Deletion of FZD7 does not inhibit the capacity of Lgr5+ cells to lineage trace full gastric units in the antral epithelium (Flanagan et al., 2019b). This highlights key differences in the way Wnt regulates homeostasis and Lgr5+ stem cells in the stomach compared to the intestinal epithelium. Together, this demonstrates that Fzd7 is required for at least one population of stem cells in the gastric antrum, but this population has yet to be identified.

The Wnt pathway is more active in the antrum than in the corpus, however, further data has demonstrated that the Wnt target gene, *Troy* marks mature chief cells in the corpal stomach, consistent with a role for Wnt signalling in gastric epithelium. Isolated Troy+ cells up-regulate a significant proportion of Wnt-B-catenin target genes expressed by Lgr5+ gastric stem cells and contribute to the homeostasis of the corpal epithelium both under basal and injury conditions (Stange et al., 2013). The plasticity displayed by Troy cells may be regulated by Wnt signalling due to their expression of many Wnt target genes. However, the precise source of Wnt ligands that active this pathway remains to be identified.

Detailed analysis of Wnt signalling in the epithelium of the antrum using *in situ* hybridization showed that several Wnt ligands were expressed (Wnt2b, 3a, 4, 5a, 9a, 9b and 11), as well as all 10 FZD receptors (Sigal et al., 2017). The expression patterns of some FZD receptors was focused in specific areas of the gastric units, for example FZD10 was expressed predominantly in the pit region, FZD6 predominantly in the base, FZD5 expression was markedly decreased in the gland base, whilst FZD6 and FZD7 expression was mainly confined to the bottom two thirds of the gastric unit (Stange et al., 2013). These specific expression patterns suggest a distinct role for Wnt signalling in each area of the gastric unit, which has yet to be fully elucidated. Further studies are required to understand the various niche factors required by the various stem cell populations of the gastric epithelium. This would provide a greater and more complete understanding of the role of gastric stem cells in homeostasis, regeneration and disease.

1.6 Aberrant Wnt Signalling & Gastric Cancer

As mentioned one of the best characterized signalling pathways implicated in GC is the Wnt pathway. This pathway is involved in the tumorigenesis of many cancers, but especially so in cancers of the gastrointestinal tract (Pai et al., 2016). In brief, the hallmarks of this pathway include increased B-catenin (encoded by *CTNNB1*) signalling, which is often facilitated by inactivating mutations in APC. In the TCGA study, APC was mutated in 17% of GC tumours and 8% with mutations to *CTNNB1*(TCGA, 2014). Another regulator of Wnt signalling is the E3 ubiquitin ligase RNF43, which was found to be mutated in 18% of GC tumors in the TCGA study, as well as in other data sets (Wang et al., 2014b). This further supports the likely importance of the Wnt signaling pathway in GC, which can become dysregulated at any level of the pathway (Table 1.5).

1.6.1 H.pylori-mediated Wnt signalling

As previously mentioned, a major risk factor for GC is chronic infection with *H.pylori*. A virulence factor produced by *H.pylori* following colonization of the stomach lumen, is cytotoxin-associated gene product (CagA). This has been shown to activate Wnt signalling and promote gastric tumorigenesis and progression by its translocation to the cytoplasm of epithelial cells (Silva-García et al., 2019). Once inside the host cell, CagA interacts and phosphorylates the oncoprotein c-Met receptors that activates NF-kB and the expression of numerous pro-inflammatory cytokines and chemokines, enzymes and angiogenic factors (Tohidpour, 2016). This functional ternary complex, CagA-c-Met-CD44 also induces nuclear B-catenin accumulation by activating the PI3K/Akt signalling pathway (Suzuki et al., 2009; Wroblewski et al., 2015). Additionally, CagA can directly interact with the gastric tumour suppressor transcription factor Runx3 (runt related transcription factor 3), labelling it for ubiquitination and proteasome degradation (Tsang et al., 2010). Runx3 normally interacts with Tcf4 which represses B-catenin-dependent gene expression. The interaction of CagA with Runx3 exposes the TCF4 binding site for B-catenin, which activates the upregulation of B-catenin target genes and can induce GC carcinogenesis (Ito et al., 2011). Another tumour suppressor that is negatively affected by *H.pylori* is Tff1. In a normal setting Tff1 increases the phosphorylating activity of GSK3B on B-catenin, which results in a reduction in

B-catenin nuclear translocation and Tcf4 transcriptional activity (Soutto et al., 2015). In *H.pylori* infected epithelial cells, *H.pylori* promotes hypermethylation of the Tff1 gene which leads to an increase in β-catenin-dependent gene expression (Tomita et al., 2011). Additionally, promoter methylation and mRNA downregulation of Wnt/β-catenin antagonists (sFRP, DKK1 and WIF1) have also been demonstrated during gastric carcinogenesis and affected by *H.pylori* infection (Yang et al., 2018a). As a result of this genetic modification, β-catenin nuclear translocation was increased in gastric epithelial cells, highlighting that epigenetic modification is an important factor for GC.

In addition to epigenetic modifications, H.pylori infection promotes cancer stem cell characteristics in GC cells by activating Wnt/B-catenin signalling in a process dependent on CagA (Yong et al., 2016). It was also demonstrated that Nanog and Oct4, two transcription factors associated with EMT, had increased expression in GC samples from patients infected with CagA-positive H.pylori (Chiou et al., 2010). It has also been demonstrated that H.pylori is able to directly inject CagA into Lgr5+ gastric stem cells. This significantly increases the number of Lgr5+ gastric cells, which in turn leads to an increase in Wnt signalling activity (Sigal et al., 2015). A population of Wnt responsive Axin2+ gastric stem cells has also been shown to increase following *H.pylori* infection. This is linked to an increase in R-spondin2 signalling from sub-epithelial myofibroblasts (Sigal et al., 2017). This increase in expression of R-Spo and Lgr5 is positively correlated with poor patient survival and outcomes (Wilhelm et al., 2017; Xi, 2019). Gastric epithelial cells infected with *H.pylori* also induce the expression and activation of other Wnt receptor components such as FZD (Geng et al., 2016) and LRP (Gnad et al., 2010), propagating Wnt signalling and cell transformation. Specifically it was found that *H.pylori* colonization leads to the activation of the Wnt/B-catenin pathway through upregulation of FZD7. Knockdown of FZD7 in H.pylori infected GC cells reduced cell proliferation and colony forming. Furthermore, it was found that miR-27b harboured a putative binding site for FZD7 and that miR-27b was able to suppress H.pylori infection

and the Wnt pathway through inhibition of FZD7 (Geng et al., 2016) This suggests that designing therapeutics to target Wnt signalling at the level of the receptor complex in *H.pylori* infected GC cells could be beneficial.

Despite the reported ability of *H.pylori* to induce and activate the Wnt pathway in GC, there is also distinct data demonstrating the involvement of multiple Wnt pathway components independent of *H.pylori* in the initiation and progression of both intestinal-type and diffuse-type GC.

1.6.2 Intracellular Component Mutations

The traditional view is that mutations to various intracellular components of the Wnt/B-catenin signalling pathway lead to constitutive activation and the development of many cancers, including GC. In fact more than 70% of patients diagnosed with GC had deregulated Wnt/B-catenin signaling (Ooi et al., 2009). The most common mutations occur as stabilized forms of B-catenin (*CTNNB1*) or truncating mutations to APC (Morin et al., 1997).

First, work investigating Wnt signalling involvement in the pathogenesis of GC identified B-catenin as a suitable target for therapeutic intervention. Nuclear B-catenin, a surrogate marker of active Wnt signalling, is detected in approximately one-third of GC tumours. In normal gastric epithelium, B-catenin is confined to the cell membrane. However, during aberrant activation of the pathway, B-catenin is located predominantly in the nucleus. In gastric tumours displaying nuclear B-catenin, one-third of them have mutations in exon-3 of the B-catenin gene (*CTNNB1*) (Clements et al., 2002; Woo et al., 2001). The *CTNNB1* mutations are frequently missense mutations (Machin et al., 2002). Early studies reported that mutations in B-catenin are confined to intestinal-type gastric tumours, suggesting that the tumorigenic mechanisms are different from diffuse-type gastric tumours (Ebert et al., 2002; Park et al., 1999). However, studies since have shown no significant difference in the number of tumours with B-catenin mutation between diffuse and intestinal-type GC (Clements et al., 2002). The difference between these findings could be due to the

examination of a larger sample size of gastric tumours in research by Clements and colleagues. The functional significance of exon-3 of the B-catenin gene is that it encodes serine-threonine phosphorylation sites for GSK3-B which regulates degradation of B-catenin by the ubiquitin-proteasome pathway.

Mutations in exon-3 of B-catenin and alteration of these phosphorylation sites confer resistance to phosphorylation and lead to the accumulation of nuclear B-catenin and subsequent changes in expression of genes that regulate proliferation, such as Cyclin D1, D2 and E (Akama et al., 1995; Arici et al., 2009) and Wnt target genes (Gao et al., 2017a). More recent work has shown that reduced B-catenin protein expression by targeted silencing of B-catenin in GC cells leads to inhibition of B-catenin nuclear localization and Wnt transcriptional activity (Jiang et al., 2010). Additionally, it has been observed that the inactive form of GSK3-B is up-regulated and down-regulated in gastric tumors and the surrounding non-neoplastic tissue, respectively (Zheng et al., 2010). Furthermore, high levels of B-catenin and cytoplasmic GSK3-B correlate with an invasive phenotype in gastric tumours (Miyazawa et al., 2000; Zheng et al., 2010).

It has been shown *in vivo* that constitutive Wnt activation, through conditional truncation of APC, deletion of GSK3-B, or overexpression of B-catenin in the gastric epithelium is sufficient to initiate gastric adenoma formation in both the antrum and corpus (Radulescu et al., 2013). Although loss of function of Apc or GSK3-B is unable to drive the adenomas to malignancy, hinting that Wnt plays a role in the initiation of tumorigenesis. Initial studies examining mutations within gastric tumours revealed somatic mutations in a region of chromosome 5q (Sano et al., 1991), a region that is frequently mutated in colorectal carcinoma (Vogelstein et al., 1988), and that was subsequently found to harbor the coding region of APC, the gene responsible for familial adenomatous polyposis (FAP) (Kinzler et al., 1991; Korinek et al., 1997; Morin et al., 1997; Su et al., 1992). Loss of heterogeneity at 5q has been shown in approximately 40% of GCs regardless of histologic subtype (Rhyu et al., 1994).

Furthermore, spontaneous inactivation of Apc in the APC^{min} mouse model was found to promote the formation of gastric adenomas within the antral stomach (Gravaghi et al., 2008; Tomita et al., 2007).

Somatic mutations of APC were further characterized in gastric tumours, demonstrating that only very well differentiated adenocarcinomas, and not less differentiated intestinal gastric tumors, contained APC mutations (Nakatsuru et al., 1992). The location of somatic APC mutations varied between tumours, giving rise to the idea that different subsets of tumours have different mechanisms to their carcinogenesis. However, it was later discovered that both major types of GC harbor APC mutations (Kim et al., 2010). A possible explanation for this discrepancy is that early work did not screen the entire APC gene, thereby possibly missing mutations in other locations of the APC gene that are observed in other types of GC (Nakatsuru et al., 1992). Studies using GC cell lines have shown mutations at codon 1450 of APC, which leads to truncation of the protein causing constitutive activation of Wnt/B-catenin signalling. This is characterized by nuclear localization of B-catenin and upregulation of TCF/LEF regulated transcription (Sasaki et al., 2001).

There are over 1,000 known mutations in the APC gene (Béroud and Soussi, 1996; Laurent-Puig et al., 1998), which makes it extremely challenging to translate knowledge of the specific genomic mutation into clinically relevant information. Adding to this complexity, it has been shown that even patients with identical mutations can develop varying clinical manifestations (Giardiello et al., 1994), suggesting that there may be additional contributing genomic and environmental factors. Even though somatic mutation of the APC gene is most commonly associated to the colon, it has frequently been observed in many other tissues (Rubinstein et al., 2020) with The Catalogue of Somatic Mutations in Cancer (COSMIC) includes a total of 65,672 samples from diverse tissue types, of which 5,928 are noted to contain APC variants. Currently (At time of query), the catalogue contained 2,657 gastric carcinoma samples that had undergone APC testing, reporting 139 tumours with mutations (5.23%) (Forbes et al.,

2017). The recent TCGA study contained 293 gastric samples with 17% reporting genetic alteration to the APC gene (TCGA, 2014). The role of APC mutation in the pathogenesis of gastric adenocarcinoma is less well-studied than in the colon, however, there is evidence from recent molecular profiling studies to support bi-allelic loss of APC as a potential driver (Lim et al., 2016).

Due to the stomach and the colons proximity and shared role in digestion, one might expect similar APC mutational profiles, however, this is not the case. Within the TCGA dataset there are 43 APC mutations, 69% of all recorded mutations, that are unique to the stomach and not observed in colorectal adenocarcinoma genomic datasets. The remaining 31% of APC mutations are shared with the colon. Of note, the colon datasets record 309 different APC mutations, whereas there are only 63 recorded APC mutations for stomach. Of the 63 mutations recorded for the stomach, over 50% of them are truncating mutations (TCGA, 2014). Gastric and colonic APC variants also differ in genomic location across the gene. The frameshift and stop gain variants of the colon samples occurred almost exclusively in the 5'-portion of the gene, compared to a more uniform distribution in the gastric samples. In the colon samples, only 1.4% occur after codon 1650 compared to 26% of the frameshift and stop gain variants in the gastric samples (Rubinstein et al., 2020).

However, even in cancers with no detectable mutations to B-catenin or APC, the mRNA level of B-catenin is greatly enhanced (Ebert et al., 2002). This suggests that other more upstream components of Wnt signalling are being deregulated in GC, and understanding the mechanism by which they signal could lead to advances in therapy for GC.

1.6.3 Dysregulation of Wnt signalling at the Plasma Membrane

Until recently, it was believed that mutations in APC, Axin and/or Bcatenin which cause constitutive activation of Wnt signalling cannot be modulated further by upstream components of the Wnt pathway. However, it has been demonstrated that the sFRP family of Wnt antagonist are frequently silenced via promoter hypermethylation in a variety of cancer, including GC
(Caldwell et al., 2004; Cheng et al., 2007; Suzuki et al., 2004). The silencing of sFRP via methylation is detected in preneoplastic gastric tissue and thus could be used as a biomarker for GC (Cheng et al., 2007). Transfection of Sfrp-1, -2 or -5 successfully suppressed TCF/LEF activity, which is sufficient to block proliferation and induce apoptosis in GC cell lines even in those harboring Apc and/or β -catenin mutations (Nojima et al., 2007). Building on this, one group has successfully reduced the size of gastric tumour xenografts by transfecting mice with sFRP2, thus demonstrating the potential for sFRP2 to act as a functional tumour suppressor (Cheng et al., 2007).

Similar to other Wnt antagonists, frequent promoter methylation of Dkk-1 and subsequent down-regulation has been observed in GC cell lines and primary gastric tumours (Kagey and He, 2017). GC cells transfected with functional Dkk1 lead to significant reductions in tumorigenicity (Yu et al., 2009). Similarly, GC cells enriched for CD44 expression, a gastric stem cell marker, were isolated and virally transfected with Dkk-1 to abrogate Wnt signalling. Successfully infected cells displayed large amounts of phosphorylated B-catenin in addition to the inhibition of TCF/LEF target gene expression. This correlated with decreased survival and invasiveness of GC cells (Wang et al., 2012b). The functionality of Dkk-1 was also assessed *in vivo*, where Wang et al. demonstrated that the size of CD44+ gastric tumour xenografts significantly diminished following administration of Dkk-1. This showed that there is a potential therapeutic benefit to treating GC stem cells with Dkk-1 and that modulation of upstream Wnt components can attenuate gastric tumorigenesis irrespective of downstream mutations (Wang et al., 2012b).

Taking advantage of gastric stem cell markers allows the manipulation of signalling pathways exclusively in stem cell populations, thereby investigating the role stem cells play in disease etiology. The expression of gastric stem cell marker Lgr5 is observed at the base of gastric glands in both non-neoplastic and metaplastic gastric tissue (Barker et al., 2010b; Simon et al., 2012). Barker et al. used a well-characterized *Lgr5-EGFP-IRES-CreERT2* mouse model to

conditionally truncate Apc from antral Lgr5+ stem cells. Following Apc truncation in these stem cells, elevated expression of nuclear B-catenin was observed at the base of the glands. This subsequently fueled the growth of highly proliferative gastric adenomas (Barker et al., 2010b). However, the development of the Lgr5+ gastric adenomas did not proceed, due to activating Wnt mutations in Lgr5+ intestinal stem cells leading to a high tumour burden in the intestine and the animals having to be sacrificed (Barker et al., 2010b). Interestingly, analysis of GC patients revealed that the spatial distribution of Lgr5+ cells within the tumour mass correlates with patient survival (Simon et al., 2012). Patients with Lgr5+ cancer cells at the luminal surface lived longer (compared with Lgr5-negative cases at the luminal surface), while those with Lgr5+ tumour cells in the tumour center and at the invasive front lived shorter when compared with Lgr5-negative cases at these sites (Simon et al., 2012).

Within the molecular classifications of gastric tumors, a significant proportion of chromosomal invasive tumors display mutations to Wnt pathway components; Apc, B-catenin and Rnf43 (TCGA, 2014). These findings were further supported from an Asian GC patient dataset reporting even higher incidence of somatic mutations to Wnt pathway components (Cristescu et al., 2015). Of particular note, is the reported truncating mutation to the E3 ubiquitin ligase, *RNF43*, found in 54% of microsatellite instable gastric tumours (Maruvka et al., 2017; Wang et al., 2014a).

As previously mentioned, RNF43 together with ZNRF3 function to negatively regulate Wnt signalling via ubiquitinylation of Frizzled receptors, leading to their degradation (Hao et al., 2012; Koo et al., 2012). Loss of function (LOF) mutations to *Rnf43/Znrf3* are associated with driving proliferation in GC, presumably by allowing FZD receptors to stabilize, become overexpressed on the cell surface, thus rending cells hypersensitive to Wnt ligands and leading to sustained Wnt signaling (Figure 1.9). However, this has not been functionally demonstrated in GC yet. RNF43 mutations occur in high-grade dysplasia and GC or in carcinomas adjacent to adenomas, this indicates that RNF43 mutation

is one of the key events in the malignant transition of these tumours (Min et al., 2016; Spit et al., 2019). Diagnostically, RNF43 mutations leading to Wntdependent tumours occur in early-stage gastric lesions (Min et al., 2016), which could be used to stratify patients who may benefit from compounds that block the secretion of Wnt ligands, which have substantial efficacy in other 'Wntaddicted' RNF43 mutant cancers (Jiang et al., 2013; Steinhart et al., 2016).Similarly, RNF43 mutations have been shown to be frequently present in colorectal cancers. In patients carrying the germline mutations E318fs, RNF43 was demonstrated to be inactivated by loss of heterozygosity or additional somatic mutations in polyps, giving rise to serrated polyps and tubular adenomas (Yan et al., 2017b).

RNF43 was also shown to be differentially expressed in GIT tumours compared with healthy tissue. A study conducted in gastric and colorectal cancers showed down regulation of RNF43 in tumors that was associated with distant metastasis and TNM staging leading to poorer survival (Gao et al., 2017b). More recently, RNF43 hotspot mutations were reported in colorectal polyps and colorectal tumours, recurrence was found to be higher in patients with colorectal cancer harboring mutated RNF43 (Eto et al., 2018). These findings were confirmed for GC where RNF43 expression was positively correlated with better survival, and poorly differentiated adenocarcinomas were shown to lack RNF43 expression (Niu et al., 2015). This suggests that RNF43 plays an important role in tissue homeostasis in the GIT and that its alteration can lead to malignant transformation. Therefore, there has been great interest to elucidate the functional role of RNF43.

In the context of the stomach, RNF43 overexpression has been shown to impair stem-like properties, and reduce proliferation and sphere formation capacity (Gao et al., 2017b) however until very recently there has been no formal investigation into the impact of RNF43 loss of function in the stomach. The recent study reported that the loss of endogenous RNF43 function enhanced proliferation and initiated tumour growth of GC cells (Neumeyer et al., 2019).

This was investigated both in vitro and in vivo by depleting the expression of endogenous RNF43 in gastric cells. GC stably transfected with shRNA targeting RNF43 showed increased proliferative and invasive capacity in vitro. In an in vivo xenograft model, tumours derived from shRNF43 cells were larger than tumors from control cells, confirming that loss of RNF43 enhances tumour growth. The authors generated mouse models to further investigate RNF43 but failed to induce a discernible phenotype using the Cre-Lox system (Discussed in further detail in chapter 4). They instead introduced a two-point mutation in the RING domain of RNF43. Organoids derived from the stomach of mice with mutations to RNF43 grew larger than organoids that originated from stomachs of WT mice, supporting the tumour suppressor function of RNF43 in the stomach (Neumeyer et al., 2019). However, this study did not utilize a robust genetic knockout mouse model or assess the changes due to mutant RNF43 in a longterm setting, making it less representative of tumors seen in a clinical setting. This study has confirmed that the gastric tissue homeostasis is altered in mice harboring point mutations disrupting the RING domain of RNF43. Importantly, it has still not been functionally demonstrated that the phenotypes associated with conditional deletion of RNF43 is due to deregulation of FZD and if phenotypes can be rescued with co-deletion of RNF43 and a FZD gene. This would allow further characterization of GC due to loss of RNF43 and help identify which other members of the Wnt signalosome may be working together to lead to GC.



Figure 1.9 Model for mode of action for RNF43 LOF mutants. (Left) RNF43performs a bi-functional tumour suppressor role by 1. Targeting Wnt receptors for endocytosis and lysosomal degradation, and 2. By transiently interacting with the destruction complex to reconstitute its activity in the cytosol and re-establish Wnt pathway inhibition. (Right) LOF mutations prevent RNF43 function at the plasma membrane, leading to Wnt receptor overexpression and consequently hypersensitivity of cancer cells to Wnt.

A member of the signalosome that may also be involved is LRP6, the co-receptor for Wnt activation. LRP6 has been frequently overexpressed in colorectal, breast and liver adenocarcinoma in association with increased Wnt/B-catenin signalling (de Voer et al., 2016; Liu et al., 2010; Tung et al., 2012). LRP5/6 is amplified in approximately 14% of GC (TCGA, 2014) and may play a part in oncogenic Wnt signalling and may be upregulated along with Frizzled receptors in GC, although investigations into LRP5/6 functional role in GC are scarce.. What has been elucidated is that infection of gastric epithelial cells with *H.pylori* induces rapid phosphorylation of LRP6 and downstream activation of Wnt/B-catenin signalling (Gnad et al., 2010). Furthermore, curcumin and pantoprazole (proton pump inhibitors) have demonstrated inhibitory effects on the growth of GC (Shen et al., 2013; Zheng et al., 2017).

In the classical model, the role of APC is limited to B-catenin proteolysis however, a recent study has reported that APC inactivation can induce ligandindependent LRP6 signalosome formation via clathrin-mediated endocytosis (Saito-Diaz et al., 2018). Endocytosis is required for sustained Wnt/B-catenin signal activation and endocytosis of the LRP5/6-FZD receptor complex occurs quickly after Wnt binding (Gagliardi et al., 2014). This suggests that, without What ligands, APC inhibits receptor activation via the clathrin pathway, thus, providing a new model for the mechanism by which the Wnt pathway is aberrantly activated upon APC loss with the assistance of LRP6. Consistent with this proposed new model, secreted inhibitors such as sFRP-1, which binds and sequesters Wnt ligands are not capable of inhibiting Wnt signalling in APC mutant cells. This is in contrast to DKK-1, which binds directly to LRP6 to inhibit signaling via disruption of the LRP6-FZD complex or promote the internalization of inactive LRP6 (Yamamoto et al., 2008). It has also been demonstrated that loss of APC could induce the formation of the Wnt signalosome (Saito-Diaz et al., 2018), suggesting that multiple signalosome components mediate the aberrantly increased signalling resulting from APC loss. These components,

including FZD receptors, need to be investigated further to understand the unique role they each play to induce Wnt signalling in GC.

Therefore, LRP5/6 could represent a promising actionable target for cancer therapy. For instance, LRP6 monoclonal antibodies targeting Wnt3 binding site potently reduced the proliferation and growth of APC-Mutant intestinal tumoroids (Saito-Diaz et al., 2018). Unfortunately, LRP6 extracellular domain is divided into two functional entities which bind either WNT1 or WNT3 glycoproteins. Therefore, the use of an antibody targeting the WNt3 binding site of LRP6 can sensitize cells to Wnt1 ligands most likely due to antibodymediated LRP6 dimerization. Hence, it is necessary to develop specific domain antibodies to selectively inhibit LRP6 activation by certain classes of Wnts while leaving the binding of other Wnt ligands unchanged, limiting potential side effects. Excitingly a group has very recently identified a single-domain antibody fragments (VHH) that specifically bind the Wnt3-binding site (Fenderico et al., 2019). They have been able to show that by inhibiting cellular responses to Wnt3a but not those to Wnt1, their anti-LRP5/6 VHHs efficiently block Rnf43 mutant intestinal organoid growth and survival (Fenderico et al., 2019). Targeting specific regions of LRP6 may represent a potential strategy to reduce B-catenin-dependent signaling in tumors, without altering other Wnt functions. Frizzled receptors, particularly FZD7, also play a key role in the aberrant Wnt signalling associated with GC, this will be discussed in detail in the next section.

Taken together current research suggests that Wnt signalling can be further modulated at the level of the ligand/receptor irrespective of downstream mutations that constitutively activate the pathway. Furthermore, a role for Wnt/FZD in gastric cancer as a therapeutic target is made more attractive by the observation of aberrant expression of Wnts and FZD receptors in gastric tumours (Flanagan et al., 2017b, Mao et al., 2014). Additionally, it has been recently demonstrated in gp130F/F mice, which develop Stat3-dependent gastric tumors, that they display high Wnt signalling despite there being no mutations to the intracellular components of the Wnt pathway (Flanagan et al., 2019a).

1.6.4 The role of Frizzled Receptors in GC

There is an ever-growing body of evidence demonstrating that mutations at the level of Wnt receptors play a significant role in GIT tumorigenesis. Each of the Frizzled receptors is intimately linked to one or more cancer type, commonly through up-regulation of a specific FZD receptor (Table 1.4). With respect to the role of FZD receptors and GIT cancers, including GC, FZD7 has been shown to be commonly over-expressed. Targeted inhibition of FZD7 within colon cancers has greatly attenuated various cancer hallmarks (Gurney et al., 2012; Ueno et al., 2009; Vincan et al., 2007a; Vincan et al., 2005). FZD7 is located on human chromosome 2g33 and contains 3869 nucleotides that are translated into a 574 amino acid seven-transmembrane protein that contains a N-terminal extracellular CRD and a C-terminal cytoplasmic PDZ domain. FZD7 is expressed in a wide variety of tissues such as adult skeletal muscle, heart, brain, placenta, kidney and lung (Sagara et al., 1998; Ueno et al., 2013). However, of the 10 FZD family members, FZD7 is the only evolutionary conserved family member that regulates developing gastrointestinal systems (Minobe et al., 2000), where FZD7 has a critical role in controlling tissue separation during gastrulation (Winklbauer et al., 2001).

GC displays aberrant Wnt/B-catenin pathway activation and although many of the genetic mutations contributing to hyperactive Wnt signalling originate from intracellular components, it is highly likely that additional modulation of the Wnt pathway can come from upstream signalling components. This hypothesis is strengthened by being demonstrated in CRC (Caldwell et al., 2004; Suzuki et al., 2004) and the fact that FZD7 has recently been implemented in regulating tumourigenesis and growth in the stomach (Flanagan et al., 2019a). FZD7 is abundantly expressed in human gastric tumours (Flanagan et al., 2017a; Kirikoshi et al., 2001b), which is also associated with poor patient outcome (Li et al., 2018). In spite of compelling evidence implicating FZD receptors in GC, there has been no formal investigation, until now, of the therapeutic benefit of targeting FZD receptors in GC *in vivo*.

These type of investigations are especially important as FZD7 is capable of transducing both canonical and non-canonical Wnt signalling, which means that FZD7 can regulate cancer hallmarks associated with both signalling arms such as proliferation, evasion of apoptosis, angiogenesis and invasion (Asad et al., 2014; Vincan et al., 2007a). FZD7 has been shown to regulate many cancers, for example, in hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) ~70% display elevated nuclear B-catenin (Wong et al., 2001) showing a role for canonical Wnt signalling. Despite intracellular components of the Wnt pathway, such as Axin1 and B-catenin, are mutated in some cases of HCC, they are not sufficient to account for the high frequency of Wnt pathway activation observed. Illustrating activation of the pathway at the level of the ligand/receptor. FZD7 is frequently overexpressed in HCC and has been shown to interact with Wnt3a to transmit canonical Wnt signalling in HCC (Kim et al., 2008b).

Wnt signalling is known to regulate the development and homeostasis of the breast and is deregulated in breast cancer (Zeng and Nusse, 2010). FZD7 is overexpressed in aggressive triple negative breast cancer (Yang et al., 2011) and knockdown of FZD7 via shRNA was able to inhibit migration, colony formation and xenograft growth of human breast cancer cells which was associated with reduced canonical Wnt signalling (Yang et al., 2011). Additionally, FZD7 expression is regulated by breast cancer stem cells with SIRT1, an NAD⁺ -dependent deacetylate positively regulating FZD7 mRNA and protein levels, promoting cell migration and proliferation (Simmons et al., 2014). Inhibition of SIRT1 significantly reduced FZD7 levels and reversed the aggressive tumourigenic effect of FZD7 overexpression in breast cancer cell lines (Simmons et al., 2014).

Knockdown of FZD7 using siRNA has also been shown to inhibit proliferation of human ovarian adenocarcinoma cell lines (Asad et al., 2014). Interestingly, inhibition of FZD7 in ovarian cancer resulted in an increase in the level of canonical signalling, whilst non-canonical signalling components were downregulated (Asad et al., 2014). This demonstrates that FZD7 is likely regulating ovarian cancer cell growth via the Wnt/PCP pathway and illustrates FZD7s ability to transmit signals via both canonical and non-canonical pathways.

Nuclear B-catenin is observed in ~70% of cervical tumours, however, mutations to *APC* and *B-catenin* are rare in this cancer (Shinohara et al., 2001) suggesting Wnt signalling is activated at the level of the receptor. Inhibition of FZD7, via shRNA, reduced invasion and EMT in cervical cancer cell lines *in vitro* and the phenotypes observed were associated with changes in the regulation of EMT markers including E-Cadherin, Vimentin and Snail (Deng et al., 2015).

FZD7 has also been shown to regulate intestinal cancer even in those which harbor mutations to *APC*. Inhibition of FZD7 using a dominant negative extracellular domain is able to block the growth of human colon cancer cells *in vitro* and in xenograft experiments with stably transfected SK-CO-1 cells (Vincan et al., 2005). FZD7 also plays a predominant role in transmitting Wnt signalling in intestinal LGR5+ stem cells during homeostasis and regeneration (Flanagan et al., 2015b). Conditional deletion of *Fzd7* in intestinal organoids resulted in crypt atrophy and death, whist conditional deletion of *Fzd7* in specifically the Lgr5+ stem cells triggered rapid epithelial repopulation in transgenic mice (Flanagan et al., 2015b). This demonstrates that FZD7 is critical for intestinal stem cell function. FZD7 is also involved in the regulation of metastasis by regulating EMT in intestinal cancers (Vincan and Barker, 2008). Expression of dominant negative FZD7 in human SK-CO-1 cells blocked growth in xenograft experiments and induced morphological changes suggesting FZD7 promotes MET (Vincan et al., 2005).

Until now the role of FZD7 in GC has not been functionally investigated and the role of FZD *in vivo* was not known. These data suggest that therapeutic targeting of FZD7 could be advantageous in the treatment of GC as it could block all tumorigenic hallmarks associated with aberrant canonical and non-canonical Wnt signalling.

| Frizzled | Wnt Signalling | Over-expressed in cancer | Reference |
|----------|--------------------------------------|--|---|
| FZD1 | Wnt/B-catenin | Pancreas and neuroblastoma | (Flahaut et al., 2009; Yang et al., 2018b) |
| FZD2 | Wnt/B-catenin & Wnt/Ca2+ | Wilms tumour, endometrial and lung | (Bian et al., 2016; Gujral et al., 2014) |
| FZD3 | Wnt/B-catenin & Wnt/Ca2+ (PKA) | Colon, hepatocellular carcinoma and breast | (Bengochea et al., 2008; Mo et al., 2019; Wong et al., 2013) |
| FZD4 | Wnt/B-catenin | Cervical, acute myeloid leukemia(Thiele et al., 2015) and prostate | (Gupta et al., 2010; Ma et al., 2017; Tickenbrock et al., 2008) |
| FZD5 | Wnt/B-catenin | Kidney and prostate | (Peterson et al., 2017; Thiele et al., 2015) |
| FZD6 | Wnt/Ca2+ | Squamous cell carcinomas and breast | (Corda and Sala, 2017; Corda et al., 2017) |
| FZD7 | Wnt/B-catenin & Wnt/Ca2+ (JNK) | Esophageal, gastric, hepatocellular, colon and Wilms' tumor | (Cao et al., 2017; Dekel et al., 2006; Merle et al., 2004; Ueno et al., 2009; Van Cutsem et al., 2016) |
| FZD8 | Wnt/B-catenin | Renal cell carcinoma, prostate and lung | (Murillo-Garzón et al., 2018; Wang et al., 2012a; Yang et al., 2017) |
| FZD9 | Wnt/Ca2+ (ERK) | Osteosarcoma and astrocytoma | (Wang et al., 2017c; Zhang et al., 2006) |
| FZD10 | Wnt/B-catenin & Wnt/Ca2+ (JNK) | Colon and synovial sarcoma | (Nagayama et al., 2005; Nagayama et al., 2009) |

| Table 1.4 Frizzled receptor | up-regulation in cancer. |
|-----------------------------|--------------------------|
|-----------------------------|--------------------------|

1.6.5 Oncogenic Wnt signalling & GC metastasis

Approximately 50% of patients with advanced GC die from recurrence and metastasis, even after curative surgery and chemotherapy (Zhou et al., 2017). Therefore, it is important to understand the underlying mechanisms of GC metastasis and how these could be exploited for therapeutic gain. Wnt signalling has been implemented in multiple aspects of the process of metastasis in many cancers, including GC (Zhan et al., 2017). The process of EMT is a key step in the metastasis cascade, allowing tumour cells to adopt a more mesenchymal phenotype. The mechanism underlying the initiation of EMT in GC is unknown, however it has been investigated in other cancer settings. For example, it has been shown that the cytoplasmic concentration of SNAI2 (EMT transcription factor) is regulated by GSK-3B phosphorylation and subsequent ubiquitination by B-TrCP in breast cancer. Activation of Wnt/Bcatenin signalling stabilizes SNAI2 by inhibiting GSK-3B kinase activity and initiates EMT (Wu et al., 2012). This highlights Wnt/B-catenin pathway as a key pathway involved in EMT and there, plays a critical role in metastasis. In the context of GC, an important player is Wnt-5a, which stimulates cell migration and invasion of GC cells through regulation of focal adhesion complexes by activating the small GTP-binding protein Rac (Kurayoshi et al., 2006). Wnt5a also contributes to GC progression by inducing expression of laminin $\gamma 2$, which increases metastatic potential (Yamamoto et al., 2009).

It has previously been reported that loss of *CDH1* (E-cadherin), through loss of heterozygosity or promoter methylation, activates Wnt signalling by unleashing membrane-bound β -catenin, which in turn, activates Wnt/catenin signaling (Gottardi et al., 2001; Orsulic et al., 1999). With recent genomic data suggesting that while *CDH1* can act as an independent cancer driver in GC in some cases, it more commonly acts in concert with other driver mutations, such as *TP53* to gain a cancer phenotype. Additionally, diffuse-type GC requires *CDH1* mutations in addition to other molecular aberrations including RHOA and RNF43 mutations in order to gain diffuse-type GC characteristics (Nanki et al.,

2018). Therefore, understanding the other molecular components that are involved will be vital for identifying novel drug targets.

It has recently been demonstrated that LGR5 is a positive regulator of GC metastasis attributed to its indispensable role in regulating cytoskeletal reorganization and Wnt responses in GC cells (Wang et al., 2018). LGR5 overexpression is a signature mark of the stem cells derived from the stomach (Nakata et al., 2014) and therefore plays a role in the maintenance of stemness and, so its overexpression is likely linked to metastasis. LGR5 expression has been correlated with GC progression (Wu et al., 2013). This new data linking LGR5 to GC metastasis through activation of Wnt/B-catenin signaling helps explain the underlying molecular mechanism of LGR5 overexpression during GC development and metastasis. The study demonstrated that LGR5 upregulated the expression of B-catenin and affected the subcellular localization of Bcatenin in GC cells (Wang et al., 2018). Therefore, this data indicates that LGR5-mediated Wnt signaling results in the accumulation and translocation of B-catenin to the nuclei, driving a positive feedback activation of the Wnt pathway and enhancing and maintaining GC progression. The exact molecular details of this regulation require further clarification and may involve other members of the Wnt pathway signalosome, such as FZD receptors.

FZD7 has been demonstrated to regulate gastric epithelium and be overexpressed in GC (Flanagan et al., 2017a; Kirikoshi et al., 2001b). Therefore, it is likely to be implicated in GC progression. FZD7 has been studied in more detail in the setting of the colon and it has been reported that down-regulation of FZD7 expression leads to a decrease in the metastatic capabilities of colon cells (Ueno et al., 2009). FZD7 is has also been reported to be required for metastatic growth of melanoma cells (Tiwary and Xu, 2016). A recently study in GC showed that over-expression of FZD7 was associated with GC metastasis, advanced clinical stages and poor patient prognosis (Li et al., 2018). Therefore, FZD7 is a likely candidate for facilitating GC progression. FZD receptors are known critical factors for EMT processes. For example, Wnt5a/FZD2-medicated non-canonical signaling drives EMT in the lung, liver, breast and colon (Gujral et al., 2014). FZD4 ablation induces active B1-integrin and E-cadherin expression highlighting its role in regulating EMT and cell adhesion in prostate cancer (Gupta et al., 2010). Down regulation of FZD7 expression significantly inhibited cell invasion and migration, accompanied with a decrease in vimentin and snail, and an increase in E-cadherin in cervical and ovarian cancers (Asad et al., 2014; Deng et al., 2015). Additionally, Wnt3a-FZD7 signaling is up-regulated in hepatocellular carcinoma (Kim et al., 2008b) and over-expression of FZD7 promoted cell mobility, metastasis and EMT in esophageal cancer (Cao et al., 2017). Fzd7 has also been shown to regulate MET in CRC cells (Vincan et al., 2007a).Therefore, given its role in GC initiation and growth, investigating the role of FZD7 in the context of GC metastasis is of great interest.

| Table | 1.5 | Wnt | pathway | mutations | in | GC. |
|-------|-----|-----|---------|-----------|----|-----|
|-------|-----|-----|---------|-----------|----|-----|

| Wnt | Role in GC | Reference |
|---------------------|--|---|
| Cytoplasmic | | |
| APC | Mutated/deep deletion in GC patient datasets. Promoter hypermethylation in high grade gastric adenomas. | (Wang et al., 2012c) |
| B-catenin | Endogenous nuclear expression seen in 13/15 GC cell lines with a subsequent increase in TCF/LEF transcriptional activity. Abnormal nuclear expression seen in high grade gastric adenomas. | (Nojima et al., 2007; Wang et al., 2012c) |
| AXIN2 | miR-544a targeted protein downregulation in GC cells. 30% of MSI high GCs have a frameshift mutation. | (Flanagan et al., 2017b; Yanaka et al., 2015) |
| Gsk3B | Genetic deletion causes rapid gastric tumor formation in mice. | (Radulescu et al., 2013) |
| Wnt target genes | | |
| МҮС | Gene amplification in GC patient samples. GC cells and mouse adenoma show gene upregulation in an Fzd7-dependent manner. | (Flanagan et al., 2017b) |
| LGR5 | Overexpression regulates GC cell proliferation, migration, and invasion. | (Wang et al., 2018) |
| Wnt ligands | | |
| WNT1 | Upregulated in human GC tissue. Overexpression accelerates gastric cancer stem cells. | (Mao et al., 2014) |
| WNT2b | Upregulated in GC tissue. | (Katoh et al., 2001) |
| WNT3a | Upregulated in gp130F/F gastric tumors. | (Flanagan et al., 2019a) |
| WNT5a | High protein expression in GC patient samples, positively associated with the depth of tumor invasion and degree of lymph node metastasis. | (Saitoh et al., 2002) |
| WNT6 | Upregulated in GC patient samples and GC cell lines. Expression positively correlated with tumor stage and node status. | (Yuan et al., 2013) |
| WNT10a | Upregulated in GC cells and primary GC tissue. | (Kirikoshi et al., 2001b) |

| Wnt antagonists | | |
|---------------------|---|---|
| DKK1 | Hypermethylated in GC patient samples. | (Wang et al., 2013a) |
| DKK2 | Hypermethylated in GC patient samples + gene transcripts lower in GC patient samples. | (Wang et al., 2017a) |
| sFRP2 | Concurrently hypermethylated with <i>DKK2</i> + gene transcripts lower in GC patient samples. | (Wang et al., 2017a) |
| Wnt receptors | | |
| RYK co- receptor | High expression correlated with poor differentiation, high TNM stage and liver metastasis in GC patients. | (Fu et al., 2020) |
| RNF43 | Truncating mutation in MSI GC tumors. Protein expression is significantly lower in GC cells than normal gastric epithelial cells. | (Niu et al., 2015; Wang et al., 2014b) |
| FZD2 | Upregulated in GC cells (TMK1, MKN7, MKN28, MKN45, MKN74, and KATO-III) and in 4/10 primary GC tissue. | (Kirikoshi et al., 2001a) |
| FZD5 | Upregulated in GC cells (MKN45). | (Kirikoshi et al., 2001a) |
| FZD7 | Overexpression is seen in late-stage clinical GC, correlating with a decrease in survival time. Knockdown significantly reduces GC cell proliferation, migration, EMT, and expression of stem cell markers. | (Li et al., 2018) |
| FZD8 | Upregulated in 4/10 primary GC tissue. | (Kirikoshi et al., 2001a) |
| FZD9 | Upregulated in 2/10 primary GC tissue. | (Kirikoshi et al., 2001a) |

1.7 Aims of thesis

The overarching aim of this thesis is to examine the function of the Wnt receptor, Frizzled-7 (FZD7), in the context of gastric cancer. These studies will provide valuable insight into the role of Wnt/FZD7 signalling in the growth and metastasis of gastric cancer and allow assessment of the therapeutic benefit of targeting Wnt signalling at the level of the receptor for treatment of advanced gastric cancer. The main research aims of this thesis are as follows:

1.7.1 Aim 1.

It has recently been demonstrated that FZD7 is the predominant Wnt receptor responsible for regulating stem cell function and maintaining gastric homeostasis. In addition, FZD7 is abundantly expressed in human gastric tumours. Therefore, in chapter 2 the functional role of FZD7 in the growth of gastric cancer cells will be examined both *in vitro* and *in vivo*.

1.7.2 Aim 2.

The majority of gastric cancer patients present with advanced metastatic disease with limited treatment options. In chapter 3 the role of FZD7 in the metastasis of gastric cancer will be investigated, both genetically and pharmacologically, to assess its potential as a target for the treatment of advanced disease in such patients.

1.7.3 Aim 3.

Although many aspects of Wnt signalling are well characterized, our knowledge of the whole pathway remains incomplete. FZD7 forms co-receptor complexes with a variety of extracellular receptors making the activation of Wnt signalling complex. Inactivating mutations to the extracellular E3 ligases RNF43/ZNFR3 are associated with driving proliferation in gastric tumours. However, the functional role of RNF43/ZNFR3 in gastric cancer has not been elucidated. Chapter 4 aims to investigate the functional significance of RNF43/ZNFR3 mutations in gastric cancer development by characterization of tumours from novel mouse models in which *RNF43/ZNFR3* are conditionally deleted in the gastric epithelium.

Chapter 2: Materials & Methods

2. Materials & Materials

2.1 Cell Culture

2.1.1 Cell lines

The human gastric cancer cell lines MKN45 and MKN28 were purchased from ATCC and were sent to Eurofins Medigenomics, who performed independent, off-site analysis using PCR-single-locus-technology to confirm their authenticity. All cell lines were maintained in RPMI supplemented with 10% foetal bovine serum (Invitrogen) and 1% Penicillin Streptomycin (Invitrogen) and incubated at 37°C and 5% CO2. Cells were grown in 5 mL for T25 or 10 mL for T75 tissue culture flasks (Nunc, Leics, UK) with growth media changed every 2-3 days and cells passaged regularly when confluent.

2.1.2 Passaging cells

When cells become 80-90% confluent they were split at a ratio of 1:5. Media was aspirated, and cells were washed with phosphate-buffered saline (PBS) (Invitrogen) to remove any remaining media. 1 mL of 0.25% trypsin/EDTA (Invitrogen) was added to the flask and left to incubate at 37°C for 5-10 minutes until the cells became detached. Cell detachment was confirmed by microscopic observation, before adding 4 mL of media to inactivate trypsin activity. Cells were then split at an appropriate ratio, with remaining cells carefully discarded, re-plated for cell-based assays, or harvested for analysis.

2.1.3 Long term storage

Cells were detached from culture flasks as previously described in section 2.1.2. Following trypsin inactivation cells were centrifuged at 1200 rpm for 5 minutes at room temperature. The supernatant was removed and resuspended in complete growth medium containing 10% dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO; Sigma, UK) and aliquoted into 1 mL cryo-tubes (Nunc). Cells were then slowly frozen at -80°C in a cryo-freezing vessel containing isopropanol (Fischer Scientific) for 24 hours before being transferred to liquid nitrogen storage.

2.1.4 Raising cells from storage

Cells stored in liquid nitrogen were transferred into dry ice before being thawed in a water bath at 37°C until 90% thawed. Cells were then transferred to a 15 mL falcon tube (Nunc) containing 3 mL of complete growth medium and centrifuged at 1200 rpm for 5 minutes. The supernatant was then removed, with the pelleted cells resuspended in normal growth medium before being plated into a T25 culture flask.

2.1.5 Cell seeding

Following cell detachment, non-passaged cells were collected in a 15 mL falcon tube and pelleted at 1200 rpm for 5 minutes and then resuspended in 1 mL of growth media. Cells were counted using a haemocytometer, 10 μ L of single cell suspension was added to the haemocytometer chamber and counted by eye. Cells were then diluted accordingly with growth media and seeded into appropriate culture plates depending on the assay being performed.

2.2 Transfection of cell lines

2.2.1 Plasmids

In order to knockdown FZD7 in respective cell lines, gastric cancer cells were transfected with a retroviral construct designed to specifically knockdown endogenous FZD7 expression. Short-hairpin RNA (shRNA) construct designed to knockdown FZD7 has previously been described (Vincan et al., 2007b). Briefly, RNAi targeting sites in human FZD7 coding sequence (accession number NM_003507) were selected using siRNA TEMPLATE DESIGN TOOL (Ambion, Austin, TX, USA) and verified by Blast search. shRNA coding oligos were designed and cloned into BgIII and HindIII sites of the pRETROSUPER vector (gift from Reuven Agami, Amsterdam, The Netherlands). Plasmids were tested for efficiency of FZD7 mRNA depletion and, of possible targeting sites that met the Ambion criteria. ShFZD7 targeting sequences are shown in Table 2.1. In order to overexpress FZD7 in respective cell lines, gastric cancer cells were transfected with a plasmid that contained full-length FZD7 (a gift from Masaru lab). FZD7 cDNA (Figure 2.1) was first cloned into the cloning vector, pUC118 using Pstl sites (Sagara et al., 1998) after which it was sub-cloned into the pCDNA3.1 expression plasmid. Scramble shRNA were used as controls.

2.2.2 Transient transfection

Plasmids were transiently transfected into gastric cancer cells seeded to be 70-90% confluent in 24-well plates using appropriate amounts of lipofectamine 3000, p3000 and Opti-MEM (Table 2.2). After 24 hours of incubation cells were harvested for assays or analysis. FZD7 remained knocked down for 10-12 days. shRNA was used instead of siRNA due to availability in the lab and budgets. The shRNA had been used for previous projects leading onto this one.

| Table 2.1 shFZD7 targeting sequence | e, italics indicate the 9-b | o hairpin |
|-------------------------------------|-----------------------------|-----------|
|-------------------------------------|-----------------------------|-----------|

| Sense | 5'-GATCCCCGTACCTGATGACCATGATCTTC <i>AAGAGA</i> GATCATGGT |
|-----------|--|
| Oligo | CATCAGGTACTTTTTGGAAA-3' |
| Antisense | 5'-AGCTTTTCCAAAAAGTACCTGATGACCATGATCTCTCTT <i>GAA</i> GA |
| Oligo | TCATGGTCATCAGGTACGGG-3' |



Figure 2.1 Schematic representation of FZD7 cDNA. The coding region is depicted as an open box, the noncoding region as a solid bar. FZD7 has 3 PstI sites.

Table 2.2 Transfection volumes

| Transfection Reagent | Volume per well |
|----------------------|-----------------|
| DNA | 500 ng |
| Lipofectamine 3000 | 1.5 μL |
| p3000 reagent | 1 µL |
| Opti-MEM | 50 µL |

2.3 Cell Based Assays

2.3.1 CellTiter-Glo Assay

For growth assays, cells were plated in a 96-well plate format at 10,000 cells/well and treated with appropriate inhibitors for 24 hours. Cells were lysed with CellTiter-Glo® Luminescent Cell Viability Assay Reagent (Promega) and luminescence was read using a Clariostar plate reader (BMG Labtech). Percentage cell growth was calculated relative to DMSO treated control cells.

2.3.2 Soft Agar Colony Forming Assay

Human gastric cancer cells were transfected as described in section 2.2 or treated with 80 µg/mL OMP-18r5, 1 µM LGK-974 or vehicle. Following transfection (or wild-type cells for drug-treated cohorts) cells were washed in PBS, detached from the culture dish surface with 0.25% trypsin/EDTA and resuspended in RPMI as single cells. Single cells were counted with a haemocytometer and mixed in 0.5% agar/RPMI culture medium, pre-warmed to 37° C, for a final concentration of 500 cells/well and plated into 24-well tissue culture plates. Once the agar/cell suspensions solidified, cultures were overlaid with RPMI culture medium (containing drugs for drug-treated cohorts) and incubated at 37° C in 5% CO2 for 14 days. Drugs and media were refreshed every 7 days. Colonies (\geq 50 cells) were counted by eye and images taken on a dissecting microscope.

2.3.3 Migration Assays

Transwells with 8.0 μ m pores were placed in 24-well culture dishes and single cells that had been incubated for 24 hours with 80 μ g/mL OMP-18R5 or transfected with shFZD7 were resuspended in serum free RPMI media and seeded on the top of a Transwell insert (Figure 2.2). 5%-FBS-RPMI media was placed in the base of the well to act as a chemoattractant. Cells were again treated with 80 μ g/mL OMP-18R5 (Drug experiments only; not shRNA experiments) and left to migrate for 24 hours. Experiments were performed in duplicates. After 24 hours, the Transwells were washed in PBS, fixed in 70% EtOH and stained with 0.2% crystal violet. The filter of the Transwell was then

carefully removed and mounted onto a microscope slide. Experiments were performed in duplicate and three random fields of view per replicate were counted (with ImageJ) and the average taken.

2.3.4 Invasion Assays

For invasion assays, the same protocol was followed with the addition of a 100 μ L layer of Matrigel on top of the Transwell filter to mimic the extracellular matrix. The Matrigel was left at 37°C until set, the Matrigel was then rehydrated with serum-free media and GC cells seeded on top (Figure 2.2).



Figure 2.2 Experiment set up for migration and invasion Transwell assays.

2.3.5 EMT stimulation

Human gastric cancer cell lines were induced from an epithelial to a mesenchymal state using StemXVivo media supplement (R&D systems), which contains a mixture of recombinant proteins and neutralizing antibodies (Table 2.3). Cells were seeded into chamber slides (Nuch, Lab-Tek) at a concentration of 0.01x106 cells/mL in 200 μ L of growth media. Attached cells were then treated with 2 μ L of 100x StemXVivo to make a final 1x concentration. Cells were left to culture for 2 days before media was replaced with fresh EMT inducing supplement. After a further 3 days of culture cells were harvested for endpoint assays.

2.3.6 Fluorescence immunocytochemistry

Following treatment, cells were gently washed in PBS and fixed in 4% paraformaldehyde for 10 minutes. The fixative was removed, and the cells were washed with PBS. The cells were permeabilized with 200 μ L of 0.2% Triton x100 PBS and left for 5 minutes at room temperature before being washed 3x with PBS. Cells were then blocked with 1% BSA in PBS for 30 minutes at room temperature. The blocking buffer was removed and primary antibody (Vimentin 1:300, EpCAM 1:100) was added and the cells were incubated overnight at 4°C in the dark. The following day the primary antibody was removed, and cells were washed 3x for 5 minutes in PBS. The secondary antibody (Alexa Fluor 488 or 594, 1:400) and DAPI (1:200) was added and cells were left to incubate for 1 hour in the dark. Cells were washed in PBS and mounted using Mowiol mounting solution. Cells were imaged using a fluorescent microscope.

Table 2.3 Components of StemXVivo media supplement.

| StemXVivo media supplement contents |
|-------------------------------------|
| Recombinant human Wnt-5a protein |
| Recombinant Human TGF-beta1 protein |
| Anti-Human E-cadherin antibody |
| Anti-Human sFRP-1 antibody |
| Anti-Human Dkk-1 antibody |

2.4 In vivo experiments

2.4.1 Gastric cancer xenografts

A total of 4×10^6 human gastric cancer cell lines MKN45 or MKN28 in 100 μ L of PBS were injected subcutaneously into the hind flanks of female 6-8-week-old nude mice (nu(ncr)-foxn1 nu/nu). 7 mice were used for each cohort which were treated with 20 mg/kg OMP-18R5 or vehicle control (2.5% DMSO + lgG) twice weekly via intraperitoneal injection. Xenografts were measured with calipers twice a week to monitor tumour growth. All animal work was conducted according to the UK Home Office regulations under valid personal and project licenses and in accordance with the Animal [Scientific Procedures] Act 1986. Experimental procedures were carried out in designated procedure rooms.

2.4.2 In vivo peritoneal dissemination model

 $5x10^6$ MKN45 or $10x10^6$ MKN28 human GC cells suspended in PBS were injected into the peritoneal cavity of female athymic nude mice (nu(ncr)-foxn1 nu/nu), aged 6-8 weeks. Mice were treated daily with 1.5 mg/kg LGK-974, 3 mg/kg LGK-974 or vehicle control (DMSO + IgG) via oral gavage. After 4 weeks the mice were sacrificed and the tumour burden harvested and quantified by weight. All animal work was conducted according to the UK Home Office regulations under valid personal and project licenses and in accordance with the Animal [Scientific Procedures] Act 1986. Experimental procedures were carried out in designated procedure rooms.

2.4.3 Experimental Animals

Mice were interbred to generate compound mice with appropriate alleles. The RNF43-FLOX-ZNRF3-FLOX (background strain: C57BL/6J) mice were generated at the MRC Harwell Institute (Koo et al., 2012). The Claudin18CreER^{T2} mice (Unpublished data) were a gift from Nick Barkers' lab. To generate the Cldn18 knock-in, an IRES-CreER^{T2} cassette was inserted at the 3'UTR by homologous recombination in embryonic stem cells. To generate the construct Cldn18 genomic arms were cloned from BAC clones into pJet vectors. These

(5659 bp 5' arm & 5592 bp 3' arm) were sequentially inserted into a pBlueScript backbone with the IRES-Cre-ER^{T2} being targeted to the 3'UTR along with a TK Neomycin cassette (Figure 2.3). Plasmid electroporation, clone selection, microinjection, and screening of chimeras were performed by GenOway (Lyon, France). Mice were crossed to Zp3-Cre mice to delete the Neomycin cassette.

2.4.4 Colony maintenance & breeding

All animals were maintained on an outbred background and housed in a standard facility in accordance with institutional animal care guidelines and UK Home Office regulations. All animals were given access to RM3(E) standard diet (Special Diets Service UK) and fresh water *ad libitum*. Mice of 6 weeks of age or older and of known genotype were bred in trios of one male and two females. At approximately 4 weeks of age, pups were weaned and housed according to sex. Ear biopsies were taken for identification and genotyping purposes using a 2mm ear punch (Harvard apparatus).

2.4.5 Genetic Mouse Model

The novel transgenic mouse model used for this project was Claudin18CreER^{T2}; Rnf43flox; Znrf3flox; dTOM^{LSL}. This was created by crossing Claudin18CreER^{T2} mice with RNF43-FLOX-ZNRF3-FLOX mice. Claudin18CreER^{T2} driven Cre recombinase transgene was utilized to conditionally delete floxed *RNF43* and *ZNRF3* alleles (Koo et al., 2012) exclusively in the corpus epithelium of the stomach. Expression of the Cre recombinase was induced by administration of tamoxifen and mice were left for 140 days before being sacrificed.

2.4.6 Tamoxifen Administration

Induction of Cre recombinase activity in mice bearing Claudin18CreER^{T2} transgenes was controlled by tamoxifen binding to a mutated ER^{T2} receptor fused to the Cre recombinase protein. Stocks of 10 mg/mL tamoxifen (Sigma) were produced by dissolving tamoxifen in corn oil by shaking vigorously at 37°C in a foil-wrapped falcon tube for 4 hours. Tamoxifen was prepared fresh before use and kept in the fridge between injections but warmed to 37°C prior to

injection. To confirm recombination Clausdin18CreER^{T2} mice received 100 mg/kg of tamoxifen via intraperitoneal injection 3x in 1 day. For long-term induction Claudin18CreER^{T2}; Rnf43flox; Znrf3flox; dTOM^{lsl} received 100 mg/kg tamoxifen 4x, 1x daily.





2.4.7 DNA extraction

Mouse ear biopsies were collected at weaning and temporarily stored at -20°C to prevent degradation. Each tissue sample was digested in 250 μ L lysis buffer (VWR) containing 0.4 mg/mL proteinase K (Sigma), overnight at 42°C with agitation. The protein was precipitated by the addition of 100 μ L of protein precipitation solution (VWR). The solution was mixed by inversion and protein and insoluble debris was pelleted by centrifugation at 13,000 rpm for 10 minutes. The supernatant was added to a fresh Eppendorf tube containing 250 μ l of isopropanol (Thermo Fisher Scientific) to precipitate the DNA. The solution was mixed by inversion and centrifuged at 13,000 rpm for 15 minutes. The supernatant was discarded, and the pellet was left to air dry for an hour before resuspending in 250 μ L of Milli-Q water. For short-term storage gDNA was left at room temperature or stored at 4C for longer-term storage.

2.4.8 Polymerase chain reaction (PCR) genotyping

PCR was performed on genomic DNA (gDNA) extracted (Section 2.4.7) from ear biopsies. PCR was performed in a 96-well semi-skirted straight side plates (Alpha labs). PCR reaction mixtures were made up according to table 2.4 containing an appropriate DNA polymerase and buffer (Promega GoTaq). A control well was made using the same PCR mix but with dH2O instead of the DNA. The 96-well plates were them sealed with aluminum foil seals (Star labs), and air bubbles were removed by tapping the plates on a hard surface. The reactions were run in a GS4 thermocycler (G strom). The reaction mixture and cycling time is outlined in Table 2.4 and 2.5 and primer sequences and annealing temperatures are shown in table 2.6.

2.4.9 Visualization of PCR products

PCR products were visualized by gel electrophoresis using 2% agarose gels. The gels were made by dissolving agarose (Eurogentec) 2% [w/v] in 1x Tris Borate EDTA (TBE) buffer (National Diagnostic) and heated in a microwave until boiling. The solution was then cooled under a running tap with agitation and 14 μ l of Safe View fluorescent nucleic acid stain (NBS biological) was added per

400 mL. The gel solution was then poured into clean molds (Bio-Rad) and combs were added to create wells and left to set. Once set, the combs were carefully removed and the gels placed into an electrophoresis tank and covered with 1X TBE solution with Safe View (10 μ l Safe View/100 mL 1X TBE). 5 μ l of loading dye (50% Glycerol (Sigma), 50%dH2O, 0.1% bromophenol blue (Sigma)) was added to the PCR product samples and gently mixed by pipetting. 20 μ l of the PCR samples were added to individual wells of the agarose gel and run alongside a molecular weight marker. The gel was run at 120 V for approximately 30 minutes or until the loading dye had run more than half way across the gel. The gel was then visualized for PCR products using a GelDoc UV Transilluminator (Bio-Rad) and images taken using the GelDoc software (Bio-Rad). PCR product sizes are outlined in table 2.6.

| Component | Volume (µL) |
|-------------------------|-------------|
| 5X colourless buffer | 5 |
| 25 mM MgCl ₂ | 1.25 |
| 10 mM dNTPs | 0.5 |
| Forward Primer (10 µM) | 1 |
| Reverse Primer (10 µM) | 1 |
| Go Taq polymerase | 0.25 |
| DNA | 3 |
| dH ₂ O | 13 |

Table 2.4 Genotyping PCR reaction mixture

Table 2.5 Genotyping PCR cycling conditions

| Stage | Temperature | Time | |
|----------------------|---------------|------------|-------------|
| Initial denaturation | 94 | 5 minutes | |
| Denaturation | 94 | 60 seconds | |
| Annealing | See table 2.6 | 60 seconds | X 35 cycles |
| Extension | 72 | 60 seconds | |
| Final Extension | 72 | 10 minutes | |
| Hold | 10 | 10 minutes | |

Table 2.6 Genotyping PCR primer sequences and product sizes

| Gene | Forward Primer (5'-3') | Reverse Primer (5'-3') | Annealing Temp.(°C) | Product size (bp) |
|--------------|---------------------------|--|------------------------|-------------------|
| RNF43_Loxp | GAAGCAGACAATGAAGCGAAT | TAGTGCCCCACAGAGGACA | 63 | WT= 284, Mut= 405 |
| ZNFR3_Loxp | CACACCCTGACCCTACGAA | TTACCACACCCATACCCAACT | 60 | WT= 324, Mut= 405 |
| FZD7_Loxp | GCACCATCATGAAGCACG | CACAGTTAGCATCGTCCTGC | 58 | WT= 550, Mut= 630 |
| Claudin18_KI | GCATGAAGTGCAAGAACGTG | GTAGACTCCCGTTGCTTTGG | 58 | 450 |
| Claudin18_WT | GTCAGTCCTACTAAACACACATGAA | Used in combination with C18_KI primers above | 58 | 300 |
| dTOM_WT | AAGGGAGCTCAGTGGAGTA | CCGAAAATCTGTGGGAAGTC | 58 | 280 |
| dTOM_Mut | CTGTTCCTGTACGGCATGG | GGCATTAAAGCATATCC | 58 | 230 |

2.5 RNA Analysis

2.5.1 Epithelial cell extraction

To avoid interference from stromal and smooth muscle compartments in subsequent RNA analysis, the stomach epithelium was extracted. Stomachs were removed and flushed with PBS before being cut open along the greater curvature. The stomachs were then placed in digestion buffer (25 mM EDTA: For 100 mL, 98.9 mL PBS and 5 mL 0.5M EDTA) for 60-90 minutes in a falcon tube. After which, the digestion buffer was removed and 10 mL of cold PBS was added and the tube was vigorously shaken. The now detached muscle layer was removed and the tube was centrifuged at 1,500 rpm for 5 minutes. The supernatant was carefully removed and the pellet was resuspended in 1 mL of ice cold PBS. The resuspended samples were transferred to 2 Eppendorf tubes with 0.5 mL in each and centrifuged at 5000 rpm for 10 minutes at 4°C. The supernatant was collected and frozen in liquid nitrogen and stored at -80°C until use.

2.5.2 Tissue homogenization

Gastric tissue or epithelial cell extracts were removed from storage and placed on dry ice to prevent defrosting. The tissues were placed in 1 mL Trizol (Invitrogen) in homogenizing lysing matrix D tubes (MP Biomedicals). Tissues were homogenized using a precellys 24 homogenizer (Bertin Technologies) at 6,000 rpm for 2 cycles of 30 seconds.

2.5.3 RNA extraction

Human gastric cancer cells were resuspended and homogenized in Trizol (Invitrogen), 1 mL per 10 cm² of culture dish area. Tissue samples were homogenized in 1 mL of Trizol using a homogenizer. Samples were incubated for 5 minutes at room temperature and 200 μ L of chloroform per 1 mL of Trizol solution was added and mixed vigorously. Samples were centrifuged at 12,000 x g for 15 minutes at 4°C in order to separate the upper aqueous phase (nucleic acid containing fraction) from the lower organic phase (protein containing fraction). The aqueous phase was transferred to a clean micro-centrifuge tube

and an equal volume of isopropanol was added, the solution was vortexed for 10 seconds and then left to incubate for 10 minutes at room temperature. Samples were centrifuged at 12,000 x g for 8 minutes at 4°C to precipitate the RNA. 1 mL of 75% EtOH per 1 mL of Trizol was added to wash the pelleted RNA and the samples were centrifuged at 7,500 xg for 5 minutes at 4°C. The EtOH was carefully removed and the RNA pellet was left to air dry for 5 minutes. The RNA was then resuspended in 25 μ L of DEPC treated water. RNA samples were quantified using a DNA/RNA nanodrop spectrophotometer.

2.5.4 cDNA synthesis

1 μ g of each RNA sample was reverse transcribed using modified MMLV reverse transcriptase and anchored oligo(dT) primers following the manufacturer's instructions (PCR Biosystems) in a final volume of 20 μ L.

2.5.5 qRT-PCR

For quantitative reverse transcriptase polymerase chain reaction (qRT-PCR), master mixes were prepared using SyGreen Blue mix (PCR Biosystems) following the manufacturer's instructions, in final volumes of 10 μ L in triplicate wells of a 96 well plate. RPL19 primers were used to normalize the data; for threshold cycle (CT) values, the 2^{- $\Delta\Delta$ CT} method (Bustin, 2002) was used to calculate the fold change. Statistical analysis was performed on the Δ CT values. See table 2.7 for human primer sequences and table 2.8 for mouse primer sequences.
Table 2.7. qRT-PCR human primer sequences

| Target | Forward sequence | Reverse sequence |
|----------|------------------------|-----------------------|
| FZD1 | CAAGGTTTACGGGCTCATGT | TGAACAGCCGGACAGGAAAA |
| FZD2 | GGCCACTGAAAACCGAACTT | CCAGAGGCGGAGGAGAACAA |
| FZD3 | TGGGTTGGAAGCAAAAAGAC | CCTGCTTTGCTTCTTTGGTC |
| FZD4 | GCCAATGTGCACAGAGAAGA | AGGTGGTGGAGATGAAGCAG |
| FZD5 | CTGTGGTCTGTGCTGTGCTT | GGCCATGCCAAAGAAATAGA |
| FZD6 | TCTGTGCCTCTGCGTATTTG | TCTCCCAGGTGATCCTGTTC |
| FZD7 | GACCATCATGCCCAACCTTC | GGCCACTGAAAACCGAACTT |
| FZD8 | CGGTTGTAGTCCATGCACAG | TTACATGCCCAACCAGTTCA |
| FZD9 | TTTTCGGTAGCACAGGCTCT | AGTTTCCTCCTGACCGGTTT |
| FZD10 | AGATTCCCATGTGCAAGGAC | AGTTGGGGTCGTTCTTGTTG |
| CCND1 | TCGTGGCCTCTAAGATGAAGGA | TCGGGCCGGATAGAGTTGT |
| AXIN2 | TCAAGACGGTGCTTACCTGT | TGCTGCTTCTTGATGCCATC |
| CD44 | GTCTGCATCGCGGTCAATAG | GGTCTCTGATGGTTCCTTGTT |
| MYC | CAGCTGCTTAGACGCTGGATT | GTAGAAATACGGCTGCACCGA |
| LGR5 | ACCCGCCAGTCTCCTACATC | GCATCTAGGCGCAGGGATTG |
| RPL19 | AGCGAGCTCTTTCCTTTCG | GAGCCTCTTCTGAAGCCTGA |
| SNAI2 | GGGGAGAAGCCTTTTTCTTG | TCCTCATGTTTGTGCAGGAG |
| SNAI1 | CCTCCCTGTCAGATGAGGAC | CCAGGCTGAGGTATTCCTTG |
| TWIST1 | GGAGTCCGCAGTCTTACGAG | TCTGGAGGACCTGGTAGAGG |
| CDH2 | ACAGTGGCCACCTACAAAGG | CCGAGATGGGGTTGATAATG |
| VIMENTIN | GAGAACTTTGCCGTTGAAGC | GCTTCCTGTAGGTGGCAATC |
| CDH1 | TGCCCAGAAAATGAAAAAGG | GTGTATGTGGCAATGCGTTC |

| - | · · | |
|--------|------------------------|-----------------------|
| Target | Forward sequence | Reverse sequence |
| FZD1 | CAAGGTTTACGGGCTCATGT | TGAACAGCCGGACAGGAAAA |
| FZD2 | CCGACGGCTCTATGTTCTTC | TAGCAGCCGGACAGAAAGAT |
| FZD3 | TGGGTTGGAAGCAAAAAGAC | CCTGCTTTGCTTCTTTGGTC |
| FZD4 | GCCAATGTGCACAGAGAAGA | AGGTGGTGGAGATGAAGCAG |
| FZD5 | CTGTGGTCTGTGCTGTGCTT | GGCCATGCCAAAGAAATAGA |
| FZD6 | TCTGTGCCTCTGCGTATTTG | TCTCCCAGGTGATCCTGTTC |
| FZD7 | GCTTCCTAGGTGAGCGTGAC | AACCCGACAGGAAGATGATG |
| FZD8 | TTACATGCCCAACCAGTTCA | CGGTTGTAGTCCATGCACAG |
| FZD9 | AGTTTCCTCCTGACCGGTTT | TTTTCGGTAGCACAGGCTCT |
| FZD10 | AGATTCCCATGTGCAAGGAC | AGTTGGGGTCGTTCTTGTTG |
| CCND1 | TCGTGGCCTCTAAGATGAAGGA | TCGGGCCGGATAGAGTTGT |
| AXIN2 | TCAAGACGGTGCTTACCTGT | TGCTGCTTCTTGATGCCATC |
| CD44 | GTCTGCATCGCGGTCAATAG | GGTCTCTGATGGTTCCTTGTT |
| MYC | TAGTGCTGCATGAGGAGACA | GGTTTGCCTCCTCTCCACAG |
| LGR5 | ACCCGCCAGTCTCCTACATC | GCATCTAGGCGCAGGGATTG |
| RPL19 | AGCGAGCTCTTTCCTTTCG | GAGCCTCTTCTGAAGCCTGA |

Table 2.8. qRT-PCR mouse primer sequences

2.6 Histological Analysis

2.6.1 Tissue preparation

Freshly isolated stomachs were flushed with PBS and then cut along the greatest curvature. The stomachs were opened out and placed serosa side down onto a wax plate and pinned in place (Figure 2.4). The stomachs were fixed overnight at 4°C in 10% neutral buffered formalin (sigma). The formalin was removed and replaced with 70% EtOH at room temperature. Samples were stored in 70% EtOH in distilled dH₂O at 4°C until processing. After fixation, all tissues were placed in a cassette (Fisher) and processed using an automatic processor (Leica TP1050). The tissues were incubated in an increasing gradient of alcohols for dehydration (70% EtOH for 1 hr, 95% EtOH for 1 hr, 2 x 100% EtOH for 1 hr 30 mins and 100% EtOH for 2 hrs), then in xylene (2 x 2 hrs). The tissues were then placed in liquid paraffin for 1 hr and then twice more for 2 hrs. The samples were removed and embedded in paraffin wax by hand and allowed to harden. Paraffin embedded tissue was sectioned at 5 um using a microtome (Leica RM2135) and placed onto Poly-L-Lysine (PLL) coated slides and baked at 58°C for 24 hours.



Figure 2.4 Stomach dissection. Preparation of stomach tissue for histology.

2.6.2 Freezing tissue

Sections of stomach were placed into individual lockable microtubes and placed on dry ice until frozen. The samples were then stored at -80° C until required.

2.6.3 Immunohistochemistry

Sections were de-waxed by serial immersions in xylene (2x 5 minute washes) and rehydrated by serial immersions in 100% EtOH (2x 2 minutes), 95% EtOH (2 minutes), and 70% EtOH (2x 2 minutes), before being transferred to dH₂O. Antigen retrieval was performed (See table 2.9 for specific treatment for each antigen) and slides were allowed to cool to room temperature. Endogenous peroxidase activity was blocked by treating slides with a hydrogen peroxide solution (3% hydrogen peroxide (v/v) in MilliQ water) for 10 minutes at room temperature, then washed 2x for 5 minutes in dH₂O. Non-specific binding of antibodies was then blocked by incubating sections for 30 minutes at room temperature in 10% normal goat serum in TBS/T. After incubation the slides were washed 2x for 5 minutes in TBS/T and once in dH₂O. Primary antibodies (Table 2.9), made up in blocking diluent, were added to sections and incubated overnight at 4°C. Sections were washed in TBS/T (3x 5 minutes) then incubated with secondary antibody (polymer horse-radish peroxidase conjugated mouse/rabbit/goat) for 30 minutes at room temperature. Following incubation slides were washed 3x for 5 minutes in TBS/T. Bound peroxidase was detected and developed by the addition of 3,3'-Diaminobenzidine substrate (DAB) at room temperature for 5-10 minutes or until slides turned brown. Slides were then washed for 2x 5 minutes in dH₂O. Slides were then counterstained with Mayers haemotoxylin (R.A. Lamb) for 30 seconds and run under cold water until the water became clear. Slides were then dehydrated through soaking increasing concentrations of EtOH (30 seconds in 70% EtOH, 30 seconds in 95% EtOH and 2x 30 second washes in 100% EtOH) followed by 2x 2-minute washes in xylene before being mounted immediately using DPX mounting solution (Sigma).

Table 2.9 IHC conditions.

| Target | Antigen retrieval method | Primary antibody used |
|---------------------------------------|--|--|
| Nuclear B -catenin | Boiled in 50 mM TRIS pH 9.5 for 1 hour | Mouse anti- B- catenin (1:300) (BD Biosciences, 610154) |
| PCNA | Boiled in 5 mM EDTA Ph8.0 buffer for 15 minutes | Rabbit anti-PCNA (1:300)(BD Biosciences, 610665) |
| H ⁺ /K ⁺ ATPase | Boiled in 50 mM TRIS pH 9.5 buffer in pressure cooker at 900Watts for 10 minutes | Rabbit anti- H⁺/K⁺ ATPase (1:400) (Santa Cruz, 84304) |
| Cleaved Caspase-3 | Boiled in citrate buffer in pressure cooker at 900Watts for 15 minutes | Rabbit anti- Cleaved Caspase-3 (1:1000) (Cell signalling, 9661L) * Incubated for 48 hours |
| Red Fluorescent Protein | Boiled in DAKO pH 9 antigen retrieval buffer in pressure cooker at 900 Watts for 30 minutes | Rabbit anti-RFP (1:500) (Rockland, 600-401-379S) |

2.6.4 IHC quantification

Three random fields of view were selected, per slide. 1000 cells were counted (using cell counter function on Zeiss software) per field of view. The percentage of positive cells to total cells was calculated.

2.7 Gastric Organoid Culture

2.7.1 Human tissues

Human gastric cancer and normal gastric tissues were obtained from patients who underwent surgery at the University Hospital of Wales, Cardiff with informed consent after the approval of the ethical committee (Wales Cancer Bank). Only samples from patients who had not received chemotherapy were selected.

2.7.2 GC tissue preparation

Small pieces (~1cm² x 4 mm thick) of tumour and adjacent nonneoplastic gastric mucosal tissue were taken from the fresh gastrectomy specimen. Samples were placed in ice-cold PBS for transport to the laboratory prior to culture. Normal and tumour tissue were processed using an adapted version of a previously published protocol (Bartfeld and Clevers, 2015), which is explained in detail in sections 5.3.1. In brief, samples were washed vigorously washed with PBS, minced into small fragments, and washed with PBS, before being placed in an enzymatic digestion solution.

2.7.3 Normal gastric tissue preparation

Gastric tissue was twice washed in PBS containing 1x penicillin/Streptomycin (P/S), followed by the careful removal of the muscle and mucus layer using a scalpel. Inefficient removal of mucus from samples resulted in less viable organoids. Tissue samples were then minced into small fragments and placed into freshly prepared chelating buffer (10 mM EDTA, 0.5 mM DL-dithiothreitol, 1% P/S and 1 μ g/ μ L Primocin) on ice for 45 minutes without agitation. Any agitation damaged the gastric glands. The digested tissue fragments were transferred to a sterile 10 cm dish and as much liquid as possible was removed. To release the glands, a glass microscopy slide was placed on top of the tissue and gentle even pressure was applied until the appear around the tissue appeared cloudy, representing the successful release of glands into solution (Figure 2.5). Gastric glands were collected, counted, resuspended in Matrigel and seeded approximately 100 glands per 50 µL Matrigel per well of a 24-well plate. The plate was then gently inverted and the Matrigel allowed to solidify; the inversion ensured that the glands settled at the top of the Matrigel drop and had close access to the overlaid growth media (Table 2.10)

2.7.4 Human organoid culture

Human gastric cancer and normal gastric organoids were cultured according to the steps outlined in section 2.7.2 and 2.7.3. In brief, released gastric glands were resuspended in matrigel and plated in 24-well plates with growth media containing various growth factors outlined in table 2.10. Media was changed once every 7 days.



Figure 2.5 Normal Human gastric organoid culture expansion. Schematic of the gland isolation process and representative image of isolated glands from the gastric tissue sample.

| Reagent Name | Stock solution | Final Concentration | Volume for 1 mL |
|--------------------------|----------------|---------------------|-----------------|
| Advanced DMEM/F12 | NA | NA | 450 uL |
| GlutaMAX | 100x | 1x | N/A |
| HEPES | 1 M | 10 mM | N/A |
| P/S | 100x | 1x | N/A |
| N2 supplement | 100X | 1X | 10 ul |
| B27 supplement | 50X | 1X | 20 ul |
| Mouse recombinant EGF | 500 ug/ml | 50 ng/ml | 0.1 uL |
| Mouse recombinant | 100 LIG/MI | 100 NG/MI | 1 |
| Noggin | 100 OG/ME | | 1 OL |
| R-Spondin1 conditioned | 10v | 1x (10% of final | 1 |
| media | TOX | volume) | T OL |
| Recombinant FGF10 | 100 UG/ML | 100NG/ML | 1UL |
| Wnt3a conditioned media | 2X | 1X (50% of final | 500 ul |
| Wittba conditioned media | | volume) | 500 41 |
| Gastrin | 100 UM | 10 NM | 1 UL |
| N-Acetylcyteine | 500 mM | 1 mM | 2 ul |
| Y-27623* | 100mm | 10um | 1 |
| A83-01 | 500 um | 500nm | 1ul |

Table 2.10 Gastric organoid culture media

* Only add Y-27623 during initial culture or after passaging (then remove after 3 days).

2.7.5 Production of R-Spo1-condtioned media

1.5-2 x 10 ⁶ HEK293-R-Spo B8 clone cells were plated in a T175 flask in 35 mL of pre-warmed growth media (Advanced DMEM supplemented with 10% FBS, GlutaMAX and 150 µg/ml Zeocin). Cells were expanded by passaging when cells reached 75% confluency by the addition of 3 mL TrypLE for 2 minutes at 37 °C. 5 mL of growth media was added to inhibit the dissociation reaction. Cells were pooled and reseeded at 1.5 x10⁶ per T175 flask in 35 mL of growth media was changed to 20-30 flasks and cells were at 75% confluency, the growth media was changed to harvest media (Advanced DMEM/F-12 supplemented with 1% penicillin/streptomycin, 1% GlutaMAX and HEPES 10 Mm). Cells were incubated in harvest media for 1 week. After this, media was removed into 50 mL tubes and centrifuged for 5 minutes at 500 x g at 8°C to remove any cells. The media was filter using 500 mL filter cups and divided into 5 mL aliquots.R-Spo-1 medium was stored at -20°C for up to 6 months.

2.7.6 Production of Wnt3a-condtioned media

 $1.5-2 \times 10^{6}$ HVB-Wnt3a cells (gifted from Clevers lab) were plated in a T175 flask in 35 mL of pre-warmed growth media (Advanced DMEM supplemented with 10% FBS, 1% penicillin/streptomycin, GlutaMAX and 300 µg/ml Zeocin). Cells were expanded by passaging when cells reached 75% confluency by the addition of 3 mL TrypLE for 2 minutes at 37°C. 5 mL of growth media was added to inhibit the dissociation reaction. Cells were pooled and reseeded at 1.5×10^{6} per T175 flask in 35 mL of growth mediaw. When cells had been expanded to 20-30 flasks and cells were at 75% confluency, the growth media was changed to harvest media (Advanced DMEM supplemented with 10% FBS, 1% penicillin/streptomycin and GlutaMAX). Cells were incubated in harvest media for 1 week. After this, media was removed into 50 mL tubes and centrifuged for 5 minutes at 500 x g at 8°C to remove any cells. The media was filter using 500 mL filter cups and divided into 15 mL aliquots. R-Spo-1 medium was stored at -20°C for up to 6 months.

2.7.7 Validation of Wnt & R-Spo1-condintioned media

The TOPFLASH assay, a luciferase reporter assay, was used to monitor the concentration of both Wnt3a and R-Spo1 in cell culture media. Two luciferase expressing plasmids, firefly-expressing TOPFlash (Contains 8 TCF binding sites) and renilla-expressing plasmid (pRL, to normalize) were transfected into HEK293 cells in 24-well plates, 1.25 x 10⁵ cells per well with 0.5 mL of medium and 400 ng TOPFlash and 25 ng pRL. These cells were then exposed to medium containing either Wnt-3a or R-Spo1 alone or in combination. After 48 hours of induction, firefly and renilla luciferase activity is read (Dual-Glo® Luciferase Assay System (Promega) & Clariostar plate reader (BMG Labtech)). Firefly counts were normalized with renilla counts. FOPFlash (Mutant TCF sites) was used as a control and data was further normalized to this basal control and titrated by comparing to a known source of each growth factor (de Lau et al., 2011). For Wnt3a-conditioned medium, adequate activity was a TOP/FOP value >25. For R-Spo1-conditioned medium, TOP/FOP assay results were valid if the results were 5-10 fold higher in the presence of R-Spo1 + Wnt3a as compared with Wnt3a only.

2.7.8 Human organoid passaging

Organoids were passaged every 2 weeks. Old media was removed and 1 mL of cold Advanced-DMEM/F12 (ThermoFisher Scientific) was added per well to wash the matrigel. A p1000 pipette was used to break up the gel which was transferred to a 15 mL falcon tube containing plain DMEM media. The organoid-matirgel-media mixture was centrifuged for 5 minutes at 300 g at 4°C to pellet the gastric glands. The supernatant was carefully aspirated off. A p200 pipette was used to break up the pellet, it was then centrifuged for 5 minutes at 300 x g at 4°C. The supernatant was removed, and the pellet was resuspended in an appropriate volume of Matrigel. 50 μ L drops were added to each well of a 24-well plate. The plate was then gently inverted and the Matrigel allowed to solidify in a 37°C incubator for 30 minutes. 500 μ L of gastric growth media, with the addition of ROCKi, was added to each well.

2.7.9 Human organoid cryopreservation

For long-term storage established organoids were frozen in freezing media: 10% DMSO in Advanced-DMEM/F12 + Glutamax + HEPES + Pen/Strep + N2B27. Old media was removed from the organoids and they were washed with standard DMEM. Organoids were gently broken up by pipetting no more than 4 times up and down. Collected organoids were centrifuged at 300 g for 5 minutes at 4°C after which the supernatant was removed. The pellet was resuspended in freezing media and 1 mL was aliquoted to a cryo-vial. Vials were stored in a -80°C freezer overnight and then transferred to liquid nitrogen for long-term storage.

2.7.10 Raising human organoids from storage

Organoids retrieved from the liquid nitrogen were thawed at 37 °C in a water bath. Thawed organoids were added to a falcon tube containing 10 mL of Advanced-DMEM/F12. Organoids were centrifuged for 5 minutes at 300 x g at 4 °C. The pelleted organoids were resuspended in 100 μ L of Matrigel and a 50 μ L drop placed in the center of the well of a pre-warmed 24-well plate. Once solidified, the Matrigel dot was overlaid with 500 μ L of pre-warmed gastric growth media with the additional supplement of ROCKi.

2.8 CRISPR cloning strategy

2.8.1 In silica design strategy

The specificity of the Cas9 nuclease is determined by the 20-nt guide sequence within the sgRNA. We utilized a plasmid containing an *S.pyogenes* Cas9, this system requires the target system to immediately precede a 5'-NGG PAM sequence. The 20-nt guide sequence base pairs with the opposite strand to mediate Cas9 cleavage at ~3 bp upstream of the PAM (Ran et al., 2013). While the sgRNA sequence must be upstream of a PAM site and be specific to the target gene, off-target activity must also be taken into consideration.

To increase the chance of effective cleavage to achieve full knockout of the FZD7 gene, two sgRNAs were designed. sgRNA targeting FZD5 were also

designed to be used as a control in future experiments. sgRNA was designed for both mouse and human species so that we have a full complement of constructs for use in human cultures and animal models. sgRNA target sequences were chosen that targeted either exon 1 or exon 2 of the gene and were present across all splice variants to ensure efficient knockout. Once a PAM site had been identified in either of these exons, the target sequence was checked for offtarget activity by using the Basic Local Alignment Search Tool (BLAST; https://blast.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/Blast.cgi). To allow for cloning into the px458 (obtained from addgene and sgRNA oligos from sigma) Cas9 vector (Figure 2.6) 4-nt overhangs compatible with BbsI restriction sites were added to the sgRNA target sequence (Figure 2.6). The px458 vector contains a U6 promoter upstream of the sgRNA insertion site, therefore a G-bp was added (if not already present) to the 5'-end of the sgRNA target sequence. The sgRNA target sequences for the FZD5/7 knockout constructs can be seen in table 2.11 and the sgRNA target sequences for the various APC truncated constructs can be seen in table 2.12.

Chapter 2: Materials & Methods



Figure 2.6 sgRNA oligos with Bbsl overhangs. "N" and "n" represent complementary base pairs. Red font represents the overhangs. PAM sequence is not included in the sgRNA sequence. The U6 promoter requires a G-bp at the transcription start site (underlined font). This should be added to the start of your sgRNA at the 5' site if one is not already present.

Table 2.11 Human and mouse sgRNA targeted to FZD7

| Human FZD7_01 Forward | 5'-CACCGGTGCGGGCGAGATCTGCGT-3' |
|-----------------------|--|
| Human FZD7_01 Reverse | 5'-AAACACGCAGATCTCGCCCGCAC <u>C</u> -3' |
| Human FZD7_02 Forward | 5'-CACCGATGATCGTCGGCATCACCAC-3' |
| Human FZD7_02 Reverse | 5'-AAACGTGGTGATGCCGACGATCAC-3' |
| Human FZD5_01 Forward | 5'-CACCGCGCTCGTCGGCACTGAAGGA-3 |
| Human FZD5_01 Reverse | 5'-AAACCCAGCATTGTGGTGGCCTG <u>C</u> -3' |
| Human FZD5_02 Forward | 5'-CACCGCAGGCCACCACAATGCTGG-3' |
| Human FZD5_02 Reverse | 5'-AAACCCAGCATTGTGGTGGCCTG <u>C</u> -3' |
| Mouse FZD7_01 Forward | 5'-CACCGCGAGAAAGGCATCTCGGTAC-3 |
| Mouse FZD7_01 Reverse | 5'-AAACGTACCGAGATGCCTTTCTCG <u>C</u> -3' |
| Mouse FZD7_02 Forward | 5'-CACCGATGATCGTGGGCATCACTAC-3' |
| Mouse FZD7_02 Reverse | 5'-AAACGTAGTGATGCCCACGATCATC-3' |
| Mouse FZD5_01 Forward | 5'-CACCGTCTCCACAAGCGGCCAGAAT-3' |
| Mouse FZD5_01 Reverse | 5'-AAACATTCTGGCCGCTTGTGGAGAC-3' |
| Mouse FZD5_02 Forward | 5'-CACCGGTAGCGGCTTGTGGTAGTC-3' |
| Mouse FZD5_02 Reverse | 5'-AAACGACTACCACAAGCCGCTAC <u>C</u> -3' |

| Human APC_01 Forward | 5'- CACCGTCCATCCTTTCCCTGAAATC -3' |
|----------------------|--|
| Human APC_01 Reverse | 5'- AAACGATTTCAGGGAAAGGATGGAC -3' |
| Human APC_02 Forward | 5'- CACCGTACTTTATTACATTTTGCCA -3' |
| Human APC_02 Reverse | 5'- AAACTGGCAAAATGTAATAAAGTAC -3' |
| Human APC_03 Forward | 5'- CACCGTAATGAAGAGAAACGTCATG -3' |
| Human APC_03 Reverse | 5'- AAACCATGACGTTTCTCTTCATTAC -3' |
| Human APC_04 Forward | 5'- CACCGTCAGCCATTCATACCTCTC -3' |
| Human APC_04 Reverse | 5'- AAACGAGAGGTATGAATGGCTGA <u>C</u> -3' |
| Human APC_05 Forward | 5'- CACCGGATCTGTATCAAGCCGTTC -3' |
| Human APC_05 Reverse | 5'- AAACGAACGGCTTGATACAGATCC -3' |
| Mouse APC_01 Forward | 5'- CACCGCCGACTCAGAAAATTTTGAC -3' |
| Mouse APC_01 Reverse | 5'- AAACGTCAAAATTTTCTGAGTCGG <u>C</u> -3' |
| Mouse APC_02 Forward | 5'- CACCGTCCATTCTGTCACTAAAGTC -3' |
| Mouse APC_02 Reverse | 5'- AAACGACTTTAGTGACAGAATGGAC -3' |
| Mouse APC_03 Forward | 5'- CACCGTAATGAAGAGAAACATCATG -3' |
| Mouse APC_03 Reverse | 5'- AAACCATGATGTTTCTCTTCATTAC -3' |
| Mouse APC_04 Forward | 5'- CACCGTCTGCCATCCCTTCACGTT -3' |
| Mouse APC_04 Reverse | 5'- AAACAACGTGAAGGGATGGCAGA <u>C</u> -3' |
| Mouse APC_05 Forward | 5'- CACC <u>G</u> AAAATGTCCCTTCGCTCCTA -3' |
| Mouse APC_05 Reverse | 5'- AAACTAGGAGCGAAGGGACATTTT <u>C</u> -3' |

2.8.2 Restriction enzyme digestion

To linearize the px458 backbone and allow insertion of sgRNA, a single restriction digestion was carried out according to table 2.13. The reaction was incubated at 37° C for one hour.

2.8.3 DNA gel extraction

DNA fragments were electrophoresed on an agarose gel and were excised, weighed, and solubilized using binding buffer (ThermoFisher Scientific) at a ratio of 1:1 and the solution was incubated at 60°C for 10 minutes. The solubilized gel solution was transferred to a GeneJET purification column (ThermoFisher Scientific) and centrifuged for 1 minute. The flow through was discarded and 100 μ L of binding buffer was added to the column and centrifuged for 1 minute. The flow through was discarded and 700 μ L of wash buffer was added to column and centrifuged for 1 minute. The flow through was discarded and the empty column was centrifuged for an additional 1 minute to remove residual wash buffer. The column was transferred to a clean 1.5 mL microcentrifuge tube and 50 μ L of elution buffer was added to the center of the purification column membrane and centrifuged for 1 minute. The purified DNA was stored at -20°C.

2.8.4 Preparation of sgRNA oligo inserts

To phosphorylate and anneal the top and bottom strands of oligos for each sgRNA design, the top and bottom strands of oligos were first resuspended to a final concentration of 100 μ M. The mixture for phosphorylating and annealing the sgRNA oligos can be found in table 2.14. The reaction mixture was run in a thermocycler for 30 minutes at 37°C; 5 minutes at 95°C; ramped down to 25°C at 5°C/minute. The phosphorylated and annealed oligos were diluted 1:200 with dH₂O.

2.8.5 Cloning the sgRNA oligos into px458 backbone

A ligation reaction for each sgRNA was set up as described in table 2.15. The addition of Quick ligase was last to the reaction mix. A no-insert, px458only negative control for ligation was also set up. The ligation reactions were left at room temperature for 10 minutes

| Px458 | 1 µg |
|-----------------------------|-------|
| FastDigest Bbsl (Fermentas) | 1 µL |
| FastAP (Fermentas) | 1 µL |
| 10x FastDigest Buffer | 2 µL |
| ddH2O | XμL |
| Total volume | 20 µL |

Table 2.13 BbsI single restriction digestion

Table 2.14 Preparation of sgRNA oligo inserts

| sgRNA oligo top (100 µM) | 1 µL |
|------------------------------|--------|
| sgRNA oligo bottom (100 µM) | 1 µL |
| 10X T4 ligation buffer (NEB) | 1 µL |
| T4 PNK (NEB) | 0.5 µL |
| ddH2O | 6.5 μL |
| Total volume | 10 µL |

Table 2.15 Ligation reaction

| BbsI digested plasmid | 50 ng |
|-------------------------------|-------|
| Oligo duplex (1:200) | 1 µL |
| 2x Quickligation Buffer (NEB) | 5 µL |
| Quick ligase (NEB) | 1 µL |
| ddH2O | ΧμL |
| Total volume | 11 µL |

2.8.6 Transformation of competent cells

A vial of One-Shot® TOP10 chemically competent *E.coli* (Invitrogen) was thawed on ice. The ligated plasmid and insert (3 μ L) was added directly into the vial of competent cells and mixed by tapping gently. The vials were incubated on ice for 30 minutes. Next, the vial was incubated for exactly 30 seconds in a 42°C water bath and then placed on ice for 2 minutes. 250 μ L of pre-warmed SOC medium was added to each vial under sterile conditions. The vials were then shaken at 37°C for one hour at 225 rpm in a shaking incubator. 100 μ L from each transformation vial was spread onto a separate LB agar selective (Ampicillin) plate. The remaining transformation mix was stored at 4°C. The LB agar plates were inverted and incubated overnight at 37°C.

2.8.7 Colony selection and overnight bacterial culture

Once the LB-ampicillin agar plates had been incubated overnight, colonies were picked and inoculated with 5 mL of LB-ampicillin broth and left overnight with constant shaking at 37° C

2.8.8 Plasmid purification

Following the overnight culture, 2 mL of the culture was centrifuge at 12,000 x g. The pellet, containing the plasmid, was purified using a GeneJET plasmid Miniprep kit (ThermoFisher Scientific) according to the manufacturer's instructions.

2.8.9 Sequence verification

To confirm successful insertion of sgRNA into the backbone, the plasmid DNA was sequenced from the UG promoter (upstream of the sgRNA insert) using the U6-Forward primer (5'-GACTATCATATGCTTACCGT-3'). Sequencing was performed by eurofins.

2.9 Statistical Analysis

Data are expressed as mean \pm SEM, where mean represents number of mice (n \ge 3 per genotype) or number of independent experiments (n \ge 3). Normality of data was checked by plotting a histogram. An unpaired student's t-test was used to determine statistical differences between normally distributed datasets where p values of \le 0.05 were considered significant. To detect statistical differences between non-parametric data sets the Mann Whitney U two-tailed test was performed where p values of \le 0.05 were considered significant. All statistical analysis was performed using Graphpad prism.

Chapter 3: The Role of Frizzled-7 in Gastric Cancer Growth

This chapter is based on:

Flanagan, D., Barker, N., Di Costanzo, N. S., Mason, E. A., Gurney, A., Meniel, V. S., Koushyar, S., <u>Austin, C. R</u>., Pearson, H. B., Boussioutas, A., Clevers, H., Phesse, t. j. & Vincan, E. 2019. Frizzled-7 is required for Wnt signaling in gastric tumors with and without Apc mutations. Cancer Research, canres.2095.2018

3.1 Introduction

Aberrant Wnt pathway activation has been linked to many different forms of cancer. Mutations to the tumour suppressor gene, APC, a key negative regulator of Wnt/ β -catenin signalling or mutations to other Wnt signalling components such as β -catenin are observed in between 40-60% of gastric tumours (Wang et al., 2014b)

Whilst canonical Wnt signalling is generally considered to drive the proliferation and neoplastic transformation of cells, non-canonical Wnt pathways have been shown to play pivotal roles in tumour progression such as angiogenesis and metastasis (Anastas and Moon, 2013). As such, Wnt5a, considered a classical non-canonical Wnt ligand, is overexpressed in numerous cancers, including GC (Nam et al., 2017). Targeted inhibition of Wnt5a significantly reduces tumour growth and invasion (Hanaki et al., 2012). Thus, deregulation of canonical and/or non-canonical Wnt signalling components leads to aberrant induction of Wnt signalling and gene transcription, which can rapidly transform cells to promote gastric tumorigenesis.

Not only are intracellular components of Wnt signalling implicated in GC but more recently it has been shown extracellular secreted Wnt antagonists (sFRP and Dkk) are frequently epigenetically silenced through promoter hypermethylation (Cheng et al., 2007; Nojima et al., 2007; Wang et al., 2012b). Critically, exogenous re-introduction of Wnt pathway inhibitors, such as sFRP1/2/5 and Dkk1, or reversing promoter methylation can significantly limit and reduce in vitro tumourgenicity and tumour xenograft burden of Wntpathway activated GC models by means of attenuating Wnt/B-catenin signalling (Cheng et al., 2007; Nojima et al., 2007; Wang et al., 2013a). These studies demonstrate that activated Wnt signalling is sufficient to drive gastric tumorigenesis and provides proof-of-principal that modulation of extracellular/upstream signaling components can impact on Wnt pathway output, irrespective of intracellular/downstream mutations that would otherwise drive positive Wnt signalling. Moreover, the fact that sFRPs and Dkks

act by inhibiting Wnt/FZD signalling implies an intrinsic role for Wnt/FZD. Indeed, FZD receptors, specifically FZD7, are commonly upregulated in GC leading to abnormal Wnt pathway activation (Zhao et al., 2014). FZD7 is particularly unique as it is one of the few FZD receptors that transmit both canonical and non-canonical Wnt signals (Figure 3.1), which have both been shown to play critical roles during tumorigenesis and tumour progression (Asad et al., 2014; Ueno et al., 2009; Vincan et al., 2007b).

FZD7 has attracted particular focus due to its upregulation in several different cancers, with inhibition of FZD7 successfully blocking growth in colorectal cancer, breast cancer and hepatocellular carcinoma (Phesse et al., 2016). Furthermore, FZD7 has recently been shown to be the predominant FZD receptor transmitting Wnt signalling to regulate stem cell function in the gastric (Flanagan et al., 2017a) and intestinal epithelium (Flanagan et al., 2015b). Lgr5 was first identified as a Wnt target gene and a marker of highly proliferative stem cells located at the base of intestinal crypts (Barker et al., 2007). It has since been confirmed as a stem cell marker in the antral (Barker et al., 2010b) and corpal (Leushacke, 2017) stomach and is able to generate all cell lineages of the gastric epithelium. In addition, these cells demonstrate a high dependency and sensitively to Wnt/B-catenin signalling for this maintenance. However, non-Lgr5 expressing stem cell populations have also been implicated in the homeostasis of the gastric epithelium (Arnold et al., 2011; Powell et al., 2012; Stange et al., 2013). In vivo lineage tracing from cells located within the isthmus that express either Sox2 or Lrig1 are also self-renewing and multipotent. These data suggest the co-existence of multiple stem cell populations within the epithelium that work in concert to maintain the integrity It has been demonstrated that FZD7 is the of the gastric epithelium. predominant Wnt receptor in regulating homeostasis in the intestinal epithelium, in which deletion of FZD7 in either the whole epithelium or specifically in the Lgr5+ intestinal stem cells, triggers rapid repopulation (Flanagan et al., 2015b). Similarly, the deletion of FZD7 throughout the antrum

Chapter 3: The Role of Frizzled-7 in Gastric Cancer Growth

of the gastric epithelium also triggered repopulation, indicating that FZD7 regulates a population of stem cells in the antrum (Flanagan et al., 2017a). Therefore, it was assumed that FZD7 would regulate Lgr5+ cells in the gastric epithelium much like in the intestine. However it has recently been shown for the first time that deletion of FZD7 did not inhibit the capacity of Lgr5+ cells to lineage trace full gastric glands (Flanagan et al., 2019b). This demonstrates that the function of Lgr5+ cells in the gastric epithelium do not require FZD7 *in vivo*, illustrating a substantial difference for FZD7 in regulating Lgr5+ stem cells in the stomach compared to the intestine.

Despite compelling evidence implicating FZD7 in GC, its functional role in GC has not been elucidated and its therapeutic potential remains unknown. This project seeks to reveal the therapeutic benefit of inhibiting FZD7 in GC both *in vitro* and *in vivo*. As FZD7 belongs to a family of closely related genes it is not possible at present to pharmacologically target FZD7 in isolation, without also inhibiting other closely related FZD proteins. However, our industrial collaborators Oncomed Pharmaceuticals developed an antibody to block a subset of FZD receptors (FZD-1, 2, 5, 7 & 8) (Gurney et al., 2012), which will be used to support genetic experiments and determine the therapeutic benefit of targeting FZD7 in GC.



Figure 3.1 FZD7 receptor complexes and signalling output. (A) FZD7 can associate with G protein α (GP α) to transmit signals from Wnt8 via the PCP pathway; (B) FZD7 can associate with Syndican4 (Sdc4) and R-Spo to transmit Wnt5a signals via internalization of the whole receptor complex and ligand which then activates PCP signalling; (C) FZD7 can associate with Ror2 to transmit non-canonical Wnt signals from ligands including Wnt5 or Wnt11, either via PCP or Ca²⁺; (D) FZD7 can associate with Lrp5/6 to transmit canonical Wnt signalling from ligands including Wnt3. However, RNF43/ZNFR3 ubiquitylates FZD7 and targets it for internalization and proteasomal degradation, thus resulting in turn-over of the receptor complex and low canonical Wnt signalling; (E) In the presence of Lrg4/5, and R-Spo, it is RNF43/ZNFR3 which is internalized and degraded and this FZD7/Lrp5/6 remains on the cell surface to transmit Wnt signalling and canonical signalling output is high.

3.2 Results

3.2.1 Gastric cancer cells require cell intrinsic Wnt signalling for growth

FZD receptors are known to be overexpressed in many cancers, including GC. Like many malignancies, GC is genetically heterogeneous, which complicates identifying non-redundant signalling pathways suitable for targeted therapy. To investigate the expression of FZD receptors which transmit oncogenic Wnt signals, we performed qRT-PCR for all 10 mammalian FZD genes on two human GC cell lines: MKN28 (intestinal-type) and MKN45 (diffuse-type). Several FZD receptors were abundantly expressed, including FZD7 (Figure 3.2). FZD2 was also highly expressed in both cell lines but not as highly as FZD7. FZD6 displayed high expression relative to the house-keeping gene. This suggests FZD receptors might be attractive therapeutic targets for GC.

The pan-FZD monoclonal antibody OMP-18R5 (Vanticumab) binds to 5 of the 10 FZD receptors: FZD1, FZD2, FZD5, FZD7, and FZD8 (Gurney et al., 2012). This directly blocks the ability of Wnt to interact with FZD, thus, preventing signal activation and pathway transduction. OMP-18R5 has shown efficacy in several solid cancer types, however, its therapeutic potential in GC has not been explored. To assess the ability of OMP-18R5 to inhibit the growth of GC cells we first performed colony forming assays in soft agar for 2 weeks. MKN28 and MKN45 GC cells treated with OMP-18R5 formed significantly fewer anchorage-independent colonies compared to vehicle control treated cells (Figure 3.3). It should be noted that MKN28 and MKN45 cells grown as a conventional 2D monolayer do not show growth inhibition following OMP-18R5 treatment (Figure 3.4). This suggests that OMP-18R5 does not inhibit the general viability of GC cells, but rather the more specific cancer stem cell characteristics of anchorage independent colony forming.



Figure 3.2 FZD7 abundantly expressed in GC cell lines. Relative expression of FZD receptors in (A) MKN28 and (B) MKN45 GC cells quantified by qRT-PCR. Expression shown relative to housekeeper (RPL19). Data represented as mean \pm SEM, n=3.



Figure 3.3 FZD inhibition reduces GC initiation. Quantification of cell colonies (>50 cells) from (A) MKN28 and (B) MKN45 GC cells grown in soft agar for 2 weeks treated with 80 μ g/mL OMP-18R5 or vehicle control. Treatments were replaced every 4 days for the duration of 2 weeks. OMP-18R5 showed a reduction in number of colonies compared to control. The absolute number of colonies was normalized to the vehicle control. (**= p ≤ 0.01, mean ± SEM, n=3, t-test).



Figure 3.4 OMP-18R5 does not show efficacy in 2D setting. (A) MKN28 and (B) MKN45 GC cells were grown as 2D monolayer cultures in 96-well cell culture plates and treated with increasing concentrations of OMP-18R5, vehicle control or DMSO (to induce lysing of cells). Cell growth was assessed by Celtiter-Glo assay and cell viability percentage was calculated relative to DMSO treated cells. (mean \pm SEM, n=3).

This suggests that cell intrinsic Wnt ligands are required for 3D-growth of GC cells. This was confirmed by treatment of GC cells with LGK-974 which prevents Wnt secretion through inhibition of the palmitoylation of the Wnt ligand by PORCN (Liu et al., 2013). MKN28 and MKN45 GC cells treated with LGK-974 formed significantly fewer anchorage-independent colonies compared to vehicle control treated cells (Figure 3.5). These data demonstrate cell intrinsic secretion of Wnt ligands and FZD receptor availability are required for the sustained growth and cancer stem cell properties of GC cells.

To confirm OMP-18R5 and LGK-974 treatment had reduced Wnt signalling associated with the reduced growth observed I had planned to perform TOPflash assays. However, due to restricted lab time due to the COVID19 pandemic these could not be completed.



Figure 3.5 Inhibition of Wnt secretion reduces GC Initiation. Quantification of cell colonies (>50 cells) from (A) MKN28 and (B) MKN45 GC cells grown in soft agar for 2 weeks treated with 5 μ M LGK-974 or vehicle control. Treatments were replaced every 4 days for the duration of 2 weeks. LGK-974-treated cells showed a reduction in number of colonies compared to control The absolute number of colonies was normalized to the vehicle control. (**= p ≤ 0.01, mean ± SEM, n=3, t-test).

3.2.2 Pan-FZD inhibition reduces gastric cancer tumour burden in vivo

To determine if FZD inhibition could also reduce the growth of GC cells *in vivo* 10x10⁶ MKN45 or MKN28 GC cells were injected subcutaneously into the hind flanks of 6 week-old nude mice and allowed to develop into palpable gastric tumours. Growth of the tumours were measured twice weekly with calipers. To inhibit Wnt signalling, the mice were treated with 5 mg/kg OMP-18R5, twice a week for the duration of the experiment. This dose has been previously used successfully in publications by Oncomed (Gurney et al., 2012). Gastric tumours were significantly smaller in OMP-18R5 treated mice compared to vehicle control treated mice in both the MKN45 and MKN28 cohorts (Figure 3.6). MKN45 tumours grew faster, reaching the tumour size limit by 19 days compared to 34 days for the MKN28 gastric tumours (Figure 3.6). The MKN45 group grew consistently in size whereas the MKN28 group grew slowly for the first 27 days before suddenly and significantly increasing in size. As previously reported (Gurney et al., 2012), no toxicity was observed in OMP-18R5-treated mice, which displayed consistent bodyweight and no signs of morbidity or the duration of the treatment (Figure 3.7). These data demonstrate that FZD inhibition is sufficient to block the initiation and progression of human GC cells.

Characterization of the GC xenografts showed a reduction in B-catenin staining (surrogate marker of active Wnt signalling) in OMP-18R5 treated mice compared to vehicle-treated control in both MKN45 and MKN28 GC cell lines (Figure 3.8). qRT-PCR analysis showed a significant decrease in the expression of Wnt target genes in the OMP-18R5 treated tumours in both MKN45 and MKN28 GC cells (Figure 3.9). This demonstrates that treatment with OMP-18R5 is able to inhibit Wnt signalling in gastric tumours *in vivo*. We performed qRT-PCR for all 10 mammalian FZD genes which demonstrated that no other FZD receptor was compensating for inhibiting FZD1, FZD2, FZD5, FZD7, and FZD8 with the OMP-18R5 antibody (Figure 3.10). The significant reduction in expression of FZD7 is due to its role as a Wnt target gene rather than a direct inhibition by OMP18R5 since this is a monoclonal antibody which targets FZD antigens rather

than gene transcription. These data show that OMP-18R5 is able to inhibit Wnt signalling in GC xenografts and strongly suggests that FZD receptors are rate limiting for growth of gastric tumours *in vivo*.

Tumours would have been further characterized by staining for PCNA and cleaved-caspase3 if not for restricted lab time due to the COVID19 pandemic.





Figure 3.6 Pan-FZD inhibition reduces GC growth in vivo. (A) Representative images of GC cell xenografts treated with vehicle or OMP-18R5. GC xenograft growth overtime in (B) MKN45 and (C) MKN28. Tumour growth in both cell lines was reduced in the OMP-18R5 treated cohort, (*= p ≤0.05, mean ± SEM, t-test, n=6, mice per cohort).



Figure 3.7 OMP-18R5 did not lead to increased morbidity. Body weight (grams) over time of mice treated with 5 mg/kg OMP-18R5 or vehicle control in (A) MKN45 and (B) MKN28. (mean \pm SEM, t-test, n=6, mice per cohort).


Figure 3.8 Pan-FZD inhibition reduced B-catenin expression in xenografts. Hematoxylin and eosin (H&E) staining and B-catenin immunostained (IHC) sections from OMP-185R-treated and vehicle control-treated GC xenografts. OMP-185R treated xenografts showed a reduction in B-catenin staining compared to control. (Scale bars = 100 μ M).



Figure 3.9 Pan-FZD inhibition reduced Wnt signalling in GC cells in vivo. qRT-PCR for Wnt target genes on GC xenografts from OMP-18R5 treated or vehicle control treated mice. All Wnt target genes had significantly decreased expression in the OMP-18R5 treated cohort compared to control. Normalized to RPL19 (***= p ≤ 0.001 , mean \pm SEM, t-test, n=6 mice)



Figure 3.10 FZD receptors do not compensate when a subset of receptors are inhibited. qRT-PCR for FZD receptor genes on GC xenografts from OMP-18R5 treated or vehicle control treated mice. No FZD receptor was significantly increased in expression due to the inhibition of 5 out 10 mammalian FZD receptors. FZD7 has reduced expression due to its role as a Wnt target gene. Normalized to RPL19 (*= $p \le 0.05$, ****= $p \le 0.0001$, mean ± SEM, t-test, n=6 mice)

3.2.3 Targeted FZD7 knockdown reduced gastric cancer colony formation

Inhibition of GC cell growth following treatment with OMP-18R5 suggests that one of the five FZD receptors targeted by OMP-18R5 (FZD1, 2, 5, 7, and 8) is responsible for transmitting Wnt signals in GC cells. Gene expression analysis narrows this down to FZD2 and/or FZD7, as FZD1, FZD5, and FZD8 are undetectable in these cell lines (Figure 3.2). It has previously been shown that FZD2 is unable to compensate for the loss of FZD7 in the intestinal epithelium (Flanagan et al., 2015b), this may indicate a predominant role for FZD7 in Wnt signal transduction in gastric tissue. Indeed, FZD7 is upregulated in GC and is associated with poor clinical outcomes (Phesse et al., 2016).

To determine the specific requirement of FZD7 for the growth of human GC cells we performed colony forming assays on GC cells transfected with shFZD7 (Vincan et al., 2007a). To first confirm the FZD7-targted shRNA (shFZD7) was specific to FZD7, it was transfected into GC cell lines, MKN45 and MKN28, and the expression of Wnt target genes and FZD receptors analyzed by qRT-PCR. MKN45 and MKN28 cells displayed a significant reduction in expression of FZD7, with relative mRNA expression fold change of \leq 0.5. Importantly, the gene expression of FZD2 was not reduced following FZD7-knockdown in either cell line (Figure 3.11). This confirms that despite similar homology and expression in GC tissue, our shFZD7 is specific to FZD7 and FZD2 is not compensating for its loss. Expression of Wnt target genes were significantly reduced in both MKN45 and MKN28 following FZD7-knockdown compared to control (Figure 3.11). This demonstrates that targeted knockdown of FZD7 in GC cells leads to a reduction in Wnt signalling and therefore has potential to be the predominant FZD receptor transmitting oncogenic Wnt signals in GC.



Figure 3.11 FZD7-knockdown reduces Wnt target genes in GC cell lines. qRT-PCR for Wnt target genes in GC cell lines (A) MKN28 and (B) MKN45 following FZD7-knockdown. Both cell lines showed a significant decrease in expression of Wnt target genes, including FZD7, in the shFZD7 cells compared to shSCRAMBLED control. FZD2 did not show a reduction in expression following FZD7-knockdown (**= $p \le 0.001$, ***= $p \le 0.0001$, mean ± SEM, t-test, n=3)

To investigate the role of FZD7 in the growth of GC cells, cells were transfected with shFZD7 and grown as anchorage-independent colonies in soft agar. MKN45 and MKN28 GC cells transfected with shFZD7 had a marked decrease in colony growth, compared to those transfected with scrambled shRNA (shSCRAMBLED) control (Figure 3.12). Importantly, growth inhibition following FZD7-knockdown was rescued by co-transfection with a full-length FZD7 expression construct (Figure 3.12). This observation was confirmed by qRT-PCR analysis of FZD7 expression in the cells (Figure 3.13). MKN28 and MKN45 cells with FZD7 knocked down had a decrease in expression of FZD compared to shSCRAMBLED control. FZD7 expression returned to similar levels as the control when co-transfected with shZFD7 and the FZD7 overexpression construct. This demonstrates the specificity of shRNA and that FZD7 regulates growth in human GC cells.

The reduction in colony forming ability in MKN45 and MKN28 cells transfected with shFZD7 was associated with decreased Wnt signalling (Figure 3.13). qRT-PCR analysis demonstrated that MKN28 and MKN45 transfected with shFZD7 had significantly decreased expression of Wnt target genes compared to shSCRAMBLED control with levels returning to control levels when co-transfected with shFZD and the FZD7 overexpression construct. These data suggest that FZD7 is the predominant Wnt receptor transmitting oncogenic Wnt signalling to regulate growth and cancer stem cell qulaities in GC cells and that targeting FZD7 may be an attractive therapeutic target to prevent initiation/growth of gastric tumours.

TOPflash assays would have been used to confirm FZD7-knockdown leads to a reduction in Wnt signalling. However, due to restricted lab time due to the COVID19 lockdown these could not be completed.



FZD7 overexpression

Combined

Figure 3.12 FZD7-knockdown reduces GC cell growth. (A) Quantification of cell colonies (\geq 50 cells) from MKN45 or MKN28 GC cells grown in agar for 2 weeks following transfection with shFZD7 alone, FZD7-overexpression construct, shSCRAMBLED control or combination of shFZD7 and overexpression construct. Both cell liens displayed a reduction in growth in cells transfected with FZD7 alone compared to control. This reduction in growth was rescued by co-transfection with FZD7-overexpression construct, returning the number of colonies per well to levels similar to control cells. (B) Representative images of MKN28 grown as colonies. (***= $p \le 0.001$, ****= $p \le 0.0001$, mean ± SEM, t-test, individual experiments repeated 3 times).





3.3 Discussion

Aberrant regulation of Wnt signalling is a frequent theme in cancer biology. Given the wide array of cellular processes that are regulated by Wnt signalling during development and continued through to adulthood, it is unsurprising that some of the same cell processes that become compromised during carcinogenesis are due to deregulated Wnt signalling (Polakis, 2012). Our best understanding of the involvement of Wnt signalling in cancer comes from investigations into its well-known role in the initiation and progression of colorectal cancer (CRC) (Kinzler and Vogelstein, 1996; Sansom et al., 2004). Nearly all of CRCs, sporadic and familial, harbour mutations to components of the Wnt pathway, leading to pathway activation (Kinzler et al., 1991). However, unlike CRC, mutations to Wnt signalling pathway components in GC are modest in comparison (Clements et al., 2002; Koushyar et al., 2020). In fact, compared to CRC, mutations driving GC are still somewhat unclear. Efforts in genome sequencing of patient biopsies have provided insight into high risk pre-disposing environmental and genetic factors (Cristescu et al., 2015; Wang et al., 2014b), but these genomic studies are yet to be followed up with thorough functional investigations. Since it was demonstrated that Wnt activity could be regulated in CRC and GC, irrespective of downstream pathwayactivating mutations (Caldwell et al., 2004; Cheng et al., 2007; Suzuki et al., 2004; Vincan et al., 2007a; Vincan et al., 2005; Zhao et al., 2014) the overexpression of certain upstream signaling components in GC has received increased research attention. This provides a novel avenue to investigate the therapeutic potential to treat deregulated Wnt signalling in GC via manipulation of the accessible cell surface FZD receptors.

This chapter has shown that FZD receptors are rate-limiting for the growth of GC *in vitro* and most importantly *in vivo*. Furthermore, it has elucidated, through use of targeted FZD7 knockdown, that FZD7 is likely the predominant Wnt receptor transmitting cell-intrinsic Wnt signals in human GC cells. Limiting the availability of FZD7 can reduce the activity of Wnt signalling, to levels that

Chapter 3: The Role of Frizzled-7 in Gastric Cancer Growth

cause a reduction in cell proliferation, a property utilized and required by developing tumours (Hanahan and Weinberg, 2011). Furthermore, the colony forming assays utilized in this chapter investigate the capacity of disaggregated single cells for form colonies and is therefore an assay for cancer stem cell (CSC) properties. Therefore, our results that show a decrease in colony forming ability in cells following FZD7 inhibition suggest that FZD7 is required in this process and that FZD7 is likely regulating gastric CSCs and thus potentially tumourigenesis.

This hypothesis is further supported by additional recently published evidence generated alongside this project. *Fzd7* was conditionally deleted in the gastric adenomas of Cre^+ ;gp130^{F/F};Fzd7^{fl/fl} mice (Flanagan et al., 2019a), which allows robust recombination in these adenomas (Thiem et al., 2016). Tamoxifen induced mice developed significantly smaller and fewer gastric adenomas than Cre-negative mice. Furthermore, when *Fzd7* was co-deleted with *Apc* it was found sufficient to almost completely block the development of gastric tumours (Flanagan et al., 2019a). This supports our *in vitro* experiments demonstrating FZD7 inhibition is sufficient to block GC initiation. Taken together these data suggest that targeting FZD7 may lead to a potential therapeutic benefit in GC.

There are 10 mammalian FZD family members, which are classed into groups based on shared sequence and structural homology; FZD1,2 and 7, FZD3 and 6, FZD5 and 8, and FZD4,9 and 10 (Yu et al., 2012a). Interestingly, FZD belonging to the same class are often expressed on the same cell, meaning cancer cells can also display class-specific FZD expression. Specific FZDs were originally considered to only participate in distinct arms of the Wnt pathway, however, it is now generally accepted that the nature of FZD signaling (Canonical or non-canonical) is largely determined by the spatial and temporal ligand-receptor expression profile (Figure 3.1).

Within gastrointestinal cancers that show elevated Wnt activity, the FZD receptors commonly over-expressed are FZD1, 2 and 7 (King et al., 2012; Ueno et al., 2013). Therefore, it is unsurprising that FZD2 and FZD7 were abundantly

Chapter 3: The Role of Frizzled-7 in Gastric Cancer Growth

expressed in our human GC cell lines: not only are they commonly overexpressed in GIT cancers but share similar sequence and structural homology. It has been previously shown that FZD7 is commonly upregulated in hepatocellular, colon and gastric carcinomas and is associated with poor prognosis and survival (Merle et al., 2004; Schmuck et al., 2011; Vincan et al., 2007a). Additionally, FZD7 has been shown to be the predominant receptor regulating stem cell function in the gastric epithelium (Flanagan et al., 2017a). Furthermore, inhibition of FZD2 has been shown to reduce tumour growth and EMT phenotypes in GIT cancers (Gujral et al., 2014; Tomizawa et al., 2015).

Interestingly, FZD6 was also shown to be expressed in our GC cell lines. FZD6 has been shown to act as an inhibitor of the canonical pathways through activation of TAK1/NLK kinases, which reduce activation of B-catenin target genes via phosphorylation of TCF/LEF transcription factors (Golan et al., 2004). Therefore, its abundant expression in our human GC cell lines may be in response to the increase in canonical signalling via upregulation of FZD7. Although FZD6 has been shown to regulate both canonical and non-canonical pathways, it has an emerging central role in the PCP signalling in cancer (Corda and Sala, 2017). Despite whether the PCP and non-canonical Wnt pathways are key players in oncogenic transformations still being a matter of discussion, there is evidence that GC cells hijack non-canonical signalling pathways to acquire the ability to metastasize through overexpression of Wnt5a (Kurayoshi et al., 2006). Wht5a can bind to FZD6 forming a complex that drives migration and invasion in tumours where the WNT5A-FZD6 complex is overexpressed (Hirano et al., 2014; Kamino et al., 2011). However, this is contradicted by a recent paper where overexpression of FZD6 was able to suppress both proliferation and migration of GC (Yan et al., 2016). This clearly highlights the need for more functional experiments to decipher the roles of the other FZD receptors and identify which are viable as therapeutic targets in GC.

One of the most fundamental traits of a cancer cell is its ability to sustain proliferation. Under non-pathological conditions, mitogenic signals that control

Chapter 3: The Role of Frizzled-7 in Gastric Cancer Growth

proper cell-cycle entry and subsequent division are tightly regulated to ensure proper tissue homeostasis. However, cancer cells are able to deregulate these mitogenic and growth signals, which allow them to control their own fate. There are numerous ways in which cancer cells can achieve sustained proliferation such as producing growth factor ligands themselves, to which they can respond via the expression of cognate receptors, resulting in autocrine proliferative stimulation (Hanahan and Weinberg, 2011). Results presented in this chapter show that inhibiting FZD receptors led to a reduction in GC cell growth. Therefore, FZD receptors are essential in transmitting the oncogenic Wnt signalling that results in uncontrolled proliferative signalling. GC cells hijack this by overexpressing the receptors on their surface (Phesse et al., 2016). It should be noted that OMP-18R5 did not have efficacy on GC cells grown as a monolayer in a 2D environment. This highlights the importance of testing drug efficacy in conditions that better mimic tumour biology, such as organoids or mouse models and also suggests that Fzd7 regulates cancer stem cell activity and that the techniques used are not compromising the cell viability.

Our *in vitro* studies presented here and studies by others (Tomizawa et al., 2015) have shown that targeted inhibition of FZD is sufficient to block growth of GC cells. However, it is well documented that *in vitro* studies do not fully recapitulate the complex molecular and cellular interactions present in tumours (Hanahan and Weinberg, 2011). Our study demonstrated that functionally OMP-18R5 treatment triggered a reduced growth of human GC xenografts in mice. This supports previous work that demonstrates targeting multiple FZD receptors blocks the growth of several different cancers (Gurney et al., 2012). This can now be extended to GC. In other cancers OMP-18R5 has been used in combination with several standard-of-care chemotherapeutic agents, such as Taxol, Irinotecan and Gemcitabine, which showed strong synergy and significantly reduced cell proliferation and tumorigenicity (Gurney et al., 2012). Therefore, this antibody-based strategy of targeting FZDs may be beneficial to the treatment of a broad range of cancers, including GC. However,

the side effects of OMP-18R5 need to be further evaluated due its universality and non-specificity, therefore, a more specific drug target (I.E. a single FZD receptor) could lead to fewer side-effects. Consequently, it is important academically and clinically to elucidate the predominant FZD receptor transmitting oncogenic Wnt signalling in GC.

Of the 10 mammalian FZD receptors, FZD7 is one of the few FZDs that has a key role in relaying proliferative cues (via Wnt/B-catenin signalling) to stem and progenitor cell populations, thereby contributing to tissue homeostasis (Flanagan et al., 2017a; Flanagan et al., 2015b). Targeted inhibition of FZD7 has been shown to be sufficient to significantly reduce cell differentiation in human embryonic stem and limb progenitor cells (Fernandez et al., 2014; Mei et al., 2014). As such, FZD7 is commonly overexpressed in a variety of cancers, including GC, where it can successfully transduce high levels of Wnt/B-catenin signalling to cells and propagate cell proliferation to facilitate tumorigenesis. Targeted strategies to lower the availability of FZD7 have yielded robust decreases in tumour growth via decreasing cell proliferation (Asad et al., 2014; Merle et al., 2004; Simmons et al., 2014; Ueno et al., 2009; Vincan et al., 2007a). Results presented in this chapter support the findings of others as we too observe a significant reduction in GC cell growth following FZD7 knockdown along with a decrease in expression of Wnt target genes. Deletion of Fzd7 in the normal gastric epithelium triggers repopulation (Flanagan et al., 2017a) which is a likely explanation for why FZD7-deficient GC cells and xenografts have reduced growth and why the reintroducing FZD7 into FZD7-deficient cells rescues the phenotype. Furthermore, our colony forming assays have demonstrated that FZD7 was required for gastric stem cell activity with additional support showing that deletion of Fzd7 prevents gastric tumourigenesis (Flanagan et al., 2019a). There is accumulating evidence of the close association between FZD7-regulated stem cells and cancer. For example, conditional deletion of FZD7 in adult intestinal epithelium, resulted in stem cell loss and organoid death. Furthermore, conditional deletion of FZD7 specifically

in the Lgr5+ intestinal stem cells in the crypts lead to impaired epithelial regeneration in transgenic mice (Flanagan et al., 2015a). Additionally, FZD7 is significantly elevated in human embryonic stem cells and has been used as a novel embryonic stem cell-specific surface antigen due to its involvement in embryonic stem cell self-renewal and pluripotent stat maintenance (Fernandez et al., 2014). It has been validated in breast cancer that FZD7-dependent enhancement of Wnt signalling promotes normal mammary stem cell activity (Chakrabarti et al., 2014). This implies that stem cells in normal and malignant tissues may share common molecular bases. This strengthens our findings that FZD7-mediated enhancement of Wnt signalling promotes gastric CSC and therefore enhances GC cells growth as FZD7 is known to regulate stem cell activity in normal gastric epithelium (Flanagan et al., 2017a) as well as being upregulated in human gastric tissue (Van Cutsem et al., 2016). These data support our findings of FZD7 regulating gastric CSCs and therefore playing a non-redundant role in transmitting oncogenic Wnt signalling in GC cells. Therefore, specifically targeting FZD7 for treatment of GC present a good therapeutic strategy. A recent study found a small molecular compound (SRI37892) that was able to target the transmembrane domain of FZD7 and block Wnt signal transmission. Treatment with SRI37892 inhibited LRP6 phosphorylation and downregulated the level of cytosolic free B-catenin, and functionally repressed cell viability and colony formation in breast cancer (Zhang et al., 2017). This highlights the importance of understanding the interplay between the receptors, co-receptors and ligands at the cell surface, in order to develop more effective and specific drugs. This also confirms that targeting Wnt signalling at the level of the receptor is a good therapeutic strategy and supports our findings in GC.

dFz7-21, is a selective peptide of the FZD7 receptor subclass (FZD1, 2 and 7), it has been shown to inhibit Wnt signalling by binding to the FZD7 CRD subclass at a new site proximal to the lipid-binding groove. This alters the dimer interface and disrupts the formation of the Wnt-FZD-LRP complex which leads

to improper Wnt signalling (Nile et al., 2018). The anti-cancer effects of dFz7-21 have not been demonstrated; however, the peptide was able to block Lgr5+ stem cell function, giving it potential as a drug to block FZD7 in cancer.

The WNT-FZD-LRP signalosome is considered key to transmit canonical Wnt signalling in a cell (MacDonald and He, 2012). However, in the colon it has recently been found that Wnt ligands were redundant in this complex. It has been shown that LRP5 knockdown inhibits Wnt signalling in APC mutant CRC cell lines (Saito-Diaz et al., 2018), however, treatment with IWP-2 (Porcupine inhibitor) had no effect on Wnt signalling in the same cell lines. This suggests that Wnt is redundant in the Wnt-FZD-LRP signalosome and further research is required to determine which Wnt-driven cancers are sensitive to porcupine inhibitors and the molecular mechanisms driving oncogenic Wnt signalling at the level of the receptor. In contrast to the colon, our data showed that inhibiting Wnt secretion led to a reduction in GC cell growth, demonstrating that cell intrinsic secretion of Wnt ligands as well as FZD receptor availability are required for the sustained growth of GC cells. This highlights that despite their proximal locations and shared role in digestion, their molecular regulation is very different. It also strengthens the value of modulating Wnt signalling at the level of the receptor. The modulation of LRP5/6 needs to be investigated further in the context of GC.

Together our data suggests that FZD7 is the predominant receptor transmitting oncogenic Wnt signalling in GC and that inhibition of FZD7 and modulation of the WNT-FZD-LRP signalosome is a potential novel therapeutic strategy for GC. Interestingly, we observed the same results in both of our human GC cell lines. This is exciting as the key difference between cell lines is their APC mutational status; MKN45 are wild-type for APC whereas MKN28 have a truncating mutation in APC at codon 1450 (GGA to TGA, Arg to STOP) (Yokozaki, 2000). This demonstrates that inhibition of FZD7 is sufficient to block Wnt signalling in GC cells with mutant APC, which is consistent with similar studies done in CRC cells (Ueno et al., 2008; Vincan et al., 2005). Recently it was shown that APC^{KO} CRC

cells induced formation of the WNT-FZD-LRP signalosome, resulting in activated What signalling. However, CRC with APC mutations treated with a porcupine inhibitor did not inhibit the activation of the signalosome, suggesting that Wnt ligands are dispensable in Wnt pathway activation resulting from APC truncation in CRC cells (Saito-Diaz et al., 2018). On the other hand, LRP6 deletion in CRC cells mutant for APC (SW480 and DLD1) did inhibit canonical Wnt signalling and have decreased cytoplasmic levels of B-catenin. These data suggest that Wnt receptor signalosome is activated by mutant APC and can induce Wnt signalling independent of Wnt ligands. Recent work from Owen Sansom's group have showed that GTPases, Ra1A and Ra1B, are required for efficient internalization of FZD7 to activate Wnt signalling in intestinal stem cells (Johansson et al., 2019) supporting findings from Saito-Diaz et al., who also showed that rapid activation of Wnt signalling by the signalosome in APC mutant cells was due to internalization of the complex via clathrin-dependent endocytosis. This illustrates a conserved mechanism of internalization of the signalosome in WT and APC mutant Cells. It has demonstrated that CRC cells with a mutation in the mutation cluster region (MCR) of APC can respond to Tankyrase inhibition, suppressing oncogenic signaling in response to AXIN1/2 stabilization (Schatoff et al., 2019). Conversely, CRC cells containing an early truncating mutation (APC^{min}) were unresponsive to Tankyrase inhibition. This highlights the importance of the extent of APC truncation when considering therapeutic intervention as truncated APC can still be translated and transcribed leading to a functional or partially functional protein (Flanagan et al., 2019c). Our results demonstrating that GC cells with APC mutations are responsive to inhibitor at the level of the receptor had APC mutations that fall outside of the MRC. These data suggest a difference in how APC mutant GC and CRC cells respond to Wnt inhibitors, depending on the location of the mutation in the APC. Further investigations are required to understand the molecular mechanism underlying Wnt signaling in GC and how mutant APC modulates the response of GC cells to FZD7 inhibition.

Interestingly, approximately 37% of APC mutant gastric tumours are mutant for RNF43, demonstrating that FZD is deregulated in subset of APC mutant gastric tumours and therefore an attractive target (TCGA, 2014). However, RNF43 and APC mutations are mutually exclusive in colon tumours suggesting that CRC and GC cells preferentially select different Wnt mutations that confer optimal or 'just-right' levels of Wnt signalling required for tumour growth (Albuquerque et al., 2002; Lamlum et al., 1999). This confirms that modulating upstream of Wnt pathway component mutations is a viable strategy for treating GC cancer.

3.4 Conclusions

Many GCs arise via mutation to downstream effector proteins that facilitate the enabling hallmarks of cancer. Therapeutic targeting of these effector proteins is often challenging due to their molecular inaccessibility and associated pleiotropic effects. In this study, we have provided a route to reduce GC cell growth and cancer stem cell activity via targeted inhibition of Wnt receptor FZD7, both molecularly and pharmacologically. Collectively, we have demonstrated that targeted inhibition of Wnt receptors, specifically FZD7, is rate-limiting for the growth of human GC cells with and without APC mutations. Critically, this provides proof-of-principle that modulation of Wnt signalosome can further regulate Wnt signalling irrespective of downstream mutations that constitutively activate the pathway. This provides a broad scope for the application of this novel therapeutic strategy for the treatment of GC.

4.1 Introduction

The findings presented in chapter 2 provide an exciting platform for targeting cancer stem cells via manipulation of FZD7 in GC. However, cancer is a complex disease comprised of other essential traits that must be considered, one such trait being metastasis (Hanahan and Weinberg, 2011).

Due the asymptomatic nature of GC, the majority of patients present with locally advanced and/or metastatic disease. The prognosis for patients with metastatic GC is very poor, with a median survival of 4 months (Van Cutsem et al., 2016). The current first-line therapy for GC patients with advanced disease is a combination of cisplatin/capecitabine with Transuzumab if the tumours are positive for HER2 expression However Transuzumab only vields a partial response and resistance usually develops (Koushyar et al., 2020). Although ramucirumab (targets vascular endothelial growth factor receptor-2) is approved for clinical use, there have been no reported benefits in GC (ElHalawani and Abdel-Rahman, 2015). Although the understanding GC etiology and pathophysiology have increased in recent years, identifying novel and reliable therapeutic targets has remained a challenge. Therefore. understanding the molecular aberrations that drive GC progression is key to identifying novel druggable targets to bring about treatment options for this disease.

It is well established that Wnt signalling not only drives the initiation of solid cancers but also contributes to the metastatic progression of the primary tumour. The reactivation of Wnt signalling in the cancer stroma favors cancer stem cell survival, whilst within the primary tumour reactivation aids the EMT of tumour cells, the migration and invasion of tumour cells and prevents dormancy at metastatic secondary sites (Nwabo Kamdje et al., 2017). Therefore, targeting Wnt signalling is an attractive therapeutic strategy for cancer metastasis.

Published investigations into oncogenic Wnt signalling in the context of GC metastasis have been limited. However, a recent study has identified, through gene set enrichment analysis, that *ADAM17* (TNF- α -converting enzyme) mediates GC cell migration through regulation of both the NOTCH and Wnt signalling pathways. ADAM17 was shown to be abundantly expressed in primary GC tissue, metastatic lymph nodes, and in metastatic GC cell lines. Furthermore, knockdown of *ADAM17* in a metastatic GC cell line suppressed canonical Wnt signalling via the downregulation of B-catenin (Li et al., 2019b)

Evidence of the involvement of Wnt signalling in the induction of EMT in GC comes from studies into the microRNA, mir-544a. Overexpression of mir-544a induces the translocation of B-catenin from the cytoplasm to the nucleus, therefore increasing canonical Wnt signalling in GC cells (Yanaka et al., 2015). In addition to the upregulation of canonical Wnt signalling, mir-544a overexpression downregulated the protein expression of the Wnt destruction complex protein, AXIN2 (Yanaka et al., 2015).

In regards to the migration and invasion capabilities of GC cells, the stem cell marker LGR5 has been found to promote these through the regulation of canonical Wnt signalling (Wang et al., 2018). GC cells treated with a porcupine inhibitor, to prevent Wnt secretion and therefore the Wnt-FZD-LRP complex, displayed a decrease in LGR5-induced proliferation and migration of GC cells. Whereas, Wnt3a-treated cells rescued the LRG5-induced phenotype. Additional evidence demonstrated that LGR5 overexpression induced the translocation of B-catenin to the nucleus, and increased the gene expression of two Wnt target genes, AXIN2 and TCF1 (Wang et al., 2018).

GC cells with overexpressed LGR5 had an increased cell motility via a morphological change; cells became elongated with a fibroblast-like appearance, with this phenotype reversing when the GC cells were treated with a porcupine inhibitor. This suggests that LGR5 regulates cell migration through Wnt signalling (Wang et al., 2018). This is consistent with recent work showing that cytonemes are induced by autocrine Wnt8a binding to the Ror2 receptor

(Mattes et al., 2018). Activation of cytonemes mediates the transport of Wnt8a to surrounding cells which then trigger canonical Wnt signalling (Mattes et al., 2018). This highlights the cross-talk between non-canonical and canonical Wnt signalling in migrating cells, and gives support to investigating FZD7 as a receptor involved in GC progression due its unique ability to transduce signalling in both the canonical and non-canonical pathways and therefore it's potential as a therapeutic target.

Wnt5a-targeted knockdown in GC cell lines has been shown to reduce cell migration both in vitro and in vivo through inhibition of Rac1 and laminin Y2, both drivers of GC cell invasion. Suppression of Wnt5a using an anti-Wnt5a antibody prevented the clathrin-mediated rapid internalization of the Wnt5a-FZD2 receptor complex (Hanaki et al., 2012). Together, these studies identify Wnt signalling, either at the ligand/receptor level, or internalization of the receptor complex, as an important mechanism in driving GC metastasis, which therefore could contain some attractive therapeutic targets. Further investigations into the precise molecular mechanisms underlying Wnt signalling in GC progression is still required/ Therefore, this chapter aims to contribute to the understanding of Wnt signalling in the context of GC progression.

Due to the role of Wnt in cancer metastasis and our previous work highlighting the important role of FZD7 in GC growth, it is likely that this receptor will also be involved in GC progression. Therefore, this chapter aims to elucidate the role of FZD7 in gastric cancer metastasis through *in vitro* studies inhibiting FZD7, both molecularly and pharmacologically. FZD7 will be assessed for its role in the migratory and invasive capabilities of GC cells as well its role in the process of EMT; a key process in a cells ability to acquire a migratory phenotype The therapeutic benefit of inhibiting Wnt signalling at the level of the receptor in GC metastasis will also be investigated using an *in vivo* model to better recapitulate the tumour microenvironment. GC cells will be injected into the abdominal cavity to resemble GC peritoneal dissemination and mice treated with LGK-974 to block Wnt secretion. This will assess the requirement of Wnt

signalling for GC cells ability to survive in the peritoneal niche and to colonize a secondary site.

4.2 Results

4.2.1 Inhibition of the Wnt signalosome suppressed GC migration & invasion

The Wnt pathway has been implemented as a key signalling pathway driving cancer metastasis. As reported in chapter 2 (Figure 3.2) several FZD receptors are abundantly expressed in our two human GC cell lines, MKN28 and MKN45. To investigate the role of FZD receptors in the migration of GC cells the widely accepted transwell assays were employed. Transwell assays evaluate the ability of single cells to migrate through a porous membrane. GC cells were treated with the pan-FZD monoclonal blocking antibody, OMP-18R5 at a concentration of 80 μ g/mL (as previously used(Gurney et al., 2012)) or vehicle control. MKN28 and MKN45 GC cells treated with OMP-18R5 migrated less through the pores of the filter membrane, demonstrating a significant reduction in the migratory ability of the cells compared to the vehicle-treated cells (Figure 4.1). This illustrates that FZD receptors regulate GC motility and migration.

Another key property of metastatic cancer cells is their ability to invade into tissue. Therefore, the ability of human GC cells to invade was investigated through Transwell invasion assays; this measures the invasion of cells through extracellular matrix, a process commonly found in cancer metastasis. This is achieved by the addition of a thin layer of Matrigel seeded onto the semipermeable membrane. Both human GC cell lines treated with OMP-18R5 had a significantly decreased ability to invade through the Matrigel layer compared to vehicle-treated control (Figure 4.2) This demonstrates that FZD receptors are required for GC cells ability to invade.

To ensure the migratory and invasive ability observed in our GC cell lines was due the effect of OMP-185R blocking a subclass of FZD receptors and not due to drug toxicity, a cell viability assay was performed. In both MKN45 and MKN28 GC cell lines, increasing concentrations of OMP-18R5 did not reduce their viability (Figure 4.3). This confirms that the results observed in Figure 4.1 and Figure 4.2 are due the inhibitory action of OMP-18R5 on FZD receptors.



Figure 4.1 Pan-FZD inhibition reduced migratory ability of GC cells. (A) Treatment of MKN28 and MKN45 GC cells with 80 µg/mL OMP-18R5 for 24 hours significantly reduced their ability to migrate through the pores of a Transwell insert compared to vehicle-treated control. (B) Representative images of GC cells on the underside of the filter membrane stained with crystal violet. Experiments were performed in duplicate and three random fields of view per replicate were counted by eye and the average taken. (**= p ≤0.01, ****= p ≤0.001, mean ± SEM, t-test, n=3)



Figure 4.2 Pan-FZD inhibition reduced invasive ability of GC cells. (A) Treatment of MKN28 and MKN45 GC cells with 80 µg/mL OMP-18R5 for 24 hours significantly reduced their ability to invade through a thin layer of matrigel in a Transwell insert compared to vehicle-treated control. (B) Representative images of GC cells on the underside of the filter membrane stained with crystal violet. Experiments were performed in duplicate and three random fields of view per replicate were counted by eye and the average taken. (**= p ≤0.01, ***= p ≤0.001, mean ± SEM, t-test, n=3)



Figure 4.3 OMP-18R5 not toxic to GC cells. (A) MKN28 and (B) MKN45 GC cells were grown in 96-well cell culture plates and treated with increasing concentrations of OMP-18R5, vehicle control or DMSO (to induce lysing of cells). No drug toxicity was observed in either cell line. Cell viability was assessed by Celtiter-Glo assay and cell viability percentage was calculated relative to DMSO treated cells. (mean ± SEM, n=3).

These data suggested that cell intrinsic Wnt ligands were required for the migratory and invasive ability of GC cells. This was confirmed by treatment of GC cells with LGK-974 which prevents Wnt secretion through inhibition of the palmitoylation of the Wnt ligand by PORCN (Liu et al., 2013). MKN28 and MKN45 GC cells treated with LGK-974 had a significantly reduced ability to migrate through the filter membrane of the Transwell insert compared to vehicletreated control (Figure 4.4). Human GC cell lines treated with LGK-974 also had a significantly inhibited ability to invade through the layer of Matrigel above the filter membrane of the Transwell insert (Figure 4.5). To confirm that drug toxicity was not responsible for the reduced number of GC cells observed on the underside of the Transwell filter membrane, GC cells were treated with increasing concentrations of LGK-974 and their cell viability assessed by CellTiter-Glo assay. Increasing concentrations of LGK-974 did not significantly reduce cell viability compared to vehicle-treated control (Figure 4.6). These data demonstrate that cell intrinsic secretion of Wnt ligands and FZD receptor availability are required for the migratory and invasive ability of human GC cells.

To confirm inhibition of Wnt signalling had led to a reduced migratory and invasive ability of GC cells, TOPflash assays would have been used on GC cells treated with LGK-974. However, due to restricted lab time due to the COVID19 lockdown these could not be completed.



Figure 4.4 Wnt inhibition reduced migratory ability of GC cells. (A) Treatment of MKN28 and MKN45 GC cells with 1 μ M and 5 μ M LGK-974 for 24 hours significantly reduced their ability to migrate through the filter membrane in a Transwell insert compared to vehicle-treated control. (B) Representative images of GC cells on the underside of the filter membrane stained with crystal violet. Experiments were performed in duplicate and three random fields of view per replicate were counted by eye and the average taken. (**= p ≤0.01, ***= p ≤0.001, mean ± SEM, t-test, n=3)







Figure 4.6 LGK-974 not toxic to GC cells. MKN28 and MKN45 GC cells were grown in 96-well cell culture plates and treated with increasing concentrations of LGK-974 or vehicle control. No drug toxicity was observed in either cell line. Cell viability was assessed by Celtiter-Glo assay and cell viability percentage was calculated relative to DMSO treated cells. (mean \pm SEM, n=3).

4.2.2 FZD inhibition blocks EMT in human GC cells.

EMT is a vital process in tumour invasion and metastasis. There is increasing evidence demonstrating that activation of Wnt signalling can drive a transcriptional program and promote EMT in cancers (Basu et al., 2018). To determine the role of FZD receptors in transmitting the signals required to drive EMT in GC, fluorescent immunocytochemistry was performed. GC cells were treated with OMP-18R5 following the induction of the EMT state and then stained for epithelial and mesenchymal markers. Vehicle-treated MKN28 GC cells that were induced into EMT via the addition of StemXVivo supplement into their growth media were positive for the mesenchymal marker vimentin and negative for the epithelial marker, Ep-CAM. It is confirmed that these cells lost epithelial markers and gained mesenchymal markers due to EMT induction by the observation of positive staining for Ep-CAM and negative staining for vimentin in vehicle-treated cells that had not been induced to undergo EMT (Figure 4.7). MKN28 GC cells induced to undergo EMT and treated with OMP-18R5 (to inhibit a subclass of FZD) failed to upregulate Vimentin and retained expression of Ep-Cam indicating that blocking Fzd receptors prevented EMT. (Figure 4.7). OMP-18R5 treatment of non-induced MKN28 cells did not have any unexpected results and showed the same expression of markers as the vehicletreated non-induced cells (Figure 4.7). This demonstrates that Wnt signalling, via the FZD receptors, is involved in the promotion of the EMT state in GC. To confirm it was Wnt/B-catenin signalling pathway, it was planned that the cellular levels of B-catenin and canonical Wnt pathway target genes were to be investigated by immunofluorescence staining, however, this could not be completed due to lab restrictions due to the COVID19 lockdown. The lockdown also prevented further analysis to investigate if the same result was observed in MET, by removing StemXVivo from the growth media. These experiments would have yielded a more complete understanding of the role of Wnt in the metastasis of GC.



Figure 4.7 FZD inhibition blocks EMT in GC cells. Immunofluorescence assay of EMT-induced MKN28 GC cells showed treatment with 80 μ g/mL OMP-18R5 blocked EMT compared to vehicle-treated EMT-induced control. Cells were stained for vimentin (green) and Ep-CAM (red) and counterstained with DAPI (blue). (Scale bars = 200 μ M).

To quantify the expression mRNA levels of epithelial and mesenchymal markers following EMT stimulation and OMP-185R treatment, qRT-PCR was performed. Vehicle-treated MKN28 GC cells not induced to undergo EMT displayed a significantly decreased expression of mesenchymal markers, Slug (SNAI2), Snail (SNAI1), Twist1, N-cadherin (CDH2) and vimentin, and a significantly increased expression in the epithelial adhesion marker E-cadherin (CDH1) compared to EMT-induced vehicle-treated cells (Figure 4.8). This illustrates that the addition of StemXVivo to the growth media of MKN28 induces an EMT state resulting in the upregulation of mesenchymal markers. OMP-18R5-treated EMT-induced GC cells displayed a similar expression of mesenchymal and epithelia markers as the vehicle-treated non-EMT induced control cells (Figure 4.8). This illustrates that inhibition of FZD receptors, and therefore modulation of the Wnt signalosome, is sufficient to block the process of EMT in human GC cells.





Figure 4.8. FZD inhibition blocks the EMT expression profile in GC cells. qRT-PCR analysis of mesenchymal and epithelial markers showed EMT-induced MKN28 GC cells treated with 80 µg/mL OMP-18R5 blocked the process of EMT compared to vehicle-treated EMT-induced control. (*= p ≤0.05, **= p ≤0.01, ***= p ≤0.001, ****= p ≤0.0001, mean ± SEM, t-test, n=3)

4.2.3 Wnt inhibition is not sufficient to block GC metastasis in vivo.

The process of cancer metastasis is extremely complex and is influenced by a multitude of intrinsic and extrinsic factors, such as immune cells, cancerassociated fibroblasts and stromal cells (Liu et al., 2017). Therefore, it is important to investigate metastasis in a context that recapitulates the tumour microenvironment. To achieve this an *in vivo* model of peritoneal dissemination (the most frequent form of metastasis in GC) was designed. Human GC cell lines, MKN28 and MKN45 were injected into the abdomen of nude mice and left to form micro-metastases in the peritoneal cavity. Unfortunately, OMP-18R5 was unable to be used due to the manufacturer being taken over and pause on production being issued. Therefore, LGK-974 was used as an alternative to inhibit Wnt signalling. Mice were treated with 1.5 mg/kg LGK-974, 3 mg/kg LGK-974 or vehicle control via oral gavage. After 4 weeks the mice were sacrificed and the tumour metastatic burden was quantified. No significant difference was observed in the metastatic tumour burden of mice treated with LGK-974 compared to vehicle-treated control (Figure 4.9). No toxicity was observed in LGK-974-treated mice, which displayed bodyweight consistent with tumour burden and no signs of morbidity or intestinal distress (diarrhea) for the duration of the treatment (Figure 4.10).

These data suggest that although LGK-974 is able to inhibit migration and invasion of GC in vitro, it is not able to prevent the formation of peritoneal tumours when GC are injected IP. This could be due to several factors which are addressed in the discussion at the end of this chapter.

The characterization of the tumours harvested from this experiment could not be completed due to lab restrictions in place due the COVID19 lockdown. Unfortunately, the effect of FZD inhibition on GC metastasis could not be investigated *in vivo* due to supply issues of OMP-18R5.



10X10⁶ MKN28

Figure 4.9. Wnt inhibition did not reduce tumour burden in vivo. Metastatic burden (weight in grams) of GC cells, MKN28 and MKN45, in injected into the peritoneal cavity of mice and treated with LGK-974 or vehicle. No significant difference was observed in LGK-974-treated mice compared to Vehicle-treated cohorts. (mean \pm SEM, t-test, n=6 mice per cohort).


Figure 4.10. LGK-974 did not lead to increased morbidity. Body weight (grams) over time of mice treated with 1.5 mg/kg LGK-974, 3 mg/kg LGK-974 or vehicle control for both MKN28 and MKN45 cohorts. (mean \pm SEM, t-test, n=6, mice per cohort).

4.2.4 Targeted FZD7 knockdown suppressed GC migration and invasion

Suppression of GC migration and invasion following treatment with OMP-18R5 suggests that one of the five FZD receptors targeted by OMP-18R5 (FZD1, 2, 5, 7, and 8) is responsible for transmitting Wnt signals in GC cells during these cellular functions. The results presented in chapter 2 demonstrated that FZD7 is the predominant FZD receptor transmitting oncogenic Wnt signalling, which regulates GC growth; specific knockdown of FZD7 produced very similar results in colony forming assays as inhibition of the secretion of all Wnt ligands, suggesting a non-redundant role for FZD7 in transmitting Wnt in GC cells These findings, together with the evidence that FZD7 upregulation in GC is associated with poor clinical outcomes (Phesse et al., 2016), strongly suggest that FZD7 may also play a key role in GC metastasis. To determine the specific requirement of FZD7 for the migration of human GC cells we formed in vitro transwell migration assays on MKN28 and MKN45 GC cells transfected with shFZD7 or shSCRAMBLED control. For both MKN28 and MKN45 cells, FZD7 knockdown cells displayed a significant reduction in their ability to migrate through the pores of the filter membrane (Figure 4.11). This illustrates that FZD7 is a key player in regulating the motility of GC cells.

Another key property of metastatic cancer cells is their ability to invade into tissue. Therefore, the ability of human GC cells to invade was investigated through transwell invasion assays. Both human GC cell lines transfected with shFZD7 had a significantly decreased ability to invade through the Matrigel layer above the filter membrane compared to shSCRAMBLED control (Figure 4.12). This demonstrates that FZD7 regulates GC cells ability to invade.

These data suggest that FZD7 is the predominant Wnt receptor transmitting oncogenic Wnt signalling that regulates GC cells ability to migrate and invade. Therefore, targeting FZD7 may be an attractive therapeutic target to treat metastatic GC.



Figure 4.11 FZD7-knockdown suppresses GC migration. (A) Knock-down of FZD7 in both MKN28 and MKN45 GC cells significantly reduced their ability to migrate *in vitro* compared to control. (B) Representative images of GC cells, stained with crystal violet, on the underside of the filter membrane. Experiments were performed in duplicate and three random fields of view per replicate were counted by eye and the average taken. (**= p ≤0.01, mean ± SEM, t-test, n=3)



Figure 4.12 FZD7-knockdown suppresses GC invasion. (A) Knock-down of FZD7 in both MKN28 and MKN45 GC cells significantly reduced their ability to invade *in vitro* compared to control. (B) Representative images of GC cells, stained with crystal violet, on the underside of the filter membrane after invading through a Matrigel layer. Experiments were performed in duplicate and three random fields of view per replicate were counted by eye and the average taken. (**= p ≤0.01, mean ± SEM, t-test, n=3)

The following was planned but could not be completed due to COVID19 lockdown:

To determine if FZD7 was the predominant receptor regulating the process of EMT fluorescent immunocytochemistry was going to be utilized. GC cells deficient for FZD7 (via transfection with shFZD7) would have been stained for a range of mesenchymal and epithelial markers following induction of EMT. This could have complimented the results presented in chapter 3.

To assess if the FZD7-knockdown phenotype observed in the migration and invasion *in vitro* assays could be rescued by overexpression of FZD7. The assays were to be repeated with the additional conditions of: shFZD7 only, FZD7-overexpression plasmid and co-transfection of shFZD7 and FZD7-overexpression plasmid.

4.3 Discussion

Metastasis is a characteristic of late stage cancer and remains a major challenge to therapy. This is due to an incomplete understanding of this highly complex pathological process. Metastatic cancer cells are able to acquire four key hallmarks of metastasis that are essential for all metastases to develop: Motility and invasion, modulation of the microenvironment, plasticity, and ability to colonize (Welch and Hurst, 2019). Investigations into these key traits of metastatic cancer cells will lead to a better understanding of the process and push forward the development of therapeutic interventions.

This is especially important in GC as metastasis is the primary reason of death in GC patients, but the underlying mechanisms remain unclear and treatments are still limited. Therefore, it is urgent to investigate the molecular process of GC metastasis to lead to the identification of novel therapeutic targets to bring about a benefit for patients. As highlighted in chapter 2 the Wnt/B-catenin signaling pathway is a potent pathway for GC pathogenesis and growth, with FZD7 acting as the predominant receptor transmitting oncogenic signals. Wnt signalling has also been implemented in GC metastasis, with the upregulation of FZD7 associated with poor prognosis in advanced cases (Li et al., 2018) although there are currently limited studies on how Wnt signalling drives metastatic GC.

Recently, cancer stem cell (CSC) hypotheses are attracting increasing attention with research suggesting that CSCs contribute to tumour aggressiveness, metastasis and relapse (Yu et al., 2012b). CSC possess the ability to self-renew and differentiate into multiple lineages (Dalerba et al., 2007) and have been identified in several types of solid cancer including GC (Takaishi et al., 2009). It has been shown that FZD7 regulates a population of CSC in GC, although unlike the intestine, this exact population of CSC has not been identified (Flanagan et al., 2019b). Our results from chapter 2 support the hypothesis that FZD7 is regulating a population of gastric CSCs as knockdown of FZD7 in GC cell lines resulted in a reduced colony forming ability; this illustrates that FZD7 is

likely regulating the CSC activity. Therefore, the role of FZD7 in regulating a population of stem cells with the ability for self-renewal, and therefore metastatic potential, make it an enticing target for treating metastatic GC.

The role of FZD7 in metastasis has been highlighted in many other cancers. For example, it has been shown to promote tumour metastasis via the Wnt pathway in esophageal squamous cell carcinoma (Cao et al., 2017) and down-regulation of FZD7 was shown to decrease the metastatic capabilities of CRC cells (Ueno et al., 2009). However, the function of FZD7 in GC metastasis has not been thoroughly investigated. This chapter has shown that FZD receptors contribute to the migratory and invasive abilities of GC cells and elucidated that FZD7 is the likely Wnt receptor transmitting aberrant signalling in human GC cells, thus, enabling GC metastasis. It is important to highlight that specific knockdown of FZD7 gave similar effects to OMP-18R5 and LGK-974 treatment, this suggests a non-redundant role for FZD7. Furthermore, within our GC cell lines used only a small group of FZD receptors were abundantly expressed (FZD6 and 7) and of these, OMP-18R5 only blocks FZD7. We have also shown that FZD receptors play a key role in the regulation of the EMT process and could be an attractive therapeutic target in preventing GC cells ability to gain an invasive phenotype.

Accumulating evidence associates Wnt signalling with the regulation of cancer cell migration and invasion in many cancers (Nusse and Clevers, 2017). FZD2 has been shown to contribute to the migration and invasion of endometrial cancer cells, with overexpression promoting migration through the canonical Wnt pathway (Bian et al., 2016). Additionally, FZD2 blockage by siRNA reduced neuroblastoma cells motility and induced a less vascularized phenotype (Zins et al., 2016), demonstrating that cell migration can be modulated by regulation of the Wnt receptors. More recently, overexpression of FZD8 was shown to increase prostate cancer cell migration and invasion *in vitro* and *in vivo* by the activation of the Wnt/β-catenin signalling pathway (Li et al., 2017). Furthermore, shRNA-mediated knockdown of FZD7 has been reported to inhibit invasion and migration of cervical cancer cells (Deng et al., 2015) This evidence

in combination of our data supports a role for Wnt-regulated migration and invasion in GC. The results presented in this thesis strongly suggest that FZD7 is playing a functional role in the regulation of GC cells migration and invasion.

Our results demonstrating that inhibiting FZD7 suppressed migration and invasion were observed in both MKN45 (APC-WT) and MKN28 (APC-Mut) GC cell lines, highlighting that APC mutational status is not a rate-limiting factor for targeting Wnt ligands/receptors in metastatic GC. This further builds on the results presented in chapter 2 in confirming that modulating the Wnt signalling pathway at the level of the receptor in cells with downstream mutations is a viable therapeutic strategy for GC metastasis.

The process of EMT is a key step in metastasis that provides primary tumour cells with the properties required to invade their surrounding microenvironment and spread to distal sites and form micro-metastases. Wnt signalling has been reported to promote EMT through up-regulating mesenchymal transcription factors, such as Slug and Twist (DiMeo et al., 2009). Similarly, FZD receptors are known as critical factors for EMT processes. Wnt5a-FZD2-mediated non-canonical signalling has been demonstrated to drive EMT in liver, lung, colon and breast cancer cell lines (Gujral et al., 2014). FZD4 ablation induces active B1-integrin and E-cadherin expression, confirming that FZD4 regulates EMT and cell adhesion in prostate cancer cells (Gupta et al., 2010). Similar to our EMT data presented in this chapter recent investigations have shown that down-regulation of FZD7 expression significantly inhibits cell invasion and migration, accompanied with decreased vimentin and snail, and increased E-cadherin in cervical and ovarian cancers (Asad et al., 2014; Deng et al., 2015). Despite the clear importance of the role of FZD receptors in mediating EMT, limited research has been undertaken in GC. Our study demonstrated that inhibition of FZD receptors, through treatment with OMP-185R, caused an increase of E-cadherin expression along with decreases of Ncadherin, snail, slug, twist, and vimentin. Snail expression has been shown to cause the stabilization of B-catenin leading to the expansion of the stem cell

niche in CRC (Hwang et al., 2014). Together, these observations suggest that EMT induces stemness in invasive cancer cells. These findings provide evidence that FZD receptors can induce EMT and promote metastases in GC cells, even in cells with a mutation to intracellular APC. It is likely, given the gene expression analysis performed in chapter 3 (Figure 3.2) that of the 5 FZD receptors blocked by OMP-18R5, FZD7 is the predominant receptor transmitting Wnt signals to regulate EMT. Therefore, targeting FZD receptors/FZD7 to inhibit EMT or inducing mesenchymal-epithelial-transition (MET) might be an attractive therapeutic strategy.

There is also accumulating evidence showing the requirement of MET in the colonization and metastasis of carcinomas, for example, loss of the EMT transcription factor Prrx1 in breast cancer cells induces MET and leads to the establishment of a CSC niche which was required for metastasis (Ocaña et al., 2012; Stankic et al., 2013). In squamous cell carcinoma, Twist1-mediated EMT was necessary for primary tumour cells to invade local tissue, similar to the increase observed in Twist1 expression in our data. However, the silencing of Twist-1 and the re-acquisition of E-cadherin was necessary for the colonization in the distant tissue (Tsai et al., 2012). Therefore, targeting EMT alone might be counterproductive, unless the exact timing could be controlled which is unlikely, and inhibiting both EMT and MET could however be a more promising therapeutic strategy.

The *in vivo* data presented in this chapter highlight the importance of the tumour microenvironment (TME) and metastatic niches. The *in vitro* data demonstrated that inhibiting Wnt secretion by treatment of GC cell lines with LGK-974 was sufficient to suppress migration and invasion *in vitro*. However, this result was not observed when LGK-974 was used for *in vivo* experiments. This could be due to a multitude of inter-playing factors that capture the complexity of the metastatic process from vascular system to stromal cells. However, LGK-974 has been used to significantly reduce tumour burden *in vivo* in other Wnt-driven cancers, although not GC (Liu et al., 2013). We may not

see a result in GC due to a different requirement of Wnt signalling, echoing the "just right" model of Wnt (Albuguergue et al., 2002). Additionally, it has been shown in APC mutant CRC cells that Wnt signalling could be modulated at receptor level, via LRP5 knockdown, but treatment with a porcupine inhibitor (Similar to LGK-974) had no effect on Wnt signalling on the same cells (Saito-Diaz et al., 2018). This suggests that some Wnt-driven cancers can have ligandindependent activation of Wnt receptors and downstream signalling but still be modulated at the level of the receptor. Therefore, in the *in vivo* GC model, Wnt ligands may be redundant in the LRP5-FZD-WNT signalosome and this will need to be investigated further. Although we observed an effect of LGK-974 on our GC cells in vitro, the results observed in the in vivo model are more likely to be more representative of clinical GC due existence of a tumour microenvironment. It will be worth optimizing the in vivo model as although no significant difference between LGK-974-treated and vehicle-treated cohorts was observed, they seem to be a slight trend for smaller tumour burdens in LGK-974-treated cohorts. Therefore, adjusting the dosing regime and experiment length may be required to ensure full drug efficacy in an in vivo setting.

As LGK-974 has been shown to be effective in other cancers, it is possible there is something unique about the peritoneal niche for GC. There is very limited research into molecular alternations that facilitate intraperitoneal spread of GC, however, increased expression of connexin 43 (gap-junction protein) has been observed in GC cells that have metastasized into the peritoneal cavity. Overexpression of connexin 43 enhanced their intercellular communication with peritoneal mesothelial cells, which in turn accelerated the infiltration of GC cells into the peritoneal mesothelium for further colonization (Tang et al., 2013). This suggests that further investigations on GC cells seeding onto the lining mesothelial layer may be beneficial. Interestingly, a recent paper has shown that stromal Wnt is required for stem cell activity in the stomach in mice (Kim et al., 2020). Single cell transcriptome analysis identified conserved

stromal cell populations that expressed Wnt ligands. This highlights the importance of investigating the stoma in more details could suggest that Wnt may be deregulated in the stroma of gastric tumours in humans.

Other than the peritoneum, the liver is a common site of GC metastasis. A recent study has revealed a positive feedback loop between cancer-associated fibroblast and tumour cells in the liver metastasis niche of GC (Li et al., 2019a). This highlights the importance of understanding the complex cross-talk among the different cells involved in the TME, especially to better understand the role of TME in cells metastasis ability.

A major hurdle in the study of tumour metastasis is the lack of a mouse model with a competent immune system that can mimic the entire metastatic cascade. The most common model in the field is the experimental metastasis model, whereby, cancer cells are injected into the tail vein of mice to travel through the circulation and form metastases at distant organs, most commonly the lungs. While this model has provided valuable insights, it omits the first stages of the metastatic cascade: Detachment from the primary tumour and intravasation. For GC, this model is not well suited due to the most common form of metastasis being peritoneal dissemination (Mura and Verdelli, 2016) not hematogenous metastasis. Other groups have attempted to use orthotopic models, however the engraftment success of GC in mice is very low (Nguyen et al., 2017) and they are accurate representations are cells or PDXs are injected into the outer serosa layer of the stomach (Busuttil et al., 2018). This leaves only the thin outer serosa layer for the cells to invade through, whereas, in human GC the cells have to invade through all layers of the stomach wall in order to metastasize. Therefore, our model of GC peritoneal dissemination was the most accurate in vivo model available to us until better models of cancer metastasis are developed.

While the *in vivo* model involves directly injecting GC cells into the peritoneum, thus replicating the later stages of the metastatic cascade, the *in vitro* migration and invasion assays reflect the earlier stages. Therefore, the

migration and invasion regulation by FZD7 observed in these *in vitro* experiments may be most important in these earlier stages to allow GC cells to leave the primary gastric tumour. Whereas, the *in vivo* assay was focused at the end stage of metastasis when the cancer cells seed at a new site. Therefore, the difference in the *in vitro* and *in vivo* results may be reflected in the fact that Wnt regulation is different at the beginning of metastasis to that at the end and thus require different signalling. Our results could suggest that Wnt/FZD7 may regulate the very early stages of metastatic GC cells leaving the primary tumour. To investigate this, researchers require a new genetically engineered mouse model (GEMM) in which the primary tumour develops through to the invasive stages with mice developing metastasis to clinically relevant secondary sites. At present these GEMMs do not exist.

4.4 Conclusions

GC metastasis remains a huge public health burden and a number of fundamental questions concerning the mechanism of GC metastasis are still unanswered. The findings presented in this chapter have provided a path to reduce GC cell migration, invasion, and activation of EMT via targeted inhibition of Wnt receptors, both genetically and pharmacologically. We have demonstrated that modulating the Wnt signalosome can further regulate Wnt signalling irrespective of downstream mutations and, therefore, reduce GC cells ability to metastasis. We have also highlighted the urgent need to investigate the TME to understand the complex cross-talk enabling metastasis. These findings provide an attractive target, FZD7, as a novel therapeutic target for the treatment of advanced and metastatic GC.

Chapter 5: Characterization of RNF43^{-/-} / ZNRF3^{-/-}

5.1 Introduction

Wnt-induced ß-catenin-mediated transcription is a well-established driving force for stem cell self-renewal during adult tissue homeostasis, with aberrant Wnt/ß-catenin signalling being a major player behind tumourigenesis. In the previous chapters we have shown that modulation of the Wnt signalosome can inhibit constitutively activated Wnt signalling regardless of the mutational status of downstream components such as APC. This chapter investigates how Wnt is deregulated at the level of the receptor/ligand, we have previously shown that FZD7 plays an important role in GC but how FZD7 is becoming deregulated is still not known. A key player involved in FZD regulation and located at the plasma membrane are the E3 ligases RNF43 and ZNRF3. RNF43 regulates FZD turnover on the plasma membrane and therefore this chapter aims to investigate the functional significance of RNF43/ZNRF3 loss of function in the context of GC.

In a non-pathological setting RNF43, and its functional homologue ZNRF3, act as a negative regulator of the Wnt pathway and play as role as a tumour suppressor (Koo et al., 2012); RNF43 and ZNRF3 share moderate sequence conservation of 39% identity between the two proteins (Zebisch et al., 2013). In the absence of R-spondin (agonist of the canonical Wnt signalling), activation of the Wnt signalling pathway results in activation of target genes, including RNF43/ZNRF3 (Hao et al., 2012). Upon their integration on the cell membrane, they ubiquitinate the Wnt receptor complex, FZD-LRP5/6, which leads to its internalization and lysosomal degradation (Figure 5.1) (Koo et al., 2012); this negative feedback loop functionally limits Wnt signalling. This was demonstrated by simultaneous knockout of RNF43 and ZNRF3 in the mouse intestine which resulted in strong proliferation of the stem cell compartment (Koo et al., 2012). Interestingly, loss of function (LOF) mutations to RNF43/ZNRF3 only lead to Wnt hypersensitivity in the respective cell, and therefore, the presence of Wnt is still essential to induce hyperproliferation. This is in contrast to LOF mutations to other Wnt pathway negative regulators

Chapter 5: Characterization of RNF43^{-/-}/ ZNRF3^{-/-} Gastric Tumours

downstream of the receptor complex, such as APC, whose downregulation or complete knockout can autonomously promote cell proliferation (Hao et al., 2012; Koo et al., 2012), however this can still be modulated by activation/inhibition of upstream components such as Wnt ligands and FZD receptor availability(Flanagan et al., 2019c). Additionally, RNF43 can itself be targeted for removal from the cell surface through interaction with R-spondin, whereby it forms a tertiary complex with Lgr4/5 which induces ubiquitination and membrane clearance of RNF43. This results in increased cell surface level of FZD and the re-accumulation of Wnt at the cell surface with consequent enhancement of Wnt signalling (Serra and Chetty, 2018). Additionally, it has been shown that RNF43 physically interacts with TCF4 in cells and tethers TCF4 to the nuclear membrane, thus silencing TCF4 transcriptional activity even in the presence of constitutively active mutants of B-catenin (Loregger et al., 2015). This demonstrates multiple mechanisms in which RNF43 can mediate Wnt signalling, both upstream and downstream of intracellular Wnt pathway components.



Figure 5.1 PORCNi mechanism of action in LOF RNF43 cells. (Left) RNF43 performs a bifunctional tumour suppressor role by 1. Targeting Wnt receptors for endocytosis and lysosomal degradation, and 2. By transiently interacting with the destruction complex to reconstitute its activity in the cytosol and re-establish Wnt pathway inhibition. (Middle) LOF mutations prevent RNF43 function at the plasma membrane, leading to Wnt receptor overexpression and consequently hypersensitivity of cancer cells to Wnt. (Right) Wnts are post-translationally palmitoleated by PORCN in the ER, which is crucial for their interation with Wntless that transports them to the plasma membrane. PORCNi (Such as LGK-974) prevent the palmitoleation of all Wnts, thus preventing their interation with Wntless and subsequently their transport. Therefore, despite overexpression of FZD receptors there are no availible Wnts to initiate Wnt signalling and Wnt target genes are not transcribed.

Mutations in *RNF43* have been reported in several solid cancers, such as colorectal (Eto et al., 2018; Lai et al., 2019; Yan et al., 2017a), gastric (Wang et al., 2014b), pancreatic (Jiang et al., 2013), ovarian (Ryland et al., 2013), and endometrial (Giannakis et al., 2014). Inactivation of RNF43 through *RNF43* mutation is one of the primary causes of permanent activation of the Wnt signalling pathway through enhanced FZD receptor expression (Serra and Chetty, 2018). Identified RNF43 mutations are most commonly truncating events: non-sense mutations and frame-shift mutations, consistent with the tumour suppressor role of RNF43. There are two recurrent hotspot mutations within *RNF43*: G659fs and R117fs, accounting for ~50% of RNF43 mutations in colon cancer (Giannakis et al., 2014). Since RNF43 are often in tumours with high mutational burdens, they may not be considered driver mutations, however due to their frequency in many cancers, especially GC, colorectal and endometrial, RNF43 mutations may confer a fitness advantage (Giannakis et al., 2014)

Whole-genome sequencing has revealed that RNF43 is frequently mutated and subsequently downregulated in GC (Wang et al., 2014b). The most common mutation hotspots for RNF43 are located close to the microsatellite instability (MSI) loci and may explain the high frequently of RNF43 mutations in GC, due to GCs commonly being deficient in DNA mismatch repair genes, MLH1 (Shen et al., 2018). This is reflected by observation that the MSI subtype of GC has a 10-fold higher mutation frequency in RNF43 than that of microsatellite stable (MSS) subtype (54.6% versus 4.8%). Additionally, 62.5% of RNF43 mutations in GC were truncating (Figure 5.2) (Wang et al., 2014b). These data and RNF43's role as a part of the Wnt/B-catenin negative feedback loop suggests that RNF43 inactivation may result in deregulated Wnt activity in GC, thus contributing to GC initiation and progression.



Figure 5.2 Distribution of protein alterations encoded in *RNF43* **in GC.** Generated from TCGA dataset on cBioportal. Conserved domain mapping is from UniProt. SP, signal peptide; MSI, microsatellite instability; MSS, microsatellite stable. Multiple arrows indicate high frequency of mutation in gastric tumours.

Chapter 5: Characterization of RNF43^{-/-}/ ZNRF3^{-/-} Gastric Tumours

The expression level of RNF43 is significantly correlated with the stage of tumour: Low RNF43 expression is associated with low histological differentiation, bigger tumour size, deeper invasion, advanced TNM stage, and poorer prognosis for the patient (Niu et al., 2015). The poor prognosis may be linked to the fact that RNF43 has been shown to inhibit chemotherapy resistance *in vitro*, and this protective mechanism is eliminated by the loss of RNF43 (Gao et al., 2017b). Furthermore, the protecting effect of RNF43 by inhibiting the self-renewability of GC stem cells, could be partially reversed by adding R-spondin and Wnt5a *in vitro* (Gao et al., 2017b). This further supports the concept of Wnt pathway overexpression leading to GC initiation and progression.

Gastric tumours harboring RNF43 mutations become hypersensitive to Wnt due to the increased cell surface expression of FZD receptor, making FZD receptors an attractive target for treatment of tumours harbouring RNF43/ZNRF3 mutations. Furthermore RNF43 mutational status could potentially be used as a biomarker to identify Wnt-dependent tumours which would respond to treatment (Hao et al., 2016). Therefore, inhibition of Wnt secretion, via a PORCN inhibitor, is a potential therapeutic strategy for counteracting the overexpression of FZD receptors on the cell surface due to LOF mutations to RNF43/ZNRF3. However, the functional significance of RNF43/ZNRF3 first needs to be fully understood in the context of GC.

There have been very few functional investigations into RNF43's role in GC. One study has reported, through both gain- and loss-function assays that RNF43 could suppress cell proliferation and was negatively correlated with Lgr5 (Niu et al., 2015). This is supported by a more recent study which demonstrated that loss of endogenous RNF43 function enhances proliferation and tumour growth in GC (Neumeyer et al., 2019). Initially endogenous expression of RNF43 was depleted *in vitro* via transfection of GC cells with RNF43 targeted shRNA. Loss of endogenous RNF43 increased the proliferative and invasive capacity of GC cells. The effect of RNF43 loss in GC cells was also investigated *in vivo* via

xenograft models. Mice injected with RNF43-deficient GC cells developed larger tumours than those derived from respective sh-control cells. This confirmed that loss of RNF43 enhanced tumour growth. Interestingly, loss of RNF43 function *in vivo* lead to gastric hyperproliferation, and gastric organoids derived from the stomach of RNF43 mutant mice grew bigger than organoids from gastric tissue of WT-mice, suggesting that RNF43 loss leads to a hyperproliferative phenotype in the stomach. However, the authors only generated a robust mouse model using the Cre-loxP system for the intestine by introducing two loxP sites flanking the exon VIII that encode for the RING domain (Koo et al., 2012) and crossing with mice specifically expressing Cre in the intestinal epithelium. For the *in vivo* experiments examining RNF43 loss in the stomach, mutations were introduced via targeted mutagenesis; the first mutation was a 57 bp deletion in exon 8 of RNF43 and the second was two point mutations in the RING domain. While these mutations have been demonstrated to transactive Wnt signalling in vitro (Loregger et al., 2015) this has not been confirmed in vivo and is not confirmed to cause LOF to RNF43. Importantly, it has still not been functionally demonstrated that the phenotypes associated with conditional deletion of RNF43 is due to deregulation of FZD and whether the phenotypes can be rescued with co-deletion of RNF43 and a FZD gene. This would allow further characterization of GC due to loss of RNF43 and help identify which other members of the Wnt signalosome may be working together to lead to GC.

Therefore, this chapter begins to examine this by investigating the functional significance of RNF43/ZNFR3 mutations in gastric cancer development by characterization of tumours from a novel mouse model in which RNF43/ZNFR3 are conditionally deleted in the gastric epithelium.

5.2 Results

5.2.1 RNF43/ZNFR3 knockout generated gastric epithelium phenotype.

To investigate the function of *RNF43* and *ZNFR3* in the gastric epithelium, we crossed floxed *RNF43/ZNFR3* mice with Claudin18CreER^{T2} mice to enable deletion of *RNF43*, *ZNRF3* or both *RNF43* and *ZNRF3* specifically in the gastric epithelium (Figure 5.3). Claudin18 is a highly specific tight junction component of the stomach and is specifically expressed within the gastric mucosa (Coati et al., 2019). The *RNF43* gene has a loxP site inserted upstream of the exons encoding the RING finger domain and the *ZNRF3* gene has a loxP site inserted between the exons encoding the RING domain as well as a loxP site downstream of these exons. This were inserted via homologous recombination. There is no effect on *RNF43* or *ZNRF3* gene function until the locus is recombined and the mice can be bred to homozygosity.

The addition of a dTOM cassette was inserted after a STOP cassette to allow observation of recombination. Upon induction recombination was observed almost exclusively in the gastric epithelium, in both the corpus and the antrum regions (Figure 5.4). A few cells were observed in the Brunner glands; these are located in the duodenum and provide a protective function against the acidic content from the stomach by the production of mucous (Krause, 2000).

Mice were bred to generate the following cohorts: Claudin18CreERT2; *Rnf43*^{flox}; *Znrf3*^{WT}; *dTOM*^{LSL}, Claudin18CreERT2; *Rnf43*^{WT}; *Znrf3*^{Flox}; *dTOM*^{LSL} mice, and Claudin18CreERT2; *Rnf43*^{flox}; *Znrf3*^{Flox}; *dTOM*^{LSL} mice.



Figure 5.3 Breeding strategy for Claudin18CreERT2; Rnf43^{flox}; **Znrf3**^{flox}; **dTOM**^{LSL} **mice.** In the Cre mouse, the expression of Cre is under the control of a Claudin18 promoter that is specific to the cells of the gastric epithelium. The floxed target gene mouse contains LoxP sites flanking RNF43 and ZNRF3 and a dTOM reporter downstream of a STOP cassette. When the two mouse lines are bred and induced with tamoxifen the Cre enzyme recognizes the LoxP sites and deletes RNF43 and ZNRF3 only in the gastric epithelium. The target gene remains floxed and theoretically functional, in all other tissues. Cells where recombination has occurred can be tracked by the dTOM reporter.



Figure 5.4 Recombination is exclusive to the Cre^+ gastric epithelium cells. Immunohistological staining for red florescent protein in the gastric epithelium following short-term induction with tamoxifen. No staining was observed in gastric epithelium of mice who were negative for Cre. Full recombination was observed in both the antral and corpal glands in Cre⁺ mice. Scale bar= 100 μ m

Mice were induced with tamoxifen 1x daily for 4 days. 140 days after induction, Claudin18CreER^{T2}; Rnf43flox; Znrf3flox; dTOM^{LSL} mice homozygous for RNF43 and ZNRF3 began to show signs of sickness, such as: cold feet, rough coat, hunched posture and weight loss. Mice from all cohorts were sacrificed and dissected at this 140-day time point. The gastric epithelium from RNF43^{-/-}/ ZNRF3^{-/-} mice displayed a phenotype unique from WT mice. The gastric epithelium of RNF43^{-/-}/ ZNRF3^{-/-} mice showed signs of uncontrolled proliferation as the surface was significantly raised with ridges and lumps indicative of gastric tumours (Figure 5.5). Mice homozygous for a single E3 ligase (RNF43 or ZNRF3) showed a less severe phenotype with the presence of metaplasia, with the biggest change compared to WT mice observed in the corpus region (Figure 5.5). Stomach weight relative to total body weight were calculated per mouse. The RNF43^{-/-}/ZNRF3^{-/-} cohort had significantly heavier stomachs compared to the WT cohort. Both the *RNF43^{-/-}* and *ZNRF3^{-/-}* cohorts did not have a significant difference in stomach weight compared to the WT control cohort (Figure 5.6).

Hematoxylin and eosin (H&E) staining of the gastric epithelium of the *RNF43^{-/-}* / *ZNRF3^{-/-}* cohort displayed a substantial lack of differentiated cells in the corpus region and large growths compared to the WT cohort (Fig 5.7-9) Additionally the antrum region also displayed signs of uncontrolled proliferation and lack of differentiation within the gastric glands (Figure 5.7-9). H&E staining did not reveal any gross differences between the epithelium of the WT mice and the single *RNF43^{-/-}* or *ZNRF3^{-/-}* cohorts (Figure 5.7). However, tumourigenic lesions were observed in *RNF43^{-/-}* (Figure 5.8-9) suggestive of early neoplasms.

Chapter 5: Characterization of RNF43^{-/-}/ ZNRF3^{-/-} Gastric Tumours



WT



RNF43-/-/ ZNRF3-/-



RNF43-/-



ZNRF3^{-/-}

Figure 5.5 Stomach dissections from 140 post-induction mice. 140 days following induction with tamoxifen mice were sacrificed and their stomachs harvested and dissected. Stomachs from RNF43^{-/-}/ ZNRF3^{-/-} mice had evidence of gastric tumours and a thick layer of mucous. Stomachs from the single knockout mice displayed evidence of mild metaplasia.



Figure 5.6 Average stomach weight. Mice were weighed before being sacrificed and their final body weight was recorded. Harvested stomachs were weighted and the stomach weight as a percentage of their body weight was calculated. RNF43^{-/-} / ZNRF3^{-/-} stomachs had significantly larger stomachs compared to WT control. (**= $p \le 0.01$, mean ± SEM, t-test, n=6 mice per cohort).



Chapter 5: Characterization of RNF43^{-/-}/ ZNRF3^{-/-} Gastric Tumours

Figure 5.7 Tumours present in the gastric epithelium of RNF43^{-/-}/**ZNRF3**^{-/-} **mice.** H&E staining of the gastric epithelium from WT, RNF43^{-/-}, ZNRF3^{-/-} and RNF43^{-/-}/ ZNRF3^{-/-} mice. Presence of tumours can be seen in the corpus & antrum region of the RNF43^{-/-}/ZNRF3^{-/-} mice, Scale bar= 100 μm.

Chapter 5: Characterization of RNF43^{-/-}/ZNRF3^{-/-} Gastric Tumours



Figure 5.8 Tumours present in the gastric epithelium of RNF43^{-/-}/ZNRF3^{-/-} mice. Additional images of H&E staining of the gastric epithelium from RNF43^{-/-}/ZNRF3^{-/-} mice. Presence of tumours can be seen in the corpus region of the and RNF43^{-/-}/ZNRF3^{-/-} mice and absence of tumours in the antrum region. Scale bar= 500 μ m.

Chapter 5: Characterization of RNF43^{-/-}/ZNRF3^{-/-} Gastric Tumours



Figure 5.9 Tumours present in the gastric epithelium of RNF43^{-/-}/ZNRF3^{-/-} mice. Additional images of H&E staining of the gastric epithelium from RNF43^{-/-}/ZNRF3^{-/-} mice. Presence of tumours can be seen in the corpus region of the and RNF43^{-/-}/ZNRF3^{-/-} mice and absence of tumours in the antrum region. Scale bar= 200 μ m.

5.2.2 Characterization of *RNF43^{-/-}/ ZNRF3^{-/-}* gastric tumours.

The observation that the gastric epithelium in which RNF43 and ZNRF3 had been conditionally deleted displayed signs of increased proliferation and loss of differentiation indicated the possibility that gastric epithelial homeostasis is acutely disrupted and the initiation of GC has taken place. To further test this possibility sections from tamoxifen induced *Claudin1*8CreER^{T2} ; Rnf43^{fl/fl}, Claudin18CreER^{T2}; Znrf3^{fl/fl}, and Claudin18CreER^{T2}; Rnf43^{fl/fl}; *Znrf3*^{*fl*/*fl*} mice were immunohistochemically labelled for makers of proliferation (PCNA), differentiation (H^+/K^+ ATPase), apoptosis (cleaved-caspase 3) and active Wnt signalling (B-catenin). Sections from tamoxifen induced *Claudin18*CreER^{T2}; *Rnf43*^{*fl/fl*}; *Znrf3*^{*fl/fl*} mice stained for PCNA had increased expression throughout the whole gastric gland compared to tamoxifen induced Cre-negative control (Figure 5.10 & 5.12). This was quantified and demonstrated that $Rnf43^{fl/fl}$; $Znrf3^{fl/fl}$ mice had 80% PCNA-positive cells compared to 20% PCNA-positive in WT mice (Figure 5.11). PCNA expression was also increased in induced $Rnf43^{fl/fl}$ mice outside of the proliferation zones (Figure 5.12) and a significant increase in PCNA-positive cells compared to WT (Figure 5.11); this mislocalisation of proliferating cells is suggestive of a proneoplastic environment in the epithelium. No change in PCNA expression was observed in Znrf3^{fl/fl} mice (Figure 5.10 & 5.12). This was reflected in quantification of PCNA-positive stained cells (Figure 5.11).

H⁺/K⁺ ATPase is a proton pump that is specific to the parietal cells, and therefore the corpal epithelium of the stomach. Additionally, parietal cell loss is a precursor to SPEM, a step in the pathogenesis of GC. As expected, sections from WT mice stained positively for H⁺/K⁺ ATPase expression in the corpus and negatively for H⁺/K⁺ ATPase in antrum (Figure 5.13). Sections from *Rnf43^{fl/fl}* mice displayed a decrease in expression of H⁺/K⁺ ATPase on the luminal half of the corpal epithelium (Figure 5.10 & 5.14) confirmed by quantification showing an approximately 50% decrease of parietal cells compared to WT (Figure 5.11). No significant changes were observed in the expression of H⁺/K⁺ ATPase in the

Chapter 5: Characterization of RNF43^{-/-}/ ZNRF3^{-/-} Gastric Tumours

Znrf3^{*fl/fl*} mice (Figure 5.10 & 5.11). Sections from *Rnf43*^{*fl/fl*}; *Znrf3*^{*fl/fl*} mice showed an almost complete loss of H⁺/K⁺ ATPase expression in the corpal tumours, illustrating loss of parietal cells (Figure 5.10 & 5.14). The percentage of positively-stained H⁺/K⁺ ATPase reduced from an average of 93% in the WT mice to an average of 5% in the *Rnf43*^{*fl/fl*}; *Znrf3*^{*fl/fl*} mice (Figure 5.11).

Only sections from *Claudin1*8CreER^{T2}; $Rnf43^{fl/fl}$; $Znrf3^{fl/fl}$ mice showed the presence of rare caspase-3 ('apoptotic') positive cells (Figure 5.10 and 5.11).

Staining for B-catenin was similar between WT mice and $Znrf3^{fl/fl}$ mice, with mostly membrane staining (Figure 5.15). A significant increase in B-catenin was observed in $Rnf43^{fl/fl}$ and $Rnf43^{fl/fl}$; $Znrf3^{fl/fl}$ mice which demonstrates active Wnt signalling (Figure 5.10 & 5.15). The largest change in B-catenin was in the $Rnf43^{fl/fl}$; $Znrf3^{fl/fl}$ mice with 90% positive cells in (Figure 5.11). 30% of cells stained positivity for B-catenin in the $Rnf43^{fl/fl}$ mice (Figure 5.11).



Figure 5.10 RNF43^{-/-}/ ZNRF3^{-/-} mice display a GC phenotype. RNF43^{-/-}/ ZNRF3^{-/-} mice showed the biggest change in expression of various markers compared to WT and single knockout cohorts. RNF43^{-/-}/ ZNRF3^{-/-} tumours stained strongly for β-catenin and PCNA, showed evidence of rare caspase-3 positive cells and showed a decrease in expression of H⁺/K⁺ ATPase compared to WT mice, indicating parietal cell loss. Scale bar= 100/200 µm.



Figure 5.11 Loss of RNF43 leads to GC phenotype. Quantification of IHC stains from Figure 4.10. Cells were counted in three fields of view (1000 cells counted per view) and the percentage of positive cells calculated. (**= $p \le 0.01$, ****= $p \le 0.0001$, mean ± SEM, t-test, n=3)





Figure 5.12 PCNA staining in *RNF43/ZNRF3*-deficient mice. Staining for PCNA, a marker of proliferating cells, in the gastric epithelium of WT, RNF43^{-/-}, ZNRF3^{-/-}, and RNF43^{-/-} ZNRF3^{-/-} mice. Abundant PCNA staining was observed in mice deficient in both RNF43 and ZNRF3. RNF43^{-/-} mice displayed mislocalisation of proliferating cells outside the gastric proliferative zone. Brackets indicate gastric proliferative zone. Scale bar= 200 μ m.



H⁺/K⁺ ATPase

Figure 5.13 H⁺/K⁺ ATPase expression only present in the corpus region of gastric epithelium. Staining for H⁺/K⁺ ATPase in the gastric epithelium of WT mice. Staining only observed in the corpus region confirming the specificity of the antibody and validity of the ICH. Scale bar= 100 μ m.



H⁺/K⁺ ATPase




β-catenin



To confirm if aberrant Wnt signalling was contributing to the development of gastric tumours following conditional deletion of *RNF43* and *ZNRF3* in *Claudin1*8CreER^{T2} mice, the expression of several Wnt /B-catenin target genes were analyzed. Total RNA prepared from extracted corpal epithelial cells from tamoxifen induced *Claudin1*8CreER^{T2}; Rnf43flox, *Claudin1*8CreER^{T2}; Znrf3flox, *Claudin1*8CreER^{T2}; Rnf43flox; Znrf3flox, and WT mice was analyzed by qRT-PCR. No significant changes were observed across all Wnt target genes (*Myc*, *AXIN2*, *CD44*, *LGR5*, and *CCND1*) in the *RNF43^{fU/fl}* or *ZNRF3^{fU/fl}* mice compared to tamoxifen induced WT control, suggesting that conditional deletion of just one E3 ligase is not sufficient to induce Wnt signalling (Figure 5.16). There was a significant increase in expression of all Wnt target genes (*Myc*, *Axin2*, *CD44*, *LGR5*, and *CCND1*) in the *RNF43^{fU/fl}* mice compared to WT control (Figure 5.16). This suggests that conditional deletion of both *RNF43* and *ZNRF3* is sufficient to initiate aberrant Wnt signalling in the corpal epithelium, which may drive tumorigenesis.

As aberrant Wnt signaling often induces feedback mechanisms to inhibit the pathway, the expression of the FZD receptor family genes (FZD1-10) was analyzed by qRT-PCR to assess if conditional deletion of *RNF43* and/or *ZNRF3* changed the transcript level expression of FZD receptors. Interestingly, only the expression of *Fzd7* was upregulated in *RNF43*^{fl/fl}, *ZNRF3*^{fl/fl}, and *RNF43*^{fl/fl}; *ZNRF3*^{fl/fl} compared to WT control. The most significant increase in *FZD7* mRNA expression was seen in the *RNF43*^{fl/fl}; *ZNRF3*^{fl/fl} cohort (Figure 5.17). This could be due to FZD7s role as a Wnt target gene.

Additional analysis to investigate the expression of markers of proliferation, apoptosis and differentiation were about to be performed to support the IHC in Figure 5.10 but were prevented due to the COVID19 lockdown. This would have further characterized the gastric tumour and aberrant gastric epithelium to yield a more complete understanding of the changes caused by RNF43/ZNRF3 knockout.



Figure 5.16 RNF43/ZNRF3 knockout increases Wnt target genes. qRT-PCR analysis for the expression of Wnt target genes on RNA extracted from the epithelial cells of the corpus. RNA from the RNF43^{-/-}/znrf3^{-/-} cohort had significantly increased expression of all Wnt target genes compared WT control cohorts. No significant change in expression was observed in the single knockout cohorts. Normalized to GAPDH. (**=p≤0.01, ****= p ≤0.0001, mean ± SEM, t-test, n=6 mice)



Figure 5.17 FZD7 expression increased in RNF43 mutant mice. qRT-PCR analysis for the expression of FZD genes on RNA extracted from the epithelial cells of the corpus. RNA from the RNF43^{-/-}/znrf3^{-/-} cohort had significantly increased expression FZD7 compared WT control cohorts. A significant increase in FZD7 expression was also observed in the single knockout cohorts. Normalized to GAPDH. (**=p≤0.01, ****= p ≤0.0001, mean ± SEM, t-test, n=6 mice)

5.2.3 Co-deletion of *RNF43* and *FZD7* may rescue *RNF43*^{fl/fl} phenotype.

To investigate if the phenotypes associated with conditional deletion of *RNF43* are due to deregulation of *FZD7* and therefore if the phenotype can be rescued with co-deletion of *RNF43* and *FZD7*; *Claudin18*CreER^{T2}; Rnf43flox; Znrf3flox; dTOM^{LSL} mice have been crossed with floxed *FZD7* mice (Figure 5.18). This could functionally confirm if the tumourigenesis observed when *Rnf43* and *Znrf3* are deleted in the stomach is specifically due to deregulated Fzd7, which we have previously shown is important for transmitting oncogenic Wnt signalling in the stomach.

The *Claudin18*CreER^{T2}; Rnf43flox; Znrf3flox; *Fzd7*flox; dTOM^{LSL} have been bred but induction was not carried out as planned due to the COVID19 pandemic lockdown. This set of experiments would have confirmed the relationship between RNF43 and FZD7 and provided mechanistic insights into the molecular pathogenesis of GC.



Figure 5.18. FZD7 deletion may rescue RNF43-mutant GC phenotype. Breeding strategy for *Claudin18*CreER^{T2}; Rnf43flox; Znrf3flox; *Fzd7*flox; dTOM^{LSL} cohort. The additional conditional deletion of *FZD7* should rescue the phenotype we have demonstrated following conditional deletion of *RNF43* and *ZNRF3*.

5.3 Discussion

RNF43, and its homologue ZNRF3, are integral E3 ubiquitin ligases located in the transmembrane region. They are responsible for ubiquitylating cytoplasmic sites on FZD receptors which drives FZD lysosomal degradation and negatively regulates its abundance at the cell surface (Hao et al., 2012; Koo et al., 2012). The activity of RNF43 and ZNRF3 at the cell surface is regulated by R-Spondin ligands and the co-receptors LGR5/6 (Carmon et al., 2011), with the of LGR-RSPO-RNF43/ZNRF3 heterotrimeric complex inhibiting the ubiguitylation of FZD and increasing the FZD cell surface abundance and cellular sensitivity to Wnts. This is clinically relevant since LOF mutations to *RNF43* are found in multiple Wnt-addicted cancer types (Madan et al., 2016; Wang et al., 2014b)

A key goal of precision medicine is to identify actionable mutations that will allow patient stratification and improved clinical outcome. LOF RNF43 mutation may be a potential actionable mutation for many cancers since LOF RNF43 mutations drive progression by increasing cellular sensitivity to Wnt ligands. Therefore, these cancers are uniquely sensitive to inhibitors that block Wnt secretion, such as PORCNi. LGK-974 (a PORCNi) has been demonstrated to have an anti-tumour response in *in vivo* breast, pancreas, and head and neck cancers (Blagodatski et al., 2014). Importantly, all LGK974-sensitive pancreatic cell lines carried a LOF mutation in the *RNF43* gene (Liu et al., 2013). Therefore, as PORCNi and other upstream inhibitors, such as OMP-18R5, enter and progress through clinical trials it is important to identify the right patients to treat with these upstream Wnt inhibitors. A phase I evaluation of LGK-974 is currently underway (NCT01351103) recruiting patients with melanoma, breast, and pancreatic cancer. Hence a comprehensive understanding of RNF43s role in GC is required.

This treatment stagey has potential to be a viable option in Wnt-addicted GCs. Through whole-genome sequencing analysis, RNF43 has been found to be frequently mutated in GC: RNF43 was mutated in 4.8% of MSS tumours and

Chapter 5: Characterization of RNF43^{-/-}/ZNRF3^{-/-} Gastric Tumours

54.6% of MSI tumours, 62.5% of which were truncating mutations (Wang et al., 2014b). However, RNA-SEQ analysis from the TCGA-STAD (stomach adenocarcinoma, cancer.gov/tcga) dataset reported that expression of RNF43 was slightly up-regulated compared to normal tissues. However this dataset contained 375 tumour samples and only 32 normal samples, additionally "normal" samples were obtained from adjacent mucosa, which may have their own unique transcriptome resulting from a crosstalk between tumor and adjacent tissue (Russi et al., 2019).

Conversely, in line with the whole-genome sequencing analysis study by Wang et al, a small study looking at GC tissue with matched tissue reported, through gRT-PCR and western blotting, that both RNF43 mRNA and protein was downregulated in GC tissue and GC cell lines compared to normal gastric tissue (Niu et al., 2015). Furthermore, RNF43 expression was found to be absent in 48.39% (15/31) of the stage II GC tissues and 96.67% (29/30) of the stage III GC tissues (Niu et al., 2015). This was further confirmed by another study reporting that RNF43 expression is decreased in GC tissue samples compared to normal gastric tissue and that loss of RNF43 lead to increased stemness of GC stem-like cells through the Wnt/B-catenin pathway (Gao et al., 2017b). The human protein atlas (Uhlén et al., 2015) reported an increase in RNF43 protein expression in GC samples, however this was only based off 12 samples (https://www.proteinatlas.org/ENSG00000108375-RNF43). Additionally, RNF43 expression was localized to the nucleus and the nuclear membrane and may be reflective of the novel alternative mechanism of RNF43-mediated Wnt inhibition, through TEF4 tethering (Loregger et al., 2015).

Evidently, a clear and comprehensive understanding of RNF43 function in GC has still not emerged. Therefore, to establish the requirement of RNF43 in GC we conditionally deleted it *in vivo*. Our results support a role for both RNF43 and ZNRF3 in the initiation of GC as co-deletion of both genes resulted in strong aggressive GC phenotype. This is in line with reported findings that loss of RNF43 in GC patients was significantly associated with poor prognosis and an

Chapter 5: Characterization of RNF43^{-/-}/ ZNRF3^{-/-} Gastric Tumours

aggressive phenotype (Gao et al., 2017b). Additionally, we have reported here that co-deletion of RNF43 and ZNRF3 resulted in the loss of parietal cells from the corpal epithelium. Loss of parietal cells is considered a key step in the pathogenesis of GC and is a pre-curser to SPEM and the transformation of metaplastic cells into neoplasia (Nam et al., 2010). We observed a thick layer of mucous in the double knockout mice which is consistent with the parietal cells being replaced by proliferating cells that secrete mucins which is frequently seen in pre-malignant SPEM lesions (Nozaki et al., 2008)

Furthermore, SPEM arises from a subpopulation of cells that express the Wnt regulated stem cell marker, Lgr5 (Barker et al., 2007). Consistent with this, we observed a significant increase in Lgr5 mRNA expression in the corpal epithelium from the RNF43/ZNRF3 knockout mice. This suggests that loss of RNF43/ZNRF3 leads to an increase in Lgr5+ cells that promote SPEM that persists into a cancerous lesion. The negative correlation between RNF43/ZNRF43 and Lgr5 that we have overserved is further supported by a study which also observed a negative correlation between the two (Niu et al., 2015). They knocked-down RNF43 in GC cells via targeted shRNA and demonstrated that the protein level of Lgr5 was significantly increased compared to negative control. Additionally, they saw the same increase in Lgr5 expression in normal gastric cell lines transfected with shRNF43 (Niu et al., 2015). Taken together, these data suggest that RNF43 might be inversely related to the potential of the cancer stem cell marker Lgr5 in GC. However, the exact mechanism still needs to be elucidated.

In line with the above, we saw a significant increase in all Wnt target genes following conditional deletion of RNF43/ZNRF3. This illustrates that loss of RNF43/ZNRF3 leads to strong activation of the Wnt pathway which could be driving GC initiation through the recruitment of Lgr5+ cells back into the cell division cycle, thus, promoting GC (Leushacke, 2017). This is further supported by our observation of increased PCNA staining and subsequent increased proliferation within the corpal epithelium of double-knockout mice. Loss of

RNF43/ZNRF3 is likely leading to increased expression of FZD receptors on the cell surface and propagating aberrant Wnt/B-catenin and the transcription of Wnt target genes. Therefore, RNF43-mutant GC will likely respond to PORCN inhibitors.

Despite our data and others clearing implicating LOF RNF43/ZNRF3 mutations with the development of GC and a worse prognosis for GC patients, two very recent studies have been published (after the initiation of this project) that argue the most common RNF43 mutation in many cancers, including GC, remains fully functional and does not compromise RNF43 activity (Li et al., 2020; Tu et al., 2019). The most frequent RNF43 mutation in GC is G659Vfs, present in 65% of RNF43 mutant tumours according to the data on cBioportal. This mutation results in a deletion of a G-C base pair in a 7-G repeat near the 3' end of its open reading frame (Figure 5.2). This frameshift has been thought to truncate the enzyme at Gly659 leading to an inactive enzyme and increased Wnt signalling that drive tumourigenesis (Tate et al., 2018). However, both studies argue that the majority of tumours with RNF43- G659Vfs also have low expression of MLH1, a key player in DNA mismatch repair, therefore, RNF43-G659Vfs is the result of error-prone replication of a 7-G repeat and is simply a bystander mutation (Li et al., 2020; Tu et al., 2019). Both studies utilized in vitro assays and transient transfections. Li et al., used CRISP-Cas9-medicated knockout of G659FS RNF43 expression in KM12 (CRC) cells and generated comparable mutations in HEK293T cells and assessed Wnt signalling activity via TOPflash assays. They reported that G659fs mutants demonstrated the same inhibitory effect on Wnt signalling as RNF43 WT cells (Li et al., 2020). They also assessed the ability of RNF43 truncation mutants on promoting turnover of FZD receptors through immunoblotting and co-immunoprecipitation assays. Collectively, they concluded that C-terminal truncation mutants retaining the RING domain were still effective in FZD receptor turnover when overexpressed (Li et al., 2020). Tu et al., utilized the same techniques but additionally looked at correlation of BRAF and RNF43 mutations (Tu et al., 2019). Both studies

have not elicited an underlying mechanism for how RNF43-G659Vfs mutants retain functionally.

There are several limitations to the transient transfections experiments used in the above studies such as the highly simplified promoter used the *in vitro* assay, the nature and type of the cells used, and simply the fact that the assays were performed *in vitro* while mutant tumours grow in a far more complex environment *in vivo*. For example, in the study by Li et al., they used a MSI colorectal cell line, KM12, with *APC* and *AXIN1* mutations which activate Wnt signalling downstream of FZD.

Conversely, another recent study argues in favour that frequent G659fs RNF43 mutation still leads to loss of function and increased Wnt signalling (Yu et al., 2020). Importantly unlike the previous studies, Yu et al., used in depth *in vivo* analysis of various C-terminal truncating mutations including G659fs and demonstrated them to be loss of function and potentially actionable mutations for PORCN inhibitor treatment. This study systematically examined a spectrum of 135 patient-derived RNF43 mutations from a variety of cancers and they found that all truncation or frameshift mutants are loss of function also. They also demonstrated that C-terminal truncating mutations in RNF43 lead to increased cell surface FZD expression, increased Wnt/B-catenin signalling and are responsive to therapeutic doses of PORCN inhibitors *in vivo* through patient-derived xenograft models (Yu et al., 2020). This provides clear and robust evidence of RNF43 mutation leading to loss of function of the protein and is consistent with our results.

Furthermore, novel and emerging inhibitors targeting Wnt secretion or Wnt receptors, such as the new Lrp5/6 anti-body (Fenderico et al., 2019) use RNF43 mutational status to stratify patients that will likely respond. Additionally, Anti-Lrp5/6 blocked Rnf43/Znrf3-mutant intestinal organoid growth (Fenderico et al., 2019). Together this strengthens the support that RNF43 mutations in

Chapter 5: Characterization of RNF43^{-/-}/ZNRF3^{-/-} Gastric Tumours

cancer, including GC, do in fact lead to LOF and can be exploited for therapeutic gain.

Our findings did not show any increase in Wnt target gene expression or evidence of uncontrolled proliferation in the gastric epithelium of the ZNRF3^{fl/fl} mice. This is likely due to the Rnf43/Znrf3 module harboring a strong level of functional redundancy and therefore being able to compensate for one another when one is mutated or lost. This is validated by a study in which knockout of each gene separately had no noticeable effect on mouse intestinal homeostasis whereas double knockout resulted in strong proliferation and Wnt/B-catenin activation (Koo et al., 2012). Therefore, loss of a single E3 ligase may not be sufficient to reach the threshold of active Wnt signalling required for neoplastic transformation in the gastric epithelium. Alternatively, the single mutants may need longer to develop the GC phenotype and so longer-term single knock-out experiments should be set up to investigate this. This hypothesis is supported by our data showing that single RNF43 mutant mice had significantly increased expression of B-catenin positive cells compared to WT mice. This result was not reflected in the qPCR analysis of Wnt target genes, with no significant changes in expression reported between WT and RNF43^{*fl/fl*} mice. This may be due to the Wnt threshold not being met and so despite active Wnt signalling, it is not sufficient to lead to the transcription of Wnt target genes. This would also explain why despite upregulation of FZD7 in RNF43^{*fl/fl*} mice there was no change in the expression levels of other Wnt target genes and Wnt activity. Loss of RNF43 is likely leading to a direct increase in FZD7, of which it regulates, however this is still not sufficient to cross of the threshold for gastric-specific Wnt signalling. This is a possibility as the RNF43^{fl/fl} mice had approximately 20% B-catenin positive cells compared almost 90% in the double knockout mice. This is supported by a study by Buchert *et al.*, in which they described tissue-specific response levels for the Wnt/B-catenin signalling pathway (Buchert et al., 2010). Thus further building on the "just-right" model (Albuquerque et al., 2002) where distinct dosages of Wnt activation are required to perturb the selfrenewal of stem cell populations and lead to neoplastic transformation. Furthermore, the RNF43^{*fl/fl*} mice an increase in proliferating cells outside of the gastric proliferative zones. This mislocalisation of proliferating cells is strongly suggestive of a pro-neoplastic environment in the epithelium. This paired with the active Wnt signalling not meeting the required threshold for transformation may explain why gastric tumours were not observed in the RNF43^{*fl/fl*} mice despite an increase in active Wnt signalling and proliferating cells.

Evidence strongly indicates that RNF43 mutations are loss of function and lead to the overexpression of FZD receptors on the surface. As we have demonstrated here the conditional deletion of RNF43/ZNRF3 in the gastric epithelium leads to the development of gastric tumours, therefore, it is worth investigating which FZD receptor is overexpressed and transmitting aberrant Wnt signaling in RNF43-mutant tumours. FZD7 has been shown to be the predominant FZD receptor transmitting Wnt signalling to regulate stem cell function in the gastric epithelium (Flanagan et al., 2017a) and we have shown in the previous chapters that FZD7 is likely the predominant FZD receptor transmitting oncogenic Wnt signalling in the context of GC (Flanagan et al., 2019a). This may explain why we observed increased levels of FZD7 expression across all our RNF43/ZNRF3 mutant cohorts. Therefore, it is likely that loss of RNF43 function in GC is leading to overexpression of FZD7 specifically on the cell surface and development of GC. Consequently, we plan to cross our Claudin18CreER^{T2}; Rnf43flox; Znrf3flox; dTOM^{LSL} mice with floxed FZD7 mice with the hypothesis it rescues the phenotype. This would functionally demonstrate that deletions in RNF43/ZNRF3 induce tumourigenesis by deregulating FZD receptors and has the potential to open up a new therapeutic avenue for stratifying patients with RNF43 mutations who would respond to treatment with OMP-18R5 (Anti-FZD Ab).

5.4 Conclusions

Despite conflicting evidence for the role of RNF43 in gastric tumourigenesis, we have shown that conditional deletion of *RNF43* and *ZNRF3*

Chapter 5: Characterization of RNF43^{-/-}/ZNRF3^{-/-} Gastric Tumours

in vivo leads to uncontrolled proliferation in the gastric epithelium and the development of gastric tumours; these tumours displayed significantly increased expression of Wnt target genes and loss of parietal cells. This provide evidence that RNF43 has a significant functional role in the development of GC. Therefore, a large proportion of GC patients are likely to be responsive to Wnt inhibition. Additionally, if shown that FZD7 can rescue the Rnf43^{fl/fl}; Znrf3^{fl/fl} phenotype further therapeutic options will open up for GC patients and provide further evidence and guidelines for patient stratification based on RNF43 mutational status for the emerging upstream Wnt inhibitors and potentially those specifically targeting Fzd7.

6.1 Introduction

The previous chapters presented in this thesis, along with other confounding evidence, has shown that the exact molecular mechanisms underlying aberrant Wnt signalling in GC is complex and remains largely poorly understood. We have demonstrated Wnt pathway activation can be modulated at the level of the receptor/ligand, even in cells with mutations to the cytoplasmic Wnt regulator, *APC* (Flanagan et al., 2019a). Therefore, investigations into the molecular mechanism of Wnt signalling in GC, and how mutant APC modulates the response of GC cells to FZD7 inhibition is vital in order to clarify the molecular mechanisms regulating GC and develop more effective therapies for GC patients. A hurdle in understanding these molecular mechanisms is a lack of tools that accurately recapitulate tumour biology, from clinical mutations to the microenvironment.

A huge advancement in the field of developmental biology and cancer biology was the development of a three-dimensional (3D) culture system termed "organoids" which have opened up new opportunities in preclinical personalized therapy testing. Organoids recapitulate many, but not all, of the aspects of the tissue they are derived from such as the differentiation capacity to the tissue-specific lineages and stem cell self-renewal (Merker et al., 2016). Due to successful culturing of normal tissue, organoids have also been developed for several human cancers (Gao et al., 2014; Sato et al., 2011a). While being more technically challenging than traditional 2D in vitro culture, 3D organoids yield numerous advantages by bringing more faithfulness to the in vivo environment. One such advantage is a lower stiffness environment that closer resembles that of tissues; stiffness directly affects cell adhesion, spreading, migration and differentiation (Bayir et al., 2019). Furthermore, organoid cultures offer some advantages compared to in vivo xenograft models due to the shorter establishment time frame and the ease of manipulation (Andersson-Rolf et al., 2017). However, organoids do not contain every type of

the tissue they are derived from or cells from the surrounding microenvironment, such as immune cells.

Initially developed based on the growth requirements of small intestinal stem cells, organoids have now been developed for several organs, including the liver and the brain (Akbari et al., 2019; Cakir et al., 2019). Gastric and GC organoids are slowly emerging, with a handful of groups publishing different methods of their culture with various levels of success (Nanki et al., 2018; Yan et al., 2018). Gastric organoids present an exciting platform to further advance GC research, especially as despite clear views of the genetic diversity across human GCs, the mechanistic link between their genotypes and phenotypes remains unclear, owing to the lack of functionally controllable platforms. To date, numerous genetically engineered mice have been generated to model spontaneous gastric tumourigenesis in vivo (Hayakawa et al., 2013; Poh et al., 2016). While these models have provided valuable insights into GC pathogenesis, their genetic backgrounds are mostly irrelevant to human GC genetics. Furthermore, tumourigenesis in these genetic mouse models requires long latency, which is suggestive of multiple genetic alternations being essential for the development of full-blown cancers. Alternatively, GC cell lines have served as accessible pre-clinical models for GC drug development. However, their biological distinction from clinical cancers can often lead to biases in the interpretation of their phenotypes. Patient-derived xenograft models offer a way to mitigate these challenges, but several other obstacles, such as the low establishment efficiency, low throughout, and genetic intractability, remain as roadblocks (Wang et al., 2017b). Therefore, organoids provide an exciting compromise for culturing patient-derived GCs.

A bottleneck in GC organoids can be the availability of GC tissue due to the lower incidence in the Western world (Sitarz et al., 2018) and the high percentage of patients that have received chemotherapy which may alter the molecular landscape of the GC. Therefore, it is vital to develop tools that will allow the introduction of clinically relevant mutations in normal gastric

organoids, thus, transforming them into GC organoids allowing the consistent investigation in GC molecular mechanisms. This can be achieved by genome editing technologies.

The initial wave of modern day genome editors was zinc-finger nucleases (ZFNs) and transcription activator-like effector nucleases (TALENs). However, their use has been limited due to the need for difficult and laborious engineering of a new version of the editing protein for each new target in the genome and the fact that designing the nucleases to a induce double-stranded break (DSB) in a specific loci relies on predicting protein-DNA interactions (Gaj et al., 2013; González-Romero et al., 2019). By contrast, the recent breakthrough of clustered regularly interspaced short palindromic repeats (CRISPR)-Cas9 technology, which is based on nucleic acid interactions, has enabled specific genome editing in a versatile and uncomplicated manner (Sternberg and Doudna, 2015).

The Cas9 nuclease is guided by small RNAs through Watson-Crick base pairing with target DNA (Figure 6.1) and promotes genome editing by stimulating a DSB at a target genomic locus (Garneau et al., 2010). Upon cleavage by Cas9, the target locus undergoes two major pathways of DNA repair (Figure 6.2): the error-prone non-homologous end joining (NHEJ) or the high-fidelity homologydirected repair (HDR) pathway, both of which can be used to achieved the desired editing outcome (Ran et al., 2013). In the absence of a repair template, DSBs are re-ligated through the NHEJ pathway, which leaves insertion/deletion (indel) mutations; this pathway is utilized to mediate gene knockouts, as indels within coding exons can lead to frameshift mutations and premature STOP codons (Perez et al., 2008). The HDR pathway can be leveraged to generate precise defined modifications at the target locus in the presence of an exogenously introduced repair template. However, this pathway typically occurs at lower and substantially more variable frequencies than the NHEJ pathway. Additionally, it is only active in dividing cells, and its efficiency can vary greatly depending on the cell type (Saleh-Gohari and Helleday, 2004).



Figure 6.1 Schematic of the RNA-guided Cas9 nuclease. The Cas9 nuclease from *S.pyogenes* (yellow) is targeted to genomic DNA by a single-guide RNA (sgRNA) consisting of 20 nucleotide guide sequence (Blue) and a scaffold (red). The guide sequence pairs with the DNA target (blue bar on top strand), directly upstream of a requisite 5'-NGG adjacent motif (PAM; pink). Cas9 mediates a DSB ~3 bp upstream of the PAM (red triangle). Reproduced from (Ran et al., 2013)



Figure 6.2 DSB promotes gene editing. DBSs induced by Cas9 can be repaired via one of two pathways. In the NHEJ pathway, the ends of a DSB are processed by endogenous DNA repair machinery and rejoined, which can result in random indel mutations. If these occur within the coding region of a gene, frameshifts and the creation of a premature stop codon can result leading to a gene knockout. In the HDR pathway, a repair template in the form of a plasmid can be supplied to leverage the HDR pathway, which allows high fidelity and precise editing. Reproduced from (Ran et al., 2013).

This new technology can be harnessed to investigate precise molecular mechanisms underlying in GC. The data presented in this thesis has demonstrated that inhibition of Fzd7 is able to prevent the growth of gastric cancer cells with mutant Apc. Therefore, generation of tools using CRISPR-Cas9 technology will help to begin to reveal the molecular mechanism regulating Wnt signalling in GC.

In this chapter we demonstrate how we have established a human gastric organoid platform, through refinement of the culture protocol, to allow for future investigations into the molecular mechanisms of GC and treatment responses. Additionally, we have generated CRISPR-Cas9 constructs that can be used as tools in combination with the newly established organoid platform to investigate the precise requirement of APC in GC.

6.2 Results

6.2.1 Generation of Human gastric cancer organoids.

Tissue with histologically diagnosed gastric adenocarcinoma was obtained from surgical resection specimens at University Hospital Wales. The establishment of GC organoid cultures was complicated by a variety of factors. Firstly, due to the nature of harvesting the sample, GC samples could often be contaminated with normal gastric glands (Figure 6.3). An unexpected effect of this was once in culture the normal organoids out competed the tumour organoids within the mixed population, which has been reported previously and also observed in other cancer organoid cultures such as prostate (Nanki et al., 2018; Wang et al., 2017d). To increase successful initiation of GC organoid cultures and minimize the growth of normal gastric glands, the tissue digestion method and time was optimized. Instead of using a standard EDTA chelating buffer, a more aggressive digestion solution was used. Washed tissue samples were digested at 37°C with constant agitation using Liberase TH (0.28 Wünsch units/mL)(Roche)) which contains highly purified collagenase I, collagenase II, and thermolysin (non-clostridial neutral protease). The use of Liberase TH also allowed greater experimental reproducibility between GC samples due to precise blended ratio of the two collagenase isoforms; this allows higher lot-tolot consistency.

Secondly, the GC samples often had a stromal composition resulting in a stiff, fibrous, and sometimes calcified sample. This effected digestion of the samples and made releasing tumour cells from the bulk of the tissue difficult. Therefore, a range of digestion times was utilized, from 1 hour to overnight, depending on tissue stiffness. Tissue debris was removed by passing the mixture through a 100 μ m cell strainer.

Finally, the cultured GC organoids often had signs of red blood cell (RBC) contamination, likely due to the increase in neoangiogenesis commonly observed in tumours. The centrifuged pellet of GC organoids prior to resuspension in matrigel was colored red and when plated hundreds of small

cells could be seen, this made clear imaging difficult. To overcome this, the final pellet of GC organoids was bathed in an ammonium chloride solution (1:10 dilution in PBS) to lyse the red blood cells. We did not observe a difference in cultures that received this treatment prior to plating compared to those that did not (Figure 6.3B).

Chapter 6: Generation of Tools to Better Investigate the Molecular Mechanisms Underlying GC





Figure 6.3 Human GC organoid challenges (A) Human GC samples were frequently contaminated with normal gastric glands creating a mixed population of organoids in culture. (B) Human GC samples containing RBC contamination in culture. No significant was observed between NH4CI-treated organoids and non-treated organoids. RBS; Red blood cells. Scale bar = 100μ M

Despite these challenges, we were able to successfully culture human GC organoids (Figure 6.4). Interestingly, we observed that the growth of the Human GC organoids was extremely slow and GC organoids were approximately half the size of normal gastric organoids after 15 days (Figure 6.5). Some successful Human GC organoids still suffered from normal gastric organoid contamination which hampered the slow-growing GC organoids. Therefore, we developed a strategy to enrich for mutant GC organoids (Figure 6.6). This strategy harnessed recurrently dysregulated signals in human GCs: the TP53, RHO, TGF-B, and RAS-PI3K pathways (Wang et al., 2014a). Firstly, Nutlin-3, an MDM2 inhibitor would be added to the culture media to select for TP53 mutant organoids (Matano et al., 2015); Nutlin-3 resistant organoids would most likely contain TP53 mutations. Secondly, as ROCK inhibition is essential for the recovery of individualized organoid cells, we planned to remove the ROCK inhibitor from the media to enrich for RHO-deregulated GCs. Following this, organoids would be treated with TGF-B in the absence of A83-01 (TGFB kinase/activin receptorlike kinase inhibitor) to select for organoids insensitive to TGF-B stimulation. Finally, we used a media free from the growth factors EGF and FGF10 to select for organoids with ligand-independent receptor tyrosine kinase signal activation. These positive selections were chosen to yield a range of Human GC organoids subtypes, lesions and histologic types. Unfortunately, we suffered with fungal contamination within the tissue culture room around the time of these experiments and therefore we were not successful in growing GC organoids long-term and implement our selection strategy.



Figure 6.4 Human GC organoids. Representative images of Human GC organoids from day 1 of culture following 15 days of growth. Scale bars = $100/25 \mu$ M



GC organoid

Normal gastric organoid



Figure 6.5 Normal gastric organoids grew faster. Representative images of GC and normal gastric organoids 15 days after first culture. Normal gastric organoids grew exceptionally faster than GC organoids. Scale bars = 100μ M



Figure 6.6 Establishment of GC organoids. Strategy for the enrichment of GC organoids by niche factor-based selections

6.2.2 Generation of normal Human gastric organoids.

Normal gastric organoids were less challenging to culture than the human GC organoids. Matched normal gastric organoids were derived from the same region (corpus or antrum) of the stomach as the location of the gastric adenocarcinoma but far enough away to prevent cross-contamination. After 24 hours' single glands had developed into round cystic-like organoids, as is typical for a gastric organoid (Figure 6.7). They continued to grow steadily for 15 days after which time they were passaged. Organoids were passaged by breaking up the matrigel by pipetting and centrifuging. The resulting supernatent contained a pellet of glands at the bottom of the tube topped with a cloudy layer containing the matrigel debris and single cells. The cloudy layer was carefully removed and the organoid pellet broken up with a small p200 tip before being resuspend. Organoids remained viable after first passage and continued to grow normally (Figure 6.8). At time of first passage, some organoids were frozen and stored to form a Biobank of human gastric organoids.



Figure 6.7 Normal Human gastric organoids. Representative images of the growth of two organoid samples (A & B) from different patients over 15 days



Figure 6.8 Normal Human gastric organoids following passage. Representative images of normal Human gastric organoids 7 days after passage. No changes to growth patterns or viability were observed following passage.

6.2.3 Design of FZD7-knockout and APC-mutant constructs

Inhibition of Fzd7 is able to prevent the growth of gastric cancer cells with mutant APC (Flanagan et al., 2019a). We hypothesize that this is due to the mutant APC still being transcribed and translated into a semi-functional protein which still allows regulation of the pathway from the level of the receptor. This is consistent with the 'just right' model of Wnt signalling in which too little Wnt does not transform cells, but too much is cytotoxic (Albuguergue et al., 2002) (Meniel et al., 2013). In order to more accurately assess the requirement of APC to allow gastric cancer cells to respond to inhibition of Fzd7, CRISPR-Cas9 genome editing technology will be employed to created precise truncated APC protein products as well as complete knockout as well as a construct to knockout FZD7 and FZD5 (as a control). These will eventually be transfected into human GC cell lines and gastric organoids. The use of sgRNA and Cas9 protein will induce DSB at specific targets on the APC genome, these will be repaired by the NHEJ repair pathway. This will lead to frameshift mutations and premature STOP codons at the required sites therefore leading to precise truncated protein products or complete gene knockout.

We designed sgRNA to generated 6 different length APC proteins at known functional sites (Figure 6.9) including the serine alanine methionine proline (SAMP) repeat at 1615aa (axin binding), the mutation cluster region at 1375 aa, the 15 amino acid repeats at 1225aa, the Armadillo repeat at 809aa and downstream of the oligomerisation domain at 407aa. This was more complex than the FZD7 knockout as we required cleavage between specific functional domains. These were often restrictive in size, for example between the armadillo domain and the 15 amino acid repeats there are only 867 bp. This limited the availability of PAM sites downstream of target sequences without off-target activity.





Codon Number

Figure 6.9 Schematic representations of human WT APC protein and the corresponding truncating mutants generated by the CRISPR-Cas9 technique.

It was decided that the sgRNA would be delivered as a sgRNA-expressing plasmid. The carefully designed sgRNA were annealed and ligated into the px458 plasmid which contained both Cas9 and the remainder of the sgRNA as an invariant scaffold immediately following the oligo cloning site. Additionally, the px458 plasmid contained 2A-GFP to allow for selection of transfection cells downstream. Following ligation, plasmids were transformed into competent *E.coli* and plated onto ampicillin-LB agar plates. Colonies were observed for all constructs, numerous colonies were seen on the positive control plate (uncut px458) and zero colonies were seen on the negative control plate (Figure 6.10). This is highly suggestive of successful insertion of sgRNA into px458. To confirm, bacterial cultures were grown from colonies and the plasmid DNA purified and sent for sequencing. All results confirmed the successful insertion of sgRNA insertion of sgRNA insert into the px458 vector.

Plasmids were transfected into the GC cell line, MKN45 (WT for APC). Transfection was deemed successful due the expression of GFP in MKN45 under a fluorescent microscope (Figure 6.10). Next, the isolation of clonal cell lines was required to generate a monoclonal population. This was attempted by isolating single cells through FACs using GFP as the marker followed by an expansion period to establish a new clonal cell line. Unfortunately, our cell lines did not survive as single cells and an alternative method needs to be develop such as the gentler serial dilution protocol. Nevertheless, we have generated a panel of successfully cloned plasmids that are ready for functional testing to investigate the mechanism of how Apc mutant cells respond to inhibition of Fzd7.



Figure 6.10 Positive selection of clones (A) Representative image of bacterial colonies includes example of FZD7-knockout plasmid, positive control and negative control. **(B)** Representative image of MKN45 cells transfected with FZD7-knockout plasmid containing GFP reported. Imaged under fluorescent microscope.

6.3 Discussion

The APC truncating mutation is the hallmark of the vast majority of human CRCs and is also frequently present in GCs. Its loss is thought to contribute to the initiation of GC through the constitutive activation of the Wnt pathway (Flanagan et al., 2017b). Most APC somatic mutations occur in the "mutation cluster region" (MCR) between codons 1,286 and 1,513 (Vogelstein and Kinzler, 2004) with region-specific APC mutations being associated with distinct B-catenin transcriptional activity and tumour susceptibility (Gaspar and Fodde, 2004). Different functional domains have been described in the central region of the APC protein, including the B-catenin-binding 15- and 20-amino acid repeats and the Axin-binding Ser-Ala-Met-Pro motif (SAMP) repeats that are vital for regulating B-catenin level. We have previously shown that Wnt receptor FZD7 plays an essential role in gastric tumourigenesis and that inhibition of this upstream receptor can modulate Wnt signalling irrespective of APC mutation status (Flanagan et al., 2019a). Importantly, data from our lab has shown that tamoxifen induced *TffCre*; *Apcfl/fl* mice, in which exon 14 of Apc is deleted and consequently truncated from codon 580 onwards (Phesse et al., 2014) develop gastric tumours with 100% penetrance. Additionally, recent data from our lab demonstrated that biallelic deletion of Fzd7 was able to block gastric tumourigenesis in *TffCre*; *Apcfl/fl* mice. Furthermore, the results presented in chapter 2 used MKN28 GC cells which contain an APC truncating mutation (p.R1450^{*}) at codon 1450, inside the MCR. We demonstrated that MKN28 GC cells responded to inhibition of FZD receptors in vitro and in vivo despite the mutation to APC. Together these data suggest that there was sufficient translation of the Apc protein to allow upstream factors to modulate Wnt pathway activity as the 'just right' model predicts (Albuquerque et al., 2002). However, the molecular mechanism of how GC cells with APC mutations can respond to inhibition of FZD receptors and which regions of APC are functionally and clinically significant remain unknown. For example, would complete deletion of Apc result in cells activating Wnt signaling that are
unresponsive to modulation of Fzd7 or upstream signaling events? Here, we have designed sgRNA to target specific loci between the known functional domains of APC, successfully cloned then into a Cas9 expressing vector and validated them through sequencing. We have also generated and validated a construct that will lead to complete knockout of *FZD7*. The constructs are ready be used for functional assays to help develop the understanding of the molecular mechanism of Wnt signalling in GC, and how mutant APC modulates the response of GC cells to FZD7 inhibition. This will deepen and strengthen the results from previous chapters of this thesis by providing insights into the potential mechanism that allows disruption of the FZD receptor to have an effect on GC cells with APC mutations.

These generated tools can be used in combination with our newly established human gastric organoid biobank platform. The truncated APC constructs can be transfected into normal human gastric organoids and the truncated APC mutations will transform the organoids to tumouroids as recently demonstrated in CRC (Novellasdemunt et al., 2017). These organoids can be treated with OMP-18R5 or co-transfected with the construct to knock-out FZD7 to investigate which APC protein lengths respond to genetic knock-out of FZD7 or pharmacological inhibition of the receptor. The combination of organoids and CRISPR-Cas9 will help determine the mechanism by which APC mutant GC cells are able to respond to deletion of FZD7, and thus modulation of the receptor upstream of intracellular mutations. These experiments will build on the findings in this thesis by investigating modulation of the FZD receptors across a broad-range of clinical types of GC and shed light on the mechanism of action underlying the results observed in the previous chapters. This will ultimately help striate which GC patients will be most likely to respond to therapy with anti-FZD drugs based on the APC mutation they harbor.

GC has extremely high molecular and cellular heterogeneity which is exhibited both within tumours and between patients (Carrasco-Garcia et al., 2018). This heterogeneity can make the choice of therapy difficult and so addressing this

molecular heterogeneity is critical for achieving an optimal therapeutic approach against GC. GC heterogeneity is manifested in marked differences in disease aggressiveness and treatment outcome, however, in current clinical practice the choice of therapeutic strategy against GC does not consider this molecular heterogeneity and is mostly based on tumour stage (Carrasco-Garcia et al., 2018). This highlights the need for novel and relevant biomarkers for patient stratification to direct targeted therapies to the right patients, with an overall goal of personalized medicine.

The use of organoids opens up new opportunities in preclinical personalized therapy testing. Our newly established platform will allow the generation of a large organoid collection over time that will function as a living human biobank. However, a weakness of this current study is the lack of validation of the normal gastric organoids. These must be confirmed as normal and not a fast-growing tumour organoid by analysis of biomarkers. The usefulness of organoid biobanks has already been demonstrated, for example, a CRC biobank has been shown to be amenable to drug screens to individualize patient treatment and screen for novel therapeutics (van de Wetering et al., 2015). Additionally, the establishment of GI organoids from metastatic lesions has been shown to be feasible and treatment of these organoids recapitulates the clinical response of the corresponding patients (Vlachogiannis et al., 2018). Our expanding collection of human GC organoids can be classified according to their molecular profile, assessed for their chemotherapeutic response, and given targeted treatments according to their specific druggable mutations. However, it is important to note that organoids consist only of the epithelial layer with no surrounding mesenchyme, blood vessels or immune cells, therefore drugs that target the microenvironment cannot be evaluated.

Recently, two groups independently established human gastric organoid biobanks of 37 GC samples (Nanki et al., 2018) and 46 GC samples (Yan et al., 2018). Both groups performed detailed whole-exome and transcriptome analysis to characterize the tumours and performed drug screening that could

potentially guide patient drug selection. Interestingly however, the groups did not observe the same genetic alterations between different GC subtypes and produced conflicting results, for example Nanki *et al.*, did not report a correlation between KRAS mutations and the MSI GC subtype, whereas Yan et al., reported a strong correlation between this aberration and the MSI subtype. Additionally, genetic alterations observed between did not agree with the datasets generated by the TCGA (Wang et al., 2014b). For example, *Nanki et al.*, reported a low mutation date of PIK3CA whereas the TCGA reports it as high. Overall, both new studies showed a lack of consistency with the TCGA report and did not demonstrate a robust genetic distinction amongst subtypes. This may be due to the small size of their datasets not allowing accurate patterns to emerge and highlights the heterogeneity of GC and the need to increase the numbers of organoids collected from different patients to fully elucidate the landscape of the molecular and genetic alterations of human GC.

Nevertheless, these investigations validate the viability of establishing human gastric biobanks and their use to identify novel druggable targets as well as highlighting the importance of organoids for the next advancements of GC research.

COVID19 lockdown prevented us from attempting to use CRISPR-Cas9 to manipulate Fzd7. We had planned to transfect organoids with the previously described construct to knockout Fzd7. We hypothesized that we would observe organoid death following transfection due to the requirement of Fzd7 in the gastric epithelium. As the human organoids were slow to establish, we planned to utilized mouse organoids which are less technically difficult to culture. A previous study investigated the role of Fzd7 in the gastric epithelium and found it to be a requirement for the culture of gastric organoids (Flanagan et al., 2017a). However, the Cre used (Tff1Cre) only recombined in the antral glands (Flanagan et al., 2017a) and the role of FZD7 in the corpus remains unknown. Therefore, we planned to culture organoids from the corpus region to

investigate the requirement of FZD7 through knockout using our CRISPR-Cas9 constructs.

6.4 Conclusions

We have begun to establish a human gastric organoid biobank which will help to identify the mechanistic connection between GC genotype and phenotype. These GC organoids might serve as living biomarker to predict therapy response and resistance in GCs containing specific mutations, thereby helping to guide personalized therapy approaches. Additionally, the protocol for establishing normal human gastric organoids has been refined. The treatment of patient-derived organoids alongside patients from whom cultures were derived will ultimately test their usefulness to predict individual therapy response and patient outcome. These organoids can begin to be used in combination with our newly generated CRISPR-Cas9 constructs to unravel the mechanism of how APC mutant GC cells respond to inhibition at the level of the receptor.

7.1 General Discussion & Future Directions

GC remains a major contributor to cancer-related mortality worldwide and is still the fourth most common cancer. The 5-year survival rate is less than 5% in advanced unresectable or metastatic disease (Ferlay et al., 2015), a stage which is observed in approximately 80% of patients at diagnosis (Correa, 2013). This poor survival rate is reflected in the limited treatment options for GC patients; these options are largely stratified as palliative or curative. The preferred treatment option is partial or complete resection of the stomach, however, as most patients present with advanced-stage disease a majority of patients lose the opportunity to undergo surgical resection (Song et al., 2017). In this instance, the goal of comprehensive treatment is to prolong survival and improve guality of life. This includes neoadjuvant and adjuvant chemotherapy, radiotherapy, or a combination of the two (Wagner et al., 2006) although >95% of non-operable GCs develop chemoresistance (J.J.G. Marin, 2016). After this the only remaining treatment option is Trastuzumab, a monoclonal antibody targeted against HER2. This is the only approved molecular-targeted therapy for GC, however only around 20% of GC are classed as HER2-positive (Kim et al., 2014). Clearly there is an urgent and unmet need to develop a wider range of effective targeted treatments for GC. This thesis aimed to enhance the understanding of the molecular pathways linked to GC in order to identify novel therapeutic targets for GC.

The lack of GC treatment option stems from an incomplete understanding of the molecular pathways underlying this highly heterogeneous disease. The Wnt signalling pathway is central to gastric homeostasis and therefore its aberrant activation is linked to GC development, how the precise molecular mechanisms of aberrant Wnt signalling in GC have remained unknown in the field. The studies in this thesis have been the first investigations to examine the role of the Wnt receptor FZD7 in the context of GC. We have demonstrated that inhibition of FZD7 leads to a reduction in GC initiation, even in APC mutant cells. In addition, we have shown for the first time the functional significance

of the Wnt pathway negative regulator, RNF43/ZNRF3, in GC through its conditional deletion *in vivo*. Collectively all result chapters presented in this thesis highlight for the first time how modulation of Wnt signalling at the level of the receptor may be a potential and novel therapeutic strategy for the treatment of GC irrespective of downstream mutations.

Aberrant activation of Wnt/ β -catenin signalling is a necessary initiating event in the formation of many cancers of epithelial origin, including GC (Clevers and Nusse, 2012a). Many GC patients harbor activating mutations to key intracellular components of the Wnt/B-catenin pathway, such as APC (Wang et al., 2014a) however ever-growing evidence is suggestive that additional modulation of Wnt/B-catenin signalling can help attenuate cancer progression (Caldwell et al., 2004; Suzuki et al., 2004) however this had not been confirmed in GC until the generation of this thesis. As such, it has been shown that FZD7 is upregulated in many cancers, including GC, with constitutive Wnt activity, which robustly increases already elevated levels of Wnt/B-catenin signalling and subsequent target gene expression (Zhao et al., 2014). This is presumably due to the fact that FZD7 is a downstream target of Wnt/B-catenin signalling (Vincan et al., 2010), which may serve as a feed-forward mechanism to fuel Wnt/B-catenin signalling, thus facilitating cancer progression. Importantly, implementing targeted strategies to reduce the availability of FZD7 has been shown to reduce cell viability, cell migration, and cell invasion within various cancer types both *in vitro* and *in vivo* (Ueno et al., 2009; Vincan et al., 2007a; Wei et al., 2011; Yang et al., 2011) in line with the results we have presented in the context of GC. However, targeting a component of a crucial adult tissue homeostasis signalling pathway has many associated caveats, such as the possible disruption to tissue proliferation and homeostasis of surrounding nontumorigenic tissue. Thankfully, recent studies support our hypothesis that targeting of FZD7 within the gastric epithelium is a novel, viable and attractive target for the treatment of GC without severe unwanted side effects. Published work from our lab in conjunction with this project has demonstrated that

conditional deletion of FZD7 from gastric adenomas of Tff1Cre^{ERT2/+} ;gp130^{F/F};Fzd7^{fl/fl} mice significantly reduced tumour burden with associated decreases in cell growth, proliferation and angiogenesis (Flanagan et al., 2019a). Additionally, conditional deletion of FZD7 from the gastric epithelium is well tolerated, as demonstrated by the fact that FZD7-deficient cells are repopulated and the integrity of the epithelium is restored soon after (Flanagan et al., 2017a). Furthermore, Fzd7-deficient mice were reported to be viable, healthy and fertile. Additional support comes from a study where Fzd7 was deleted from the intestinal epithelium, triggering rapid epithelial repopulation (Flanagan et al., 2015b) which is suggestive of a survival mechanism to eradicate any cells that have undergone critical genetic ablation. Furthermore, given the pivotal role of Lgr5 gastric stem cells play in gastric homeostasis (Barker et al., 2010b) and the recent study demonstrating that the function of Lgr5+ cells in the gastric epithelium do not require FZD7 to maintain this homeostasis (Flanagan et al., 2019b) is highly suggestive that therapeutic FZD7 inhibition within the context of GC treatment is unlikely to affect this population of cells.

However, as with the majority of cancer therapies, mono-therapies show limited promise in long-term cancer treatment due to the heterogeneity of the disease and the development of drug-resistant cells (Arkenau, 2009). As such, it is now almost standard in clinical trials to treat all malignancies in combination with other agents as this often shows synergistic effects (Le et al., 2015). As highlighted in chapter 2 and 3 of this thesis, the use of OMP-18R5 as a single agent was successful in inhibiting GC cell growth both *in vitro* and *in vivo*, and at inhibiting the ability of GC cells to migrate. However, in a clinical setting it would be advisable to be implemented in combination with other routine chemotherapy or radiotherapies. Importantly, due to the systemic pharmacological action of OMP-18R5, careful pre-testing and validation should be performed to gauge the appropriate human therapeutic dose and identify any potential unwanted toxicity to Wnt-sensitive tissues. A first-in-human

phase I dose-escalating clinical trial (NCT01345201) using OMP-18R5 in solid cancers found that the best tolerated dose was up to 2.5 mg/kg once every 3 weeks. The most commonly reported side effect was reduction in bone density, however, this was successfully elevated by co-treatment with zoledronic acid (Smith et al., 2013); a common approach when using Wnt inhibitors in a clinical trial setting.

We have elucidated that FZD7 is the predominant Wnt receptor transmitting cell-intrinsic Wnt signals in human GC cells and therefore may be an attractive target for GC treatment. Our *in vitro* studies demonstrated reduced GC cell growth and progression following FZD inhibition or FZD7 knockdown which is in line with several *in vitro* studies that have shown targeted inhibition of FZD receptors is sufficient to block growth of GC cells (Li et al., 2018; Tomizawa et al., 2015). A weakness of the study presented in this thesis was that transient transfections were used to investigate the effect of FZD7 knockdown. This may have led to different levels of FZD7 knockdown between experimental repeats and various experiments. A more robust approach would be to generate stable FZD7-knockdown GC cell lines. This would ensure consistency and reproducibility between experiments and minimize human error.

However, it is well documented that *in vitro* studies do not fully recapitulate the complex cellular and molecular interactions that are present in tumours (Hanahan and Weinberg, 2011). Our results in chapter 2 of this thesis demonstrated that pharmacological inhibition of FZD receptors, via OMP-18R5 treatment, resulted in significantly smaller gastric tumour xenografts when MKN28 and MKN45 GC cells were injected *in vivo*; illustrating that inhibition of FZD receptors slows the growth of GC cells. This is supported by a parallel experiment from our laboratory in which it was shown that gastric adenomas required Fzd7 for optimal growth using genetic and pharmacological strategies in two independent mouse models (Flanagan et al., 2019a). Furthermore, these data are confirmed by earlier work that demonstrated that the targeting of multiple FZD receptors blocked the growth of several different cancers (Gurney et al., 2012), which we can now extend to include GC. Future work to validate the effectiveness of targeting FZD7 in GC could be through the treatment of Human GC organoids/PDX models to accurately represent the variety of the molecular and genetic landscape of GCs seen in the clinic; this would also address a weakness of this current study, whereby, the newly classified molecular GC subtypes are not represented by our cell lines.

As mentioned above, metastasis is the key contributor to the high mortality rate observed in GC patients as well as being a major challenge in the development of novel treatments. We have demonstrated that FZD7 plays a predominant role in the invasion and migration capabilities of GC cells in vitro, suggesting it is also important for metastasis of GC cells in vivo. This is consistent with evidence that over-expression of FZD7 is associated with GC metastasis, advanced clinical stages and poor patient prognosis (Li et al., 2018). These findings are further supported by a similar investigation in the context of CRC. They reported that FZD7 is involved in the progression of CRC through the enhancement of survival, invasion and metastatic capabilities of CRC cells through transfection of CRC cells with FZD7 siRNA (Ueno et al., 2009). Interestingly, they reported that FZD7 was transmitting signals via both the canonical and non-canonical signalling pathways. Accumulating evidence suggests that non-canonical Wnt signalling is important in regulating cellular polarity and movement (Veeman et al., 2003) and so it is likely to play a role with the context of cancer metastasis. Wnt5a, a ligand that activates the noncanonical branch of the Wnt pathway, can play a role as a tumour suppressor or by promoting cancer invasion and migration, although the molecular mechanisms explaining these roles have not been fully elucidated (Astudillo, 2020). Overexpression of Wnt5a has been implemented in promoting GC progression (Kurayoshi et al., 2006) with one study reporting that Wnt5atargeted knockdown in GC cell lines reduced cell migration through inhibition of Rac1, a driver of GC invasion. Additionally, suppression of Wnt5a with the use of an anti-Wnt5a antibody blocked clathrin-mediated internalization of the

FZD2 and Ror2 receptors (Hanaki et al., 2012). However, the function of this ligand has not been investigated in the context of GC in vivo, although accumulating evidence does point to a role for Wnt5a in GC metastasis. Therefore, as FZD7 is able to transmit signals through both the canonical and non-canonical pathways (Phesse et al., 2016) future experiments investigating if FZD7 is playing a role in the non-canonical pathway in the context of GC metastasis is vital to further support the findings of this thesis. Future experiments should inhibit FZD7, via FZD7-targeted shRNA and OMP-18R5 treatment, and look at the expression of c-Jun, the phosphorylation of JNK and c-Jun, and activation of RhoA. It has been reported that Wnt5a failed to induce tumour initiation. An inducible Wnt5a transgenic mouse model was generated by crossing TetO-Wnt5a mice with hnRNP-rtTA mice which drive ubiguitous expression of the doxycycline inducible rtTA2S-M2 Tet-trans-activator (Katsantoni et al., 2007). Induced Wnt5a expression was well-tolerated in adult mice for multiple durations, including 1 day, 1 week and 3-5 months (Bakker et al., 2012). This is suggestive that Wnt5a alone is not sufficient for GC establishment and may be working in concert with other pathways. Nevertheless, this thesis has clearly demonstrated that FZD7 is transmitting oncogenic signals via the canonical Wnt/B-catenin pathway, which are promoting the invasion and migration capabilities of GC cells. We demonstrated that inhibition of FZD7 reduced the expression of Wnt target genes associated with the canonical B-catenin pathway including MYC, AXIN2, CCND1 and LGR5. Furthermore, inhibition of FZD7 down-regulated EMT and reduced GC cells colony forming ability, indicative of reduced CSC activity, which is associated with attenuated canonical Wnt/B-catenin signalling. Additionally, gastric organoids required Wnt3a in the culture medium in addition to the Wnt agonist R-spondin, demonstrating that canonical Wnt ligands are required for GC growth.

EMT enables cancer cells to obtain migratory capacity, infiltrate surrounding tissue and metastasize to distant sites. Wnt signalling has been reported to

promote EMT through the up-regulation of transcription factors slug, snail, vimentin, and twist1 (DiMeo et al., 2009). Similarly, FZD receptors are thought to be critical factors for the EMT processes. Recent investigations have shown that down-regulation of FZD7 expression significantly inhibited cell invasion and migration, accompanied with a decreased expression of vimentin and snail, and increased expression of E-cadherin, in cervical and ovarian cancers (Asad et al., 2014; Deng et al., 2015). Wnt3/FZD7 signalling is up-regulated in hepatocellular carcinoma and leads to an attenuation of E-cadherin expression (Kim et al., 2008b) and over-expression of FZD7 was been reported to promote cell mobility, metastasis and EMT in esophageal cancer (Cao et al., 2017). The results presented in this thesis have demonstrated that inhibition of FZD receptors caused an increase in E-cadherin expression along with decreases of N-cadherin, vimentin, snail, slug, and twist1. However, a potential weakness of this study is that only a selection of EMT markers were evaluated. The expression profile of cells undergoing EMT is not validated and can vary between tissue-types, therefore, a larger and more expansive panel of epithelial and mesenchymal markers should be utilized to fully evaluate the EMT status in GC. Nevertheless, this work provides novel evidence that one of the 5 FZD receptors inhibited by OMP-18R5 (FZD1, 2, 5, 7, and 8) could promote EMT, enhancing the metastatic potential of GC cells. Of the 5 inhibited receptors, FZD7 is likely the key receptor promoting EMT due to the gene expression analysis performed in chapter 2 showing that FZD7 is abundantly expressed in the GC cell lines used for our experiments. Furthermore, the expression of FZD1, 2, 5 and 8 was not observed to be highly expressed in our cell lines. Further experiments to confirm that FZD7 is the predominant receptor in promoting EMT are required. The EMT experiments outlined in chapter 3 should be repeated with the use of FZD7-targeted shRNA in place of the OMP-18R5 treatment; this would have taken place if not for lab restrictions due to COVID19 lockdown. This would have confirmed FZD7 is the predominant receptor regulating EMT in GC.

The role of FZD7 in GC metastasis has not be investigated *in vivo*. Therefore, this remains a key area to be investigated in this field to build on the novel findings from this thesis. This project has the scope to examine this through the use of the CRISPR-Cas9-sgFZD7 construct generated in chapter 6. This can be cloned into a DOX-inducible Cas9 vector which will be stably transfected into GC cell lines which can be used in our *in vivo* abdominal metastasis model to elucidate the functional role of FZD7 in GC metastasis. The injected GC cells can be left to develop into palpable tumours, after which stage, the mice will be injected with doxycycline to induce Cas9 expression and the subsequent knock-out of FZD7. The weakness remains of not being able to explore the function of FZD7 in GC in a setting more representative of the clinic, for example with immune cells. To complement this, *in vitro* 3D co-culture experiments of GC cells with CAFS or tumour-associated macrophages, could be established to investigate the relationship of GC cells with the TME.

We have demonstrated that inhibition of FZD receptors or Wnt secretion leads to a reduction in migration, invasion, EMT and stemness, illustrating that Wnt modulates these aspects of the metastatic cascade in GC. However, our *in vivo* data indicated that Wnt is not required in our model of GC, which was representative of the later stages of the metastatic cascade when cells are surviving in the metastatic niche and establishing secondary sites. Therefore, the requirement for Wnt in the process of MET and regaining an epithelial phenotype should be investigated further in GC to further strengthen the insights gained from this project.

As we have demonstrated, modulation of the FZD-Wnt complex, either by inhibition of FZD receptors or inhibition of Wnt secretion, leads to a reduction in GC initiation and metastatic potential. Another key player involved in close concert with the FZD-Wnt complex is RNF43. Loss-of-function mutations to RNF43 have been thought to drive the development of many cancers due to the upregulation of FZD receptors on the cell surface (Giannakis et al., 2014; Jiang et al., 2013). Currently there are conflicting reports of the significance of

RNF43 loss in cancer, including within the setting of GC. Recent publications argue that the most frequently observed RNF43 mutation, G659fs, retains functionality in the inhibition of Wnt signalling and is unlikely to contribute to tumorigenesis (Li et al., 2020; Tu et al., 2019). Whereas, an opposing publication reports through in vivo studies that C-terminal truncation RNF43 mutants, including G659fs, are in fact loss of function and likely to contribute to tumourigenesis caused by active Wnt signalling (Yu et al., 2020). We have demonstrated the functional significance of RNF43 in GC by robust conditional deletion *in vivo*. Genetic knockout of RNF43, and its homologue ZNRF3, resulted in the development of gastric adenomas with increased levels of Wnt target gene expression. This supports the idea that LOF mutations to RNF43 are significant in GC development and is additionally supported by a study in which knockdown of RNF43 enhanced the tumourigenic potential of gastric cell lines (Neumeyer et al., 2019). Clinically this is an important finding as it supports the idea what these Wnt-addicted RNF43 mutant tumours will be responsive to Wnt inhibitors, such as LGK-974 (Liu et al., 2013; Madan et al., 2016; Yu et al., 2020). Our data contributes to the increasing evidence in support of the significance of RNF43 LOF mutants in cancer which will facilitate the selection of patients who may benefit from upstream Wnt pathway inhibitors. Additionally, the findings presented in this thesis show for the first-time the functional significance of RNF43 in the context of the gastric epithelium.

Furthermore, we observed metaplasia and lesions indicative of early tumour development within the single RNF43 knockout mice. This is suggestive that loss of a single E3 ligase will eventually lead to the development of less gastric tumours. An important next step for this project will be to age the single knockout mice for longer and observe if gastric tumours develop, as a weakness of this study was the short time-point, which is not necessarily reflective of the long latency of GC seen in the clinic. As this thesis has demonstrated, FZD7 plays a predominant role in GC initiation and progression, therefore, another important next step for this project will be to assess if the phenotype observed

in the double knockout can be rescued by co-deletion of *FZD7*. Furthermore, our double mutant mice could be treated with OMP-18R5 and their tumour burden quantified, as this is more clinically relevant. This study was the first investigation into the functional significance of RNF43 in the gastric epithelium using a robust genetic *in vivo* model, however, the data generated is in the early stages and further characterization of the resulting tumours and aberrant gastric epithelium needs to be undertaken to support and strengthen the findings. Additionally, this study looked at full genetic knock-out of RNF43, whereas in human GC, truncation of RNF43 is more commonly observed.

It is important to note that non-mutational drivers, such as microRNAs (miRNA), are able to drive Wnt activity. For example, miR-103/107 has been demonstrated to prolong Wnt/β-catenin signalling and CRC stemness by targeting Axin2 (Chen et al., 2019). miRNAs are also capable of targeting Wnt at the level of the Wnt receptors. For example, miR-100 has been demonstrated to inhibit Wnt/β-catenin signalling by targeting FZD8 leading to the suppression of the migration and invasion of breast cancer cells (Jiang et al., 2016). Mir-188-5p has been reported to activate the Wnt/β-catenin pathway in GC and its expression is positively correlated with GC metastasis (Li et al., 2019c). Therefore, miRNAs should be an avenue in future GC research.

Collectively, our data has shown that targeted inhibition of Wnt receptors, specifically FZD7, is rate-limiting for the growth of GC cells with and without APC mutations. Therefore, we hypothesis that a possible mechanism to allow APC mutant cells to respond to FZD7 inhibition is due to the continued transcription and translation of the mutant APC gene itself (Figure 7.1) as opposed to complete deletion as previously assumed in GC. This would allow the restoration of the destruction complex. This hypothesis is supported by the "just right" model of Wnt signalling in which it has been demonstrated that different APC mutations result in different levels of Wnt pathway activation (Albuquerque et al., 2002). Despite our evidence that demonstrates Wnt signalling can be further regulated at the level of the receptor in APC mutant

cells, other studies have indicated that this phenomenon is context dependent and may not be observed in all cancers with APC mutations (Flanagan et al., 2019; Huels et al., 2018).

There is no evidence in if disruption of the FZD receptors has the same effect in GC cell lines with B-catenin mutations, although this is less clinically relevant as mutations to B-catenin is rare in GC. Of interest, a study in *CTNNB1* mutant CRC cells did not observe the same response as seen with APC mutant cells, suggesting a specific role for mutant APC (Saito-Diaz et al., 2018). However, this may be cancer-specific and not translate to GC.

Therefore, a key next step for this project will be to examine the molecular mechanism by which APC mutant GC cells are responding to inhibition of FZD7. The CRISPR-Cas9 constructs generated in chapter 6 can be employed to examine which exact regions of the APC protein are required to permit GC cells to respond to FZD7 inhibition. These constructs will generate different mutant APC proteins of specific lengths and be used in combination with the human gastric organoid culture platform to ensure it is clinically relevant. The normal human gastric organoids will be transfected with the Cas9-APC-mutant constructs and treated with FZD inhibitors. The viability of the organoids assessed and characterized to expand the fields understanding of Wnt signalling in mutant GC cells.



Figure 7.1 Proposed Wnt signalling in mutant APC GC cells. In APC mutant cells, it is often misconceived that APC is completely deleted and therefore the degradation complex is non-functional and Wnt signalling cannot be regulated upstream of the degradation complex at the level of the receptor (Illustration faded out, left panel). However, mutant APC is transcribed and translated resulting in a compromised, yet function, B-catenin degradation complex. This explains how upstream inhibitors, FZD inhibitor, can still modulate Wnt signal activity (right hand panel)

7.2 Conclusions

In this thesis we have demonstrated a novel and predominant role for the Wnt receptor FZD7 in the initiation, invasion and metastatic capabilities of GC cells. For the first time, we have functionally shown that the loss of RNF43/ZNRF3 promotes the development of GC through overexpression of FZD receptors on the cell surface. Importantly, we have confirmed that modulation of the Wnt pathway at the level of the receptor/ligand is sufficient to block GC initiation, migration, and invasion irrespective of the downstream APC mutational status. These findings provide novel insights into the molecular understanding of GC. These can be translated into an attractive and novel therapeutic strategy for the treatment of GC and facilitate a new framework for patient stratification based on RNF43 mutational status.

References

Akama, Y., Yasui, W., Yokozaki, H., Kuniyasu, H., Kitahara, K., Ishikawa, T., and Tahara, E. (1995). Frequent Amplification of the Cyclin E Gene in Human Gastric Carcinomas. Japanese Journal of Cancer Research *86*, 617-621.

Akbari, S., Arslan, N., Senturk, S., and Erdal, E. (2019). Next-Generation Liver Medicine Using Organoid Models. Frontiers in Cell and Developmental Biology 7.

Albuquerque, C., Breukel, C., van der Luijt, R., Fidalgo, P., Lage, P., Slors, F. J., Leitao, C. N., Fodde, R., and Smits, R. (2002). The 'just-right' signaling model: APC somatic mutations are selected based on a specific level of activation of the beta-catenin signaling cascade. Human molecular genetics *11*, 1549-1560.

Alexandre, C., Baena-Lopez, A., and Vincent, J. P. (2014). Patterning and growth control by membrane-tethered Wingless. Nature 505, 180-185.

Allen, A., and Flemström, G. (2005). Gastroduodenal mucus bicarbonate barrier: protection against acid and pepsin. American Journal of Physiology-Cell Physiology 288, C1-C19.

Anastas, J. N., and Moon, R. T. (2013). WNT signalling pathways as therapeutic targets in cancer. Nature reviews 13, 11-26.

Andersson-Rolf, A., Mustata, R. C., Merenda, A., Kim, J., Perera, S., Grego, T., Andrews, K., Tremble, K., Silva, J. C., and Fink, J. (2017). One-step generation of conditional and reversible gene knockouts. Nature methods *14*, 287-289.

Angers, S., and Moon, R. T. (2009). Proximal events in Wnt signal transduction. Nature reviews Molecular cell biology *10*, 468-477.

Arici, D. S., Tuncer, E., Ozer, H., Simek, G., and Koyuncu, A. (2009). Expression of retinoblastoma and cyclin D1 in gastric carcinoma. Neoplasma 56, 63-67.

Arkenau, H. T. (2009). Gastric cancer in the era of molecularly targeted agents: current drug development strategies. Journal of cancer research and clinical oncology *135*, 855-866.

Arnold, K., Sarkar, A., Yram, M. A., Polo, J. M., Bronson, R., Sengupta, S., Seandel, M., Geijsen, N., and Hochedlinger, K. (2011). Sox2(+) adult stem and progenitor cells are important for tissue regeneration and survival of mice. Cell Stem Cell 9, 317-329.

Asad, M., Wong, M. K., Tan, T. Z., Choolani, M., Low, J., Mori, S., Virshup, D., Thiery, J. P., and Huang, R. Y. (2014). FZD7 drives in vitro aggressiveness in Stem-A subtype of ovarian cancer via regulation of non-canonical Wnt/PCP pathway. Cell Death Dis 5, e1346.

Assou, S., Le Carrour, T., Tondeur, S., Strom, S., Gabelle, A., Marty, S., Nadal, L., Pantesco, V., Reme, T., Hugnot, J. P., *et al.* (2007). A meta-analysis of human embryonic stem cells transcriptome integrated into a web-based expression atlas. Stem Cells 25, 961-973.

Astudillo, P. (2020). Wht5a Signaling in Gastric Cancer. Frontiers in Cell and Developmental Biology 8.

Atuma, C., Strugala, V., Allen, A., and Holm, L. (2001). The adherent gastrointestinal mucus gel layer: thickness and physical state in vivo. American Journal of Physiology-Gastrointestinal and Liver Physiology 280, G922-G929.

Badders, N. M., Goel, S., Clark, R. J., Klos, K. S., Kim, S., Bafico, A., Lindvall, C., Williams, B. O., and Alexander, C. M. (2009). The Wnt receptor, Lrp5, is expressed by mouse mammary stem cells and is required to maintain the basal lineage. PLoS ONE *4*, e6594.

Bafico, A., Gazit, A., Pramila, T., Finch, P. W., Yaniv, A., and Aaronson, S. A. (1999). Interaction of frizzled related protein (FRP) with Wnt ligands and the frizzled receptor suggests alternative mechanisms for FRP inhibition of Wnt signaling. J Biol Chem 274, 16180-16187.

References

Bakker, E. R., Raghoebir, L., Franken, P. F., Helvensteijn, W., van Gurp, L., Meijlink, F., van der Valk, M. A., Rottier, R. J., Kuipers, E. J., and van Veelen, W. (2012). Induced Wnt5a expression perturbs embryonic outgrowth and intestinal elongation, but is well-tolerated in adult mice. Developmental biology *369*, 91-100.

Bänziger, C., Soldini, D., Schütt, C., Zipperlen, P., Hausmann, G., and Basler, K. (2006). Wntless, a conserved membrane protein dedicated to the secretion of Wnt proteins from signaling cells. Cell *125*, 509-522.

Barker, N., Bartfeld, S., and Clevers, H. (2010a). Tissue-Resident Adult Stem Cell Populations of Rapidly Self-Renewing Organs. Cell Stem Cell.

Barker, N., Huch, M., Kujala, P., van de Wetering, M., Snippert, H. J., van Es, J. H., Sato, T., Stange, D. E., Begthel, H., van den Born, M., *et al.* (2010b). Lgr5(+ve) stem cells drive self-renewal in the stomach and build long-lived gastric units in vitro. Cell Stem Cell *6*, 25-36.

Barker, N., van Es, J. H., Kuipers, J., Kujala, P., van den Born, M., Cozijnsen, M., Haegebarth, A., Korving, J., Begthel, H., Peters, P. J., and Clevers, H. (2007). Identification of stem cells in small intestine and colon by marker gene Lgr5. Nature 449, 1003-1007.

Bartfeld, S., and Clevers, H. (2015). Organoids as Model for Infectious Diseases: Culture of Human and Murine Stomach Organoids and Microinjection of Helicobacter Pylori. Journal of visualized experiments : JoVE.

Bartscherer, K., Pelte, N., Ingelfinger, D., and Boutros, M. (2006). Secretion of Wnt ligands requires Evi, a conserved transmembrane protein. Cell 125, 523-533.

Basu, S., Cheriyamundath, S., and Ben-Ze'ev, A. (2018). Cell-cell adhesion: linking Wnt/B-catenin signaling with partial EMT and stemness traits in tumorigenesis. F1000Res 7, F1000 Faculty Rev-1488.

Bayir, E., Sendemir, A., and Missirlis, Y. F. (2019). Mechanobiology of cells and cell systems, such as organoids. Biophys Rev 11, 721-728.

Beauchamp, R. D., Barnard, J. A., McCutchen, C. M., Cherner, J. A., and Coffey, R. J. (1989). Localization of transforming growth factor alpha and its receptor in gastric mucosal cells. Implications for a regulatory role in acid secretion and mucosal renewal. Journal of Clinical Investigation *84*, 1017-1023.

Bengochea, A., de Souza, M. M., Lefrançois, L., Le Roux, E., Galy, O., Chemin, I., Kim, M., Wands, J. R., Trepo, C., Hainaut, P., *et al.* (2008). Common dysregulation of Wnt/Frizzled receptor elements in human hepatocellular carcinoma. Brit J Cancer *99*, 143-150.

Berndt, J. D., Aoyagi, A., Yang, P., Anastas, J. N., Tang, L., and Moon, R. T. (2011). Mindbomb 1, an E3 ubiquitin ligase, forms a complex with RYK to activate Wnt/B-catenin signaling. Journal of Cell Biology 194, 737-750.

Béroud, C., and Soussi, T. (1996). APC gene: database of germline and somatic mutations in human tumors and cell lines. Nucleic acids research 24, 121-124.

Bhanot, P., Brink, M., Samos, C. H., Hsieh, J. C., Wang, Y., Macke, J. P., Andrew, D., Nathans, J., and Nusse, R. (1996). A new member of the frizzled family from Drosophila functions as a Wingless receptor. Nature *382*, 225-230.

Bhat, R. A., Stauffer, B., Komm, B. S., and Bodine, P. V. (2007). Structure-function analysis of secreted frizzled-related protein-1 for its Wnt antagonist function. J Cell Biochem *102*, 1519-1528.

Bian, Y., Chang, X., Liao, Y., Wang, J., Li, Y., Wang, K., and Wan, X. (2016). Promotion of epithelialmesenchymal transition by Frizzled2 is involved in the metastasis of endometrial cancer. Oncology reports *36*, 803-810.

Blagodatski, A., Poteryaev, D., and Katanaev, V. L. (2014). Targeting the Wnt pathways for therapies. Molecular and cellular therapies 2, 28.

Bray, F., Ferlay, J., Soerjomataram, I., Siegel, R. L., Torre, L. A., and Jemal, A. (2018). Global cancer statistics 2018: GLOBOCAN estimates of incidence and mortality worldwide for 36 cancers in 185 countries. CA: a cancer journal for clinicians *68*, 394-424.

Bredemeyer, A. J., Geahlen, J. H., Weis, V. G., Huh, W. J., Zinselmeyer, B. H., Srivatsan, S., Miller, M. J., Shaw, A. S., and Mills, J. C. (2009). The gastric epithelial progenitor cell niche and differentiation of the zymogenic (chief) cell lineage. Developmental biology *325*, 211-224.

Buchert, M., Athineos, D., Abud, H. E., Burke, Z. D., Faux, M. C., Samuel, M. S., Jarnicki, A. G., Winbanks, C. E., Newton, I. P., Meniel, V. S., *et al.* (2010). Genetic dissection of differential signaling threshold requirements for the Wnt/beta-catenin pathway in vivo. PLoS Genet *6*, e1000816.

Buchheit, C. L., Weigel, K. J., and Schafer, Z. T. (2014). Cancer cell survival during detachment from the ECM: multiple barriers to tumour progression. Nature reviews *14*, 632-641.

Buckland, G., Travier, N., Huerta, J. M., Bueno-de-Mesquita, H. B., Siersema, P. D., Skeie, G., Weiderpass, E., Engeset, D., Ericson, U., Ohlsson, B., *et al.* (2015). Healthy lifestyle index and risk of gastric adenocarcinoma in the EPIC cohort study. International journal of cancer *137*, 598-606.

Burclaff, J., Osaki, L. H., Liu, D., Goldenring, J. R., and Mills, J. C. (2017). Targeted Apoptosis of Parietal Cells Is Insufficient to Induce Metaplasia in Stomach. Gastroenterology *152*, 762-766.e767.

Bustin, S. A. (2002). Quantification of mRNA using real-time reverse transcription PCR (RT-PCR): trends and problems. Journal of molecular endocrinology 29, 23-39.

Busuttil, R. A., Liu, D. S., Di Costanzo, N., Schröder, J., Mitchell, C., and Boussioutas, A. (2018). An orthotopic mouse model of gastric cancer invasion and metastasis. Scientific Reports *8*, 825.

Butler, M. T., and Wallingford, J. B. (2017). Planar cell polarity in development and disease. Nature reviews Molecular cell biology 18, 375-388.

Buzzelli, J. N., Chalinor, H. V., Pavlic, D. I., Sutton, P., Menheniott, T. R., Giraud, A. S., and Judd, L. M. (2015). IL33 Is a Stomach Alarmin That Initiates a Skewed Th2 Response to Injury and Infection. Cellular and Molecular Gastroenterology and Hepatology 1, 203-221.e203.

Byrd, J. C., Yan, P., Sternberg, L., Yunker, C. K., Scheiman, J. M., and Bresalier, R. S. (1997). Aberrant expression of gland-type gastric mucin in the surface epithelium of Helicobacter pylori-infected patients. Gastroenterology *113*, 455-464.

Cakir, B., Xiang, Y., Tanaka, Y., Kural, M. H., Parent, M., Kang, Y.-J., Chapeton, K., Patterson, B., Yuan, Y., He, C.-S., *et al.* (2019). Engineering of human brain organoids with a functional vascular-like system. Nature Methods *16*, 1169-1175.

Caldwell, G. M., Jones, C., Gensberg, K., Jan, S., Hardy, R. G., Byrd, P., Chughtai, S., Wallis, Y., Matthews, G. M., and Morton, D. G. (2004). The Wnt antagonist sFRP1 in colorectal tumorigenesis. Cancer Res *64*, 883-888.

Cancer Genome Atlas Research, N. (2014). Comprehensive molecular characterization of gastric adenocarcinoma. Nature *513*, 202-209.

Cao, T.-T., Xiang, D., Liu, B.-L., Huang, T.-X., Tan, B.-B., Zeng, C.-M., Wang, Z.-Y., Ming, X.-Y., Zhang, L.-Y., Jin, G., *et al.* (2017). FZD7 is a novel prognostic marker and promotes tumor metastasis via WNT and EMT signaling pathways in esophageal squamous cell carcinoma. Oncotarget *8*, 65957-65968.

Carmon, K. S., Gong, X., Lin, Q., Thomas, A., and Liu, Q. (2011). R-spondins function as ligands of the orphan receptors LGR4 and LGR5 to regulate Wnt/beta-catenin signaling. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *108*, 11452-11457.

Carrasco-Garcia, E., García-Puga, M., Arevalo, S., and Matheu, A. (2018). Towards precision medicine: linking genetic and cellular heterogeneity in gastric cancer. Ther Adv Med Oncol *10*, 1758835918794628-1758835918794628.

References

Chakrabarti, R., Wei, Y., Hwang, J., Hang, X., Andres Blanco, M., Choudhury, A., Tiede, B., Romano, R. A., DeCoste, C., Mercatali, L., *et al.* (2014). Δ Np63 promotes stem cell activity in mammary gland development and basal-like breast cancer by enhancing Fzd7 expression and Wnt signalling. Nature cell biology *16*, 1004-1015, 1001-1013.

Chen, H.-Y., Lang, Y.-D., Lin, H.-N., Liu, Y.-R., Liao, C.-C., Nana, A. W., Yen, Y., and Chen, R.-H. (2019). miR-103/107 prolong Wnt/B-catenin signaling and colorectal cancer stemness by targeting Axin2. Scientific Reports 9, 9687.

Chen, P.-H., Chen, X., Lin, Z., Fang, D., and He, X. (2013). The structural basis of R-spondin recognition by LGR5 and RNF43. Genes & Development 27, 1345-1350.

Chen, S., Bubeck, D., MacDonald, B. T., Liang, W. X., Mao, J. H., Malinauskas, T., Llorca, O., Aricescu, A. R., Siebold, C., He, X., and Jones, E. Y. (2011). Structural and functional studies of LRP6 ectodomain reveal a platform for Wnt signaling. Dev Cell *21*, 848-861.

Cheng, Y. Y., Yu, J., Wong, Y. P., Man, E. P., To, K. F., Jin, V. X., Li, J., Tao, Q., Sung, J. J., Chan, F. K., and Leung, W. K. (2007). Frequent epigenetic inactivation of secreted frizzled-related protein 2 (SFRP2) by promoter methylation in human gastric cancer. Br J Cancer *97*, 895-901.

Chiou, S.-H., Wang, M.-L., Chou, Y.-T., Chen, C.-J., Hong, C.-F., Hsieh, W.-J., Chang, H.-T., Chen, Y.-S., Lin, T.-W., and Hsu, H.-S. (2010). Coexpression of Oct4 and Nanog enhances malignancy in lung adenocarcinoma by inducing cancer stem cell-like properties and epithelial-mesenchymal transdifferentiation. Cancer research *70*, 10433-10444.

Clements, W. M., Wang, J., Sarnaik, A., Kim, O. J., MacDonald, J., Fenoglio-Preiser, C., Groden, J., and Lowy, A. M. (2002). B-catenin Mutation Is a Frequent Cause of Wnt Pathway Activation in Gastric Cancer. Cancer Research *62*, 3503.

Clevers, H. (2006). Wnt/beta-catenin signaling in development and disease. Cell 127, 469-480.

Clevers, H., and Nusse, R. (2012a). Wnt/beta-catenin signaling and disease. Cell 149, 1192-1205.

Clevers, H., and Nusse, R. (2012b). Wnt/B-catenin signaling and disease. Cell 149, 1192-1205.

Cliffe, A., Hamada, F., and Bienz, M. (2003). A role of Dishevelled in relocating Axin to the plasma membrane during wingless signaling. Curr Biol *13*, 960-966.

Coati, I., Lotz, G., Fanelli, G. N., Brignola, S., Lanza, C., Cappellesso, R., Pellino, A., Pucciarelli, S., Spolverato, G., Guzzardo, V., *et al.* (2019). Claudin-18 expression in oesophagogastric adenocarcinomas: a tissue microarray study of 523 molecularly profiled cases. Br J Cancer *121*, 257-263.

Colvin, H., Yamamoto, K., Wada, N., and Mori, M. (2015). Hereditary gastric cancer syndromes. Surgical Oncology Clinics 24, 765-777.

Cong, F., Schweizer, L., and Varmus, H. (2004). Wht signals across the plasma membrane to activate the beta-catenin pathway by forming oligomers containing its receptors, Frizzled and LRP. Development *131*, 5103-5115.

Corda, G., and Sala, A. (2017). Non-canonical WNT/PCP signalling in cancer: Fzd6 takes centre stage. Oncogenesis 6, e364-e364.

Corda, G., Sala, G., Lattanzio, R., Iezzi, M., Sallese, M., Fragassi, G., Lamolinara, A., Mirza, H., Barcaroli, D., Ermler, S., *et al.* (2017). Functional and prognostic significance of the genomic amplification of frizzled 6 (FZD6) in breast cancer. The Journal of pathology *241*, 350-361.

Correa, P. (1988). A human model of gastric carcinogenesis. Cancer research 48, 3554-3560.

Correa, P. (2013). Gastric cancer: overview. Gastroenterology clinics of North America 42, 211-217.

Cristescu, R., Lee, J., Nebozhyn, M., Kim, K.-M., Ting, J. C., Wong, S. S., Liu, J., Yue, Y. G., Wang, J., Yu, K., *et al.* (2015). Molecular analysis of gastric cancer identifies subtypes associated with distinct clinical outcomes. Nature medicine *21*, 449.

Cruciat, C. M., and Niehrs, C. (2013). Secreted and transmembrane wnt inhibitors and activators. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol 5, a015081.

Dalerba, P., Cho, R. W., and Clarke, M. F. (2007). Cancer Stem Cells: Models and Concepts. Annual Review of Medicine 58, 267-284.

Daniels, D. L., and Weis, W. I. (2005). Beta-catenin directly displaces Groucho/TLE repressors from Tcf/Lef in Wnt-mediated transcription activation. Nat Struct Mol Biol 12, 364-371.

Dann, C. E., Hsieh, J. C., Rattner, A., Sharma, D., Nathans, J., and Leahy, D. J. (2001). Insights into Wnt binding and signalling from the structures of two Frizzled cysteine-rich domains. Nature 412, 86-90.

Davidson, G., Wu, W., Shen, J., Bilic, J., Fenger, U., Stannek, P., Glinka, A., and Niehrs, C. (2005). Casein kinase 1 gamma couples Wnt receptor activation to cytoplasmic signal transduction. Nature 438, 867-872.

de Lau, W., Barker, N., Low, T. Y., Koo, B. K., Li, V. S., Teunissen, H., Kujala, P., Haegebarth, A., Peters, P. J., van de Wetering, M., *et al.* (2011). Lgr5 homologues associate with Wnt receptors and mediate R-spondin signalling. Nature *476*, 293-297.

de Voer, R. M., Hahn, M.-M., Weren, R. D., Mensenkamp, A. R., Gilissen, C., van Zelst-Stams, W. A., Spruijt, L., Kets, C. M., Zhang, J., and Venselaar, H. (2016). Identification of novel candidate genes for early-onset colorectal cancer susceptibility. PLoS Genet *12*.

Dekel, B., Metsuyanim, S., Schmidt-Ott, K. M., Fridman, E., Jacob-Hirsch, J., Simon, A., Pinthus, J., Mor, Y., Barasch, J., Amariglio, N., *et al.* (2006). Multiple imprinted and stemness genes provide a link between normal and tumor progenitor cells of the developing human kidney. Cancer Res *66*, 6040-6049.

Deng, B., Zhang, S., Miao, Y., Zhang, Y., Wen, F., and Guo, K. (2015). Down-regulation of Frizzled-7 expression inhibits migration, invasion, and epithelial-mesenchymal transition of cervical cancer cell lines. Med Oncol 32, 102.

Derks, S., Liao, X., Chiaravalli, A. M., Xu, X., Camargo, M. C., Solcia, E., Sessa, F., Fleitas, T., Freeman, G. J., and Rodig, S. J. (2016). Abundant PD-L1 expression in Epstein-Barr Virus-infected gastric cancers. Oncotarget 7, 32925.

Díaz, P., Valenzuela Valderrama, M., Bravo, J., and Quest, A. F. G. (2018). Helicobacter pylori and Gastric Cancer: Adaptive Cellular Mechanisms Involved in Disease Progression. Frontiers in Microbiology 9.

DiMeo, T. A., Anderson, K., Phadke, P., Fan, C., Perou, C. M., Naber, S., and Kuperwasser, C. (2009). A novel lung metastasis signature links Wht signaling with cancer cell self-renewal and epithelial-mesenchymal transition in basal-like breast cancer. Cancer research *69*, 5364-5373.

Dong, B., Vold, S., Olvera-Jaramillo, C., and Chang, H. (2018). Functional redundancy of frizzled 3 and frizzled 6 in planar cell polarity control of mouse hair follicles. Development *145*, dev168468.

Douma, S., Van Laar, T., Zevenhoven, J., Meuwissen, R., Van Garderen, E., and Peeper, D. S. (2004). Suppression of anoikis and induction of metastasis by the neurotrophic receptor TrkB. Nature *430*, 1034-1039.

Ebert, M. P. A., Fei, G., Kahmann, S., Müller, O., Yu, J., Sung, J. J. Y., and Malfertheiner, P. (2002). Increased B-catenin mRNA levels and mutational alterations of the APC and B-catenin gene are present in intestinal-type gastric cancer. Carcinogenesis 23, 87-91.

El-Zimaity, H. M. T., Ota, H., Graham, D. Y., Akamatsu, T., and Katsuyama, T. (2002). Patterns of gastric atrophy in intestinal type gastric carcinoma. Cancer *94*, 1428-1436.

ElHalawani, H., and Abdel-Rahman, O. (2015). Critical evaluation of ramucirumab in the treatment of advanced gastric and gastroesophageal cancers. Ther Clin Risk Manag *11*, 1123-1132.

Engevik, A. C., Kaji, I., and Goldenring, J. R. (2019). The Physiology of the Gastric Parietal Cell. Physiological Reviews 100, 573-602.

Ermund, A., Schütte, A., Johansson, M. E. V., Gustafsson, J. K., and Hansson, G. C. (2013). Studies of mucus in mouse stomach, small intestine, and colon. I. Gastrointestinal mucus layers have different properties depending on location as well as over the Peyer's patches. American journal of physiology Gastrointestinal and liver physiology *305*, G341-G347.

Eto, T., Miyake, K., Nosho, K., Ohmuraya, M., Imamura, Y., Arima, K., Kanno, S., Fu, L., Kiyozumi, Y., Izumi, D., *et al.* (2018). Impact of loss-of-function mutations at the RNF43 locus on colorectal cancer development and progression. The Journal of pathology *245*, 445-455.

Fenderico, N., van Scherpenzeel, R. C., Goldflam, M., Proverbio, D., Jordens, I., Kralj, T., Stryeck, S., Bass, T. Z., Hermans, G., Ullman, C., *et al.* (2019). Anti-LRP5/6 VHHs promote differentiation of Wnthypersensitive intestinal stem cells. Nature communications *10*, 365.

Ferlay, J., Soerjomataram, I., Dikshit, R., Eser, S., Mathers, C., Rebelo, M., Parkin, D. M., Forman, D., and Bray, F. (2015). Cancer incidence and mortality worldwide: sources, methods and major patterns in GLOBOCAN 2012. International journal of cancer *136*, E359-386.

Fernandez, A., Huggins, I. J., Perna, L., Brafman, D., Lu, D., Yao, S., Gaasterland, T., Carson, D. A., and Willert, K. (2014). The WNT receptor FZD7 is required for maintenance of the pluripotent state in human embryonic stem cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *111*, 1409-1414.

Flahaut, M., Meier, R., Coulon, A., Nardou, K. A., Niggli, F. K., Martinet, D., Beckmann, J. S., Joseph, J. M., Mühlethaler-Mottet, A., and Gross, N. (2009). The Wnt receptor FZD1 mediates chemoresistance in neuroblastoma through activation of the Wnt/beta-catenin pathway. Oncogene *28*, 2245-2256.

Flanagan, D., Barker, N., Di Costanzo, N. S., Mason, E. A., Gurney, A., Meniel, V. S., Koushyar, S., Austin, C. R., Pearson, H. B., Boussioutas, A., *et al.* (2019a). Frizzled-7 is required for Wnt signaling in gastric tumors with and without Apc mutations. Cancer Research, canres.2095.2018.

Flanagan, D., Barker, N., Ernst, M., Vincan, E., and Phesse, T. (2019b). The Function of Lgr5(+) Cells in the Gastric Antrum Does Not Require Fzd7 or Myc In Vivo. Biomedicines 7, 50.

Flanagan, D. J., Barker, N., Nowell, C., Clevers, H., Ernst, M., Phesse, T. J., and Vincan, E. (2017a). Loss of the Wnt receptor frizzled 7 in the mouse gastric epithelium is deleterious and triggers rapid repopulation in vivo. Dis Model Mech 10, 971-980.

Flanagan, D. J., Phesse, T. J., Barker, N., Schwab, R. H., Amin, N., Malaterre, J., Stange, D. E., Nowell, C. J., Currie, S. A., Saw, J. T., *et al.* (2015a). Frizzled7 functions as a Wnt receptor in intestinal epithelial Lgr5(+) stem cells. Stem Cell Reports *4*, 759-767.

Flanagan, D. J., Phesse, T. J., Barker, N., Schwab, R. H. M., Amin, N., Malaterre, J., Stange, D. E., Nowell, C. J., Currie, S. A., Saw, J. T. S., *et al.* (2015b). Frizzled7 Functions as a Wnt Receptor in Intestinal Epithelial Lgr5(+) Stem Cells. Stem Cell Reports *4*, 759-767.

Flanagan, D. J., Schwab, R. H., Tran, B. M., Phesse, T. J., and Vincan, E. (2016). Isolation and Culture of Adult Intestinal, Gastric, and Liver Organoids for Cre-recombinase-Mediated Gene Deletion. Methods in molecular biology.

Flanagan, D. J., Vincan, E., and Phesse, T. J. (2017b). Winding back Wnt signalling: potential therapeutic targets for treating gastric cancers. Br J Pharmacol.

Flanagan, D. J., Vincan, E., and Phesse, T. J. (2019c). Wnt Signaling in Cancer: Not a Binary ON:OFF Switch. Cancer Research 79, 5901.

Flanagan, J. D., Austin, R. C., Vincan, E., and Phesse, J. T. (2018). Wnt Signalling in Gastrointestinal Epithelial Stem Cells. Genes 9.

Forbes, S. A., Beare, D., Boutselakis, H., Bamford, S., Bindal, N., Tate, J., Cole, C. G., Ward, S., Dawson, E., Ponting, L., *et al.* (2017). COSMIC: somatic cancer genetics at high-resolution. Nucleic Acids Res *45*, D777-d783.

Fox, J. G., Rogers, A. B., Whary, M. T., Ge, Z., Ohtani, M., Jones, E. K., and Wang, T. C. (2007). Accelerated progression of gastritis to dysplasia in the pyloric antrum of TFF2 -/- C57BL6 x Sv129 Helicobacter pylori-infected mice. The American journal of pathology *171*, 1520-1528.

Fredriksson, R., Lagerstrom, M. C., Lundin, L. G., and Schioth, H. B. (2003). The G-protein-coupled receptors in the human genome form five main families. Phylogenetic analysis, paralogon groups, and fingerprints. Molecular pharmacology *63*, 1256-1272.

Fu, Y., Chen, Y., Huang, J., Cai, Z., and Wang, Y. (2020). RYK, a receptor of noncanonical Wnt ligand Wnt5a, is positively correlated with gastric cancer tumorigenesis and potential of liver metastasis. American Journal of Physiology-Gastrointestinal and Liver Physiology *318*, G352-G360.

Gagliardi, M., Hernandez, A., McGough, I. J., and Vincent, J. P. (2014). Inhibitors of endocytosis prevent Wnt/Wingless signalling by reducing the level of basal B-catenin/Armadillo. J Cell Sci 127, 4918-4926.

Gaj, T., Gersbach, C. A., and Barbas, C. F., 3rd (2013). ZFN, TALEN, and CRISPR/Cas-based methods for genome engineering. Trends in biotechnology *31*, 397-405.

Gao, C., Wang, Y., Broaddus, R., Sun, L., Xue, F., and Zhang, W. (2017a). Exon 3 mutations of CTNNB1 drive tumorigenesis: a review. Oncotarget *9*, 5492-5508.

Gao, D., Vela, I., Sboner, A., Iaquinta, P. J., Karthaus, W. R., Gopalan, A., Dowling, C., Wanjala, J. N., Undvall, E. A., and Arora, V. K. (2014). Organoid cultures derived from patients with advanced prostate cancer. Cell *159*, 176-187.

Gao, Y., Bado, I., Wang, H., Zhang, W., Rosen, J. M., and Zhang, X. H. F. (2019). Metastasis Organotropism: Redefining the Congenial Soil. Dev Cell 49, 375-391.

Gao, Y., Cai, A., Xi, H., Li, J., Xu, W., Zhang, Y., Zhang, K., Cui, J., Wu, X., Wei, B., and Chen, L. (2017b). Ring finger protein 43 associates with gastric cancer progression and attenuates the stemness of gastric cancer stem-like cells via the Wnt-B/catenin signaling pathway. Stem Cell Res Ther *8*, 98-98.

Garneau, J. E., Dupuis, M.-È., Villion, M., Romero, D. A., Barrangou, R., Boyaval, P., Fremaux, C., Horvath, P., Magadán, A. H., and Moineau, S. (2010). The CRISPR/Cas bacterial immune system cleaves bacteriophage and plasmid DNA. Nature *468*, 67-71.

Gaspar, C., and Fodde, R. (2004). APC dosage effects in tumorigenesis and stem cell differentiation. International Journal of Developmental Biology 48, 377-386.

Geng, Y., Lu, X., Wu, X., Xue, L., Wang, X., and Xu, J. (2016). MicroRNA-27b suppresses Helicobacter pylori-induced gastric tumorigenesis through negatively regulating Frizzled7. Oncology reports *35*, 2441-2450.

Giannakis, M., Hodis, E., Jasmine Mu, X., Yamauchi, M., Rosenbluh, J., Cibulskis, K., Saksena, G., Lawrence, M. S., Qian, Z. R., Nishihara, R., *et al.* (2014). RNF43 is frequently mutated in colorectal and endometrial cancers. Nat Genet *46*, 1264-1266.

Giannakis, M., Stappenbeck, T. S., Mills, J. C., Leip, D. G., Lovett, M., Clifton, S. W., Ippolito, J. E., Glasscock, J. I., Arumugam, M., Brent, M. R., and Gordon, J. I. (2006). Molecular properties of adult mouse gastric and intestinal epithelial progenitors in their niches. J Biol Chem 281, 11292-11300.

Giardiello, F. M., Krush, A. J., Petersen, G. M., Booker, S. V., Kerr, M., Tong, L. L., and Hamilton, S. R. (1994). Phenotypic variability of familial adenomatous polyposis in 11 unrelated families with identical APC gene mutation. Gastroenterology *106*, 1542-1547.

Gilkes, D. M., Semenza, G. L., and Wirtz, D. (2014). Hypoxia and the extracellular matrix: drivers of tumour metastasis. Nature reviews 14, 430-439.

Gnad, T., Feoktistova, M., Leverkus, M., Lendeckel, U., and Naumann, M. (2010). Helicobacter pyloriinduced activation of beta-catenin involves low density lipoprotein receptor-related protein 6 and Dishevelled. Molecular cancer 9, 31-31.

Goel, S., Chin, E. N., Fakhraldeen, S. A., Berry, S. M., Beebe, D. J., and Alexander, C. M. (2012). Both LRP5 and LRP6 receptors are required to respond to physiological Wnt ligands in mammary epithelial cells and fibroblasts. J Biol Chem 287, 16454-16466.

Golan, T., Yaniv, A., Bafico, A., Liu, G., and Gazit, A. (2004). The human Frizzled 6 (HFz6) acts as a negative regulator of the canonical Wnt \cdot B-catenin signaling cascade. Journal of Biological Chemistry 279, 14879-14888.

Goldenring, J. R., and Nam, K. T. (2010). Oxyntic atrophy, metaplasia, and gastric cancer. Prog Mol Biol Transl Sci 96, 117-131.

Gómez-Cuadrado, L., Tracey, N., Ma, R., Qian, B., and Brunton, V. G. (2017). Mouse models of metastasis: progress and prospects. Disease Models & amp; amp; Mechanisms 10, 1061.

González-Romero, E., Martínez-Valiente, C., García-Ruiz, C., Vázquez-Manrique, R. P., Cervera, J., and Sanjuan-Pla, A. (2019). CRISPR to fix bad blood: a new tool in basic and clinical hematology. Haematologica *104*, 881-893.

González-Sancho, J. M., Aguilera, O., García, J. M., Pendás-Franco, N., Peña, C., Cal, S., García de Herreros, A., Bonilla, F., and Muñoz, A. (2005). The Wnt antagonist DICKKOPF-1 gene is a downstream target of beta-catenin/TCF and is downregulated in human colon cancer. Oncogene 24, 1098-1103.

González, C. A., Megraud, F., Buissonniere, A., Lujan Barroso, L., Agudo, A., Duell, E. J., Boutron-Ruault, M. C., Clavel-Chapelon, F., Palli, D., Krogh, V., *et al.* (2012). Helicobacter pylori infection assessed by ELISA and by immunoblot and noncardia gastric cancer risk in a prospective study: the Eurgast-EPIC project. Annals of oncology : official journal of the European Society for Medical Oncology *23*, 1320-1324.

Goodman, R. M., Thombre, S., Firtina, Z., Gray, D., Betts, D., Roebuck, J., Spana, E. P., and Selva, E. M. (2006). Sprinter: a novel transmembrane protein required for Wg secretion and signaling. Development 133, 4901-4911.

Gottardi, C. J., Wong, E., and Gumbiner, B. M. (2001). E-cadherin suppresses cellular transformation by inhibiting B-catenin signaling in an adhesion-independent manner. The Journal of cell biology *153*, 1049-1060.

Gravaghi, C., Bo, J., LaPerle, K., Quimby, F., Kucherlapati, R., Edelmann, W., and Lamprecht, S. (2008). Obesity enhances gastrointestinal tumorigenesis in Apc-mutant mice. International journal of obesity 32, 1716-1719.

Green, J. L., Kuntz, S. G., and Sternberg, P. W. (2008). Ror receptor tyrosine kinases: orphans no more. Trends in Cell Biology 18, 536-544.

Gribble, F. M., and Reimann, F. (2016). Enteroendocrine Cells: Chemosensors in the Intestinal Epithelium. Annual Review of Physiology 78, 277-299.

Gross, J. C., Chaudhary, V., Bartscherer, K., and Boutros, M. (2012). Active Wnt proteins are secreted on exosomes. Nature cell biology 14, 1036-1045.

Grumolato, L., Liu, G., Mong, P., Mudbhary, R., Biswas, R., Arroyave, R., Vijayakumar, S., Economides, A. N., and Aaronson, S. A. (2010). Canonical and noncanonical Wnts use a common mechanism to activate completely unrelated coreceptors. Genes & Development *24*, 2517-2530.

Guilford, P., Hopkins, J., Harraway, J., McLeod, M., McLeod, N., Harawira, P., Taite, H., Scoular, R., Miller, A., and Reeve, A. E. (1998a). E-cadherin germline mutations in familial gastric cancer. Nature *392*, 402-405.

References

Guilford, P., Hopkins, J., Harraway, J., McLeod, M., McLeod, N., Harawira, P., Taite, H., Scoular, R., Miller, A., and Reeve, A. E. (1998b). E-cadherin germline mutations in familial gastric cancer. Nature *392*, 402.

Gujral, Taranjit S., Chan, M., Peshkin, L., Sorger, Peter K., Kirschner, Marc W., and MacBeath, G. (2014). A Noncanonical Frizzled2 Pathway Regulates Epithelial-Mesenchymal Transition and Metastasis. Cell *159*, 844-856.

Gunturu, K. S., Woo, Y., Beaubier, N., Remotti, H. E., and Saif, M. W. (2013). Gastric cancer and trastuzumab: first biologic therapy in gastric cancer. Ther Adv Med Oncol 5, 143-151.

Gupta, S., Iljin, K., Sara, H., Mpindi, J. P., Mirtti, T., Vainio, P., Rantala, J., Alanen, K., Nees, M., and Kallioniemi, O. (2010). FZD4 as a mediator of ERG oncogene-induced WNT signaling and epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition in human prostate cancer cells. Cancer Res *70*, 6735-6745.

Gurney, A., Axelrod, F., Bond, C. J., Cain, J., Chartier, C., Donigan, L., Fischer, M., Chaudhari, A., Ji, M., Kapoun, A. M., *et al.* (2012). Wht pathway inhibition via the targeting of Frizzled receptors results in decreased growth and tumorigenicity of human tumors. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *109*, 11717-11722.

Håkanson, R., Böttcher, G., Ekblad, E., Panula, P., Simonsson, M., Dohlsten, M., Hallberg, T., and Sundler, F. (1986). Histamine in endocrine cells in the stomach. Histochemistry *86*, 5-17.

Hanahan, D., and Weinberg, Robert A. (2011). Hallmarks of Cancer: The Next Generation. Cell 144, 646-674.

Hanaki, H., Yamamoto, H., Sakane, H., Matsumoto, S., Ohdan, H., Sato, A., and Kikuchi, A. (2012). An Anti-Wnt5a Antibody Suppresses Metastasis of Gastric Cancer Cells & lt;em>In Vivo by Inhibiting Receptor-Mediated Endocytosis. Molecular cancer therapeutics *11*, 298.

Hanby, A. M., Poulsom, R., Playford, R. J., and Wright, N. A. (1999). The mucous neck cell in the human gastric corpus: a distinctive, functional cell lineage. The Journal of pathology *187*, 331-337.

Hao, H.-X., Jiang, X., and Cong, F. (2016). Control of Wnt Receptor Turnover by R-spondin-ZNRF3/RNF43 Signaling Module and Its Dysregulation in Cancer. Cancers *8*, 54.

Hao, H. X., Xie, Y., Zhang, Y., Charlat, O., Oster, E., Avello, M., Lei, H., Mickanin, C., Liu, D., Ruffner, H., *et al.* (2012). ZNRF3 promotes Wnt receptor turnover in an R-spondin-sensitive manner. Nature *485*, 195-200.

Hara, T., Ooi, A., Kobayashi, M., Mai, M., Yanagihara, K., and Nakanishi, I. (1998). Amplification of c-myc, K-sam, and c-met in gastric cancers: detection by fluorescence in situ hybridization. Laboratory investigation; a journal of technical methods and pathology 78, 1143-1153.

Harterink, M., and Korswagen, H. C. (2012). Dissecting the Wnt secretion pathway: key questions on the modification and intracellular trafficking of Wnt proteins. Acta Physiol (Oxf) 204, 8-16.

Hata, M., Hayakawa, Y., and Koike, K. (2018). Gastric Stem Cell and Cellular Origin of Cancer. Biomedicines 6, 100.

Hayakawa, Y., Ariyama, H., Stancikova, J., Sakitani, K., Asfaha, S., Renz, B. W., Dubeykovskaya, Z. A., Shibata, W., Wang, H., Westphalen, C. B., *et al.* (2015a). Mist1 Expressing Gastric Stem Cells Maintain the Normal and Neoplastic Gastric Epithelium and Are Supported by a Perivascular Stem Cell Niche. Cancer cell *28*, 800-814.

Hayakawa, Y., Fox, J. G., Gonda, T., Worthley, D. L., Muthupalani, S., and Wang, T. C. (2013). Mouse models of gastric cancer. Cancers (Basel) 5, 92-130.

Hayakawa, Y., Jin, G., Wang, H., Chen, X., Westphalen, C. B., Asfaha, S., Renz, B. W., Ariyama, H., Dubeykovskaya, Z. A., Takemoto, Y., *et al.* (2015b). CCK2R identifies and regulates gastric antral stem cell states and carcinogenesis. Gut *64*, 544-553.

References

Henderson, B. R., and Fagotto, F. (2002). The ins and outs of APC and beta-catenin nuclear transport. EMBO reports 3, 834-839.

Herr, P., Hausmann, G., and Basler, K. (2012). WNT secretion and signalling in human disease. Trends in molecular medicine 18, 483-493.

Hessey, S. J., Spencer, J., Wyatt, J. I., Sobala, G., Rathbone, B. J., Axon, A. T., and Dixon, M. F. (1990). Bacterial adhesion and disease activity in Helicobacter associated chronic gastritis. Gut *31*, 134-138.

Hirano, H., Yonezawa, H., Yunoue, S., Habu, M., Uchida, H., Yoshioka, T., Kishida, S., Kishida, M., Oyoshi, T., and Fujio, S. (2014). Immunoreactivity of Wnt5a, Fzd2, Fzd6, and Ryk in glioblastoma: evaluative methodology for DAB chromogenic immunostaining. Brain tumor pathology *31*, 85-93.

Hoffmann, W. (2005). Trefoil factors TFF (trefoil factor family) peptide-triggered signals promoting mucosal restitution. Cellular and molecular life sciences : CMLS 62, 2932-2938.

Hoffmann, W. (2008). Regeneration of the Gastric Mucosa and its Glands from Stem Cells. Current Medicinal Chemistry 15.

Hoppler, S., and Kavanagh, C. L. (2007). Wnt signalling: variety at the core. J Cell Sci 120, 385-393.

Horii, A., Nakatsuru, S., Miyoshi, Y., Ichii, S., Nagase, H., Kato, Y., Yanagisawa, A., and Nakamura, Y. (1992). The APC gene, responsible for familial adenomatous polyposis, is mutated in human gastric cancer. Cancer Res 52, 3231-3233.

Howlett, M., Chalinor, H. V., Buzzelli, J. N., Nguyen, N., van Driel, I. R., Bell, K. M., Fox, J. G., Dimitriadis, E., Menheniott, T. R., Giraud, A. S., and Judd, L. M. (2012). IL-11 is a parietal cell cytokine that induces atrophic gastritis. Gut *61*, 1398.

Hsieh, J. C., Kodjabachian, L., Rebbert, M. L., Rattner, A., Smallwood, P. M., Samos, C. H., Nusse, R., Dawid, I. B., and Nathans, J. (1999). A new secreted protein that binds to Wnt proteins and inhibits their activities. Nature *398*, 431-436.

Hu, Q.-J., Ito, S., Yanagihara, K., and Mimori, K. (2018). Molecular mechanism of peritoneal dissemination in gastric cancer. Angiogenesis *61*, 65-67.

Huang, J., Xiao, D., Li, G., Ma, J., Chen, P., Yuan, W., Hou, F., Ge, J., Zhong, M., Tang, Y., *et al.* (2014). EphA2 promotes epithelial-mesenchymal transition through the Wnt/B-catenin pathway in gastric cancer cells. Oncogene *33*, 2737-2747.

Huang, S. M., Mishina, Y. M., Liu, S., Cheung, A., Stegmeier, F., Michaud, G. A., Charlat, O., Wiellette, E., Zhang, Y., Wiessner, S., *et al.* (2009). Tankyrase inhibition stabilizes axin and antagonizes Wnt signalling. Nature *461*, 614-620.

Huh, W. J., Khurana, S. S., Geahlen, J. H., Kohli, K., Waller, R. A., and Mills, J. C. (2012). Tamoxifen Induces Rapid, Reversible Atrophy, and Metaplasia in Mouse Stomach. Gastroenterology *142*, 21-24.e27.

Hwang, W. L., Jiang, J. K., Yang, S. H., Huang, T. S., Lan, H. Y., Teng, H. W., Yang, C. Y., Tsai, Y. P., Lin, C. H., Wang, H. W., and Yang, M. H. (2014). MicroRNA-146a directs the symmetric division of Snail-dominant colorectal cancer stem cells. Nature cell biology *16*, 268-280.

Ikeguchi, M., Kader, A., Takaya, S., Fukumoto, Y., Osaki, T., Saito, H., Tatebe, S., and Wakatsuki, T. (2012). Prognosis of patients with gastric cancer who underwent proximal gastrectomy. Int Surg *97*, 275-279.

Ito, K., Chuang, L. S. H., Ito, T., Chang, T. L., Fukamachi, H., Salto-Tellez, M., and Ito, Y. (2011). Loss of Runx3 is a key event in inducing precancerous state of the stomach. Gastroenterology *140*, 1536-1546. e1538.

J Mao, S. F., W Ma, P Fan, B Wang, J Zhang, H Wang, B Tang, Q Zhang, X Yu, L Wang, B Song and L Li. (2014). Roles of Wnt/B-catenin signaling in the gastric cancer stem cells proliferation and salinomycin treatment Cell death and disease.

J.J.G. Marin, R. A.-A., E. Lozano, O. Briz, L. Bujanda, J.M. Banales and R.I.R. Macias (2016). Mechanisms of Resistance to Chemotherapy in Gastric Cancer Anti-Cancer Agents in Medicinal Chemistry *16*, 318-334.

Janda, C. Y., Waghray, D., Levin, A. M., Thomas, C., and Garcia, K. C. (2012). Structural basis of Wnt recognition by Frizzled. Science 337, 59-64.

Janjigian, Y. Y., Chou, J. F., Simmons, M., Momtaz, P., Sanchez-Vega, F., Shcherba, M., Ku, G. Y., Won, E., Chong, C. R., Gerdes, H., *et al.* (2019). First-line pembrolizumab (P), trastuzumab (T), capecitabine (C) and oxaliplatin (O) in HER2-positive metastatic esophagogastric adenocarcinoma (mEGA). Journal of Clinical Oncology *37*, 62-62.

Jho, E. H., Zhang, T., Domon, C., Joo, C. K., Freund, J. N., and Costantini, F. (2002). Wnt/betacatenin/Tcf signaling induces the transcription of Axin2, a negative regulator of the signaling pathway. Mol Cell Biol 22, 1172-1183.

Jiang, K., Shen, Z., Ye, Y., Yang, X., and Wang, S. (2010). A novel molecular marker for early detection and evaluating prognosis of gastric cancer: N-myc downstream regulated gene-1 (NDRG1). Scandinavian Journal of Gastroenterology *45*, 898-908.

Jiang, Q., He, M., Guan, S., Ma, M., Wu, H., Yu, Z., Jiang, L., Wang, Y., Zong, X., Jin, F., and Wei, M. (2016). MicroRNA-100 suppresses the migration and invasion of breast cancer cells by targeting FZD-8 and inhibiting Wnt/B-catenin signaling pathway. Tumour Biol *37*, 5001-5011.

Jiang, X., Hao, H.-X., Growney, J. D., Woolfenden, S., Bottiglio, C., Ng, N., Lu, B., Hsieh, M. H., Bagdasarian, L., Meyer, R., *et al.* (2013). Inactivating mutations of RNF43 confer Wnt dependency in pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America *110*, 12649-12654.

Johansson, J., Naszai, M., Hodder, M. C., Pickering, K. A., Miller, B. W., Ridgway, R. A., Yu, Y., Peschard, P., Brachmann, S., Campbell, A. D., *et al.* (2019). RAL GTPases Drive Intestinal Stem Cell Function and Regeneration through Internalization of WNT Signalosomes. Cell Stem Cell *24*, 592-607.e597.

Jones, S. E., and Jomary, C. (2002). Secreted Frizzled-related proteins: searching for relationships and patterns. Bioessays 24, 811-820.

Kadowaki, T., Wilder, E., Klingensmith, J., Zachary, K., and Perrimon, N. (1996). The segment polarity gene porcupine encodes a putative multitransmembrane protein involved in Wingless processing. Genes Dev 10, 3116-3128.

Kagey, M. H., and He, X. (2017). Rationale for targeting the Wnt signalling modulator Dickkopf-1 for oncology. British journal of pharmacology 174, 4637-4650.

Kamino, M., Kishida, M., Kibe, T., Ikoma, K., Iijima, M., Hirano, H., Tokudome, M., Chen, L., Koriyama, C., and Yamada, K. (2011). Wnt-5a signaling is correlated with infiltrative activity in human glioma by inducing cellular migration and MMP-2. Cancer science *102*, 540-548.

Karam, S. M. a. L., C.P. (1993). Dynamics of epithelial cells in the corpus of the mouse stomach. I. Identification of proliferative cell types and pinpointing of the stem cell. Anat Rec.

Kararli, T. T. (1995). Comparison of the gastrointestinal anatomy, physiology, and biochemistry of humans and commonly used laboratory animals. Biopharmaceutics & Drug Dispostion *16*, 351-380.

Katai, H., Ishikawa, T., Akazawa, K., Isobe, Y., Miyashiro, I., Oda, I., Tsujitani, S., Ono, H., Tanabe, S., Fukagawa, T., *et al.* (2018). Five-year survival analysis of surgically resected gastric cancer cases in Japan: a retrospective analysis of more than 100,000 patients from the nationwide registry of the Japanese Gastric Cancer Association (2001-2007). Gastric cancer : official journal of the International Gastric Cancer Association and the Japanese Gastric Cancer Association 21, 144-154.

Katoh, M., Kirikoshi, H., Terasaki, H., and Shiokawa, K. (2001). WNT2B2 mRNA, up-regulated in primary gastric cancer, is a positive regulator of the WNT-B-catenin-TCF signaling pathway. Biochemical and biophysical research communications 289, 1093-1098.

Katona, B. W., and Rustgi, A. K. (2017). Gastric Cancer Genomics: Advances and Future Directions. In Cellular and molecular gastroenterology and hepatology, pp. 211-217.

Katsantoni, E. Z., Anghelescu, N. E., Rottier, R., Moerland, M., Antoniou, M., de Crom, R., Grosveld, F., and Strouboulis, J. (2007). Ubiquitous expression of the rtTA2S-M2 inducible system in transgenic mice driven by the human hnRNPA2B1/CBX3 CpG island. BMC Developmental Biology 7, 108.

Kazanskaya, O., Glinka, A., del Barco Barrantes, I., Stannek, P., Niehrs, C., and Wu, W. (2004). R-Spondin2 Is a Secreted Activator of Wnt/B-Catenin Signaling and Is Required for Xenopus Myogenesis. Dev Cell 7, 525-534.

Keeble, T. R., Halford, M. M., Seaman, C., Kee, N., Macheda, M., Anderson, R. B., Stacker, S. A., and Cooper, H. M. (2006). The Wnt Receptor Ryk Is Required for Wnt5a-Mediated Axon Guidance on the Contralateral Side of the Corpus Callosum. The Journal of Neuroscience 26, 5840.

Kelley, J. R., and Duggan, J. M. (2003). Gastric cancer epidemiology and risk factors. Journal of clinical epidemiology 56, 1-9.

Khurana, S., and Mills, J. C. (2010). The gastric mucosa development and differentiation. Prog Mol Biol Transl Sci 96, 93-115.

Kim, B., Byun, S.-J., Kim, Y. A., Kim, J. E., Lee, B. L., Kim, W. H., and Chang, M. S. (2010). Cell cycle regulators, APC/B-catenin, NF-KB and Epstein-Barr virus in gastric carcinomas. Pathology 42, 58-65.

Kim, C., Mulder, K., and Spratlin, J. (2014). How prognostic and predictive biomarkers are transforming our understanding and management of advanced gastric cancer. Oncologist *19*, 1046-1055.

Kim, H. T., Yin, W., Nakamichi, Y., Panza, P., Grohmann, B., Buettner, C., Guenther, S., Ruppert, C., Kobayashi, Y., Guenther, A., and Stainier, D. Y. R. (2019). WNT/RYK signaling restricts goblet cell differentiation during lung development and repair. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *116*, 25697-25706.

Kim, J.-E., Fei, L., Yin, W.-C., Coquenlorge, S., Rao-Bhatia, A., Zhang, X., Shi, S. S. W., Lee, J. H., Hahn, N. A., Rizvi, W., *et al.* (2020). Single cell and genetic analyses reveal conserved populations and signaling mechanisms of gastrointestinal stromal niches. Nature communications *11*, 334.

Kim, K. A., Wagle, M., Tran, K., Zhan, X., Dixon, M. A., Liu, S., Gros, D., Korver, W., Yonkovich, S., Tomasevic, N., *et al.* (2008a). R-Spondin family members regulate the Wnt pathway by a common mechanism. Molecular biology of the cell *19*, 2588-2596.

Kim, M., Lee, H. C., Tsedensodnom, O., Hartley, R., Lim, Y. S., Yu, E., Merle, P., and Wands, J. R. (2008b). Functional interaction between Wnt3 and Frizzled-7 leads to activation of the Wnt/beta-catenin signaling pathway in hepatocellular carcinoma cells. J Hepatol *48*, 780-791.

King, T. D., Zhang, W., Suto, M. J., and Li, Y. (2012). Frizzled7 as an emerging target for cancer therapy. Cellular signalling 24, 846-851.

Kinzler, K. W., Nilbert, M. C., Su, L. K., Vogelstein, B., Bryan, T. M., Levy, D. B., Smith, K. J., Preisinger, A. C., Hedge, P., McKechnie, D., and et, a. (1991). Identification of FAP locus genes from chromosome 5q21. Science 253, 661.

Kinzler, K. W., and Vogelstein, B. (1996). Lessons from hereditary colorectal cancer. Cell 87, 159-170.

Kirikoshi, H., Sekihara, H., and Katoh, M. (2001a). Expression profiles of 10 members of Frizzled gene family in human gastric cancer. International journal of oncology 19, 767-771.

Kirikoshi, H., Sekihara, H., and Katoh, M. (2001b). Up-regulation of Frizzled-7 (FZD7) in human gastric cancer. International journal of oncology 19, 111-115.

Kolben, T., Peröbner, I., Fernsebner, K., Lechner, F., Geissler, C., Ruiz-Heinrich, L., Capovilla, S., Jochum, M., and Neth, P. (2012). Dissecting the impact of Frizzled receptors in Wnt/B-catenin signaling of human mesenchymal stem cells. Biol Chem 393, 1433-1447.

Koo, B. K., Spit, M., Jordens, I., Low, T. Y., Stange, D. E., van de Wetering, M., van Es, J. H., Mohammed, S., Heck, A. J., Maurice, M. M., and Clevers, H. (2012). Tumour suppressor RNF43 is a stem-cell E3 ligase that induces endocytosis of Wnt receptors. Nature *488*, 665-669.

Korinek, V., Barker, N., Morin, P. J., van Wichen, D., de Weger, R., Kinzler, K. W., Vogelstein, B., and Clevers, H. (1997). Constitutive transcriptional activation by a beta-catenin-Tcf complex in APC-/- colon carcinoma. Science 275, 1784-1787.

Korkut, C., Ataman, B., Ramachandran, P., Ashley, J., Barria, R., Gherbesi, N., and Budnik, V. (2009). Trans-synaptic transmission of vesicular Wnt signals through Evi/Wntless. Cell 139, 393-404.

Kourtidis, A., Lu, R., Pence, L. J., and Anastasiadis, P. Z. (2017). A central role for cadherin signaling in cancer. Experimental cell research 358, 78-85.

Koushyar, S., A, G. P., Vincan, E., and T, J. P. (2020). Targeting Wnt Signaling for the Treatment of Gastric Cancer. International journal of molecular sciences 21.

Krause, W. J. (2000). Brunner's glands: a structural, histochemical and pathological profile. Progress in histochemistry and cytochemistry 35, 259-367.

Ku, S. K., Lee, H. S., and Lee, J. H. (2003). An Immunohistochemical Study of the Gastrointestinal Endocrine Cells in the C57BL/6 Mice. Anatomia, Histologia, Embryologia 32, 21-28.

Kumar, S., Metz, D. C., Ellenberg, S., Kaplan, D. E., and Goldberg, D. S. (2020). Risk Factors and Incidence of Gastric Cancer After Detection of Helicobacter pylori Infection: A Large Cohort Study. Gastroenterology *158*, 527-536.e527.

Kuphal, F., and Behrens, J. (2006). E-cadherin modulates Wnt-dependent transcription in colorectal cancer cells but does not alter Wnt-independent gene expression in fibroblasts. Experimental cell research *312*, 457-467.

Kurashige, J., Hasegawa, T., Niida, A., Sugimachi, K., Deng, N., Mima, K., Uchi, R., Sawada, G., Takahashi, Y., Eguchi, H., *et al.* (2016). Integrated Molecular Profiling of Human Gastric Cancer Identifies DDR2 as a Potential Regulator of Peritoneal Dissemination. Sci Rep *6*, 22371.

Kurayoshi, M., Oue, N., Yamamoto, H., Kishida, M., Inoue, A., Asahara, T., Yasui, W., and Kikuchi, A. (2006). Expression of Wnt-5a Is Correlated with Aggressiveness of Gastric Cancer by Stimulating Cell Migration and Invasion. Cancer Research 66, 10439.

La Vecchia, C., Negri, E., Franceschi, S., and Gentile, A. (1992). Family history and the risk of stomach and colorectal cancer. Cancer 70, 50-55.

Lai, C., Sun, W., Wang, X., Xu, X., Li, M., Huang, D., Xu, E., Lai, M., and Zhang, H. (2019). RNF43 frameshift mutations contribute to tumourigenesis in right-sided colon cancer. Pathology, research and practice *215*, 152453.

Lambert, A. W., Pattabiraman, D. R., and Weinberg, R. A. (2017). Emerging biological principles of metastasis. Cell 168, 670-691.

Lamberts, R., Stumps, D., Plümpe, L., and Creutzfeldt, W. (1991). Somatostatin cells in rat antral mucosa: qualitative and quantitative ultrastructural analyses in different states of gastric acid secretion. Histochemistry *95*, 373-382.

Lamlum, H., Ilyas, M., Rowan, A., Clark, S., Johnson, V., Bell, J., Frayling, I., Efstathiou, J., Pack, K., Payne, S., *et al.* (1999). The type of somatic mutation at APC in familial adenomatous polyposis is determined by the site of the germline mutation: a new facet to Knudson's 'two-hit' hypothesis. Nature medicine *5*, 1071-1075.

Lauren, P. (1965). The two histological main types of gastric carcinoma: Diffuse and so-called intestinal-type carcinoma. Acta Pathologica Microbiologica Scandinavica *64*, 31-49.

Laurent-Puig, P., Béroud, C., and Soussi, T. (1998). APC gene: database of germline and somatic mutations in human tumors and cell lines. Nucleic Acids Res 26, 269-270.

Le, P. N., McDermott, J. D., and Jimeno, A. (2015). Targeting the Wnt pathway in human cancers: therapeutic targeting with a focus on OMP-54F28. Pharmacology & therapeutics *146*, 1-11.

Lebensohn, A. M., and Rohatgi, R. (2018). R-spondins can potentiate WNT signaling without LGRs. Elife 7.

Lennerz, J. K. M., Kim, S.-H., Oates, E. L., Huh, W. J., Doherty, J. M., Tian, X., Bredemeyer, A. J., Goldenring, J. R., Lauwers, G. Y., Shin, Y.-K., and Mills, J. C. (2010). The transcription factor MIST1 is a novel human gastric chief cell marker whose expression is lost in metaplasia, dysplasia, and carcinoma. The American journal of pathology *177*, 1514-1533.

Leushacke (2017). Lgr5-Expressing Chief Cells Drive Epithelial Regeneration and Cancer in the Oxyntic Stomach Nature cell biology.

Li, G., Su, Q., Liu, H., Wang, D., Zhang, W., Lu, Z., Chen, Y., Huang, X., Li, W., Zhang, C., *et al.* (2018). Frizzled7 Promotes Epithelial-to-mesenchymal Transition and Stemness Via Activating Canonical Wnt/B-catenin Pathway in Gastric Cancer. Int J Biol Sci *14*, 280-293.

Li, L., and Clevers, H. (2010). Coexistence of Quiescent and Active Adult Stem Cells in Mammals. Science (New York, NY) 327, 542-545.

Li, Q., Ye, L., Zhang, X., Wang, M., Lin, C., Huang, S., Guo, W., Lai, Y., Du, H., Li, J., *et al.* (2017). FZD8, a target of p53, promotes bone metastasis in prostate cancer by activating canonical Wnt/B-catenin signaling. Cancer letters *402*, 166-176.

Li, Q., Zhu, C.-C., Ni, B., Zhang, Z.-Z., Jiang, S.-H., Hu, L.-P., Wang, X., Zhang, X.-X., Huang, P.-Q., Yang, Q., *et al.* (2019a). Lysyl oxidase promotes liver metastasis of gastric cancer via facilitating the reciprocal interactions between tumor cells and cancer associated fibroblasts. EBioMedicine *49*, 157-171.

Li, S.-J., Yen, T.-Y., Endo, Y., Klauzinska, M., Baljinnyam, B., Macher, B., Callahan, R., and Rubin, J. S. (2009). Loss-of-function point mutations and two-furin domain derivatives provide insights about R-spondin2 structure and function. Cellular signalling *21*, 916-925.

Li, S., Lavrijsen, M., Bakker, A., Magierowski, M., Magierowska, K., Liu, P., Wang, W., Peppelenbosch, M. P., and Smits, R. (2020). Commonly observed RNF43 mutations retain functionality in attenuating Wnt/B-catenin signaling and unlikely confer Wnt-dependency onto colorectal cancers. Oncogene *39*, 3458-3472.

Li VS, N. S., Boersema PJ, Low TY, Karthaus WR, Gerlach JP, Mohammed S, Heck AJ, Maurice MM, Mahmoudi T, Clevers H. (2012). Wnt signaling through inhibition of B-catenin degradation in an intact Axin1 complex.. Cell.

Li, W., Wang, D., Sun, X., Zhang, Y., Wang, L., and Suo, J. (2019b). ADAM17 promotes lymph node metastasis in gastric cancer via activation of the Notch and Wnt signaling pathways. Int J Mol Med 43, 914-926.

Li, Y., Lu, W., King, T. D., Liu, C.-C., Bijur, G. N., and Bu, G. (2010). Dkk1 Stabilizes Wnt Co-Receptor LRP6: Implication for Wnt Ligand-Induced LRP6 Down-Regulation. PLoS ONE 5, e11014.

Li, Y., Yan, X., Shi, J., He, Y., Xu, J., Lin, L., Chen, W., Lin, X., and Lin, X. (2019c). Aberrantly expressed miR-188-5p promotes gastric cancer metastasis by activating Wnt/B-catenin signaling. BMC Cancer *19*, 505.

Liang, C.-J., Wang, Z.-W., Chang, Y.-W., Lee, K.-C., Lin, W.-H., and Lee, J.-L. (2019). SFRPs Are Biphasic Modulators of Wnt-Signaling-Elicited Cancer Stem Cell Properties beyond Extracellular Control. Cell reports 28, 1511-1525.e1515.

Lim, C. H., Cho, Y. K., Kim, S. W., Choi, M. G., Rhee, J. K., Chung, Y. J., Lee, S. H., and Kim, T. M. (2016). The chronological sequence of somatic mutations in early gastric carcinogenesis inferred from multiregion sequencing of gastric adenomas. Oncotarget 7, 39758-39767.

References

Lin, K., Wang, S., Julius, M. A., Kitajewski, J., Moos, M., Jr., and Luyten, F. P. (1997). The cysteine-rich frizzled domain of Frzb-1 is required and sufficient for modulation of Wnt signaling. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 94, 11196-11200.

Lindén, S., Nordman, H., Hedenbro, J., Hurtig, M., Borén, T., and Carlstedt, I. (2002). Strain- and blood group–dependent binding of Helicobacter pylori to human gastric MUC5AC glycoforms. Gastroenterology *123*, 1923-1930.

Lindvall, C., Evans, N. C., Zylstra, C. R., Li, Y., Alexander, C. M., and Williams, B. O. (2006). The Wnt signaling receptor Lrp5 is required for mammary ductal stem cell activity and Wnt1-induced tumorigenesis. J Biol Chem 281, 35081-35087.

Liu, C., Li, Y., Semenov, M., Han, C., Baeg, G. H., Tan, Y., Zhang, Z., Lin, X., and He, X. (2002). Control of beta-catenin phosphorylation/degradation by a dual-kinase mechanism. Cell *108*, 837-847.

Liu, C. C., Prior, J., Piwnica-Worms, D., and Bu, G. (2010). LRP6 overexpression defines a class of breast cancer subtype and is a target for therapy. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *107*, 5136-5141.

Liu, J., Pan, S., Hsieh, M. H., Ng, N., Sun, F., Wang, T., Kasibhatla, S., Schuller, A. G., Li, A. G., and Cheng, D. (2013). Targeting Wnt-driven cancer through the inhibition of Porcupine by LGK974. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences *110*, 20224-20229.

Liu, Q., Zhang, H., Jiang, X., Qian, C., Liu, Z., and Luo, D. (2017). Factors involved in cancer metastasis: a better understanding to "seed and soil" hypothesis. Molecular cancer 16, 176-176.

Liu, X., and Chu, K. M. (2014). E-cadherin and gastric cancer: cause, consequence, and applications. BioMed research international 2014, 637308.

Logan, C. Y., and Nusse, R. (2004). The Wnt signaling pathway in development and disease. Annual review of cell and developmental biology 20, 781-810.

Loregger, A., Grandl, M., Mejías-Luque, R., Allgäuer, M., Degenhart, K., Haselmann, V., Oikonomou, C., Hatzis, P., Janssen, K.-P., Nitsche, U., *et al.* (2015). The E3 ligase RNF43 inhibits Wnt signaling downstream of mutated B-catenin by sequestering TCF4 to the nuclear membrane. Science signaling 8, ra90.

Luo, W., Fedda, F., Lynch, P., and Tan, D. (2018). CDH1 gene and hereditary diffuse gastric cancer syndrome: Molecular and histological alterations and implications for diagnosis and treatment. Frontiers in pharmacology 9, 1421.

Lybrand, D. B., Naiman, M., Laumann, J. M., Boardman, M., Petshow, S., Hansen, K., Scott, G., and Wehrli, M. (2019). Destruction complex dynamics: Wnt/B-catenin signaling alters Axin-GSK3B interactions in vivo. Development *146*, dev164145.

Ma, C., Xu, B., Husaiyin, S., Wang, L., Wusainahong, K., Ma, J., Zhu, K., and Niyazi, M. (2017). MicroRNA-505 predicts prognosis and acts as tumor inhibitor in cervical carcinoma with inverse association with FZD4. Biomedicine & pharmacotherapy = Biomedecine & pharmacotherapie 92, 586-594.

MacDonald, B. T., and He, X. (2012). Frizzled and LRP5/6 receptors for Wnt/B-catenin signaling. Cold Spring Harbor perspectives in biology 4, a007880.

MacDonald, B. T., Tamai, K., and He, X. (2009). Wnt/beta-catenin signaling: components, mechanisms, and diseases. Dev Cell 17, 9-26.

Machin, P., Catasus, L., Pons, C., Muñoz, J., Matias-Guiu, X., and Prat, J. (2002). CTNNB1 mutations and beta-catenin expression in endometrial carcinomas. Hum Pathol 33, 206-212.

Madan, B., Ke, Z., Harmston, N., Ho, S. Y., Frois, A. O., Alam, J., Jeyaraj, D. A., Pendharkar, V., Ghosh, K., Virshup, I. H., *et al.* (2016). Wnt addiction of genetically defined cancers reversed by PORCN inhibition. Oncogene *35*, 2197-2207.

Mao, B., Wu, W., Davidson, G., Marhold, J., Li, M., Mechler, B. M., Delius, H., Hoppe, D., Stannek, P., Walter, C., *et al.* (2002). Kremen proteins are Dickkopf receptors that regulate Wnt/beta-catenin signalling. Nature *417*, 664-667.

Mao, B., Wu, W., Li, Y., Hoppe, D., Stannek, P., Glinka, A., and Niehrs, C. (2001). LDL-receptor-related protein 6 is a receptor for Dickkopf proteins. Nature 411, 321-325.

Mao, J., Fan, S., Ma, W., Fan, P., Wang, B., Zhang, J., Wang, H., Tang, B., Zhang, Q., Yu, X., *et al.* (2014). Roles of Wnt/B-catenin signaling in the gastric cancer stem cells proliferation and salinomycin treatment. Cell Death Dis 5, e1039.

Maruvka, Y. E., Mouw, K. W., Karlic, R., Parasuraman, P., Kamburov, A., Polak, P., Haradhvala, N. J., Hess, J. M., Rheinbay, E., Brody, Y., *et al.* (2017). Analysis of somatic microsatellite indels identifies driver events in human tumors. Nature biotechnology *35*, 951-959.

Massarrat, S., and Stolte, M. (2014). Development of gastric cancer and its prevention. Archives of Iranian medicine 17, 514-520.

Matano, M., Date, S., Shimokawa, M., Takano, A., Fujii, M., Ohta, Y., Watanabe, T., Kanai, T., and Sato, T. (2015). Modeling colorectal cancer using CRISPR-Cas9-mediated engineering of human intestinal organoids. Nature medicine *21*, 256-262.

Mattes, B., Dang, Y., Greicius, G., Kaufmann, L. T., Prunsche, B., Rosenbauer, J., Stegmaier, J., Mikut, R., Özbek, S., Nienhaus, G. U., *et al.* (2018). Wnt/PCP controls spreading of Wnt/B-catenin signals by cytonemes in vertebrates. eLife *7*, e36953.

Mei, H., Nakatsu, M. N., Baclagon, E. R., and Deng, S. X. (2014). Frizzled 7 maintains the undifferentiated state of human limbal stem/progenitor cells. Stem Cells *32*, 938-945.

Meniel, V., Song, F., Phesse, T., Young, M., Poetz, O., Parry, L., Jenkins, J. R., Williams, G. T., Dunwoodie, S. L., Watson, A., and Clarke, A. R. (2013). Cited1 Deficiency Suppresses Intestinal Tumorigenesis. PLoS Genet 9.

Merker, S. R., Weitz, J., and Stange, D. E. (2016). Gastrointestinal organoids: how they gut it out. Developmental biology 420, 239-250.

Merle, P., de la Monte, S., Kim, M., Herrmann, M., Tanaka, S., Von Dem Bussche, A., Kew, M. C., Trepo, C., and Wands, J. R. (2004). Functional consequences of frizzled-7 receptor overexpression in human hepatocellular carcinoma. Gastroenterology *127*, 1110-1122.

Mikels, A., Minami, Y., and Nusse, R. (2009). Ror2 receptor requires tyrosine kinase activity to mediate Wnt5A signaling. J Biol Chem 284, 30167-30176.

Mikels, A. J., and Nusse, R. (2006). Purified Wnt5a protein activates or inhibits beta-catenin-TCF signaling depending on receptor context. PLoS Biol 4, e115.

Min, B.-H., Hwang, J., Kim, N. K. D., Park, G., Kang, S. Y., Ahn, S., Ahn, S., Ha, S. Y., Lee, Y. K., Kushima, R., *et al.* (2016). Dysregulated Wnt signalling and recurrent mutations of the tumour suppressor RNF43 in early gastric carcinogenesis. The Journal of pathology *240*, 304-314.

Minobe, S., Fei, K., Yan, L., Sarras Jr, M., and Werle, M. (2000). Identification and characterization of the epithelial polarity receptor "Frizzled" in Hydra vulgaris. Dev Genes Evol 210, 258-262.

Miyazawa, K., Iwaya, K., Kuroda, M., Harada, M., Serizawa, H., Koyanagi, Y., Sato, Y., Mizokami, Y., Matsuoka, T., and Mukai, K. (2000). Nuclear accumulation of beta-catenin in intestinal-type gastric carcinoma: correlation with early tumor invasion. Virchows Archiv : an international journal of pathology 437, 508-513.

Mo, D., Jiang, P., Yang, Y., Mao, X., Tan, X., Tang, X., Wei, D., Li, B., Wang, X., Tang, L., and Yan, F. (2019). A tRNA fragment, 5'-tiRNAVal, suppresses the Wnt/B-catenin signaling pathway by targeting FZD3 in breast cancer. Cancer letters 457, 60-73.

Morin, P. J., Sparks, A. B., Korinek, V., Barker, N., Clevers, H., Vogelstein, B., and Kinzler, K. W. (1997). Activation of beta-catenin-Tcf signaling in colon cancer by mutations in beta-catenin or APC. Science 275, 1787-1790.

Mura, G., and Verdelli, B. (2016). The features of peritoneal metastases from gastric cancer. Journal of Cancer Metastasis and Treatment 2, 365.

Murayama, Y., Miyagawa, J.-I., Higashiyama, S., Kondo, S., Yabu, M., Isozaki, K., Kayanoki, Y., Kanayama, S., Shinomura, Y., Taniguchi, N., and Matsuzawa, Y. Localization of heparin-binding epidermal growth factor-like growth factor in human gastric mucosa. Gastroenterology *109*, 1051-1059.

Murillo-Garzón, V., Gorroño-Etxebarria, I., Åkerfelt, M., Puustinen, M. C., Sistonen, L., Nees, M., Carton, J., Waxman, J., and Kypta, R. M. (2018). Frizzled-8 integrates Wnt-11 and transforming growth factor-B signaling in prostate cancer. Nature communications *9*, 1747.

Nagayama, S., Fukukawa, C., Katagiri, T., Okamoto, T., Aoyama, T., Oyaizu, N., Imamura, M., Toguchida, J., and Nakamura, Y. (2005). Therapeutic potential of antibodies against FZD 10, a cell-surface protein, for synovial sarcomas. Oncogene 24, 6201-6212.

Nagayama, S., Yamada, E., Kohno, Y., Aoyama, T., Fukukawa, C., Kubo, H., Watanabe, G., Katagiri, T., Nakamura, Y., Sakai, Y., and Toguchida, J. (2009). Inverse correlation of the up-regulation of FZD10 expression and the activation of beta-catenin in synchronous colorectal tumors. Cancer science *100*, 405-412.

Nagel, G., Linseisen, J., Boshuizen, H. C., Pera, G., Del Giudice, G., Westert, G. P., Bueno-de-Mesquita, H. B., Allen, N. E., Key, T. J., Numans, M. E., *et al.* (2007). Socioeconomic position and the risk of gastric and oesophageal cancer in the European Prospective Investigation into Cancer and Nutrition (EPIC-EURGAST). International journal of epidemiology *36*, 66-76.

Nakata, S., Phillips, E., and Goidts, V. (2014). Emerging role for leucine-rich repeat-containing G-proteincoupled receptors LGR5 and LGR4 in cancer stem cells. Cancer management and research *6*, 171.

Nakatsuru, S., Yanagisawa, A., Ichii, S., Tahara, E., Kato, Y., Nakamura, Y., and Horii, A. (1992). Somatic mutation of the APC gene in gastric cancer: frequent mutations in very well differentiated adenocarcinoma and signet-ring cell carcinoma. Human molecular genetics 1, 559-563.

Nam, J.-S., Turcotte, T. J., Smith, P. F., Choi, S., and Yoon, J. K. (2006). Mouse Cristin/R-spondin Family Proteins Are Novel Ligands for the Frizzled 8 and LRP6 Receptors and Activate B-Catenin-dependent Gene Expression. Journal of Biological Chemistry 281, 13247-13257.

Nam, K. T., Lee, H. J., Mok, H., Romero-Gallo, J., Crowe Jr, J. E., Peek Jr, R. M., and Goldenring, J. R. (2009). Amphiregulin-deficient mice develop spasmolytic polypeptide expressing metaplasia and intestinal metaplasia. Gastroenterology *136*, 1288-1296.

Nam, K. T., Lee, H. J., Sousa, J. F., Weis, V. G., O'Neal, R. L., Finke, P. E., Romero-Gallo, J., Shi, G., Mills, J. C., Peek, R. M., *et al.* (2010). Mature Chief Cells Are Cryptic Progenitors for Metaplasia in the Stomach. Gastroenterology *139*, 2028-2037.e2029.

Nam, S., Chung, J.-W., and Yang, J.-Y. (2017). WNT5A correlates with clinicopathological characteristics in gastric cancer: a meta-analysis. Cellular Physiology and Biochemistry *41*, 33-40.

Nanki, K., Toshimitsu, K., Takano, A., Fujii, M., Shimokawa, M., Ohta, Y., Matano, M., Seino, T., Nishikori, S., Ishikawa, K., *et al.* (2018). Divergent Routes toward Wnt and R-spondin Niche Independency during Human Gastric Carcinogenesis. Cell *174*, 856-869.e817.

Nemtsova, M. V., Kalinkin, A. I., Kuznetsova, E. B., Bure, I. V., Alekseeva, E. A., Bykov, I. I., Khorobrykh, T. V., Mikhaylenko, D. S., Tanas, A. S., Kutsev, S. I., *et al.* (2020). Clinical relevance of somatic mutations in main driver genes detected in gastric cancer patients by next-generation DNA sequencing. Scientific Reports *10*, 504.

Neumeyer, V., Grandl, M., Dietl, A., Brutau-Abia, A., Allgäuer, M., Kalali, B., Zhang, Y., Pan, K.-F., Steiger, K., Vieth, M., *et al.* (2019). Loss of endogenous RNF43 function enhances proliferation and tumour growth of intestinal and gastric cells. Carcinogenesis *40*, 551-559.

Newton, J. L., Allen, A., Westley, B. R., and May, F. E. (2000). The human trefoil peptide, TFF1, is present in different molecular forms that are intimately associated with mucus in normal stomach. Gut *46*, 312-320.

Nguyen, P. H., Giraud, J., Chambonnier, L., Dubus, P., Wittkop, L., Belleannée, G., Collet, D., Soubeyran, I., Evrard, S., Rousseau, B., *et al.* (2017). Characterization of Biomarkers of Tumorigenic and Chemoresistant Cancer Stem Cells in Human Gastric Carcinoma. Clinical cancer research : an official journal of the American Association for Cancer Research *23*, 1586-1597.

Niida, A., Hiroko, T., Kasai, M., Furukawa, Y., Nakamura, Y., Suzuki, Y., Sugano, S., and Akiyama, T. (2004). DKK1, a negative regulator of Wnt signaling, is a target of the beta-catenin/TCF pathway. Oncogene 23, 8520-8526.

Nile, A. H., de Sousa, E. M. F., Mukund, S., Piskol, R., Hansen, S., Zhou, L., Zhang, Y., Fu, Y., Gogol, E. B., Kömüves, L. G., *et al.* (2018). A selective peptide inhibitor of Frizzled 7 receptors disrupts intestinal stem cells. Nature chemical biology *14*, 582-590.

Niu, L., Qin, H. Z., Xi, H. Q., Wei, B., Xia, S. Y., and Chen, L. (2015). RNF43 Inhibits Cancer Cell Proliferation and Could be a Potential Prognostic Factor for Human Gastric Carcinoma. Cellular Physiology and Biochemistry *36*, 1835-1846.

Nojima, M., Suzuki, H., Toyota, M., Watanabe, Y., Maruyama, R., Sasaki, S., Sasaki, Y., Mita, H., Nishikawa, N., Yamaguchi, K., *et al.* (2007). Frequent epigenetic inactivation of SFRP genes and constitutive activation of Wnt signaling in gastric cancer. Oncogene *26*, 4699-4713.

Novellasdemunt, L., Foglizzo, V., Cuadrado, L., Antas, P., Kucharska, A., Encheva, V., Snijders, A. P., and Li, V. S. W. (2017). USP7 Is a Tumor-Specific WNT Activator for APC-Mutated Colorectal Cancer by Mediating beta-Catenin Deubiquitination. Cell Rep 21, 612-627.

Nozaki, K., Ogawa, M., Williams, J. A., Lafleur, B. J., Ng, V., Drapkin, R. I., Mills, J. C., Konieczny, S. F., Nomura, S., and Goldenring, J. R. (2008). A Molecular Signature of Gastric Metaplasia Arising in Response to Acute Parietal Cell Loss. Gastroenterology *134*, 511-522.

Nusse, R., and Clevers, H. (2017). Wnt/B-Catenin Signaling, Disease, and Emerging Therapeutic Modalities. Cell 169, 985-999.

Nwabo Kamdje, A. H., Takam Kamga, P., Tagne Simo, R., Vecchio, L., Seke Etet, P. F., Muller, J. M., Bassi, G., Lukong, E., Kumar Goel, R., Mbo Amvene, J., and Krampera, M. (2017). Developmental pathways associated with cancer metastasis: Notch, Wnt, and Hedgehog. Cancer biology & medicine *14*, 109-120.

O'Connor, A., and O'Moráin, C. (2014). Digestive Function of the Stomach. Digestive Diseases 32, 186-191.

Ocaña, O. H., Córcoles, R., Fabra, Á., Moreno-Bueno, G., Acloque, H., Vega, S., Barrallo-Gimeno, A., Cano, A., and Nieto, M. A. (2012). Metastatic colonization requires the repression of the epithelial-mesenchymal transition inducer Prrx1. Cancer cell 22, 709-724.

Oishi, I., Suzuki, H., Onishi, N., Takada, R., Kani, S., Ohkawara, B., Koshida, I., Suzuki, K., Yamada, G., Schwabe, G. C., *et al.* (2003). The receptor tyrosine kinase Ror2 is involved in non-canonical Wnt5a/JNK signalling pathway. Genes to Cells *8*, 645-654.

Ooi, C. H., Ivanova, T., Wu, J., Lee, M., Tan, I. B., Tao, J., Ward, L., Koo, J. H., Gopalakrishnan, V., Zhu, Y., *et al.* (2009). Oncogenic pathway combinations predict clinical prognosis in gastric cancer. PLoS Genet *5*, e1000676.

Orsulic, S., Huber, O., Aberle, H., Arnold, S., and Kemler, R. (1999). E-cadherin binding prevents betacatenin nuclear localization and beta-catenin/LEF-1-mediated transactivation. Journal of cell science *112*, 1237-1245.
Oue, N., Sentani, K., Sakamoto, N., and Yasui, W. (2015). Clinicopathologic and molecular characteristics of gastric cancer showing gastric and intestinal mucin phenotype. Cancer science *106*, 951-958.

Paget, S. (1989). The distribution of secondary growths in cancer of the breast. 1889. Cancer metastasis reviews 8, 98-101.

Pai, P., Rachagani, S., Dhawan, P., and Batra, S. K. (2016). Mucins and Wnt/B-catenin signaling in gastrointestinal cancers: an unholy nexus. Carcinogenesis 37, 223-232.

Paoli, P., Giannoni, E., and Chiarugi, P. (2013). Anoikis molecular pathways and its role in cancer progression. Biochim Biophys Acta 1833, 3481-3498.

Papadopoulou, D., Bianchi, M. W., and Bourouis, M. (2004). Functional Studies of Shaggy/Glycogen Synthase Kinase 3 Phosphorylation Sites in Drosophila melanogaster. Molecular and Cellular Biology 24, 4909.

Park, W. S., Oh, R. R., Park, J. Y., Lee, S. H., Shin, M. S., Kim, Y. S., Kim, S. Y., Lee, H. K., Kim, P. J., Oh, S. T., *et al.* (1999). Frequent Somatic Mutations of the B-Catenin Gene in Intestinal-Type Gastric Cancer. Cancer Research *59*, 4257-4260.

Parker, T. W., and Neufeld, K. L. (2020). APC controls Wht-induced B-catenin destruction complex recruitment in human colonocytes. Scientific Reports *10*, 2957.

Pelaseyed, T., Bergström, J. H., Gustafsson, J. K., Ermund, A., Birchenough, G. M. H., Schütte, A., van der Post, S., Svensson, F., Rodríguez-Piñeiro, A. M., Nyström, E. E. L., *et al.* (2014). The mucus and mucins of the goblet cells and enterocytes provide the first defense line of the gastrointestinal tract and interact with the immune system. Immunol Rev 260, 8-20.

Peng, W. C., de Lau, W., Forneris, F., Granneman, J. C., Huch, M., Clevers, H., and Gros, P. (2013a). Structure of stem cell growth factor R-spondin 1 in complex with the ectodomain of its receptor LGR5. Cell reports 3, 1885-1892.

Peng, W. C., de Lau, W., Madoori, P. K., Forneris, F., Granneman, J. C., Clevers, H., and Gros, P. (2013b). Structures of Wnt-antagonist ZNRF3 and its complex with R-spondin 1 and implications for signaling. PLoS ONE 8, e83110.

Peng, Z., Wang, C. X., Fang, E. H., Wang, G. B., and Tong, Q. (2014). Role of epithelial-mesenchymal transition in gastric cancer initiation and progression. World journal of gastroenterology : WJG 20, 5403-5410.

Perez, E. E., Wang, J., Miller, J. C., Jouvenot, Y., Kim, K. A., Liu, O., Wang, N., Lee, G., Bartsevich, V. V., and Lee, Y.-L. (2008). Establishment of HIV-1 resistance in CD4+ T cells by genome editing using zinc-finger nucleases. Nature biotechnology 26, 808-816.

Peterson, A. J., Menheniott, T. R., O'Connor, L., Walduck, A. K., Fox, J. G., Kawakami, K., Minamoto, T., Ong, E. K., Wang, T. C., Judd, L. M., and Giraud, A. S. (2010). Helicobacter pylori infection promotes methylation and silencing of trefoil factor 2, leading to gastric tumor development in mice and humans. Gastroenterology *139*, 2005-2017.

Peterson, Y. K., Nasarre, P., Bonilla, I. V., Hilliard, E., Samples, J., Morinelli, T. A., Hill, E. G., and Klauber-DeMore, N. (2017). Frizzled-5: a high affinity receptor for secreted frizzled-related protein-2 activation of nuclear factor of activated T-cells c3 signaling to promote angiogenesis. Angiogenesis 20, 615-628.

Phesse, T., Flanagan, D., and Vincan, E. (2016). Frizzled7: A Promising Achilles' Heel for Targeting the Wnt Receptor Complex to Treat Cancer. Cancers (Basel) 8.

Phesse, T. J., Buchert, M., Stuart, E., Flanagan, D. J., Faux, M., Afshar-Sterle, S., Walker, F., Zhang, H. H., Nowell, C. J., Jorissen, R., *et al.* (2014). Partial inhibition of gp130-Jak-Stat3 signaling prevents Wntbeta-catenin-mediated intestinal tumor growth and regeneration. Science signaling *7*, ra92.

Phillipson, M., Atuma, C., Henriksnäs, J., and Holm, L. (2002). The importance of mucus layers and bicarbonate transport in preservation of gastric juxtamucosal pH. American Journal of Physiology-Gastrointestinal and Liver Physiology 282, G211-G219.

Poh, A. R., O'Donoghue, R. J., Ernst, M., and Putoczki, T. L. (2016). Mouse models for gastric cancer: Matching models to biological questions. Journal of gastroenterology and hepatology *31*, 1257-1272.

Polakis, P. (2012). Wnt signaling in cancer. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol 4.

Polk, D. B., and Peek, R. M., Jr. (2010). Helicobacter pylori: gastric cancer and beyond. Nature reviews 10, 403-414.

Port, F., Kuster, M., Herr, P., Furger, E., Bänziger, C., Hausmann, G., and Basler, K. (2008). Wingless secretion promotes and requires retromer-dependent cycling of Wntless. Nature cell biology 10, 178-185.

Powell, A. E., Wang, Y., Li, Y., Poulin, E. J., Means, A. L., Washington, M. K., Higginbotham, J. N., Juchheim, A., Prasad, N., Levy, S. E., *et al.* (2012). The pan-ErbB negative regulator Lrig1 is an intestinal stem cell marker that functions as a tumor suppressor. Cell *149*, 146-158.

Powley, T. L., Spaulding, R. A., and Haglof, S. A. (2011). Vagal afferent innervation of the proximal gastrointestinal tract mucosa: Chemoreceptor and mechanoreceptor architecture. Journal of Comparative Neurology *519*, 644-660.

Prieto-García, E., Díaz-García, C. V., García-Ruiz, I., and Agulló-Ortuño, M. T. (2017). Epithelial-tomesenchymal transition in tumor progression. Med Oncol 34, 122.

Psaila, B., and Lyden, D. (2009). The metastatic niche: adapting the foreign soil. Nature reviews 9, 285-293.

Punchihewa, C., Ferreira, A. M., Cassell, R., Rodrigues, P., and Fujii, N. (2009). Sequence requirement and subtype specificity in the high-affinity interaction between human frizzled and dishevelled proteins. Protein science : a publication of the Protein Society *18*, 994-1002.

Quigley, E. M. M., and Turnberg, L. A. (1987). pH of the microclimate lining human gastric and duodenal mucosa in vivo: Studies in control subjects and in duodenal ulcer patients. Gastroenterology 92, 1876-1884.

Radulescu, S., Ridgway, R. A., Cordero, J., Athineos, D., Salgueiro, P., Poulsom, R., Neumann, J., Jung, A., Patel, S., Woodgett, J., *et al.* (2013). Acute WNT signalling activation perturbs differentiation within the adult stomach and rapidly leads to tumour formation. Oncogene *32*, 2048-2057.

Ramsey, V. G., Doherty, J. M., Chen, C. C., Stappenbeck, T. S., Konieczny, S. F., and Mills, J. C. (2007). The maturation of mucus-secreting gastric epithelial progenitors into digestive-enzyme secreting zymogenic cells requires Mist1. Development *134*, 211-222.

Ran, F. A., Hsu, P. D., Wright, J., Agarwala, V., Scott, D. A., and Zhang, F. (2013). Genome engineering using the CRISPR-Cas9 system. Nature Protocols *8*, 2281-2308.

Raufman, J.-P. (1992). Gastric chief cells: Receptors and signal-transduction mechanisms. Gastroenterology *102*, 699-710.

Rehn, M., Pihlajaniemi, T., Hofmann, K., and Bucher, P. (1998). The frizzled motif: in how many different protein families does it occur? Trends Biochem Sci 23, 415-417.

Rhyu, M. G., Park, W. S., Jung, Y. J., Choi, S. W., and Meltzer, S. J. (1994). Allelic deletions of MCC/APC and p53 are frequent late events in human gastric carcinogenesis. Gastroenterology *106*, 1584-1588.

Riihimäki, M., Hemminki, A., Sundquist, K., Sundquist, J., and Hemminki, K. (2016). Metastatic spread in patients with gastric cancer. Oncotarget 7, 52307-52316.

Rosin-Arbesfeld, R., Townsley, F., and Bienz, M. (2000). The APC tumour suppressor has a nuclear export function. Nature 406, 1009-1012.

Roth, K. A., Kapadia, S. B., Martin, S. M., and Lorenz, R. G. (1999). Cellular Immune Responses Are Essential for the Development of Helicobacter felis-Associated Gastric Pathology. The Journal of Immunology *163*, 1490.

Rubinstein, J. C., Khan, S. A., Christison-Lagay, E. R., and Cha, C. (2020). APC mutational patterns in gastric adenocarcinoma are enriched for missense variants with associated decreased survival. Genes, Chromosomes and Cancer 59, 64-68.

Russi, S., Calice, G., Ruggieri, V., Laurino, S., La Rocca, F., Amendola, E., Lapadula, C., Compare, D., Nardone, G., Musto, P., *et al.* (2019). Gastric Normal Adjacent Mucosa Versus Healthy and Cancer Tissues: Distinctive Transcriptomic Profiles and Biological Features. Cancers *11*, 1248.

Ryland, G. L., Hunter, S. M., Doyle, M. A., Rowley, S. M., Christie, M., Allan, P. E., Bowtell, D. D., Gorringe, K. L., and Campbell, I. G. (2013). RNF43 is a tumour suppressor gene mutated in mucinous tumours of the ovary. The Journal of pathology 229, 469-476.

Sagara, N., Toda, G., Hirai, M., Terada, M., and Katoh, M. (1998). Molecular cloning, differential expression, and chromosomal localization of human frizzled-1, frizzled-2, and frizzled-7. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 252, 117-122.

Saito-Diaz, K., Benchabane, H., Tiwari, A., Tian, A., Li, B., Thompson, J. J., Hyde, A. S., Sawyer, L. M., Jodoin, J. N., Santos, E., *et al.* (2018). APC Inhibits Ligand-Independent Wnt Signaling by the Clathrin Endocytic Pathway. Dev Cell *44*, 566-581.e568.

Saitoh, T., Mine, T., and Katoh, M. (2002). Frequent up-regulation of WNT5A mRNA in primary gastric cancer. Int J Mol Med 9, 515-519.

Saldanha, J., Singh, J., and Mahadevan, D. (1998). Identification of a frizzled-like cysteine rich domain in the extracellular region of developmental receptor tyrosine kinases. Protein Science 7, 1632-1635.

Saleh-Gohari, N., and Helleday, T. (2004). Conservative homologous recombination preferentially repairs DNA double-strand breaks in the S phase of the cell cycle in human cells. Nucleic acids research *32*, 3683-3688.

Sano, T., Tsujino, T., Yoshida, K., Nakayama, H., Haruma, K., Ito, H., Nakamura, Y., Kajiyama, G., and Tahara, E. (1991). Frequent loss of heterozygosity on chromosomes 1q, 5q, and 17p in human gastric carcinomas. Cancer research *51*, 2926-2931.

Sansom, O. J., Reed, K. R., Hayes, A. J., Ireland, H., Brinkmann, H., Newton, I. P., Batlle, E., Simon-Assmann, P., Clevers, H., Nathke, I. S., *et al.* (2004). Loss of Apc in vivo immediately perturbs Wnt signaling, differentiation, and migration. Genes Dev *18*, 1385-1390.

Sasaki, Y., Morimoto, I., Kusano, M., Hosokawa, M., Itoh, F., Yanagihara, K., Imai, K., and Tokino, T. (2001). Mutational Analysis of the B-Catenin Gene in Gastric Carcinomas. Tumor Biology 22, 123-130.

Sato, T., Stange, D. E., Ferrante, M., Vries, R. G., Van Es, J. H., Van Den Brink, S., Van Houdt, W. J., Pronk, A., Van Gorp, J., and Siersema, P. D. (2011a). Long-term expansion of epithelial organoids from human colon, adenoma, adenocarcinoma, and Barrett's epithelium. Gastroenterology *141*, 1762-1772.

Sato, T., van Es, J. H., Snippert, H. J., Stange, D. E., Vries, R. G., van den Born, M., Barker, N., Shroyer, N. F., van de Wetering, M., and Clevers, H. (2011b). Paneth cells constitute the niche for Lgr5 stem cells in intestinal crypts. Nature *469*, 415-418.

Schatoff, E. M., Goswami, S., Zafra, M. P., Foronda, M., Shusterman, M., Leach, B. I., Katti, A., Diaz, B. J., and Dow, L. E. (2019). Distinct Colorectal Cancer-Associated APC Mutations Dictate Response to Tankyrase Inhibition. Cancer discovery *9*, 1358-1371.

Schenkelaars, Q., Fierro-Constain, L., Renard, E., Hill, A. L., and Borchiellini, C. (2015). Insights into Frizzled evolution and new perspectives. Evolution & development *17*, 160-169.

Schmuck, R., Warneke, V., Behrens, H. M., Simon, E., Weichert, W., and Rocken, C. (2011). Genotypic and phenotypic characterization of side population of gastric cancer cell lines. The American journal of pathology *178*, 1792-1804.

Schreiber, S., and Scheid, P. (1997). Gastric mucus of the guinea pig: proton carrier and diffusion barrier. American Journal of Physiology-Gastrointestinal and Liver Physiology 272, G63-G70.

Semënov, M. V., Tamai, K., Brott, B. K., Kühl, M., Sokol, S., and He, X. (2001). Head inducer Dickkopf-1 is a ligand for Wnt coreceptor LRP6. Current Biology 11, 951-961.

Serra, S., and Chetty, R. (2018). Rnf43. Journal of clinical pathology 71, 1-6.

Setia, N., Clark, J. W., Duda, D. G., Hong, T. S., Kwak, E. L., Mullen, J. T., and Lauwers, G. Y. (2015). Familial Gastric Cancers. The oncologist 20, 1365-1377.

Shen, S., Chen, X., Li, H., Sun, L., and Yuan, Y. (2018). MLH1 Promoter Methylation and Prediction/Prognosis of Gastric Cancer: A Systematic Review and Meta and Bioinformatic Analysis. J Cancer 9, 1932-1942.

Shen, W., Zou, X., Chen, M., Shen, Y., Huang, S., Guo, H., Zhang, L., and Liu, P. (2013). Effect of pantoprazole on human gastric adenocarcinoma SGC7901 cells through regulation of phospho-LRP6 expression in Wnt/B-catenin signaling. Oncology reports *30*, 851-855.

Shi, J., Liu, Y., Xu, X., Zhang, W., Yu, T., Jia, J., and Liu, C. (2015). Deubiquitinase USP47/UBP64E Regulates B-Catenin Ubiquitination and Degradation and Plays a Positive Role in Wnt Signaling. Mol Cell Biol *35*, 3301-3311.

Shimada, Y., Yonemura, S., Ohkura, H., Strutt, D., and Uemura, T. (2006). Polarized Transport of Frizzled along the Planar Microtubule Arrays in Drosophila Wing Epithelium. Dev Cell *10*, 209-222.

Shimizu, D., Kanda, M., and Kodera, Y. (2018). Emerging evidence of the molecular landscape specific for hematogenous metastasis from gastric cancer. World journal of gastrointestinal oncology *10*, 124-136.

Shinohara, A., Yokoyama, Y., Wan, X., Takahashi, Y., Mori, Y., Takami, T., Shimokawa, K., and Tamaya, T. (2001). Cytoplasmic/nuclear expression without mutation of exon 3 of the beta-catenin gene is frequent in the development of the neoplasm of the uterine cervix. Gynecol Oncol *82*, 450-455.

Sigal, M., Logan, C. Y., Kapalczynska, M., Mollenkopf, H. J., Berger, H., Wiedenmann, B., Nusse, R., Amieva, M. R., and Meyer, T. F. (2017). Stromal R-spondin orchestrates gastric epithelial stem cells and gland homeostasis. Nature *548*, 451-455.

Sigal, M., Rothenberg, M. E., Logan, C. Y., Lee, J. Y., Honaker, R. W., Cooper, R. L., Passarelli, B., Camorlinga, M., Bouley, D. M., Alvarez, G., *et al.* (2015). Helicobacter pylori Activates and Expands Lgr5+ Stem Cells Through Direct Colonization of the Gastric Glands. Gastroenterology *148*, 1392-1404.e1321.

Silva-García, O., Valdez-Alarcón, J. J., and Baizabal-Aguirre, V. M. (2019). Wnt/B-Catenin Signaling as a Molecular Target by Pathogenic Bacteria. Frontiers in Immunology *10*.

Simmons, G. E., Jr., Pandey, S., Nedeljkovic-Kurepa, A., Saxena, M., Wang, A., and Pruitt, K. (2014). Frizzled 7 expression is positively regulated by SIRT1 and beta-catenin in breast cancer cells. PLoS ONE 9, e98861.

Simon, E., Petke, D., Böger, C., Behrens, H.-M., Warneke, V., Ebert, M., and Röcken, C. (2012). The spatial distribution of LGR5+ cells correlates with gastric cancer progression. PLoS ONE 7, e35486-e35486.

Simpson, C. D., Anyiwe, K., and Schimmer, A. D. (2008). Anoikis resistance and tumor metastasis. Cancer letters 272, 177-185.

Sitarz, R., Skierucha, M., Mielko, J., Offerhaus, G. J. A., Maciejewski, R., and Polkowski, W. P. (2018). Gastric cancer: epidemiology, prevention, classification, and treatment. Cancer management and research *10*, 239-248.

Sjölund, K., Sandén, G., Håkanson, R., and Sundler, F. (1983). Endocrine Cells in Human Intestine: An Immunocytochemical Study. Gastroenterology *85*, 1120-1130.

Skoog, E. C., Sjöling, Å., Navabi, N., Holgersson, J., Lundin, S. B., and Lindén, S. K. (2012). Human gastric mucins differently regulate Helicobacter pylori proliferation, gene expression and interactions with host cells. PLoS ONE *7*, e36378-e36378.

Smith, D. C., Rosen, L. S., Chugh, R., Goldman, J. W., Xu, L., Kapoun, A., Brachmann, R. K., Dupont, J., Stagg, R. J., Tolcher, A. W., and Papadopoulos, K. P. (2013). First-in-human evaluation of the human monoclonal antibody vantictumab (OMP-18R5; anti-Frizzled) targeting the WNT pathway in a phase I study for patients with advanced solid tumors. Journal of Clinical Oncology *31*, 2540-2540.

Sokoloff, B. (1938). Predisposition to cancer in the Bonaparte family. The American Journal of Surgery 40, 673-678.

Song, Z., Wu, Y., Yang, J., Yang, D., and Fang, X. (2017). Progress in the treatment of advanced gastric cancer. Tumor Biology *39*, 1010428317714626.

Soutto, M., Peng, D., Katsha, A., Chen, Z., Piazuelo, M. B., Washington, M. K., Belkhiri, A., Correa, P., and El-Rifai, W. (2015). Activation of B-catenin signalling by TFF1 loss promotes cell proliferation and gastric tumorigenesis. Gut *64*, 1028-1039.

Spackman, E., Rice, S., Norman, G., Suh, D.-C., Eastwood, A., and Palmer, S. (2013). Trastuzumab for the treatment of HER2-positive metastatic gastric cancer. Pharmacoeconomics *31*, 185-194.

Spicer, Z., Miller, M. L., Andringa, A., Riddle, T. M., Duffy, J. J., Doetschman, T., and Shull, G. E. (2000). Stomachs of Mice Lacking the Gastric H,K-ATPase α -Subunit Have Achlorhydria, Abnormal Parietal Cells, and Ciliated Metaplasia. Journal of Biological Chemistry 275, 21555-21565.

Spit, M., Fenderico, N., Jordens, I., Radaszkiewicz, T., Lindeboom, R. G. H., Bugter, J., Ootes, L., Van Osch, M., Janssen, E., Boonekamp, K., *et al.* (2019). RNF43 truncating mutations mediate a tumour suppressor-to-oncogene switch to drive niche-independent self-renewal in cancer. In, (bioRxiv).

Stanganello, E., and Scholpp, S. (2016). Role of cytonemes in Wnt transport. J Cell Sci 129, 665-672.

Stange, D. E., Koo, B. K., Huch, M., Sibbel, G., Basak, O., Lyubimova, A., Kujala, P., Bartfeld, S., Koster, J., Geahlen, J. H., *et al.* (2013). Differentiated Troy+ chief cells act as reserve stem cells to generate all lineages of the stomach epithelium. Cell *155*, 357-368.

Stankic, M., Pavlovic, S., Chin, Y., Brogi, E., Padua, D., Norton, L., Massague, J., and Benezra, R. (2013). TGF-B-Id1 signaling opposes Twist1 and promotes metastatic colonization via a mesenchymal-to-epithelial transition. Cell reports *5*, 1228-1242.

Steinhart, Z., Pavlovic, Z., Chandrashekhar, M., Hart, T., Wang, X., Zhang, X., Robitaille, M., Brown, K. R., Jaksani, S., Overmeer, R., *et al.* (2016). Genome-wide CRISPR screens reveal a Wnt-FZD5 signaling circuit as a druggable vulnerability of RNF43-mutant pancreatic tumors. Nature medicine *23*, 60.

Stengel, A., and Taché, Y. (2009). Regulation of food intake: the gastric X/A-like endocrine cell in the spotlight. Curr Gastroenterol Rep 11, 448-454.

Sternberg, S. H., and Doudna, J. A. (2015). Expanding the Biologist's Toolkit with CRISPR-Cas9. Mol Cell 58, 568-574.

Stock, M., and Otto, F. (2005). Gene deregulation in gastric cancer. Gene 360, 1-19.

Stuebner, S., Faus-Kessler, T., Fischer, T., Wurst, W., and Prakash, N. (2010). Fzd3 and Fzd6 deficiency results in a severe midbrain morphogenesis defect. Developmental Dynamics 239, 246-260.

Su, L. K., Kinzler, K. W., Vogelstein, B., Preisinger, A. C., Moser, A. R., Luongo, C., Gould, K. A., and Dove, W. F. (1992). Multiple intestinal neoplasia caused by a mutation in the murine homolog of the APC gene. Science 256, 668-670.

Suerbaum, S., and Michetti, P. (2002). Helicobacter pylori Infection. New England Journal of Medicine 347, 1175-1186.

Suzuki, H., Watkins, D. N., Jair, K. W., Schuebel, K. E., Markowitz, S. D., Chen, W. D., Pretlow, T. P., Yang, B., Akiyama, Y., Van Engeland, M., *et al.* (2004). Epigenetic inactivation of SFRP genes allows constitutive WNT signaling in colorectal cancer. Nat Genet *36*, 417-422.

Suzuki, M., Mimuro, H., Kiga, K., Fukumatsu, M., Ishijima, N., Morikawa, H., Nagai, S., Koyasu, S., Gilman, R. H., and Kersulyte, D. (2009). Helicobacter pylori CagA phosphorylation-independent function in epithelial proliferation and inflammation. Cell host & microbe 5, 23-34.

Taelman, V. F., Dobrowolski, R., Plouhinec, J.-L., Fuentealba, L. C., Vorwald, P. P., Gumper, I., Sabatini, D. D., and De Robertis, E. M. (2010). Wnt Signaling Requires Sequestration of Glycogen Synthase Kinase 3 inside Multivesicular Endosomes. Cell *143*, 1136-1148.

Takada, R., Satomi, Y., Kurata, T., Ueno, N., Norioka, S., Kondoh, H., Takao, T., and Takada, S. (2006). Monounsaturated fatty acid modification of Wnt protein: its role in Wnt secretion. Dev Cell 11, 791-801.

Takaishi, S., Okumura, T., Tu, S., Wang, S. S., Shibata, W., Vigneshwaran, R., Gordon, S. A., Shimada, Y., and Wang, T. C. (2009). Identification of gastric cancer stem cells using the cell surface marker CD44. Stem Cells *27*, 1006-1020.

Tamai, K., Zeng, X., Liu, C., Zhang, X., Harada, Y., Chang, Z., and He, X. (2004). A mechanism for Wnt coreceptor activation. Mol Cell 13, 149-156.

Tan, P., and Yeoh, K.-G. (2015). Genetics and Molecular Pathogenesis of Gastric Adenocarcinoma. Gastroenterology *149*, 1153-1162.e1153.

Tanaka, M., Kuriyama, S., Itoh, G., Maeda, D., Goto, A., Tamiya, Y., Yanagihara, K., Yashiro, M., and Aiba, N. (2017). Mesothelial Cells Create a Novel Tissue Niche That Facilitates Gastric Cancer Invasion. Cancer Res 77, 684-695.

Tang, B., Peng, Z.-h., Yu, P.-W., Yu, G., Qian, F., Zeng, D.-z., Zhao, Y.-l., Shi, Y., Hao, Y.-x., and Luo, H.-x. (2013). Aberrant expression of Cx43 is associated with the peritoneal metastasis of gastric cancer and Cx43-mediated gap junction enhances gastric cancer cell diapedesis from peritoneal mesothelium. PLoS ONE 8.

Tate, J. G., Bamford, S., Jubb, H. C., Sondka, Z., Beare, D. M., Bindal, N., Boutselakis, H., Cole, C. G., Creatore, C., Dawson, E., *et al.* (2018). COSMIC: the Catalogue Of Somatic Mutations In Cancer. Nucleic Acids Research *47*, D941-D947.

Tauriello, D. V. F., Jordens, I., Kirchner, K., Slootstra, J. W., Kruitwagen, T., Bouwman, B. A. M., Noutsou, M., Rüdiger, S. G. D., Schwamborn, K., Schambony, A., and Maurice, M. M. (2012). Wnt/B-catenin signaling requires interaction of the Dishevelled DEP domain and C terminus with a discontinuous motif in Frizzled. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences *109*, E812-E820.

TCGA (2014). Comprehensive molecular characterization of gastric adenocarcinoma. Nature 513, 202-209.

Thiele, S., Göbel, A., Rachner, T. D., Fuessel, S., Froehner, M., Muders, M. H., Baretton, G. B., Bernhardt, R., Jakob, F., and Glüer, C. C. (2015). WNT5A has anti-prostate cancer effects in vitro and reduces tumor growth in the skeleton in vivo. Journal of bone and mineral research *30*, 471-480.

Thiem, S., Eissmann, M. F., Elzer, J., Jonas, A., Putoczki, T. L., Poh, A., Nguyen, P., Preaudet, A., Flanagan, D., Vincan, E., *et al.* (2016). Stomach-Specific Activation of Oncogenic KRAS and STAT3-Dependent Inflammation Cooperatively Promote Gastric Tumorigenesis in a Preclinical Model. Cancer Res 76, 2277-2287.

Thrasivoulou, C., Millar, M., and Ahmed, A. (2013). Activation of intracellular calcium by multiple Wnt ligands and translocation of beta-catenin into the nucleus: a convergent model of Wnt/Ca2+ and Wnt/beta-catenin pathways. J Biol Chem 288, 35651-35659.

Tickenbrock, L., Hehn, S., Sargin, B., Choudhary, C., Bäumer, N., Buerger, H., Schulte, B., Müller, O., Berdel, W. E., Müller-Tidow, C., and Serve, H. (2008). Activation of Wnt signalling in acute myeloid leukemia by induction of Frizzled-4. International journal of oncology *33*, 1215-1221.

Tiwary, S., and Xu, L. (2016). FRIZZLED7 Is Required for Tumor Inititation and Metastatic Growth of Melanoma Cells. PLoS ONE *11*, e0147638.

Tohidpour, A. (2016). CagA-mediated pathogenesis of Helicobacter pylori. Microbial pathogenesis 93, 44-55.

Tomita, H., Takaishi, S., Menheniott, T. R., Yang, X., Shibata, W., Jin, G., Betz, K. S., Kawakami, K., Minamoto, T., and Tomasetto, C. (2011). Inhibition of gastric carcinogenesis by the hormone gastrin is mediated by suppression of TFF1 epigenetic silencing. Gastroenterology *140*, 879-891. e818.

Tomita, H., Yamada, Y., Oyama, T., Hata, K., Hirose, Y., Hara, A., Kunisada, T., Sugiyama, Y., Adachi, Y., Linhart, H., and Mori, H. (2007). Development of gastric tumors in Apc(Min/+) mice by the activation of the beta-catenin/Tcf signaling pathway. Cancer Res *67*, 4079-4087.

Tomizawa, M., Shinozaki, F., Motoyoshi, Y., Sugiyama, T., Yamamoto, S., and Ishige, N. (2015). Gastric cancer cell proliferation is suppressed by frizzled-2 short hairpin RNA. International journal of oncology 46, 1018-1024.

Townsley, F. M., Cliffe, A., and Bienz, M. (2004). Pygopus and Legless target Armadillo/beta-catenin to the nucleus to enable its transcriptional co-activator function. Nature cell biology *6*, 626-633.

Tsai, J. H., Donaher, J. L., Murphy, D. A., Chau, S., and Yang, J. (2012). Spatiotemporal regulation of epithelial-mesenchymal transition is essential for squamous cell carcinoma metastasis. Cancer cell 22, 725-736.

Tsang, Y., Lamb, A., Romero-Gallo, J., Huang, B., Ito, K., Peek, R., Ito, Y., and Chen, L.-F. (2010). Helicobacter pylori CagA targets gastric tumor suppressor RUNX3 for proteasome-mediated degradation. Oncogene 29, 5643-5650.

Tu, J., Park, S., Yu, W., Zhang, S., Wu, L., Carmon, K., and Liu, Q. J. (2019). The most common RNF43 mutant G659Vfs*41 is fully functional in inhibiting Wnt signaling and unlikely to play a role in tumorigenesis. Scientific reports 9, 18557-18557.

Tung, E. K.-K., Wong, B. Y.-C., Yau, T.-O., and Ng, I. O.-L. (2012). Upregulation of the Wnt co-receptor LRP6 promotes hepatocarcinogenesis and enhances cell invasion. PLoS ONE 7.

Ueno, K., Hazama, S., Mitomori, S., Nishioka, M., Suehiro, Y., Hirata, H., Oka, M., Imai, K., Dahiya, R., and Hinoda, Y. (2009). Down-regulation of frizzled-7 expression decreases survival, invasion and metastatic capabilities of colon cancer cells. Br J Cancer *101*, 1374-1381.

Ueno, K., Hirata, H., Hinoda, Y., and Dahiya, R. (2013). Frizzled homolog proteins, microRNAs and Wnt signaling in cancer. International journal of cancer *132*, 1731-1740.

Ueno, K., Hiura, M., Suehiro, Y., Hazama, S., Hirata, H., Oka, M., Imai, K., Dahiya, R., and Hinoda, Y. (2008). Frizzled-7 as a potential therapeutic target in colorectal cancer. Neoplasia (New York, NY) 10, 697-705.

Uhlén, M., Fagerberg, L., Hallström, B. M., Lindskog, C., Oksvold, P., Mardinoglu, A., Sivertsson, Å., Kampf, C., Sjöstedt, E., Asplund, A., *et al.* (2015). Tissue-based map of the human proteome. Science *347*, 1260419.

Valenzuela, M., Bravo, D., Canales, J., Sanhueza, C., Díaz, N., Almarza, O., Toledo, H., and Quest, A. F. G. (2013). Helicobacter pylori-Induced Loss of Survivin and Gastric Cell Viability Is Attributable to Secreted Bacterial Gamma-Glutamyl Transpeptidase Activity. The Journal of Infectious Diseases 208, 1131-1141.

van Amerongen, R., Bowman, A. N., and Nusse, R. (2012). Developmental stage and time dictate the fate of Wnt/B-catenin-responsive stem cells in the mammary gland. Cell Stem Cell *11*, 387-400.

Van Cutsem, E., Sagaert, X., Topal, B., Haustermans, K., and Prenen, H. (2016). Gastric cancer. The Lancet 388, 2654-2664.

van de Wetering, M., Francies, H. E., Francis, J. M., Bounova, G., Iorio, F., Pronk, A., van Houdt, W., van Gorp, J., Taylor-Weiner, A., Kester, L., *et al.* (2015). Prospective derivation of a living organoid biobank of colorectal cancer patients. Cell *161*, 933-945.

van de Wetering, M., Sancho, E., Verweij, C., de Lau, W., Oving, I., Hurlstone, A., van der Horn, K., Batlle, E., Coudreuse, D., Haramis, A. P., *et al.* (2002). The beta-catenin/TCF-4 complex imposes a crypt progenitor phenotype on colorectal cancer cells. Cell *111*, 241-250.

van der Wal, J. B., and Jeekel, J. (2007). Biology of the peritoneum in normal homeostasis and after surgical trauma. Colorectal disease : the official journal of the Association of Coloproctology of Great Britain and Ireland 9 Suppl 2, 9-13.

Veeman, M. T., Axelrod, J. D., and Moon, R. T. (2003). A second canon. Functions and mechanisms of beta-catenin-independent Wnt signaling. Dev Cell 5, 367-377.

Vijayaragavan, K., Szabo, E., Bosse, M., Ramos-Mejia, V., Moon, R. T., and Bhatia, M. (2009). Noncanonical Wnt signaling orchestrates early developmental events toward hematopoietic cell fate from human embryonic stem cells. Cell Stem Cell 4, 248-262.

Vincan, E., and Barker, N. (2008). The upstream components of the Wnt signalling pathway in the dynamic EMT and MET associated with colorectal cancer progression. Clinical & experimental metastasis 25, 657-663.

Vincan, E., Darcy, P. K., Farrelly, C. A., Faux, M. C., Brabletz, T., and Ramsay, R. G. (2007a). Frizzled-7 dictates three-dimensional organization of colorectal cancer cell carcinoids. Oncogene 26, 2340-2352.

Vincan, E., Darcy, P. K., Smyth, M. J., Thompson, E. W., Thomas, R. J., Phillips, W. A., and Ramsay, R. G. (2005). Frizzled-7 receptor ectodomain expression in a colon cancer cell line induces morphological change and attenuates tumor growth. Differentiation; research in biological diversity *73*, 142-153.

Vincan, E., Flanagan, D. J., Pouliot, N., Brabletz, T., and Spaderna, S. (2010). Variable FZD7 expression in colorectal cancers indicates regulation by the tumour microenvironment. Dev Dyn 239, 311-317.

Vincan, E., Swain, R. K., Brabletz, T., and Steinbeisser, H. (2007b). Frizzled7 dictates embryonic morphogenesis: implications for colorectal cancer progression. Frontiers in bioscience : a journal and virtual library 12, 4558-4567.

Vlachogiannis, G., Hedayat, S., Vatsiou, A., Jamin, Y., Fernández-Mateos, J., Khan, K., Lampis, A., Eason, K., Huntingford, I., Burke, R., *et al.* (2018). Patient-derived organoids model treatment response of metastatic gastrointestinal cancers. Science *359*, 920-926.

Vogelstein, B., Fearon, E. R., Hamilton, S. R., Kern, S. E., Preisinger, A. C., Leppert, M., Nakamura, Y., White, R., Smits, A. M., and Bos, J. L. (1988). Genetic alterations during colorectal-tumor development. N Engl J Med 319, 525-532.

Vogelstein, B., and Kinzler, K. W. (2004). Cancer genes and the pathways they control. Nature medicine 10, 789-799.

Wagner, A. D., Grothe, W., Haerting, J., Kleber, G., Grothey, A., and Fleig, W. E. (2006). Chemotherapy in advanced gastric cancer: a systematic review and meta-analysis based on aggregate data. Journal of clinical oncology : official journal of the American Society of Clinical Oncology 24, 2903-2909.

Wang, B., Liu, J., Ma, L. N., Xiao, H. L., Wang, Y. Z., Li, Y., Wang, Z., Fan, L., Lan, C., Yang, M., *et al.* (2013a). Chimeric 5/35 adenovirus-mediated Dickkopf-1 overexpression suppressed tumorigenicity of CD44(+) gastric cancer cells via attenuating Wnt signaling. J Gastroenterol *48*, 798-808.

Wang, D., Huang, B., Zhang, S., Yu, X., Wu, W., and Wang, X. (2013b). Structural basis for R-spondin recognition by LGR4/5/6 receptors. Genes & Development 27, 1339-1344.

References

Wang, H., Duan, X.-L., Qi, X.-L., Meng, L., Xu, Y.-S., Wu, T., and Dai, P.-G. (2017a). Concurrent hypermethylation of SFRP2 and DKK2 activates the Wnt/B-catenin pathway and is associated with poor prognosis in patients with gastric cancer. Molecules and cells 40, 45.

Wang, H., Lu, J., Tang, J., Chen, S., He, K., Jiang, X., Jiang, W., and Teng, L. (2017b). Establishment of patient-derived gastric cancer xenografts: a useful tool for preclinical evaluation of targeted therapies involving alterations in HER-2, MET and FGFR2 signaling pathways. BMC Cancer *17*, 191.

Wang, H. Q., Xu, M. L., Ma, J., Zhang, Y., and Xie, C. H. (2012a). Frizzled-8 as a putative therapeutic target in human lung cancer. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 417, 62-66.

Wang, J., Hamblet, N. S., Mark, S., Dickinson, M. E., Brinkman, B. C., Segil, N., Fraser, S. E., Chen, P., Wallingford, J. B., and Wynshaw-Boris, A. (2006). Dishevelled genes mediate a conserved mammalian PCP pathway to regulate convergent extension during neurulation. Development (Cambridge, England) *133*, 1767-1778.

Wang, K., Yuen, S. T., Xu, J., Lee, S. P., Yan, H. H., Shi, S. T., Siu, H. C., Deng, S., Chu, K. M., and Law, S. (2014a). Whole-genome sequencing and comprehensive molecular profiling identify new driver mutations in gastric cancer. Nature genetics *46*, 573.

Wang, K., Yuen, S. T., Xu, J., Lee, S. P., Yan, H. H., Shi, S. T., Siu, H. C., Deng, S., Chu, K. M., Law, S., *et al.* (2014b). Whole-genome sequencing and comprehensive molecular profiling identify new driver mutations in gastric cancer. Nat Genet *46*, 573-582.

Wang, Q., Liu, H., Wang, Q., Zhou, F., Liu, Y., Zhang, Y., Ding, H., Yuan, M., Li, F., and Chen, Y. (2017c). Involvement of c-Fos in cell proliferation, migration, and invasion in osteosarcoma cells accompanied by altered expression of Wnt2 and Fzd9. PLoS ONE *12*, e0180558.

Wang, S., Gao, D., and Chen, Y. (2017d). The potential of organoids in urological cancer research. Nature Reviews Urology 14, 401-414.

Wang, W., Zhao, L., Ma, Q., Wang, Q., Chu, P. K., and Zhang, Y. (2012b). The role of the Wnt/betacatenin pathway in the effect of implant topography on MG63 differentiation. Biomaterials *33*, 7993-8002.

Wang, X., Wang, X., Liu, Y., Dong, Y., Wang, Y., Kassab, M. A., Fan, W., Yu, X., and Wu, C. (2018). LGR5 regulates gastric adenocarcinoma cell proliferation and invasion via activating Wnt signaling pathway. Oncogenesis 7, 57.

Wang, Z. K., Liu, J., Liu, C., Wang, F. Y., Chen, C. Y., and Zhang, X. H. (2012c). Hypermethylation of adenomatous polyposis coli gene promoter is associated with novel Wnt signaling pathway in gastric adenomas. Journal of gastroenterology and hepatology 27, 1629-1634.

Wei, W., Chua, M. S., Grepper, S., and So, S. K. (2011). Soluble Frizzled-7 receptor inhibits Wnt signaling and sensitizes hepatocellular carcinoma cells towards doxorubicin. Molecular cancer 10, 16.

Weis, V. G., and Goldenring, J. R. (2009). Current understanding of SPEM and its standing in the preneoplastic process. Gastric cancer : official journal of the International Gastric Cancer Association and the Japanese Gastric Cancer Association 12, 189-197.

Welch, D. R., and Hurst, D. R. (2019). Defining the Hallmarks of Metastasis. Cancer Research 79, 3011.

Wilhelm, F., Simon, E., Böger, C., Behrens, H.-M., Krüger, S., and Röcken, C. (2017). Novel Insights into Gastric Cancer: Methylation of R-spondins and Regulation of LGR5 by SP1. Molecular Cancer Research *15*, 776.

Willert, J., Epping, M., Pollack, J. R., Brown, P. O., and Nusse, R. (2002). A transcriptional response to Wnt protein in human embryonic carcinoma cells. BMC Dev Biol 2, 8.

Willet, S. G., and Mills, J. C. (2016). Stomach Organ and Cell Lineage Differentiation: from Embryogenesis to Adult Homeostasis. Cellular and molecular gastroenterology and hepatology 2, 546-559.

Winklbauer, R., Medina, A., Swain, R. K., and Steinbeisser, H. (2001). Frizzled-7 signalling controls tissue separation during Xenopus gastrulation. Nature 413, 856-860.

Wong, C. M., Fan, S. T., and Ng, I. O. (2001). beta-Catenin mutation and overexpression in hepatocellular carcinoma: clinicopathologic and prognostic significance. Cancer 92, 136-145.

Wong, S. C. C., He, C. W., Chan, C. M. L., Chan, A. K. C., Wong, H. T., Cheung, M. T., Luk, L. L. Y., Au, T. C. C., Chiu, M. K., and Ma, B. B. Y. (2013). Clinical significance of frizzled homolog 3 protein in colorectal cancer patients. PLoS ONE 8.

Woo, D. K., Kim, H. S., Lee, H. S., Kang, Y. H., Yang, H. K., and Kim, W. H. (2001). Altered expression and mutation of B-catenin gene in gastric carcinomas and cell lines. International journal of cancer 95, 108-113.

Wroblewski, L. E., Piazuelo, M. B., Chaturvedi, R., Schumacher, M., Aihara, E., Feng, R., Noto, J. M., Delgado, A., Israel, D. A., and Zavros, Y. (2015). Helicobacter pylori targets cancer-associated apicaljunctional constituents in gastroids and gastric epithelial cells. Gut *64*, 720-730.

Wu, C., Xie, Y., Gao, F., Wang, Y., Guo, Y., Tian, H., Li, Y., and Fan, W. (2013). Lgr5 expression as stem cell marker in human gastric gland and its relatedness with other putative cancer stem cell markers. Gene *525*, 18-25.

Wu, G., Huang, H., Garcia Abreu, J., and He, X. (2009). Inhibition of GSK3 phosphorylation of beta-catenin via phosphorylated PPPSPXS motifs of Wnt coreceptor LRP6. PLoS ONE *4*, e4926.

Wu, Z. Q., Li, X. Y., Hu, C. Y., Ford, M., Kleer, C. G., and Weiss, S. J. (2012). Canonical Wnt signaling regulates Slug activity and links epithelial-mesenchymal transition with epigenetic Breast Cancer 1, Early Onset (BRCA1) repression. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *109*, 16654-16659.

Xi, H., Cui, J., Shen, W., Wu, X., Bian, S., Li, J., Song, Z., Wei, B., Chen, L. (2019). Increased expression of Lgr5 is associated with chemotherapy resistance in human gastric cancer. Oncology reports *4*2, 462-462

Yamamoto, H., Kitadai, Y., Yamamoto, H., Oue, N., Ohdan, H., Yasui, W., and Kikuchi, A. (2009). Laminin y2 Mediates Wnt5a-Induced Invasion of Gastric Cancer Cells. Gastroenterology 137, 242-252.e246.

Yamamoto, H., Sakane, H., Yamamoto, H., Michiue, T., and Kikuchi, A. (2008). Wht3a and Dkk1 Regulate Distinct Internalization Pathways of LRP6 to Tune the Activation of B-Catenin Signaling. Dev Cell 15, 37-48.

Yamamoto, H., Yoo, S. K., Nishita, M., Kikuchi, A., and Minami, Y. (2007). Wnt5a modulates glycogen synthase kinase 3 to induce phosphorylation of receptor tyrosine kinase Ror2. Genes to cells : devoted to molecular & cellular mechanisms *12*, 1215-1223.

Yan, H. H. N., Lai, J. C. W., Ho, S. L., Leung, W. K., Law, W. L., Lee, J. F. Y., Chan, A. K. W., Tsui, W. Y., Chan, A. S. Y., Lee, B. C. H., *et al.* (2017a). RNF43 germline and somatic mutation in serrated neoplasia pathway and its association with BRAF mutation. Gut *66*, 1645-1656.

Yan, H. H. N., Lai, J. C. W., Ho, S. L., Leung, W. K., Law, W. L., Lee, J. F. Y., Chan, A. K. W., Tsui, W. Y., Chan, A. S. Y., Lee, B. C. H., *et al.* (2017b). RNF43 germline and somatic mutation in serrated neoplasia pathway and its association with BRAF mutation. Gut *66*, 1645.

Yan, H. H. N., Siu, H. C., Law, S., Ho, S. L., Yue, S. S. K., Tsui, W. Y., Chan, D., Chan, A. S., Ma, S., Lam, K. O., *et al.* (2018). A Comprehensive Human Gastric Cancer Organoid Biobank Captures Tumor Subtype Heterogeneity and Enables Therapeutic Screening. Cell Stem Cell 23, 882-897.e811.

Yan, J., Liu, T., Zhou, X., Dang, Y., Yin, C., and Zhang, G. (2016). FZD6, targeted by miR-21, represses gastric cancer cell proliferation and migration via activating non-canonical wnt pathway. American Journal of Translational Research *8*, 2354-2364.

Yanaka, Y., Muramatsu, T., Uetake, H., Kozaki, K., and Inazawa, J. (2015). miR-544a induces epithelialmesenchymal transition through the activation of WNT signaling pathway in gastric cancer. Carcinogenesis *36*, 1363-1371.

Yang-Snyder, J., Miller, J. R., Brown, J. D., Lai, C. J., and Moon, R. T. (1996). A frizzled homolog functions in a vertebrate Wnt signaling pathway. Curr Biol *6*, 1302-1306.

Yang, H.-J., Kim, S. G., Lim, J. H., Choi, J. M., Kim, W. H., and Jung, H. C. (2018a). Helicobacter pyloriinduced modulation of the promoter methylation of Wnt antagonist genes in gastric carcinogenesis. Gastric cancer : official journal of the International Gastric Cancer Association and the Japanese Gastric Cancer Association 21, 237-248.

Yang, L., Wu, X., Wang, Y., Zhang, K., Wu, J., Yuan, Y. C., Deng, X., Chen, L., Kim, C. C., Lau, S., *et al.* (2011). FZD7 has a critical role in cell proliferation in triple negative breast cancer. Oncogene *30*, 4437-4446.

Yang, L., Yang, Z., Li, D., Liu, Z., Zou, Q., Yuan, Y., and Xu, H. (2018b). Overexpression of FZD1 and CAIX are Associated with Invasion, Metastasis, and Poor-Prognosis of the Pancreatic Ductal Adenocarcinoma. Pathology & Oncology Research 24, 899-906.

Yang, Q., Wang, Y., Pan, X., Ye, J., Gan, S., Qu, F., Chen, L., Chu, C., Gao, Y., and Cui, X. (2017). Frizzled 8 promotes the cell proliferation and metastasis of renal cell carcinoma. Oncotarget *8*, 78989-79002.

Yang, S., Wu, Y., Xu, T.-H., de Waal, P. W., He, Y., Pu, M., Chen, Y., DeBruine, Z. J., Zhang, B., Zaidi, S. A., *et al.* (2018c). Crystal structure of the Frizzled 4 receptor in a ligand-free state. Nature *560*, 666-670.

Yokozaki, H. (2000). Molecular characteristics of eight gastric cancer cell lines established in Japan. Pathology international 50, 767-777.

Yokozaki, H., Kuniyasu, H., Kitadai, Y., Nishimura, K., Todo, H., Ayhan, A., Yasui, W., Ito, H., and Tahara, E. (1992). p53 point mutations in primary human gastric carcinomas. Journal of cancer research and clinical oncology *119*, 67-70.

Yong, X., Tang, B., Xiao, Y.-F., Xie, R., Qin, Y., Luo, G., Hu, C.-J., Dong, H., and Yang, S.-M. (2016). Helicobacter pylori upregulates Nanog and Oct4 via Wnt/B-catenin signaling pathway to promote cancer stem cell-like properties in human gastric cancer. Cancer letters *374*, 292-303.

Yoon, J. K., and Lee, J.-S. (2012). Cellular signaling and biological functions of R-spondins. Cellular signalling 24, 369-377.

Yu, H., Pardoll, D., and Jove, R. (2009). STATs in cancer inflammation and immunity: a leading role for STAT3. Nature reviews 9, 798-809.

Yu, H., Ye, X., Guo, N., and Nathans, J. (2012a). Frizzled 2 and frizzled 7 function redundantly in convergent extension and closure of the ventricular septum and palate: evidence for a network of interacting genes. Development 139, 4383-4394.

Yu, J., Chia, J., Canning, C. A., Jones, C. M., Bard, F. A., and Virshup, D. M. (2014). WLS retrograde transport to the endoplasmic reticulum during Wnt secretion. Dev Cell 29, 277-291.

Yu, J., Yuso, P. A. B. M., Goh, P., Harmston, N., Epstein, D. M., Virshup, D. M., and Madan, B. (2020). The functional landscape of patient derived RNF43 mutations predicts Wnt inhibitor sensitivity. bioRxiv, 2020.2003.2025.006999.

Yu, Z., Pestell, T. G., Lisanti, M. P., and Pestell, R. G. (2012b). Cancer stem cells. The international journal of biochemistry & cell biology 44, 2144-2151.

Yuan, G., Regel, I., Lian, F., Friedrich, T., Hitkova, I., Hofheinz, R. D., Strobel, P., Langer, R., Keller, G., Rocken, C., *et al.* (2013). WNT6 is a novel target gene of caveolin-1 promoting chemoresistance to epirubicin in human gastric cancer cells. Oncogene *32*, 375-387.

Zavros, Y., Orr, M. A., Xiao, C., and Malinowska, D. H. (2008). Sonic hedgehog is associated with H+-K+-ATPase-containing membranes in gastric parietal cells and secreted with histamine stimulation. American Journal of Physiology-Gastrointestinal and Liver Physiology 295, G99-G111.

Zebisch, M., Xu, Y., Krastev, C., MacDonald, B. T., Chen, M., Gilbert, R. J. C., He, X., and Jones, E. Y. (2013). Structural and molecular basis of ZNRF3/RNF43 transmembrane ubiquitin ligase inhibition by the Wnt agonist R-spondin. Nature communications *4*, 2787.

Zehir, A., Benayed, R., Shah, R. H., Syed, A., Middha, S., Kim, H. R., Srinivasan, P., Gao, J., Chakravarty, D., and Devlin, S. M. (2017). Mutational landscape of metastatic cancer revealed from prospective clinical sequencing of 10,000 patients. Nature medicine 23, 703.

Zeng, X., Tamai, K., Doble, B., Li, S., Huang, H., Habas, R., Okamura, H., Woodgett, J., and He, X. (2005). A dual-kinase mechanism for Wnt co-receptor phosphorylation and activation. Nature *438*, 873-877.

Zeng, Y. A., and Nusse, R. (2010). Wnt proteins are self-renewal factors for mammary stem cells and promote their long-term expansion in culture. Cell Stem Cell 6, 568-577.

Zhan, T., Rindtorff, N., and Boutros, M. (2017). Wnt signaling in cancer. Oncogene 36, 1461-1473.

Zhang, W., Lu, W., Ananthan, S., Suto, M. J., and Li, Y. (2017). Discovery of novel frizzled-7 inhibitors by targeting the receptor's transmembrane domain. Oncotarget *8*, 91459-91470.

Zhang, X., Dong, S., and Xu, F. (2018). Structural and Druggability Landscape of Frizzled G Protein-Coupled Receptors. Trends in Biochemical Sciences 43, 1033-1046.

Zhang, Z., Schittenhelm, J., Guo, K., Bühring, H. J., Trautmann, K., Meyermann, R., and Schluesener, H. J. (2006). Upregulation of frizzled 9 in astrocytomas. Neuropathology and applied neurobiology 32, 615-624.

Zhao, C. M., Hayakawa, Y., Kodama, Y., Muthupalani, S., Westphalen, C. B., Andersen, G. T., Flatberg, A., Johannessen, H., Friedman, R. A., Renz, B. W., *et al.* (2014). Denervation suppresses gastric tumorigenesis. Science translational medicine *6*, 250ra115.

Zhao, L., Li, J., Bai, C., Nie, Y., and Lin, G. (2019). Multi-Modality Treatment for Patients With Metastatic Gastric Cancer: A Real-World Study in China. Frontiers in Oncology 9.

Zheng, H.-c., Xu, X.-y., Xia, P., Yu, M., Takahashi, H., and Takano, Y. (2010). Involvement of inactive GSK3B overexpression in tumorigenesis and progression of gastric carcinomas. Human Pathology *41*, 1255-1264.

Zheng, R., Deng, Q., Liu, Y., and Zhao, P. (2017). Curcumin inhibits gastric carcinoma cell growth and induces apoptosis by suppressing the Wnt/B-catenin signaling pathway. Medical science monitor: international medical journal of experimental and clinical research 23, 163.

Zhou, J., Ma, X., Bi, F., and Liu, M. (2017). Clinical significance of circulating tumor cells in gastric cancer patients. Oncotarget 8, 25713-25720.

Zins, K., Schäfer, R., Paulus, P., Dobler, S., Fakhari, N., Sioud, M., Aharinejad, S., and Abraham, D. (2016). Frizzled2 signaling regulates growth of high-risk neuroblastomas by interfering with B-catenin-dependent and B-catenin-independent signaling pathways. Oncotarget 7, 46187-46202.